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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We're on the record.

 2          MR. HAEMMERLE:  During the testimony of Butch

 3   Morris, I referred to Exhibit 2032, which is the

 4   memorandum of agreement between Butch and North Snake

 5   Groundwater District.

 6               Previously it was admitted, one of your

 7   exhibits, but I'd like to offer 2032.  It's easier to

 8   follow.

 9          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  No objection.

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon?

11          MR. LEMMON:  That's fine.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Document marked as

13   Exhibit 2032 is received into evidence.

14               (Exhibit 2032 received.)

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Just the single exhibit,

16   Mr. Haemmerle?

17          MR. HAEMMERLE:  That's it.  Thank you.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thanks.

19               Okay.  Cross-examination, Mr. May?

20          MR. MAY:  If I can come over here and adjust the

21   lights.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.

23   ///

24   ///

25   ///
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 1                    CHARLES M. BRENDECKE,

 2   having been called as a witness by IGWA and previously

 3   duly sworn to tell the truth relating to said cause,

 4   testified as follows:

 5   

 6                      CROSS-EXAMINATION

 7   BY MR. MAY:

 8          Q.   Good morning, Dr. Brendecke.

 9          A.   Good morning, Mr. May.

10          Q.   Justin May on behalf of Rangen.

11               Dr. Brendecke, have you had a chance to

12   review the Director's order in this matter?  Have you

13   seen the order that was issued in Rangen's delivery

14   call?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   I'm going to show you a page of that order.

17   For those who are flipping, it's the 42nd page of the

18   actual exhibit.  And it is page 42 in the order,

19   Exhibit No. 2042.

20               Dr. Brendecke, if you'll look here in the

21   Director's order, the second sentence of what we've got

22   here, which is the last paragraph in the order,

23   discussing a mitigation plan to be filed in this case.

24               Do you see the beginning of that second

25   sentence says "The mitigation plan must provide
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 1   simulated steady-state benefits of 9.1 cfs to the

 2   Curren Tunnel"?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to that portion of

 5   the order, to the simulated steady-state benefits to

 6   the Curren Tunnel, it would be my understanding that

 7   Ms. Sukow has prepared what we've looked at before,

 8   which is Exhibit 1025 outlining what the steady-state

 9   benefits would be of the items proposed in the plan.

10               Is that your understanding?

11          A.   The items proposed in IGWA's plan?

12          Q.   Yes.

13          A.   Well, these are steady-state benefits of

14   conversions -- IGWA's conversions and CREP and

15   Southwest recharge.  There are other aspects of the

16   plan, but these are steady-state calculations for these

17   three different years.

18          Q.   Right.  And those other aspects of the plan

19   we will discuss.

20               You're talking about the Sandy Pipeline and

21   things like that?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   That would provide actual water direct flow

24   to the tunnel; correct?

25          A.   Yes.
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 1          Q.   Okay.  In terms of the steady-state

 2   benefits that would be modeled, it's my understanding

 3   that these are the items that IGWA is seeking credit

 4   for.

 5               Correct?

 6          A.   IGWA is seeking credit for these items,

 7   yes.

 8          Q.   Okay.  And in terms of the items that are

 9   modeled here, the CREP --

10               And if you'd blow that up maybe a little

11   bit maybe you'd see it.

12               But in terms of the items that are modeled

13   here, the CREP, conversions, and the recharge that are

14   modeled here, it's my understanding that you are

15   comfortable with Ms. Sukow's calculation.

16          A.   Yes.  I don't at this point have any reason

17   to dispute them.  I usually double-check things, but

18   there hasn't been an opportunity.  And when I've done

19   that in the past, the differences have been minor.

20          Q.   Okay.  And so recognizing that with regard

21   to those steady-state benefits, for the years that are

22   calculated here, if we go year by year, in 2011 the

23   total benefit would be 1.7; in 2012, 2.1; and for 2013

24   it would be 1.7.  Is that correct?

25          A.   Yes, that's what she calculated.
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 1          Q.   Okay.  And in terms -- so when we're

 2   looking at the 9.1 cfs obligation at steady state, you

 3   would agree with me that those items there do not get

 4   there by themselves; correct?

 5          A.   That's correct.

 6          Q.   Okay.  And in addition to the somewhere

 7   around 1.7 cfs credit for those existing items, is

 8   there something else, just looking at the steady-state

 9   calculation that IGWA is asking for credit for in

10   conversions, recharge, or CREP?

11          A.   Well, I've outlined the possibilities of

12   some recharge benefits from Sandy Ponds and from other

13   activities that IGWA has either done itself or

14   participated in.

15          Q.   And those were --

16          A.   But those haven't been quantified

17   precisely.

18          Q.   Sorry.  I didn't mean to talk over you.

19               Those are the activities that you discussed

20   yesterday with your exhibit, I believe it was 1095;

21   correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Okay.  Other than those activities that

24   we've got up here from Ms. Sukow and your Exhibit 1095,

25   are there other activities in that nature that IGWA is
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 1   claiming credit for?

 2          A.   Well, the assignment of the water right on

 3   Billingsley Creek could provide an immediate credit.

 4          Q.   Right.  And so that would be another one

 5   that would provide direct flow.  I'm just trying to

 6   talk about something that would have a modeled

 7   steady-state benefit to the tunnel.

 8               Was there something else within that first

 9   category?

10          A.   Not that I can think of at the moment.

11          Q.   Okay.  With regard to your Exhibit 1095 --

12   I won't go back through that again in detail, but it's

13   my understanding that with regard to the Sandy Ponds

14   North Snake Groundwater District is the only member of

15   IGWA that owns any water rights into the Sandy Pond.

16               Is that correct?  Is that your

17   understanding?

18          A.   I don't believe any of the other

19   groundwater districts own shares in North Side.

20          Q.   And in terms of IGWA, that would be the

21   only shares that are owned by anyone with regard to

22   water going into the Sandy Pond?

23          A.   Well, it's the only ones that I've heard

24   of.

25          Q.   Okay.  And it's -- would you -- it's your
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 1   understanding that that's 14 shares of water going into

 2   the Sandy Ponds?

 3          A.   That's what I heard yesterday.

 4          Q.   Under the order, as we just discussed, the

 5   order also allows an alternative where IGWA could

 6   provide a mitigation plan to provide a direct flow to

 7   the tunnel as well.

 8               Is that your understanding?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   Okay.  And that also was an alternative

11   9.1 cfs of water; correct?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   Okay.  In terms of direct flow -- well,

14   before we move on to that, I want to talk a little bit

15   about the steady-state result.

16               It's my understanding that IGWA is claiming

17   credit for steady-state benefits for the activities

18   that are noted here on -- or taken into account on

19   Exhibit 1025.

20               Correct?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   Okay.  Those activities are not consistent

23   throughout the years, are they?  They vary?

24          A.   They vary a little bit from year to year.

25   Not very much.
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 1          Q.   The assumption of -- if I understand it

 2   correctly, the assumption of a steady-state run is that

 3   the inputs that you're putting into it occurred during

 4   the entire steady-state period; correct?

 5          A.   In general a steady-state model run is one

 6   in which there's complete equilibrium.

 7          Q.   Okay.  And so the assumptions, as I

 8   understand it, with regard to these numbers -- the 1.7,

 9   the 2.1, and 1.7 -- is that for each of those years the

10   activities that are calculated or put into the model

11   would have occurred for the entire steady-state period;

12   is that correct?

13          A.   Well, when you say "the entire steady-state

14   period," it's not a period.  It's just an assumption

15   of, well, how does this look at equilibrium.

16          Q.   Okay.  And so --

17          A.   Not really a period of time associated with

18   it.

19          Q.   Okay.  And so it may not be a particular

20   period of time.

21               You run it until it reaches that

22   equilibrium; correct?

23          A.   Yes.

24          Q.   Okay.  And during the time period for which

25   you run it -- whatever it is -- you're assuming that
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 1   these activities remain the same?

 2          A.   Yes, that they don't change.

 3          Q.   And in fact, they do change?  I mean that's

 4   not true in this case that they don't change; is that

 5   right?

 6          A.   They change slightly from year to year.

 7          Q.   Okay.  And they change enough that at least

 8   for these years that were looked at you've got a

 9   difference of 1.7 to 2.1 and back down to 1.7 within a

10   three-year period?

11          A.   Yeah.  When each of those years is viewed

12   in isolation, you do get a slightly different number

13   each year.

14          Q.   And a steady-state run does not tell us

15   what would accrue this year, does it?

16          A.   No.  It says what would accrue in a state

17   of complete equilibrium.

18          Q.   All right.  So at some point in the future,

19   whenever you reach that steady state, you would get

20   that amount of water?  It doesn't occur this year?

21          A.   It -- that number is not going -- well, I

22   guess it depends on when things start.  I mean the

23   conversions have been going on for quite a long time.

24   We may well be near steady state with those effects at

25   this point.
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 1          Q.   And have you made any attempt to figure

 2   that out?  Have you looked back to see which

 3   conversions have lasted for a certain period of time?

 4   Have you done any of that investigation?

 5          A.   No, I've not.  But I'm aware that the model

 6   responds relatively quickly in this area.

 7          Q.   And I understand from your deposition that

 8   you have made no attempt with regard to this particular

 9   mitigation plan to make any determination of what would

10   show up in any given year.

11               Correct?

12          A.   I have not done any modeling to predict

13   when effects would show up.

14          Q.   And it would be my understanding that that

15   would require some kind of transient run.

16               Correct?

17          A.   Well, you know, the problem with doing a

18   transient run is you have to make a lot of other

19   assumptions about what's going to happen next year and

20   the year after.

21          Q.   Right.  And we just don't know that right

22   now; right?

23          A.   We don't know all of those things.

24          Q.   Okay.  And we don't know that in part

25   because, as Mr. Carlquist testified earlier, that the
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 1   pumpers have indicated that they need to have the right

 2   to turn their pumps back on; right?

 3          A.   On some conversions, the soft conversions,

 4   I understand people can use their pumps if the surface

 5   water supply is inadequate.

 6          Q.   And when you say "some conversions," it's

 7   my understanding that all of the conversions are soft,

 8   the vast majority of them?

 9          A.   I believe the vast majority of them are

10   soft conversions.

11          Q.   Okay.  And by "soft," you understand that

12   to mean that they can turn their pumps back on if they

13   feel that they need to?

14          A.   Yeah.  My understanding was it was sort of

15   a last resort thing, from Mr. Carlquist's description.

16          Q.   Rangen doesn't have that option, do they?

17          A.   Turn pumps on?

18          Q.   Right.

19          A.   Well, they don't have a well.

20          Q.   Right.  They don't --

21          A.   They certainly could have a well.

22          Q.   But they don't have the water coming out of

23   the Curren Tunnel, and they can't just decide, Hey,

24   wait, the water that's from this mitigation plan isn't

25   there so we're going to do something else.
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 1               The water isn't there; right?

 2          A.   There's water in Billingsley Creek that

 3   could be made available pretty quickly.

 4          Q.   Okay.  So with regard to this particular

 5   plan, do you have a contingency plan that you've

 6   created for getting the water to Rangen?  If the

 7   pumpers decide to turn the water back on, do you have a

 8   contingency plan for that?

 9          A.   Well, I believe that the soft conversions

10   that have occurred historically have probably reflected

11   some degree of groundwater use.  And Ms. Yenter

12   testified that she accounts for that in figuring out

13   the credit.  So I think these credits account for some

14   amount of that that has occurred historically.  I don't

15   have any reason to think it would be any different in

16   the future.

17          Q.   And you're willing to let Rangen take that

18   risk?

19          A.   Well, our -- I believe IGWA's mitigation

20   plan intends to fully comply with the order and provide

21   the 9.1 cfs, either through activities that benefit the

22   aquifer or by direct flow, in some combination thereof.

23          Q.   And we've talked about the activities that

24   benefit the aquifer.

25               And the activities that benefit the aquifer
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 1   that you're aware of do not amount to 9.1 cfs; correct?

 2          A.   Well, these certainly don't --

 3          Q.   Well, we've talked --

 4          A.   -- the ones that are simulated here.

 5          Q.   Okay.  And you've indicated that there

 6   aren't any others simulated in terms of the aquifer?

 7          A.   Not in this analysis of Ms. Sukow's, no.

 8          Q.   Okay.  And where is the other analysis?

 9          A.   There are -- there are other activities

10   that have gone on that have benefited the aquifer that

11   probably have benefits to Rangen.

12          Q.   Okay.  And you've attempted to quantify

13   those, I believe, in your Exhibit 1095?

14          A.   My Exhibit 1095 was meant to just get an

15   idea of what the possible order of magnitude of those

16   benefits might be.

17          Q.   And the --

18          A.   It's not a precise quantification.

19          Q.   And the order of magnitude is significantly

20   less than 9.1?

21          A.   It is less than 9.1.

22          Q.   Let's talk about some of the alternatives

23   that you -- that the plan proposes for to get direct

24   water to Rangen.

25               The first one I'd like to talk about is you
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 1   had some comments with regard to the Sandy Pipeline.

 2          A.   I probably mentioned it.

 3          Q.   Okay.  With regard to the Sandy Pipeline,

 4   IGWA's seeking some direct flow credit for the Sandy

 5   Pipeline.  And as I understand it, the reasoning from

 6   IGWA is that Mr. Morris has rights in the Curren Tunnel

 7   for irrigation, IGWA is -- the Sandy Pipeline exists,

 8   and Mr. Morris is taking some water from the Sandy

 9   Pipeline so he's not taking that water from the Curren

10   Tunnel.

11               That's correct?  Right?  That's their

12   reasoning?

13          A.   Yes, it's a -- it's a project that reduces

14   competing diversions at the Curren Tunnel.

15          Q.   And in terms of benefit, of direct flow

16   benefit to Rangen, there's a number of limitations on

17   what IGWA is seeking for credit.

18               The first of those would be the amount of

19   water that's actually available at the tunnel; correct?

20          A.   Yes, the physical discharge at the tunnel.

21          Q.   Right.  So in terms of these limits, we're

22   looking at the lesser of the physical water available

23   at the tunnel, and also the amount of water, as I would

24   understand it, that the farmers could actually take

25   legally; correct?
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 1          A.   At the tunnel?

 2          Q.   Yes.

 3          A.   Yes, that's a potential limitation.  That

 4   doesn't sound, from the testimony I've heard, like it

 5   occurs very often.

 6          Q.   Okay.  And the potential limitations there

 7   would be when those water rights in the tunnel are

 8   actually in priority; correct?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And you've heard the testimony of Mr. Erwin

11   with regard to the required flows in the Curren Ditch,

12   potentially Billingsley Creek.

13               And to the extent that those rights are out

14   of priority, there would be no credit for IGWA;

15   correct?

16          A.   I think I heard Mr. Erwin say that there

17   are rights to 15 cfs in the Curren Ditch that are

18   senior to the irrigation rights at the tunnel, and have

19   at least the theoretical potential to call out those

20   rights at the tunnel.

21          Q.   Right.  And to the extent that that call

22   exists there, that would be another limitation on

23   IGWA's credit; correct?

24          A.   Yes.  Now, it's certainly possible, I

25   think, for that call to be removed by delivering water
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 1   into the Curren Ditch by the pipeline.

 2          Q.   And that water is only available -- or

 3   excuse me, the Curren Ditch rights are irrigation

 4   rights; correct?

 5          A.   That's my understanding.

 6          Q.   The rights, at least, that we're talking

 7   about for Mr. Morris.

 8          A.   There may be some irrigation -- some

 9   year-round rights in the ditch.

10          Q.   The rights that we're discussing with

11   regard to Mr. Morris are irrigation rights; correct?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   And those rights have a period of use that

14   is not year-round; correct?

15          A.   I believe there were some stock rights at

16   the mouth of the tunnel that are year-round, but the

17   majority of them are irrigation rights.

18          Q.   And to the extent that they are irrigation,

19   they are not available all year round?

20          A.   Those irrigation rights would not be

21   available year-round.

22          Q.   And they would be limited to any amount of

23   water that was actually delivered to Mr. Morris,

24   correct, in terms of a limitation on credit?

25          A.   I'm not sure what you mean by "delivered to
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 1   Mr. Morris."

 2          Q.   Well, any water that's delivered through

 3   the Sandy Pipeline to Mr. Morris, that would provide

 4   another upper bound on what credit they could receive;

 5   correct?

 6          A.   Well, the concept is that Mr. Morris would

 7   be diverting water from the Sandy Pipeline that he

 8   would otherwise divert from the tunnel.  So if he

 9   diverted less from the Sandy Pipeline, he -- perhaps he

10   could still divert from the tunnel.

11          Q.   Looking at the further proposals that

12   you've made, there's a number of proposals that you've

13   addressed that are conceptual proposals that you've

14   provided some kind of conceptual idea for, beginning

15   with the cleaning of the tunnel; is that correct?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to cleaning the

18   tunnel, what do you mean by "clean the tunnel"?

19          A.   Ensuring that there aren't any obstructions

20   or collapses in there that cause water to not appear at

21   the mouth of the tunnel and into the farmer's box

22   collection system, if you will.

23          Q.   Are you aware of any such obstructions?

24          A.   Well, I'm aware that periodically there's

25   debris build-up upstream of the corrugated pipe.  I
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 1   don't know the degree to which this causes flows to be

 2   diverted away from the normal outlet at the tunnel.

 3               I do know the tunnel is unlined above the

 4   corrugated pipe.  There's certainly a possibility that

 5   there has been over time collapse of various parts of

 6   the tunnel.  And the tunnel could conceivably be

 7   extended.  I mean the hole was put into the side of the

 8   cliff to find water, and they found it.  And if they

 9   went farther, they might well find more.

10          Q.   And you've done no investigation to

11   determine how much that might be?

12          A.   No.

13          Q.   Or what the results of such an extension

14   would be in terms of other water users?

15          A.   No.  We talked a little bit about how you

16   might try to estimate that yesterday.

17          Q.   And that really goes into your conceptual

18   plan with regard to a horizontal well, correct,

19   drilling a horizontal well somewhere?

20          A.   Well, the horizontal well would presumably

21   be somewhere beneath the existing tunnel.

22          Q.   Okay.  And it would carry some of the same

23   risks as extending the tunnel for other water users;

24   correct?

25          A.   I'm not sure what risks you're talking
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 1   about.

 2          Q.   Okay.  When you were discussing the

 3   horizontal well, you indicated that one of the primary

 4   ways that you could test it would be to just do it,

 5   correct, just drill it and see what happens?

 6          A.   Well, I think it would be more prudent to

 7   put in some test holes up on the rim to -- so you had a

 8   better idea of what direction you wanted to go.

 9          Q.   Okay.  And those test wells, the purpose

10   you said would be to decide which direction you want to

11   go?

12          A.   Right.

13          Q.   Okay.  And would you do anything to try and

14   evaluate the risks to other -- other users of water

15   around the Curren Tunnel?

16          A.   That might be a condition that the Director

17   would put on that kind of a scheme.

18          Q.   Now, I understand that you yourself did not

19   do any kind of investigation with regard to a

20   horizontal well.  And in fact, you had reviewed a

21   report that was done by Mr. Petrich, Christian Petrich.

22               Do you recall that, in SPF?

23          A.   It was done by SPF.  I don't know exactly

24   how they divided the responsibilities for it.

25          Q.   Do you know who Christian Petrich provided
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 1   that report for?

 2          A.   I believe he provided the report for

 3   Rangen.

 4          Q.   Right.  And so this is a draft of a

 5   memorandum to Rangen when Rangen was seeking to try and

 6   find some opportunities to get water; correct?

 7          A.   That's my understanding.

 8          Q.   And Mr. Petrich was identifying one of

 9   those, and indicated that a horizontal well might be

10   one option.

11               And that's -- this is what you were relying

12   upon, substantial part, with regard to your testimony

13   that a horizontal well would result in additional

14   water; correct?

15          A.   Yes.  And it just makes hydraulic sense

16   also that another well or tunnel beneath the existing

17   one would draw more water from the aquifer.

18          Q.   I'm going to point you to the -- I've

19   pulled up page 6 of this exhibit, and the last page

20   here.

21               And you'll see here Mr. Petrich is saying,

22   "A horizontal well could result in substantial increase

23   in flow to the Rangen facility"; correct?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Okay.  "However, this flow will likely
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 1   decrease current discharge to the Curren Tunnel, to

 2   other springs in the vicinity of the Curren Tunnel, and

 3   possibly to wells located on the rim above the Curren

 4   Tunnel."

 5               Do you agree that those would be concerns

 6   when drilling a horizontal well below the Curren

 7   Tunnel?

 8          A.   I think those are possibilities.  If the

 9   objective here is to extract more water from the

10   aquifer than is presently discharging at the tunnel,

11   that water will have to come from somewhere.

12          Q.   Right.  And so it's almost certain to do

13   precisely what Mr. Petrich was worried about here?

14          A.   I think it's certainly a possibility.  It's

15   something that, you know, we could examine with the

16   groundwater model, for example.

17          Q.   And you have not done that?

18          A.   No.

19          Q.   One of the other conceptual plans or

20   proposals that you had was what I'll call an

21   over-the-rim proposal, to take some wells that are

22   above the Rangen facility and pipe that water together

23   and run it down the tunnel; correct?  Or run it down to

24   the tunnel; correct?

25          A.   Yes, that's the basic concept.
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 1          Q.   Okay.  And you looked at a number of wells,

 2   I understand.  And I'm going to show you Deposition

 3   Exhibit 1059, which I understand to be a list of the

 4   wells that you looked at within a 2-mile radius.

 5               Correct?

 6          A.   Yeah.

 7          Q.   Do you recognize that?

 8          A.   These are wells within 2 miles of the

 9   tunnel outlet.

10          Q.   Okay.  And I'm going to direct you to the

11   column here that refers to the use volume on those

12   water rights.  And I understand the significance for

13   you of that column is that that's the maximum acre-feet

14   that you indicate could be pumped from those wells.

15               Correct?

16          A.   Yes.  Those are the water right volumetric

17   limits --

18          Q.   Okay.

19          A.   -- where they existed.

20          Q.   And it's my understanding that that's

21   significant because -- in your mind, because it shows

22   8,008 acre-feet volume limitation, and that in order to

23   get 9.1 cfs you would need approximately 7,000.

24          A.   A little under 7,000.

25          Q.   A little under 7-?
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 1          A.   If you were trying to provide the full

 2   9.1 cfs this way.

 3          Q.   So in order to accomplish an over-the-rim

 4   plan, the conceptual plan that you've got, you would

 5   need virtually all of these wells to be connected,

 6   correct, in order to get 9.1 cfs?

 7          A.   If this was the only method of providing

 8   mitigation.

 9          Q.   Do you know whether these volume

10   limitations that are here are simply the volume

11   limitations off of the water rights, or are these the

12   consumptive uses of these wells?

13          A.   These are numbers from the water rights.

14          Q.   Okay.  So the actual consumptive use for

15   these wells would likely be less than that?

16          A.   It might be less, in some cases at least.

17          Q.   With regard to the wells that are listed

18   here that you are proposing, it's my understanding that

19   you have not spoken with any of these water-right

20   holders.

21               Correct?

22          A.   I have not personally spoken with any of

23   them.

24          Q.   Do you know whether the proposal --

25   assuming that you come up with it, do you know whether
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 1   the proposal would provide for these acres to be dried

 2   up so that the water can be pumped, or would you be

 3   planning on conversions from some kind of surface

 4   water?

 5          A.   I don't know what the mix would be.  It

 6   might well be a combination of those things.

 7          Q.   Have you had any conversations with, for

 8   instance, North Side to try and see if water was

 9   available to be able to do conversions?

10          A.   Only general ones.

11          Q.   Okay.  And were you here for

12   Mr. Carlquist's testimony indicating that he believes

13   the North Side is at capacity with regard to

14   conversions?

15          A.   I heard him say that.  I don't know where

16   the bottlenecks are precisely in the conversion water

17   delivery.

18          Q.   Okay.  And that would seem to be a big one

19   towards getting an over-the-rim plan, wouldn't it, if

20   you're looking for conversions, big bottleneck?

21          A.   It would depend on where it is.  These are

22   all served by W -- laterals off the -- or conveyances

23   offer the W Lateral.  I don't know if that's where the

24   big bottlenecks are or if they're farther up in the

25   system.
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 1          Q.   I'd like to look at Exhibit 1053.

 2   Exhibit 1053 I understand is a plan that was submitted

 3   in the Clear Springs case.

 4               Correct?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   How many -- how many wells were being

 7   connected with regard to the Clear Springs case?

 8          A.   I think there were seven, seven or eight

 9   wells.

10          Q.   Okay.

11          A.   There were two alternatives.  There was one

12   that involved seven or eight wells, and one that

13   involved, I think, two or three wells.

14          Q.   And for those wells, do you know how many

15   pages there are of documents here connected with the

16   Exhibit 1053?

17          A.   I haven't counted.

18          Q.   Okay.  Would it surprise you -- and I'll go

19   to what I believe to be the last page here.  Would it

20   surprise you if there were 46 pages in this document?

21          A.   No, if you count all those schematics,

22   things like that.

23          Q.   Okay.  Schematics of what would actually be

24   done.

25               You have not prepared something similar in
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 1   this case, have you?

 2          A.   No.  There was quite a bit more time

 3   available to prepare this than we've had in this case.

 4          Q.   Turning your attention to the pump-back

 5   system that you had -- at least had a conceptual plan

 6   for.

 7               With regard to that pump-back system, what

 8   water would be -- where would you get the water to pump

 9   back?  It's my understanding right now that Rangen has

10   rights in the Curren Tunnel which are flowing

11   approximately 1 or 2 cfs.  Where would you get the

12   water to pump back?

13          A.   Well, the groundwater districts have an

14   application for a water right on Billingsley Creek.

15   That could be pumped.  It could be pumped from the

16   tail -- the effluent from existing raceways at Rangen.

17          Q.   Well, the existing raceways, again, that

18   would require some other water to go into Rangen's

19   facility to be used; correct?

20          A.   Well, that's why I mentioned the

21   Billingsley Creek water.

22          Q.   In other words, the pump-back system by

23   itself, at least as things currently stand, is really

24   not going to provide much water for Rangen, unless one

25   of the other conceptual plans were approved?
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 1          A.   If the only water running through the

 2   Rangen facility that can be pumped back is that which

 3   can be obtained from the Curren Tunnel, it would

 4   probably be difficult to make up the 9 cfs with that,

 5   because I think the tunnel flows now are only a

 6   few cfs.  Although I've heard of mixtures on the order

 7   of 10 percent for pump-backs.

 8          MR. MAY:  Thank you.  That's all I've got.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon,

10   cross-examination?

11          MR. LEMMON:  Yeah, I have a few questions I

12   would like to ask.

13   

14                      CROSS-EXAMINATION

15   BY MR. LEMMON:

16          Q.   I believe yesterday you characterized that

17   perhaps a horizontal well was one of the best options

18   available to supplying water directly to Rangen's.

19               Would that be your --

20          A.   I don't know if I'd characterized it as the

21   best.

22          Q.   Okay.

23          A.   I don't remember that.  It's certainly one

24   of the options.

25          Q.   I think you said perhaps it was the best
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 1   option.  But okay.

 2               You've admitted or you've said that there

 3   are some risk to other springs in the area by the use

 4   of the horizontal well or extending the tunnel.

 5               Could you describe how you see that --

 6   either extending the tunnel or drilling the horizontal

 7   well at Rangen's affecting local spring discharges.

 8          A.   Extending the tunnel or putting in a lower

 9   horizontal well would -- if they resulted in an

10   increase in discharge, which would be the goal, of

11   course, would tend to lower water tables in the

12   immediate vicinity.

13               That might have an effect on other nearby

14   springs.  It might diminish somewhat the flow of other

15   springs.  It might cause groundwater levels to decline

16   slightly in the upstream area.  It would depend on the

17   amount of additional water being extracted.  And these

18   are the kinds of analyses that the groundwater model is

19   designed to look at.

20          Q.   So it could affect other water right

21   diverters in the area?

22          A.   It's possible.

23          Q.   Okay.  Do you know of other tunnels in the

24   area?

25          A.   The Hoagland Tunnel is not far from Curren
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 1   Tunnel.

 2          Q.   Okay.

 3          A.   And I suspect there are others that I don't

 4   know about.

 5          Q.   From personal experience, I can tell you

 6   there are others.

 7               Would it be then your recommendation if

 8   those -- the owners of those tunnels are also impacted

 9   and their supply goes down, would it be your

10   recommendation that they should lengthen or install

11   horizontal wells at their locations?

12          A.   They -- should those decreases be material,

13   there are probably a whole suite of methods that we'd

14   have to look at to see how to keep people whole.  They

15   involve the things you mentioned.  They may involve

16   something else.

17          Q.   So the solution of Rangen's could lead us

18   to problems at other diversion locations?

19          A.   Increasing the discharge from the aquifer

20   at Rangen will cause lower water tables in the

21   immediate vicinity.  It's hard to say how far those

22   would be extended.  There were other aspects of the

23   mitigation plan that would not have any of these

24   effects.

25          Q.   So what would be one of those options that
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 1   wouldn't have these effects?

 2          A.   Well, the obvious one, the 800-pound

 3   gorilla is the assignment of the Billingsley Creek

 4   water right to Rangen.

 5          Q.   Okay.  If we take that one off the table,

 6   then what else?

 7          A.   Increased recharge from Sandy Ponds, for

 8   example.

 9          Q.   Okay.  What water right would you foresee

10   being used to extend the tunnel or drill a horizontal

11   well at Rangen's?

12          A.   Well, in the SPF report, it was

13   hypothesized that the Department would view these --

14   could view these as well deepening efforts.

15          Q.   Okay.

16          A.   I don't know if that's the case or if a new

17   application would be required.

18          Q.   I believe Rangen's water right has been

19   viewed as a surface water right.  So that would, in my

20   estimation, mean that they wouldn't be able to go for

21   what would now be determined to be a groundwater right.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon, you

23   need to ask questions.  You're testifying now.

24          MR. LEMMON:  Okay.  Excuse me.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.
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 1          Q.   (BY MR. LEMMON):  Would it be your

 2   understanding that a horizontal well would be viewed as

 3   a groundwater -- or a -- yeah, a groundwater right?

 4          A.   I really can't say whether a new

 5   application for a new water right would be required for

 6   that or not.  That's sort of a legal question.

 7          MR. LEMMON:  Okay.

 8          MS. LEMMON:  Is there a contingency in your

 9   mitigation plan should --

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let's have the questions

11   funneled through one person.  I'm sorry, Linda.

12          MS. LEMMON:  That's okay.

13          Q.   (BY MR. LEMMON):  Okay.  Given the fact

14   that you've said that there's a possibility of

15   drilling -- if you drill a horizontal well or extend

16   the tunnel at Rangen's, there's a possibility that it

17   would affect other springs in the area, what would be

18   the contingency plan to compensate those other

19   diversions?

20          A.   It would be some combination, I presume, of

21   the sorts of things that are in this plan.  Some

22   similar combination.

23          Q.   Okay.  You've talked about -- let's go to

24   the over-the-rim proposal.

25               As an engineer what are your estimations of
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 1   the risk of failure of that system?

 2          A.   Do you mean like a mechanical failure of

 3   the system?

 4          Q.   A mechanical failure.  A failure to deliver

 5   the required water to Rangen's.

 6          A.   I think those can be made quite small.  The

 7   plan that was developed for Snake River Farm had

 8   emergency power, had generators that had automatic

 9   switches on them.  It had more pumps plumbed into the

10   system that were needed to supply the required flow

11   rates, and switching systems that would turn those

12   pumps on if for some reason or another one went off.

13   So I think the risks of mechanical failure were pretty

14   small there.

15          Q.   So --

16          A.   I can't tell you a number .002 percent or

17   something like that.

18          Q.   Okay.  What would be the proposal as far as

19   responding to failures of the system?  In other words,

20   who would respond and who would be the staff on call,

21   or how would those failures be detected by the

22   groundwater districts?

23          A.   Well, I presume there would have to be

24   sufficient monitoring and telemetry on the system, if

25   anything.  The goal would be to make the response
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 1   automatic, run by electronics and switching.

 2          Q.   So that adds more components that could

 3   possibly fail?

 4          A.   Well, I guess there's the argument that the

 5   more components you have, the more likely it is there's

 6   going to be a failure someplace.  But on the other

 7   hand, these components are all designed to operate

 8   backup systems.

 9               So I mean at what point do you have backups

10   for the backups for the backups?  I mean I don't know.

11   It's kind of a -- just -- I can't -- maybe I'm not

12   answering your question.

13          MR. LEMMON:  Yeah.  Okay.  That's all of my

14   questions, I guess.

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you, Mr. Lemmon.

16   And I want to clarify at this point, you're

17   representing yourself pro se.  And, Mr. Lemmon, you did

18   a good job of asking questions.

19               I just want to make sure, Linda, that you

20   know --

21          MS. LEMMON:  I understand.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- if you want to take the

23   lead in questioning and examining the witnesses, you're

24   welcome to do that.  I just need to know -- what I

25   don't want is a switching back and forth.

0570

 1               And some of that is for the sake of the

 2   court reporter.  Some of it is for the sake of the

 3   witness, because I think the witness -- I've been in

 4   situations where two or three attorneys are asking me

 5   questions all at the same time, and it's a

 6   disconcerting situation to be in.  So it's as much for

 7   order as anything.  So thanks for your patience.

 8               Okay.  Mr. Budge, redirect?

 9          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yeah.  Thank you, Director.  I

10   don't think this will take too long.

11   

12                    REDIRECT EXAMINATION

13   BY MR. TJ BUDGE:

14          Q.   Dr. Brendecke, I just want to ask a few

15   follow-up questions to clarify a few things.

16               First, I want to talk about the

17   availability of groundwater in the aquifer to support a

18   horizontal well or an over-the-rim system.  Mr. May

19   made a statement that water was not available to Rangen

20   at the Curren Tunnel.  And I wanted to clarify some

21   testimony that you provided yesterday.

22               My recollection is that it was your opinion

23   that there is an abundant groundwater supply

24   available --

25          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Leading.
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 1          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  -- just east of Rangen;

 2   is that correct?

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We have an

 4   objection.

 5          MR. MAY:  Yes.  Objection.  It's leading.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  This is redirect.  He's

 7   trying to characterize Brendecke's testimony.

 8   Brendecke can state whether it's correct or not.

 9               So overruled.

10               Mr. Brendecke.

11          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Dr. Brendecke, did you

12   testify yesterday that there is a robust groundwater

13   supply in the vicinity of Rangen?

14          A.   Yes.

15          Q.   And you testified yesterday that should the

16   Director authorize development of a horizontal well or

17   an over-the-rim system you believe there was adequate

18   water in the aquifer to operate such a system?

19          A.   Yes, I believe there is.

20          Q.   And you recall testifying yesterday about a

21   table that you had put together of groundwater rights

22   in the vicinity of Rangen that could be used for an

23   over-the-rim system?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Are you aware that Rangen itself owns some
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 1   land above the rim just east of its aquaculture

 2   facility?

 3          A.   Only because of looking at maps prepared by

 4   others.  It looks like there's some land that Rangen

 5   owns above the rim.

 6          Q.   Would you mind turning to Exhibit 1059.

 7          A.   I have it.

 8          Q.   This is the table of water rights within

 9   2 miles of the Rangen hatchery; is that right?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   There was some discussion earlier about --

12   or at least an inference made by Mr. May that to use

13   these water rights for an over-the-rim system you would

14   have to actually interconnect every well that's

15   presently used to deliver these water rights.

16               Do you recall that suggestion?

17          A.   Yes.

18          Q.   I assume you're familiar with what we call

19   in Idaho a water-right transfer, which could be used to

20   change points of diversion or places of use of water

21   rights?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Wouldn't you agree that whatever number of

24   these water rights were necessary to meet a mitigation

25   obligation over the rim a water-right transfer
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 1   application could be filed to consolidate the points of

 2   diversion to a handful of points of diversion similar

 3   to what was proposed in the Snake River Farms plan?

 4          MR. MAY:  Objection.  He's just testifying.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

 6               Go ahead.

 7          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Typically, on redirect you're

 8   allowed to lead the witness.

 9          Q.   To rephrase the question, would you agree

10   that a water-right transfer application can be filed,

11   subject to Department approval, to consolidate a number

12   of these water rights in a series of wells similar as

13   was proposed in the Snake River Farms plan?

14          A.   Yes, I believe that's the case.

15          Q.   There was also questions to you about

16   whether the groundwater users would convert all of this

17   land to surface water.

18               And I understood your testimony to be that

19   they may or they may in part; is that correct?

20          A.   Yes.

21          Q.   They could also purchase some of this land

22   if that made economic sense?

23          A.   Yes.

24          Q.   I want to point to one of the water rights

25   on this table in 1059.  It's water right 36-8048 in the
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 1   name of Rangen, Inc.

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   You'll see that it authorized a diversion

 4   volume of 80 acre-feet --

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   -- annually.

 7               You testified that if a horizontal well

 8   were installed it may have an effect on groundwater

 9   levels in this area; is that correct?

10          A.   It might, yeah.

11          Q.   And would you agree that the use of water

12   from any of these wells would have effect on

13   groundwater levels in the area?

14          A.   It would.

15          Q.   And if Rangen is using its water right, it

16   would also have an effect to lower the groundwater

17   level in this area?

18          A.   It would.

19          Q.   And so in that sense Rangen has -- it's

20   been using its water right, been contributing to its

21   own water decline?

22          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Objection.  Leading, and

23   it's misleading him.  Objection.

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I guess my question is,

25   Mr. Budge, what's the purpose for this inquiry?
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 1          MR. TJ BUDGE:  To point out that Rangen has also

 2   had the opportunity to deliver water over the rim.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  But it has a water right.

 4   Sustained.

 5          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Dr. Brendecke, there

 6   was some questioning about the backups utilized in an

 7   over-the-rim delivery system.

 8               Do you recall those questions by

 9   Mr. Lemmon?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   You explained that in the Snake River Farms

12   plan they had backup power and pumps and the like.

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   Is it your opinion that backup facilities

15   of that nature reasonably --

16          MR. MAY:  Objection.  It's redirect, and all

17   he's doing is testifying for the witness.  It's

18   inappropriate.  It's leading.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  No.  I think for the most

20   part, Mr. May, Mr. Budge is asking Mr. Brendecke about

21   his testimony, and his previous testimony, and

22   reiterating it.  And so Mr. Brendecke can qualify his

23   statements.

24               Overruled.

25          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Was your testimony
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 1   that, in your opinion, backup devices of that nature

 2   adequately or reasonably protect against system

 3   failure?

 4          A.   I believe they did, yes.

 5          Q.   Could similar backup measures be included

 6   on a pump-back system?

 7          A.   Of course.

 8          Q.   In fact, isn't it true that any water

 9   delivery system has a risk of failure?  For example, a

10   piping system, a ditch system, a canal system, any of

11   those can fail by accident?

12          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Continuing.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

14          THE WITNESS:  All water delivery systems -- or

15   all constructed water delivery systems have risks of

16   failure.

17          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  And so the risk of

18   failure also exists with Rangen's current system of

19   piping coming from the Curren Tunnel to the small

20   raceways?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   And the pipes between their raceways?

23          A.   Yes, they would.

24          Q.   So you would agree that it's not realistic

25   to construct any water delivery system that is
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 1   100 percent immune from a risk of failure?

 2          A.   I believe that's true.

 3          Q.   The best we can do is create a system that

 4   minimizes that risk to a tolerable level?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   And --

 7          A.   That's what backups are for.

 8          Q.   And in your opinion, there are backups and

 9   redundancies available to minimize that risk for a

10   pump-back or an over-the-rim system to a reasonable

11   level?

12          A.   I believe so.

13          Q.   Let me back up just briefly to the

14   discussion about the challenge of delivering the full

15   9.1 cfs to Rangen in an over-the-rim system.

16               I presume you would agree that that would

17   be an expensive option for the groundwater users?

18          A.   It would be.

19          Q.   Would you characterize that as their

20   mitigation alternative of last resort, most likely?

21          MR. MAY:  Objection.  He's just testifying.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  The question,

23   I think, can be posed in a different way, Mr. Budge.

24          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yeah.

25          Q.   Would the groundwater users -- in your
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 1   view, would it make sense for them to limit the

 2   capacity of an over-the-rim system to the minimum

 3   amount of water needed to meet their mitigation

 4   obligation?  For example, if they received credit for

 5   conversions, CREP, or other activities, wouldn't you

 6   expect those would be taken into account, and then the

 7   over-the-rim system would be designed simply to make up

 8   the shortfall to meet the full 9.1 obligation?

 9          A.   I think that would be the most

10   cost-effective thing to do.

11          Q.   Okay.  Just -- and then one last question

12   about the feasibility of a pump-back system.  My

13   understanding of the question asked by Mr. May and your

14   testimony is that if Rangen's water use was limited

15   strictly to water discharging from the tunnel it may be

16   difficult to provide the full 9.1 cfs by recirculating

17   that Curren Tunnel discharge.

18          A.   Yes, it would be driven, to some degree, by

19   water quality and constraints and the like.  Might

20   require some oxygenation equipment.

21          Q.   If Rangen was allowed to use Billingsley

22   Creek water, either by an assignment of the Groundwater

23   District's permit or by them obtaining their own water

24   right permit, that would provide a significant

25   additional water supply for use in the facility; is
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 1   that correct?

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   And a pump-back system then would be much

 4   more feasible with that Billingsley Creek water

 5   available?

 6          A.   Yes.

 7          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I have no further questions.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Thank you,

 9   Mr. Budge.

10               Recross, Mr. May?

11          MR. MAY:  No, thank you.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Recross, Mr. Lemmon?

13          MR. LEMMON:  No.

14          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Thank you,

15   Dr. Brendecke.

16          THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Does IGWA have additional

18   witnesses it wants to call?

19          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yeah.

20          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Yes, we do.  We call Wayne

21   Courtney as an adverse witness.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Courtney, if

23   you'll come forward, please.  Raise your right hand.

24   ///

25   ///
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 1                       WAYNE COURTNEY,

 2   having been called as a witness by IGWA and duly sworn

 3   to tell the truth relating to said cause, testified as

 4   follows:

 5   

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Thank you.  And

 7   please be seated.

 8               And you are being called as an adverse

 9   witness, so the nature of questioning may be a little

10   different than what you've heard at least on direct

11   examination.  And as an adverse witness, it will

12   resemble more the nature of cross-examination.  So I

13   just wanted to prepare you.

14          THE WITNESS:  Okay.

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Very good.

16               Mr. Budge, Randy, are you examining?

17          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Thank you.

18               One matter, we would ask that the Director

19   take judicial notice of the January 31st, 2014

20   cease-and-desist order issued, as well as the

21   March 7th, '14 consent order and agreement with Rangen.

22          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I would object to that,

23   Director.  That is a whole separate proceeding.  I

24   think that's been stated repeatedly.  I don't think

25   that cease-and-desist order is in any way relevant to
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 1   this proceeding.  I object.

 2          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  If I could respond briefly.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We've already admitted into

 5   evidence a number of orders.  Exhibit 1004 is the

 6   mitigation plan in a prior proceeding.  1005 is a

 7   mitigation plan order granting credits for CREP

 8   conversion recharge.  1020 is an order approving our

 9   Snake River Farms over-the-rim mitigation plan.

10               And the reason this is particularly

11   relevant is we have mitigation proposals here that

12   directly relate to mitigating all material injury to

13   Rangen.  Whether Rangen is injured will depend largely,

14   in fact as far as the short term, on whether or not the

15   cease-and-desist order remains in effect.  It may or

16   may not according to the terms of the order.

17               The order makes it clear that Rangen is

18   illegally using water.  And by reason of that illegal

19   use, it could be curtailed.  We're entitled to inquire

20   into what impact that might have on their operation,

21   because that will determine precisely the level of

22   material injury which we have an obligation to

23   mitigate.

24               And our pending Application for Permit is

25   intended exactly to do that.  We could replace any
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 1   water that Rangen may lose by reason of the

 2   cease-and-desist order relating to a water right that

 3   it does not have.

 4               So for that reason, the proceedings are

 5   interconnected, one leg of the body.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  So let me just ask a

 7   question, Mr. Budge.  Are you arguing that because

 8   Rangen is now diverting water that, at least the

 9   Director has determined it does not have a water right

10   for, that because of that diversion of water it is not

11   materially injured?  Is that your argument?

12          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  What we're arguing is that we

13   have an ability to mitigate that injury and any other

14   relating to our mitigation plan water right permit.

15   And they've opposed our effort to assign that permit to

16   Rangen.  And so it's directly relevant to our plan and

17   our mitigation, and whether we can prevent material

18   injury to Rangen that they complain of.

19               And we're simply asking judicial notice of

20   those proceedings.  They've been the subject of a lot

21   of discussion in the case.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, Mr. Haemmerle, go

23   ahead.  I'll hear you.

24          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Thank you, Director.

25               This proceeding is not about material

0583

 1   injury.  That was decided in the prior call.  If you

 2   recall, the proceedings on the cease and desist, we

 3   showed up willing to cease on February 24th, and you

 4   graciously allowed us to continue diversion, but

 5   recognizing an order -- the diversion, according to

 6   your order, is illegal and not authorized.  But you

 7   have stayed that for a period of time.

 8               Whether or not -- or how that relates to

 9   the prior applications is completely unclear, and

10   there's no connection at all.  Those are separate

11   proceedings.

12               That's exactly what Mr. Budge wants to do,

13   is claim that because of that cease-and-desist order

14   we're not injured.  That's exactly what he's going to

15   argue in this case.  And that is not the issue here.

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  In response,

17   Mr. Budge, I will take notice of this document and the

18   consent order that was signed, but -- because it is a

19   Department document and everyone knows about it, but I

20   question the relevancy of having this document in the

21   record.

22               And if you intend to examine Mr. Courtney

23   at length about what's happening or any components of

24   this, I probably would cut off the examination in short

25   order.  Okay?
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 1          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  That isn't my intent to ask

 2   him how that came about.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  The questions would only

 5   relate to our efforts to mitigate injury and how that

 6   cease-and-desist order might affect their operation.

 7          MR. HAEMMERLE:  It's Counsel's intent to argue

 8   exactly that because of that order that he's not --

 9   that Rangen is not injured.  That's exactly what he's

10   going to do.  And when he does it, I'm going to object.

11          THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's fine.  And just as

12   a forwarning, I fail to see the relevancy of this

13   document to the present proceedings.  I don't

14   understand the relevance.

15          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  So the record's clear, the

16   Hearing Officer's ruling is that judicial notice will

17   be taken of both the cease-and-desist order of

18   January 31st, 2014, as well as the -- I think you had

19   in your hand the consent order and agreement that was

20   signed by Rangen?

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  That's correct.  And I was

22   only referring to the consent order.  So thank you,

23   Mr. Budge.

24               Okay.  You may examine.

25          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Thank you.
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 1                     DIRECT EXAMINATION

 2   BY MR. RANDY BUDGE:

 3          Q.   Morning, Mr. Courtney.

 4          A.   Good morning.

 5          Q.   I believe you're the vice president for

 6   Rangen.

 7               Is that correct?

 8          A.   Yes, I am.

 9          Q.   Do you also serve on the board of

10   directors?

11          A.   Yes, I do.

12          Q.   And how long have you been in that

13   capacity?

14          A.   Since 1996.

15          Q.   On the board since 1996?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   And how long have you been the vice

18   president?

19          A.   Since 1996.

20          Q.   And do you serve under the direction and

21   control of Christopher Rangen, who's the president?

22          A.   Yes, I do.

23          Q.   And have you participated in all aspects of

24   the delivery call proceeding previously, as well as

25   been present during the testimony the last three days
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 1   in this case?

 2          A.   I'm not sure of all of the activities of

 3   the prior --

 4          Q.   Let me rephrase that.  I apologize.

 5               You've been present in the courtroom the

 6   last three days in this mitigation hearing; correct?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   And were you not present and participate in

 9   the original case dealing with the Rangen curtailment

10   request in May of last year?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   You testified in that proceeding?

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   And I believe you were present during all

15   of the depositions that were taken in this proceeding?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Could you please turn to Exhibit 1079.

18               And if you could pull that up, please,

19   Justin, I'd appreciate it.

20               Do you recognize Exhibit 1079 as a pleading

21   filed in this case entitled "Rangen, Inc.'s Response to

22   IGWA's First Set of Discovery Requests to Rangen"?

23          A.   Yes.

24          Q.   And if you'd turn to the last page, please.

25   I believe that's a verification page.  And it states
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 1   that you've read the Rangen responses, know the content

 2   thereof and the facts stated you believe to be true;

 3   correct?

 4          A.   Correct.

 5          Q.   Have you had an opportunity to review those

 6   discovery responses of Rangen prior to your testimony

 7   today?

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          Q.   Is there any -- I realize we're kind of on

10   a short time frame in this case, and even though the

11   discovery requests were to be deemed ongoing and could

12   be amended, it didn't provide a lot of time for that.

13   So let me just ask you this.

14               Are there any changes that you're aware of

15   from the answers you gave in those interrogatories that

16   Rangen would assert differently if answered today?

17          A.   Can I read them real quick?

18          Q.   Yes.

19          A.   (Reviews.)

20               There's a few items that came up during the

21   depositions of the different individuals that we

22   weren't aware of at the time that we responded to this.

23   But other than that, it would stay the same.

24          Q.   Turn to page 3.

25               And if you'd pull that up, please, Justin.
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 1               Mr. Courtney, Rangen's answers on page 3

 2   pertain to a discovery request that basically asked

 3   Rangen to describe precisely and in detail its

 4   opposition to each mitigation proposal.  And then

 5   Rangen's answers start on page 3.  And I have some

 6   questions I wanted to ask you regarding those, if you

 7   would, please.

 8          A.   Okay.

 9          Q.   So at the top of page 3, the first bullet,

10   if you could enlarge the last two sentences of that.

11   Just the last two sentences.

12               The first bullet deals with items 1A, B,

13   and C of IGWA's mitigation plan, which was a requested

14   credit for CREP, conversion, and recharge.

15               Do you recall that?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   And the first sentence of the response, it

18   says, "Rangen doesn't have sufficient information to

19   say whether it opposes the proposal set forth in 1A to

20   1C."  And then if you turn to the last two sentences

21   where Rangen gives further explanation, you'll see the

22   second-to-the-last sentence, starting three lines up

23   states, "Rangen also objects to mitigation credit for

24   IGWA related to activity -- related to efforts

25   undertaken or financed by others."
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 1               There's been evidence presented in this

 2   case that IGWA pays for CREP program costs, but the

 3   amount IGWA pays is a relatively small percentage of

 4   those costs, not all.

 5               Do you remember that testimony in this

 6   case?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   So is it Rangen's position since IGWA does

 9   not pay all of the costs of CREP that it should receive

10   no credit?

11          A.   I believe that IGWA should not receive

12   credit for water that is not their water.  They were

13   paying for some transportation costs, but it was not

14   under their water.

15          Q.   Well, you may not have understood my

16   question.  So let me re-ask it.  I'm talking

17   specifically about the CREP program.

18               Do you understand the CREP program is one

19   that pays farmers not to pump their wells, and they

20   essentially dry up their acres?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   So there's no water delivered to those

23   farmers.  Their acres are dried up.

24               Do you understand that part of the CREP

25   program?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   And IGWA paid several million dollars of

 3   that CREP program, according to evidence in this case,

 4   but that was only 1.3 percent of the total program

 5   costs.  So the statement says that IGWA shouldn't get a

 6   credit for costs financed by others.

 7               So is it the position of Rangen that IGWA

 8   should get no credit for CREP in this case because they

 9   only paid 1.3 percent of the costs?

10          A.   No, it is not our position on that.

11          Q.   What is your position?

12          A.   The CREP acres that were IGWA members that

13   were set aside should -- as long as it's within the

14   area of curtailment, not out to the east of the Great

15   Rift or not within the -- it has to be within the trim

16   line, they should get credit for that.

17          Q.   Okay.  So you've changed your position

18   here, then, that IGWA had to finance all of the CREP

19   money to get credit.

20               You're basically now testifying, if I

21   understand it, that as long as we're within the trim

22   line we should get credit for the CREP program?

23          A.   That isn't changing that position, because

24   that doesn't specifically -- that does not answer just

25   to CREP.

0591

 1          Q.   Well, this says you object to the credit

 2   for efforts related -- financed by others.  And the

 3   CREP program, all but 1.3 percent of the $258 million

 4   expended, is paid by the federal government, not by

 5   IGWA.

 6               So I'm just trying to clarify, is Rangen

 7   contending IGWA should only get 1.3 percent of the

 8   credit resulting from CREP?

 9          A.   No.

10          Q.   Or -- are you willing to agree that IGWA

11   gets full credit for CREP, as the Director has ordered

12   in other cases?

13          A.   Full credit, as long as the CREP acres are

14   within the curtailment area.

15          Q.   Now, let's turn to the last sentence.  It

16   says, "Rangen also objects to the mitigation credit for

17   IGWA for temporary or nonpermanent changes."

18               You've been present in the courtroom during

19   testimony provided by a number of witnesses that the

20   conversion acres are not permanent in nature, that they

21   may change year to year.

22               Do you understand that?

23          A.   Yes.

24          Q.   And are you also aware that those that are

25   involved in the conversion program have soft
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 1   conversions that they can choose to turn their pumps

 2   back on?  Did you hear that testimony?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   So is it Rangen's position when it states

 5   you object to any temporary or nonpermanent changes,

 6   that Rangen is unwilling to agree to any credit for

 7   conversion acres because they are not permanent in

 8   nature as Rangen requests here?

 9          A.   If they're to get credit for those

10   conversion acres, we would like to have an order that

11   those conversion acres cannot be placed in -- under

12   pumping during the time of the credit.

13          Q.   So unless they're permanent, you're going

14   to object to any credit for CREP, which you state here?

15   Are you changing your mind on that?

16          A.   For CREP or soft conversions?  I'm sorry.

17          Q.   For conversions.  You state here that

18   you're not going to agree to any credit for conversions

19   unless there are permanent changes, and you wouldn't

20   agree to any credit for recharge unless it's permanent.

21               So does that remain Rangen's position?  Yes

22   or no?

23          A.   My position is that to receive the credit

24   for that nonpumping credit, that the land should stay

25   dry during the period of the credit.
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 1          Q.   Not permanently?

 2          A.   Not permanently, but during the time of the

 3   credit.

 4          Q.   I just wanted to clarify.  That's different

 5   than your testimony here.  Let's turn to item 2.

 6               Item 2 says that "Rangen opposes mitigation

 7   credit for water delivered to Butch Morris"; is that

 8   correct?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   The third bullet point says, "Rangen

11   opposes mitigation credit for the assignment of water

12   right application 36-16976."

13               Rangen opposes that effort; correct?

14          A.   This one should not be a surprise to

15   anybody at this time.

16          Q.   I didn't ask if it was a surprise.  I

17   wanted to clarify.

18               It remains Rangen's position that you

19   oppose any credit by reason of the pending Application

20   for Permit that IGWA has?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   Let's turn to the next page, if you would,

23   item 4.

24               Am I correct to assume because your counsel

25   moved -- excuse me, because Rangen moved to dismiss the
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 1   fish replacement part of the plan that Rangen obviously

 2   opposed that?  Correct?

 3          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'm going to object, Director.

 4   This violates your pretrial order.  There's a motion in

 5   limine in place on numbers 4 and 5.  If the Director

 6   recalls, those are not legal forms of mitigation.

 7          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

 8               Mr. Budge, I don't see a reason --

 9          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Is it correct that

10   Rangen still opposes any effort by IGWA to improve the

11   diversion structure in the Curren Tunnel?

12          A.   If there's to be cleaning in the tunnel,

13   Rangen will do it.

14          Q.   So your answer would be yes, you oppose any

15   effort by IGWA to deepen the tunnel, to lower the

16   tunnel, or to widen the tunnel, any kind of an

17   improvement would be proposed by Rangen; correct?

18          A.   That I would have to look at the details,

19   and I would have to check with attorneys, our

20   attorneys.

21          Q.   Okay.  But so far you basically have

22   opposed -- according to item 6, you oppose any effort

23   not done by Rangen to clean the tunnel, to improve the

24   tunnel, or anything of that nature; correct?

25          A.   Well, No. 6 has to do with cleaning and
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 1   maintaining the tunnel.  It doesn't say anything about

 2   deepening the tunnel.

 3          Q.   Well, I'm asking you that question.  Does

 4   IGWA opposed -- excuse me.  Does Rangen oppose any

 5   effort by IGWA to improve Rangen's point of diversion

 6   at the Curren Tunnel which might involve deepening it,

 7   lengthening the tunnel, or widening the tunnel?

 8          A.   For those -- for deepening, lengthening, or

 9   widening the tunnel --

10          Q.   Yes.

11          A.   -- I would have to check with our attorneys

12   before I would be able to answer that.

13          Q.   So does Rangen allow its attorneys to make

14   its decisions for you?

15          A.   I consult with them.

16          Q.   All right.  So you're not able to say

17   whether or not -- you're the spokesman for Rangen, are

18   you not?

19          A.   Yes, I am.

20          Q.   And you've been taking positions in

21   opposition to every mitigation effort IGWA's proposed

22   in this proceeding; correct?

23          A.   No.

24          Q.   Let me ask you specifically:  Will Rangen

25   allow access to IGWA in order to go in and investigate
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 1   the feasibility of deepening, widening, or lengthening

 2   the Curren Tunnel?

 3          A.   For the last 24 months I have had --

 4          Q.   Let's forget about the last four months.

 5          A.   24 months.

 6          Q.   We haven't done anything in the last 24

 7   months.

 8          A.   I know.

 9          Q.   I'm asking you as of today --

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Courtney, you need to

11   answer Mr. Budge's question.

12          THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry.  Okay.

13          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I'd like he asked to be

14   responsive.

15          Q.   I'm asking, as of today, if this Director

16   issues an order allowing IGWA to proceed with the

17   conceptual design of efforts that would result in the

18   improvement of Rangen's diversion facility at the

19   Curren Tunnel by way of widening the tunnel, deepening

20   the tunnel, or lengthening the tunnel, will Rangen

21   grant IGWA permission to have its consultants and

22   engineers do that work?

23          A.   And as I stated before, I would consult

24   with my attorneys before I would give you that answer.

25          Q.   So you're not willing to say "yes"?
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 1          A.   I'm not willing to answer it right now.

 2          Q.   And if the Director conceptually approves

 3   IGWA's proposal to improve the tunnel, would Rangen

 4   grant IGWA the necessary easements to perform the work

 5   if the conceptual design were approved?

 6          A.   Once again, that's hypothetically.  But I

 7   would consult with our attorneys before I would give

 8   you that answer.

 9          Q.   So today you can't give me a yes answer;

10   correct?

11          A.   That's correct.

12          Q.   On that issue of access, let's go down to

13   the next point on page 6.

14               It says, "Rangen opposes the drilling of a

15   horizontal well"; correct?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Would Rangen grant access or permission to

18   IGWA's consultants to investigate the feasibility of a

19   horizontal well if the Director approved it conditional

20   upon a final design being completed?

21          A.   On that issue, I would also consult with

22   our attorneys before I would be able to answer that.

23          Q.   So it's accurate to say your answer today

24   is you would not say yes today that IGWA could have

25   access to do any feasibility studies or design on a
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 1   horizontal well?

 2          A.   That's correct.

 3          Q.   And would your answer be the same with

 4   respect to an over-the-rim delivery plan, that Rangen

 5   would not grant IGWA access to do any of the

 6   feasibility study or engineering on its property to do

 7   an over-the-rim delivery?

 8          A.   I would check with my attorneys and would

 9   provide an answer afterwards.

10          Q.   But as of today, IGWA (sic) would not give

11   IGWA access for an over-the-rim delivery plan

12   feasibility study; correct?

13          A.   I don't have enough information to give

14   that right now today, no.

15          Q.   So your answer today is no, you would not

16   grant -- IGWA would not grant permission today?

17          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Rangen.

18          THE WITNESS:  IGWA would not grant it?

19          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  That Rangen would

20   not grant IGWA permission today to access its property

21   to investigate the feasibility of an over-the-rim

22   delivery plan, even if the Director were to

23   conditionally approve it?

24          A.   I would talk to our attorneys first.

25          Q.   Okay.  And would the same answer apply with
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 1   respect to item 9, Rangen opposes any type of a

 2   pump-back system; correct?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   And is it true that as of today Rangen

 5   would not give IGWA access temporarily to do

 6   engineering or feasibility studies on your property,

 7   even if it were conditionally approved by the Director?

 8          A.   I would consult with my attorney before I

 9   would give that answer.

10          Q.   You're not willing to give a yes answer on

11   that?

12          A.   Correct.

13          Q.   If you'd turn to the next page, 10,

14   Rangen's answer to interrogatory No. 10.  And it also

15   deals with the access question.

16               If you could pull that answer up, Justin.

17          MR. MAY:  Which one is it?

18          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Interrogatory No. 10

19   asks Rangen if it would agree "...to provide IGWA with

20   access to its property to investigate, engineer,

21   construct, and install improvements to deliver

22   mitigation water to the Rangen Aquaculture facility,

23   such as a horizontal or vertical well, improvements to

24   Curren Tunnel, and over-the-rim delivery, recirculation

25   system."
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 1               And I think you've already answered that as

 2   of today your answer would be no, but you might

 3   reconsider after you talk to your lawyers?

 4          A.   That's correct.

 5          Q.   Okay.  So on your answer to No. 10 -- and

 6   the reason I ask you this is your answer didn't really

 7   respond very directly to the question, so I need to

 8   bring it up here.  The third sentence down on -- or

 9   excuse me, the fourth -- the third sentence, which

10   begins down on line 4, it says, "Rangen will not

11   consider."  It says, "Rangen will not consider

12   providing IGWA with access to its property for any

13   other purpose."

14               And if you look at the previous sentence,

15   you basically said we've had some permission for

16   investigation purposes to provide access to the

17   research hatchery.

18               And I think your answer there is referring

19   to in the prior proceeding, access was provided to the

20   research hatchery; correct?

21          A.   Correct.

22          Q.   But then your answer goes on and says,

23   "Rangen will not consider providing IGWA with access to

24   its property for any other purpose."

25               Can you explain what you mean by that.
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 1          A.   I don't know what other purpose you have to

 2   be on the property.  And without knowing that, I'm not

 3   granting access carte blanche.  We would consider

 4   providing access, but I'm not obligated to do so.  I

 5   would consult with our attorneys before I would give

 6   that answer.

 7          Q.   So that isn't any different than the

 8   answers you already gave me.  As of today, no access

 9   for any purpose, but you might consider it later after

10   you talk to your lawyers?

11          A.   Correct.

12          Q.   Mr. Courtney, I believe you provided

13   testimony in the previous mitigation hearing,

14   curtailment hearing, in May of 2013 about Rangen's use

15   of the water at its facility at the head of Billingsley

16   Creek; is that correct?

17          A.   Yes.

18          Q.   And I just wanted to ask you generally, has

19   there been any significant change from your testimony

20   back in May until today regarding the manner in which

21   Rangen uses water at the facility?

22          A.   We continue to raise fish.  We continue to

23   do research.  We -- we continue to maintain the

24   facilities.

25          Q.   No significant change today from how you
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 1   used it then?

 2          A.   No significant change.

 3          Q.   If Rangen were not allowed to divert water

 4   from any source other than the Curren Tunnel, which

 5   would happen if the stay was lifted on the

 6   cease-and-desist order, would that have the effect of

 7   depriving Rangen of use of any and all water from the

 8   talus slope?

 9          A.   We have an application for that water right

10   now.  We believe that we're entitled -- excuse me, we

11   believe that we will get --

12          Q.   I'll ask you about your application later.

13               I think you're aware that IGWA also has an

14   application that is prior in time in its filing date

15   than Rangen's; correct?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   So I'll come to that later.

18               My question was, if the stay of the

19   cease-and-desist order was lifted, Rangen has no right,

20   other than the Curren Tunnel; correct?

21          A.   As of right now, yes.

22          Q.   That's what Rangen signed when it signed

23   the consent order.  The consent order said Rangen had

24   no right, other than the tunnel.  I can appreciate you

25   may appeal that, and you don't like it, but --
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 1          A.   Yes.  We may appeal it, yes.

 2          Q.   At this point the only right would be in

 3   the Curren Tunnel; correct?

 4          A.   As I said, we may appeal it.  I'm not going

 5   to argue as far as the legal issue as far as the right.

 6          Q.   No, I'm not asking that.  I'm not asking

 7   you if you're going to appeal.

 8          A.   Okay.

 9          Q.   I'm just acknowledging you don't like it.

10          A.   Okay.

11          Q.   We don't like being curtailed either, under

12   our rights.

13          A.   We don't either.

14          Q.   Let's go back to the question.  If the --

15   Rangen were limited to the Curren Tunnel, about what

16   portion of the water rights that you utilize at the

17   Rangen facility comes from the tunnel itself?

18          A.   Right now the tunnel is flowing somewhere

19   between 1 and 2 cfs of water.

20          Q.   And what's the total supply at Rangen

21   approximately, from all water that it's currently using

22   today?

23          A.   12.

24          Q.   So if 1 or 2 are coming from the tunnel and

25   your total supply is 10 --
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 1          MR. TJ BUDGE:  12.

 2          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  -- then somewhere --

 3   or total supply is 12, then you have roughly either 11

 4   or 12 -- or 10 or 11 cfs that are coming from sources

 5   other than the tunnel for which you currently have no

 6   water right; correct?

 7          A.   It's coming from other water, yes.

 8          Q.   Correct.  So what would be the change on

 9   Rangen's current operations if it was only able to use

10   the 1 or 2 cfs coming out of the tunnel?

11          A.   Well, we're currently repiping from the

12   hatch house right now to bring water from it directly

13   into the small raceways.  We've already started our

14   trenching.

15          Q.   You're referring to the tunnel water, the 1

16   to 2 cfs from the tunnel?

17          A.   Yes.

18          Q.   It's piped directly to the hatch house;

19   correct?

20          A.   It's going to the hatch house.  And we are

21   currently changing the delivery system from the hatch

22   house to bring it over to the small raceways.

23          Q.   Okay.  And doesn't that water from the

24   tunnel itself, once it's piped through the hatch house,

25   go to the small raceways anyway?
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 1          A.   The difference is the water that we're

 2   using in -- the water that we're using in the hatch

 3   house and the greenhouse, that water, once it gets used

 4   there, we're piping it over to the small raceways to

 5   utilize that water.

 6          Q.   All right.  So back to my question.

 7               You would have 1 to 2 cfs of water that you

 8   can use total in your facility?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And you would be deprived of the other 10

11   or 11 cfs available.

12               So my question is, what changes would that

13   have upon your operation with respect to operation of

14   your research and/or operation of your fish production

15   activities if you're deprived of that 10 to 11

16   second-feet that you have today?

17          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'm going to object to this line

18   of questioning, Director.  Evidently Mr. Budge wants to

19   get into some sort of beneficial-use analysis --

20          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  That's not correct.

21          MR. HAEMMERLE:  -- during this hearing.  And you

22   know, we had that whole analysis at the delivery call.

23               I don't think we should be obligated to

24   prove our beneficial use at every single hearing after

25   the delivery call where those things are decided.
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 1          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Certainly not trying to

 2   relitigate that.  I'm trying to get at the issue of the

 3   material injury to Rangen that we have a mitigation

 4   plan trying to eliminate.  So we need to understand how

 5   that's affected its operation, and how our assignment

 6   of the permit, for example, could entirely eliminate

 7   any adverse effects.

 8               So once I know of what the adverse effect

 9   is, then it is relevant to our mitigation plan trying

10   to satisfy those.

11          THE HEARING OFFICER:  But, Mr. Budge, I think --

12   well, I don't think.  The previous order addressed the

13   issue of material injury.  This hearing today is not a

14   material injury hearing.

15          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I agree.  I'm not asking about

16   material injury.

17          MR. HAEMMERLE:  He just said he is.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  You just said you are.

19          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I said I'm not.  I'm trying to

20   ask about what changes in its operation may have

21   occurred.  So it relates to the mitigation plan effort

22   that we're trying to take care of.  If Rangen -- Rangen

23   contends that they would get no benefit and oppose our

24   assignment of our permit to them to immediately provide

25   them a water supply.
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 1          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Director, this hearing, as

 2   you've stated, is about the delivery of 9.1 cfs of

 3   water at steady state or the delivery of amount of

 4   water spread out over five years by direct flow.

 5   That's what you ordered them to provide in mitigation.

 6               And this hearing is about how they're going

 7   to do that.  It's not about material injury.  It's not

 8   about how our beneficial use has changed.  It's about

 9   them providing water.

10          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  That's not right.  The Rule 43

11   specifically says our mitigation plan must mitigate to

12   the injury.  So I'm simply inquiring about the injury.

13   I'm not disputing the beneficial use of water.  I'm

14   trying to understand, and it is relevant to this

15   proceeding, how their operations have changed by reason

16   of the fact that they may no longer be able to use

17   water for which they've been diverting illegally and

18   have no right for.

19          MR. HAEMMERLE:  We had a two-and-a-half week

20   hearing on injury.  We argued all about it.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  All right.  Based on what

22   I heard, Mr. Budge, when I took notice of the

23   documents, I said that I didn't understand the

24   relevance.  I still don't understand the relevance of

25   this line of questioning.
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 1               I'll sustain the objection.  And I want you

 2   to move on.  Thank you.

 3          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Will there be

 4   changes to your operation if you're limited to

 5   diverting water from the Curren Tunnel?

 6          A.   Yes.

 7          Q.   Can you describe those changes.

 8          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Objection.  Same objection.  I

 9   allowed him to ask one question, he answered it.  We're

10   right back where we started.  And I'm going to keep

11   objecting every time Mr. Budge does it.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

13          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Well, Mr. Hearing Officer, I'd

14   like to make an offer of proof to establish a record on

15   this.  And the reason I do so is the prior order

16   establishing material injury was all based upon the use

17   of water at the time.  And the use of water at the time

18   included all of the Curren Tunnel and all of the talus

19   slope.

20               A significant change has happened since

21   that time.  The Director entered a ruling that they

22   have no lawful water right to anything with the tunnel,

23   and all diversions otherwise are illegal.  And Rangen,

24   through its president, signed a consent order

25   acknowledging that.
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 1               The consent order he signed says they have

 2   no water right.  So that is a relatively significant

 3   change as it relates to our mitigation plan.  They've

 4   been deprived of roughly 90 percent of their water

 5   supply.

 6               So we're being ordered to mitigate to

 7   injury to a water right that does not exist.  We have

 8   lawful water rights from pumpers that are being shut

 9   off.  They have rights that are being shut off.  Rangen

10   has no right that it's being allowed to use, and we're

11   trying to mitigate to a nonexistent right.

12               And when we provide a mitigation plan with

13   nine different alternatives to supply, Rangen finds

14   none of them acceptable, and has objected to every one.

15   So when we're in a mitigation plan hearing, it is

16   certainly relevant, in my view, in our view, that we

17   have an opportunity to inquire what has changed at

18   Rangen if they're not able to divert water unlawfully.

19               So I'll accept and recognize and appreciate

20   the ruling, but I'd like to make a record of it by way

21   of an offer of proof through this witness to simply

22   have him describe what changes have occurred, would

23   occur, if Rangen only can divert 1 or 2 second-feet

24   from the Curren Tunnel.

25               That's one more -- one or two more
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 1   questions as an offer of proof, recognizing that it's

 2   not going to be allowed.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I will hear once from you,

 4   Mr. Haemmerle.

 5               And then no response, Mr. Budge.  And then

 6   I want to take a break.  I think this is an issue --

 7          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'll be very brief.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 9          MR. HAEMMERLE:  It's not about how much water we

10   can use out of the tunnel currently, which is currently

11   flowing 1 cfs.  The Director found in the prior order

12   that through the modeling of ESPAM-2.1 we would receive

13   9.1 cfs.  And I think the Director considered all the

14   things about beneficial use.

15               So it's not about how we operate at 1.

16   It's about how we should get 9.1 cfs of water, and we

17   could certainly use it.  All the beneficial use has

18   been decided.  And he wants to now limit us to 1.1 cfs

19   because they haven't provided -- they've used our

20   water, they've caused us injury, and now we're at

21   1 cfs.  It's about how they're going to provide us

22   9 cfs.  That's what this is about.

23          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Let's take our

24   midmorning break.  We'll be back in 15.

25               (Recess.)
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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Back on the record.

 2               Okay.  Without further argument, I've heard

 3   enough.  I have an objection I need to address.  I also

 4   have a request for an establishment of proof.

 5               What's the term of art, Mr. Budge?  Offer

 6   of proof.  It escaped me for a minute.  And after

 7   considering both, Mr. Budge, my determination is that

 8   what you're asking for is an exploration of an issue

 9   that was determined previously in the hearing.

10               And the material injury with respect to the

11   water rights that describe the Curren Tunnel as a

12   source of water, that material injury was determined in

13   the previous proceeding.  And the obligation was

14   established by the order issued by the Director

15   previously at the end of January.

16               And the line of questioning which you're

17   attempting to pursue, in my opinion, is a reopening of

18   that material injury question and is not an appropriate

19   line of questioning for an offer of proof.

20               To me, an offer of proof deals with a

21   specific piece of evidence that you want to bring into

22   the record, and that piece of evidence you've been

23   denied the opportunity.  This is a reopening of an

24   entire, in my opinion, legal theory that was

25   appropriately addressed in the prior order.
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 1               So I'll sustain the objection, and I'll

 2   deny the request for an offer of proof and ask you to

 3   move on, Randy.

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Okay.  Thank you.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

 6          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Mr. Courtney, would

 7   you agree that activities within the trim line which

 8   reduce the amount of water pumped from the aquifer

 9   would be a benefit to Rangen by increasing the

10   discharges from the springs operated by Rangen at the

11   head of Billingsley Creek?

12          A.   Would you -- I missed the very first part

13   of that.  I'm sorry.

14          Q.   Yeah.  Would you agree that reducing

15   pumping from the aquifer within the trim line provides

16   a benefit to Rangen's facility at Billingsley Creek?

17          A.   Yes.

18          Q.   Would you also agree that activities which

19   recharge the aquifer within the trim line provide a

20   benefit to Rangen's facility?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   And with respect to the conversion program,

23   would you admit that shutting down groundwater pumping

24   for those that participate in the conversion program

25   within the trim line provide a benefit to Rangen?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   Would you also admit that when those users

 3   who convert, shut down their pumpers and start

 4   converting to surface water, that that delivery of

 5   surface water also provides a benefit in the way of

 6   recharge to the aquifer?

 7          A.   Incidental, yes.

 8          Q.   Would you also agree that the model which

 9   Rangen advocated be used to curtail groundwater pumpers

10   should also be used to determine the benefit to Rangen

11   from conversions and CREP and recharge?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   Is it accurate to say that Rangen has not

14   contributed any of the costs associated with the

15   recharge or conversion or CREP efforts within the trim

16   line?

17          A.   No.

18          Q.   It's not accurate or, no, you didn't

19   contribute?

20          A.   No, it's not accurate.

21          Q.   Okay.  Did Rangen fund any of the costs

22   associated with the CREP program?

23          A.   Not directly.  But Rangen has allowed me to

24   be on the board of the Lower Snake River Aquifer

25   Recharge District, and has paid my salary during those
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 1   meetings for that board.

 2          Q.   Okay.

 3          A.   And I've also been allowed to participate

 4   in the Technical Advisory Committee for the

 5   establishment of CREP.

 6          Q.   Okay.  Let me rephrase my question.  I

 7   wasn't asking about what Rangen pays you to do or what

 8   you may participate in.

 9               My question was, does Rangen contribute

10   financially to any of the costs associated with the

11   CREP program?

12          A.   No.

13          Q.   Is it true that Rangen has not paid any

14   costs associated with the conversion of

15   groundwater-irrigated land to surface-water irrigated

16   water or the delivery of water to those lands within

17   the trim line?

18          A.   True.

19          Q.   Is it also true that Rangen has not made

20   any contributions to the managed recharge programs

21   implemented by the State of Idaho?

22          A.   Other than for our staff's contributions

23   when working on those projects.

24          Q.   Okay.  My question wasn't labor.

25               Was any financial contributions?
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 1          A.   No.

 2          Q.   Now, turning your attention, if you would,

 3   to the Sandy Pipeline.

 4               I think you're familiar with the

 5   construction of the pipeline?

 6          A.   Somewhat.

 7          Q.   Okay.  Could we have you, please,

 8   Mr. Courtney, turn to Exhibit 1050.

 9               And maybe you could bring that up.

10               I believe it's correct, isn't it,

11   Mr. Courtney, that Rangen made an application to obtain

12   some financial assistance to participate in the

13   delivery of some water through the Sandy Pipeline to

14   the Candy pasture?  That application being

15   Exhibit 1050.

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Do you recognize that as the application?

18          A.   Yes.

19          Q.   And I believe that's signed by you, is that

20   correct, on page 1?

21          A.   Correct.

22          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We'd offer Exhibit 1050.

23          MR. HAEMMERLE:  No objection.

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon?

25          MR. LEMMON:  No objection.
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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  The document marked as

 2   Exhibit 1050 is received into evidence.

 3          MR. BAXTER:  Just as a side note, Director, I

 4   notice it was already stipulated to by the parties.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Must have already

 6   been in.

 7          MR. MAY:  Not surprised.

 8          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  If you'd turn to

 9   page 1 of Exhibit 1050, the application, Mr. Courtney,

10   down in the middle there's a section called "Brief

11   project description."

12               Do you find that?

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   And it states there the brief project

15   description is, quote, "To enable all irrigation water

16   from rights 36-134A and 36-135B to be drawn from the

17   Sandy Pipeline instead of the occasional diversions

18   from the Curren Tunnel."

19          A.   Yes.

20          Q.   So at the time would it be accurate to say

21   that this was an effort by Rangen that would enable

22   water from the Curren Tunnel that might otherwise be

23   diverted to these rights to be available to Rangen?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   And is that use of the Sandy Pipeline to --
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 1   an effort by Rangen to augment its flows ahead of

 2   Billingsley Creek?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   And was that pipe that was proposed to be

 5   constructed pursuant to this grant application, did

 6   that ever get instituted?

 7          A.   No, it did not.

 8          Q.   Was the application not granted?

 9          A.   No, the application was granted.

10          Q.   It was granted?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   But never got constructed?

13          A.   Correct.

14          Q.   Did Rangen ever seek to obtain a water

15   right to use wastewater from the North Side Canal

16   Company system, to your knowledge?

17          A.   Not to my knowledge, no.

18          Q.   Could we turn, please, to Exhibit 1014.

19               Do you recognize this as the 2004 Eastern

20   Snake Plain Aquifer Mitigation, Recovery and

21   Restoration Agreement?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   And I believe from the signature page, in

24   addition to the governor and the senate and the house

25   and other spring users, it was signed by Rangen through
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 1   its attorney, Mr. May?

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   If you'd turn to page 5 of that agreement,

 4   you will note it contains a listing of various

 5   groundwater commitments.  And if you'd turn down to

 6   paragraph 4(e)(2) and (3).

 7               Do you have that available?

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          Q.   4(e)(2) and (3) indicate that among the

10   groundwater user commitments would be to use best

11   efforts to convey North Side Canal Company operational

12   spills to the Sandy project into the Sandy Pipeline.

13               Though it would be accurate to say that

14   Rangen had actual knowledge since 2004 that the North

15   Side Canal Company wastewater was going to be used by

16   the groundwater users to supply water via the Sandy

17   Pipeline?

18          A.   It says, "use the best efforts to convey

19   the operational spills."  Other than that, I don't know

20   past this if it was done or not because this was for a

21   one-year term.

22          Q.   Okay.  Let me rephrase the question.

23               So by reason of this agreement signed by

24   Rangen and this language I pointed you out to, wouldn't

25   it be accurate to say that Rangen knew in 2004 that the
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 1   groundwater users were going to start conveying

 2   wastewater from the Sandy Pipe -- through the Sandy

 3   Pipeline, wastewater from North Side Canal Company?

 4          A.   It doesn't say wastewater for the

 5   groundwater.  It says for North Side Canal Company to

 6   convey.  So I don't know what the difference is as far

 7   as who owns the water.

 8          Q.   Let me rephrase the question.

 9               Did Rangen know, since it signed the

10   agreement in 2004, that wastewater was going to be

11   conveyed down the Sandy Pipeline by the groundwater

12   users?

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   And is it true that from the time 2004 on

15   Rangen was aware that the groundwater users were

16   putting wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline to supply

17   irrigation water to the Morris, the Candy, and the

18   Musser rights operated by Mr. Morris, according to his

19   testimony?

20          A.   No.  I didn't know the groundwater users

21   were doing that.

22          Q.   Okay.  You're not aware that there's been

23   water delivered to Mr. Morris from 2004 on?

24          A.   I was aware of that.

25          Q.   Okay.
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 1          A.   I didn't know who owns the water.

 2          Q.   Okay.  You're aware that the wastewater

 3   from the canal system, North Side Canal, has been

 4   coming down the Sandy Pipeline to supply irrigation

 5   rights ever since 2004; right?

 6          A.   Yes.

 7          Q.   And is it true that from that period 2004

 8   until 2014 in this proceeding Rangen never objected to

 9   that delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on

10   the basis that it did not have a water right?

11          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'm going to object to the

12   relevance of the question.  I don't know what relevance

13   it has, whether someone has knowledge of whether

14   there's a water right associated or not.  I think Idaho

15   water law is clear, you need a water right to use

16   water.

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

18               Mr. Courtney, please answer the question,

19   if you remember it.

20          THE WITNESS:  Can you read it back for me?

21          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Do you want me to

22   rephrase it?

23          A.   Or just repeat it back.

24          Q.   Okay.  I think my question was simply,

25   during the period 2004 until Rangen objected in this
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 1   case, at no time in that period did Rangen object to

 2   the delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on

 3   the basis that there wasn't a water right to use the

 4   wastewater?

 5          A.   I wasn't aware that there wasn't one.  So

 6   no, I did not object.

 7          Q.   So this proceeding in 2014 is the first

 8   time Rangen has objected to the lack of a water right

 9   to use wastewater?

10          A.   It's the first that I've known about it,

11   yes.

12          Q.   I'm turning your attention to the

13   groundwater users' proposal to assign water right

14   permit 36-16976 to Rangen.

15               And I believe you're aware that that

16   proposed assignment would enable Rangen to divert and

17   use water from the talus slope for which it has no

18   right?

19          A.   Propose, yes.

20          Q.   And would you agree that if Rangen had no

21   right to use the water from the talus slope, the

22   assignment by the Groundwater Districts of their right

23   could be a means of allowing Rangen to resume that use?

24          A.   If that was the only option available, yes.

25          Q.   If the Director ordered that, you'd
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 1   recognize that would be the effect of it?

 2          A.   If that was the only offer available, yes.

 3          Q.   And is it true that the only party that has

 4   objected to the Application for Permit of the

 5   groundwater users is Rangen itself?

 6          A.   Not to my knowledge, no.

 7          Q.   Who else has objected?

 8          A.   I believe that the watermaster did not

 9   support it.

10          Q.   The watermaster didn't file an objection.

11               But do you know of any party that did file

12   an objection, other than Rangen?

13          A.   Yeah, I'm not aware.  I'm sorry.

14          Q.   Okay.  IGWA's mitigation plan 6 proposed

15   improvements to the Curren Tunnel.  And I believe

16   you've been present during some of the testimony on

17   that issue.

18               Has Rangen ever investigated the

19   feasibility of improving its diversion in the Curren

20   Tunnel by either deepening the structures there, the

21   pipes, or lengthening them or widening the tunnel?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   And was that the SPF investigation?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   And SPF were the engineers that were hired
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 1   for that purpose?

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   And I believe that -- without going into

 4   the details of that exhibit, I believe the SPF report

 5   indicated that it would be a feasible means of

 6   improving the water supply worth further investigating.

 7               Do you recall that?

 8          A.   I believe it said it was a possible.

 9          Q.   And Rangen chose not to pursue any of those

10   improvements; correct?

11          A.   Well, there were too many risks involved

12   from our standpoint.

13          Q.   Okay.  I didn't ask you why.

14               I think my question was, isn't it true that

15   Rangen chose not to pursue any further investigation or

16   the construction of any of these improvements to its

17   diversion mechanism?

18          A.   Yes.

19          Q.   IGWA also had proposed in its plan a new

20   horizontal well, a vertical well, and an over-the-rim

21   system.

22               Do you recall those proposals?

23          A.   Yes.

24          Q.   And those were all things that Rangen

25   objected to.
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 1               Would you admit, Mr. Courtney, that the

 2   Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer is the source of water

 3   flowing in the Curren Tunnel and the talus slope used

 4   by Rangen?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   And do you have -- is it true that Rangen

 7   has no reason to dispute that the Eastern Snake Plain

 8   Aquifer would also be the same source of water that

 9   would be used by the over-the-rim plan proposed by

10   IGWA?

11          A.   No reason to dispute it, no.

12          Q.   You'd have no reason to dispute it would be

13   the same source of water for any vertical or horizontal

14   well to supply an alternate supply of water to Rangen?

15          A.   Correct.

16          Q.   Is it true that Rangen has no reason to

17   believe that the water temperature varies from any of

18   these potential means of accessing the aquifer, whether

19   it be by the over-the-rim plan, the vertical well, or

20   horizontal well?

21          A.   I don't know.

22          Q.   Is it true that Rangen has no evidence to

23   believe that the water quality would be different from

24   any of these other proposed alternatives made by IGWA

25   than from the water quality you presently utilize
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 1   coming from the tunnel and the talus slope?

 2          A.   I don't know.

 3          Q.   You don't have any evidence to suggest

 4   there's a water quality or temperature problem with any

 5   of these proposals?

 6          A.   I don't have, no.

 7          Q.   I asked you some questions about the SPF

 8   memorandum, Exhibit 1060.  Would you turn to that,

 9   please.  If you'd turn to page 7, please, if you would,

10   of Exhibit 1060.  And that contains a paragraph

11   concerning the recommendations for a grant application.

12               And it states there -- this is Rangen's

13   engineer states, quote, "Based on our initial review of

14   these alternatives, it's our opinion that a horizontal

15   well near the Curren Tunnel has the greatest potential

16   for providing substantially enhanced flows to the

17   Rangen facility."

18               Is it true, Mr. Courtney, that Rangen

19   apparently wanted to proceed forward with that

20   recommendation at the time?

21          A.   Let me see which one this one pertains to.

22          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I apologize if I got ahead of

23   you on that, Justin.

24          MR. MAY:  Which one are you on?

25          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Maybe you could pull up page 7
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 1   and highlight the second sentence under the --

 2          MR. MAY:  Is this 1060, page 7?

 3          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Under the middle section

 4   "Recommendations for grant applications," highlight

 5   those first four or five lines of --

 6          MR. MAY:  Right here?

 7          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Yeah, right there.

 8          MR. MAY:  Just like that?

 9          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  That's good.  Thanks.

10          THE WITNESS:  This is on the horizontal well?

11          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  I think it's -- it's

12   on page 7 that's highlighted here, the second sentence.

13   It might be easier to get to.  It says, "Based on our

14   initial review" -- this is Rangen's engineer, SPF.

15   "Based on our initial review of these alternatives, it

16   is our opinion that a horizontal well near the Curren

17   Tunnel has the greatest potential for providing

18   substantially enhanced flows to the Rangen facility."

19          A.   That's what it says, correct.

20          Q.   So my question was, based on this

21   recommendation, at the time Rangen accepted the

22   recommendation and started to move forward to

23   investigate the feasibility of a horizontal well;

24   correct?

25          A.   We were looking at a lot of options at that
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 1   time.

 2          Q.   And that's one of them that you

 3   specifically requested a grant for; correct?

 4          A.   Correct.

 5          Q.   And Exhibit 1061 would be the application

 6   that was submitted to investigate the facility of a

 7   horizontal well; correct?

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We'd offer Exhibit 1061, the

10   application.

11          MR. HAEMMERLE:  No objection.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon?

13          MR. LEMMON:  No objection.

14          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I think it's in already anyway.

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  It is?

16          MR. BAXTER:  My records show that it was

17   admitted yesterday afternoon.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Document marked as

19   Exhibit 1061 has already been received into evidence.

20          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Would you agree,

21   Mr. Courtney, that if IGWA agreed to pay the cost of

22   the feasibility study on a horizontal well that Rangen

23   would not be out anything, whether it proved to be

24   feasible or not?

25          A.   For just the feasibility of it, yes, I
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 1   would agree to that.

 2          Q.   Would you also agree that to the extent a

 3   horizontal well proved to be feasible and was actually

 4   constructed by IGWA at its expense and improved the

 5   water supply at Rangen, that that would be an effective

 6   mitigation alternative for which IGWA should receive

 7   credit?

 8          A.   I would have a few concerns as to the

 9   potential risk as far as liability if it causes damage.

10          Q.   I wasn't asking about risk or liability.

11               I'm just saying if the Director

12   conditionally approved it, subject to final

13   engineering, if the engineering occurred, if it was

14   constructed, if it resulted in more water coming out of

15   the Curren Tunnel, would you agree that provides a

16   benefit to Rangen for which the groundwater users

17   should receive a credit against their mitigation

18   obligation?

19          A.   Depending upon it meeting other criteria.

20          Q.   That was part of my question.  Assuming it

21   met all of the conditions of the Director and was

22   approved by the Director, engineered and constructed in

23   accordance with those conditions and improved the water

24   supply, would you agree that that would be a benefit to

25   Rangen to have more water coming out of the Curren
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 1   Tunnel?

 2          A.   As long as we were not at risk for any

 3   damages to other users, yes.

 4          Q.   And if IGWA were to indemnify and hold

 5   harmless Rangen from any risks or damage by way of an

 6   insurance policy or otherwise, would you agree that

 7   would mitigate these risks you're worried about?

 8          A.   Possibly, yes.

 9          Q.   I believe you were present during some

10   testimony by Dr. Brendecke that a pump-back from

11   Billingsley Creek could rather easily be constructed to

12   provide additional water supply to Rangen.

13               Has Rangen ever investigated the use of a

14   pump-back at this hatchery or any other facilities?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   And explain that to me.  Where?  At this

17   facility?

18          A.   At this facility.

19          Q.   And was that work done by Dr. Brendecke?

20          A.   No.

21          Q.   Or excuse me.  By Dr. Brockway?

22          A.   No.

23          Q.   Who was that work done by?

24          A.   I don't recall.

25          Q.   Let me sum this up and see if -- on that
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 1   report that you -- or excuse me, on that investigation

 2   that you had somebody else do on a pump-back, do you

 3   know who did that?

 4          A.   I don't remember, because I believe that

 5   happened in the early 1990s.  And at that time I was

 6   controller for the company, not the vice president.

 7          Q.   Let me try to sum up what I understand IGWA

 8   wants -- or excuse me, what I understand Rangen opposes

 9   in this proceeding.

10               If my understanding is correct, obviously

11   IGWA -- or excuse me, Rangen obtained dismissals of the

12   proposals for reimbursement of lost profits or

13   replacement fish, and doesn't want that.

14               Rangen does not want any credits for CREP

15   or conversions or recharge unless they are fully funded

16   by the groundwater users and permanent; correct?

17          A.   No, that's not correct.

18          Q.   Okay.  You're now willing to accept credits

19   from those activities, even if they're not permanent or

20   fully funded?

21          A.   You said -- you included the CREP in there.

22   I know that CREP is not fully funded.

23          Q.   So CREP's okay?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   But what about conversions?  You agree that
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 1   there should be credit for conversions within the trim

 2   line?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   And you now agree that there should be

 5   credit for recharge within the trim line?

 6          A.   If the water is from IGWA, yes.

 7          Q.   Is it true my understanding's correct that

 8   you opposed any assignment of IGWA's water right permit

 9   36-16976?  Correct?

10          A.   Correct.

11          Q.   And Rangen opposes any credit for the Sandy

12   Pipeline deliveries of irrigation water in exchange for

13   the prior irrigation rights being diverted from the

14   Curren Tunnel?

15          A.   No, we don't oppose any rights that are

16   within the criteria being in priority that are actually

17   beneficial water to Rangen.

18          Q.   Isn't it true, according to your objection,

19   you stated that you oppose any credit for water

20   delivered to Butch Morris.  Are you changing your

21   testimony on that?

22          A.   As long as it -- excuse me.  Where is my --

23   what exhibit are you looking at?  I'm sorry.

24          Q.   Okay.  Well, I asked you earlier about your

25   answers to interrogatories.  And item 2 I asked you
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 1   about the delivery of water through the Sandy Pipeline

 2   to Butch Morris or others for irrigation purposes.  And

 3   it says there, "Rangen opposes mitigation credit for

 4   water delivered to Butch Morris or others as

 5   replacement for water at the Martin-Curren Tunnel."

 6               So is my understanding correct Rangen is

 7   opposing any mitigation credit to IGWA for deliveries

 8   to the Sandy Pipeline of irrigation water to Morris and

 9   others?

10          A.   If those water rights are in priority, and

11   that would include the other water rights for domestic

12   use and it's not in excess of the amount of the tunnel

13   and -- I mean there's a lot of criteria for those water

14   rights to be allowed for credits.

15          Q.   Well, without getting into a water right

16   issue, are you qualifying your answer?  Up until now

17   we've understood you opposed any credit from Sandy

18   Pipeline.  Are you now testifying, Mr. Courtney, that

19   under certain circumstances if those water rights are

20   in the Curren Tunnel that are prior to Rangen in

21   priority and we replace them with water through the

22   Sandy Pipeline, that's agreeable to have a credit?

23          A.   If they meet the criteria, yes.

24          Q.   Rangen's criteria.  Rangen's criteria, or

25   the Department's criteria?
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 1          A.   The Department's criteria.

 2          Q.   You were here during testimony from the

 3   watermaster Frank Erwin, were you not?

 4          A.   Yes.

 5          Q.   And did you hear his testimony that senior

 6   water rights on Billingsley Creek and the Curren Ditch

 7   to date have never been used to call out any of the

 8   irrigation rights in the Curren Tunnel?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And so up to date, that exchange through

11   the Sandy Pipeline has always provided water that

12   benefited Rangen; correct?

13          A.   Not in total, no.

14          Q.   So you disagree with the testimony of the

15   watermaster that the rights have never been curtailed,

16   irrigation rights in the Curren Tunnel have never been

17   curtailed?

18          A.   No.  I'm disagreeing -- in your

19   application -- or in your proposal was for 6.05

20   credits, 6.05 cfs of credits.  I disagree with the

21   6.05.

22          Q.   Rangen -- is my understanding correct that

23   Rangen opposes any type of a pump-back facility as

24   proposed by IGWA?

25          A.   I'm against a conceptual one where I
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 1   haven't been given enough information to make a

 2   determination on it.

 3          Q.   And is my understanding correct that IGWA

 4   also opposes -- or Rangen also opposes any efforts by

 5   IGWA to improve Rangen's diversion facilities in the

 6   Curren Tunnel by widening the tunnel, deepening the

 7   tunnel, or lengthening the tunnel?

 8          A.   Based upon the proposal that is incomplete,

 9   I don't have enough information to make that

10   determination.

11          Q.   Is it true that Rangen also opposes any

12   horizontal well?

13          A.   Based upon the level of information that's

14   provided in the mitigation plan, there's not enough

15   information for me to make a determination.

16          Q.   Is my understanding correct that IGWA

17   opposes -- excuse me, that Rangen opposes any

18   over-the-rim delivery plan or any vertical well?

19          A.   For the same reason, because of the lack of

20   information in the submitted plan, there's not enough

21   information for me to make a determination at this

22   time.

23          Q.   And you're not sure whether you would give

24   IGWA access for any engineering purposes unless you

25   first get the okay from your lawyers; correct?
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 1          A.   I think what I stated was accurate on our

 2   answer, is that reasonable access for investigation

 3   would be considered.

 4          Q.   Would it be accurate to say that the only

 5   thing that Rangen will agree to without condition or

 6   equivocation would be curtailment of the groundwater

 7   pumpers that are junior in the 150,000-acre curtailment

 8   area?

 9          A.   No, that is not accurate.

10          Q.   Okay.

11          A.   Under 1A through 1C, we had agreed to the

12   calculation by the Department for the 1.7 cfs at steady

13   state for those items that fall within the criteria

14   and --

15          Q.   So is it true, Mr. Rangen, or Mr. --

16   Rangen's primary position is that they desire to have

17   groundwater pumpers curtailed within the trim line?

18          A.   No.  We desire to have the groundwaters

19   comply with the order and provide us 9.1 cfs of water

20   through steady state or 9.1 cfs of direct delivery.

21          Q.   But with the exception of the CREP,

22   conversion, recharge, Rangen opposes any effort to have

23   water delivered other than curtailment; correct?

24          A.   I didn't say I opposed every effort.  I

25   want results.  I don't want proposals that don't
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 1   provide results.  I want results.

 2          Q.   Can you understand from the perspective of

 3   our clients, the groundwater pumpers, that they feel

 4   it's a little bit disingenuous on behalf of Rangen to

 5   on one hand say "We are short of water.  You need to

 6   provide us water," and yet come into this proceeding

 7   and oppose, in some fashion or another, almost every

 8   effort IGWA has proposed to get water to Rangen?

 9          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Object to that as being asked

10   and answered.  I think he's gone over every single

11   proposal and stated why specifically he opposes those

12   things.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

14          THE WITNESS:  Rangen is currently materially

15   injured by junior groundwater pumping today.  We are

16   curtailed today.

17          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Excuse me.  Excuse

18   me.  I apologize for interrupting, but you can answer

19   questions from your attorney if you want.

20               But the question I had is whether you can

21   understand why our groundwater pumpers, who do have

22   rights that are subject to being curtailed, feel that

23   it is disingenuous for Rangen on one hand to say "We're

24   short of water.  Curtail groundwater pumpers," but when

25   the pumpers come forward and make multiple alternatives
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 1   to Rangen to supply it water, that none are acceptable

 2   to Rangen, except for on certain conditions --

 3          A.   No, the mitigation --

 4          Q.   -- excepting the CREP diversion?  I think

 5   that's a "yes" or "no" answer.  Can you understand why

 6   our pumpers feel it's disingenuous?

 7          A.   No.

 8          Q.   You don't understand that?

 9          A.   No.  The plan is not specific enough to

10   allow me to make a determination.

11          Q.   Well, one final area that I need to ask you

12   about, Mr. Courtney.

13               Up until your testimony today, everything

14   we had from Rangen reflected its opposition to

15   everything IGWA's proposed.  Rangen has filed two

16   different objections that are in the record, Rangen

17   files discovery responses objecting to virtually

18   everything, and now you've come forward and seem to be

19   saying that if things were engineered and designed

20   okay, it may be okay.

21          A.   It may be.  The plan that's presented does

22   not provide enough information to make a determination

23   to whether or not it will deliver 9.1 cfs of water to

24   the Rangen facility.

25          Q.   And do you think it would be practical or
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 1   reasonable from the date the order was issued by the

 2   Director on January 19th of 2014 curtailing groundwater

 3   pumpers for the first time, recognizing that the call

 4   from Rangen has been futile from 2004 until 2014, do

 5   you think it would be reasonable for the groundwater

 6   users to go out and spend the types of money to do

 7   engineering studies and feasibility studies on Rangen's

 8   property that you won't give us access to in

 9   anticipation that some order would be issued

10   January 19th of 2014?  Is that reasonable to spend

11   money in anticipation to an obligation?

12          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'm going to object to the

13   question on relevance grounds.  There's an order out

14   that IGWA is to provide us water.  And that's their

15   obligation.  So there's no reasonable factor involved.

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

17          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Would it be

18   reasonable, Mr. Courtney, to expect IGWA could get the

19   engineering studies done, the complete, final

20   engineering on feasibility and design to construct any

21   of these proposals requiring infrastructure from the

22   period the order was issued, January 19th, until ten

23   days ago when we were required to disclose all of our

24   exhibits?

25          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Objection.  The compound nature
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 1   of the question.  I object on my prior ground of

 2   relevance.  But I don't want to impede the proceeding,

 3   Director, so...

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.  Mr. Courtney

 5   can venture an answer.

 6          THE WITNESS:  Would you restate it, please.

 7          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  I mean you've been

 8   involved in construction works for Rangen, have you

 9   not?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   You've dealt with engineers, I suppose?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   And you hired SPF to do some feasibility

14   work for you?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   How long did it take SPF from the time you

17   hired them to get the study out to Rangen?

18          A.   A couple months.

19          Q.   Okay.  And so that was simply a feasibility

20   study; correct?

21          A.   Correct.

22          Q.   So do you think it is at all feasible and

23   reasonable, as Rangen contends, that IGWA should be in

24   a period of approximately 30 days from the time the

25   curtailment order was issued to be able to go out and
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 1   do the feasibility studies, the design, and have final

 2   engineering ready by this hearing date to satisfy

 3   Rangen's objections that's not sufficiently detailed?

 4          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Objection.  Asked and answered.

 5   That's been asked and answered now three times.  And he

 6   answered the question.

 7               Now, we have an hour and 20 minutes to get

 8   our one and only witness on the stand.  And I think

 9   that Mr. Budge is just quibbling on nonsense at this

10   point in time to prevent us from putting our last

11   witness on.  So that's been asked and answered three

12   separate times.

13          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I don't think I've ever got an

14   answer to that question.

15          MR. HAEMMERLE:  He answered it.

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

17          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Go ahead and answer,

18   please.

19          A.   The Director's order asked for a mitigation

20   plan.  And the mitigation plan needs to provide the

21   information with enough detail that the Director can

22   make an answer.  So it's up for the Director to make

23   that determination, not me.

24          Q.   I'd just like an answer to the question.

25               Based on your experience, is it reasonable
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 1   to expect a complete and detailed engineering report be

 2   prepared by this hearing when the first time you knew

 3   you had to have a mitigation plan was January 19th?

 4   That's a yes-or-no answer.

 5          A.   You could have started this process back in

 6   December of 2011.

 7          Q.   So is your answer yes or no?  My question

 8   was, is it reasonable if you started on January 19th to

 9   expect to have final engineering plans, which Rangen is

10   requesting by this hearing?

11          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Director, I objected previously

12   five questions ago on the term "reasonable," and you

13   sustained my objection.  And he just keeps doing it.

14          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  You keep objecting to the

15   questions that are --

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Courtney can answer

17   the question instead of being evasive, and I think it

18   is a yes or no answer, and we can move on.

19               Mr. Courtney, will you please attempt to

20   answer the question.

21          THE WITNESS:  I don't know if it's reasonable or

22   not.

23          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Thank you.

24               No further questions.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Examination,
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 1   Mr. Haemmerle?

 2          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Justin, if you could pull up

 3   Exhibit 2042.  And that's the last page.

 4   

 5                      CROSS-EXAMINATION

 6   BY MR. HAEMMERLE:

 7          Q.   Mr. Courtney, you've examined and had an

 8   opportunity to review the Director's final order on

 9   curtailment proceedings or Rangen's water call;

10   correct?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   And you understand that IGWA is to provide

13   Rangen 9.1 cfs at steady state or 9.1 of direct flow;

14   correct?

15          A.   Correct.

16          Q.   IGWA's obligation is to provide Rangen

17   water; correct?

18          A.   Correct.

19          Q.   A specific amount?

20          A.   Correct.

21          Q.   All right.  Now, after the curtailment

22   order was issued, IGWA filed a mitigation plan;

23   correct?

24          A.   Correct.

25          Q.   If we can pull up Exhibit 2020.
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 1               Mr. Courtney, we have placed up on the

 2   screen Exhibit 2020.

 3               Do you recognize that document?

 4          A.   Yes.

 5          Q.   Okay.  This is in fact the mitigation plan

 6   filed by IGWA?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   Generally speaking, are there any specifics

 9   in the mitigation plan, for example, telling you how

10   much water would be provided to Rangen under, say,

11   No. 6?

12          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Counsel, excuse me for

13   interrupting, but just as a point of clarity,

14   Exhibit 2020 is not in evidence, but it is the same as

15   Exhibit 1000.

16          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I appreciate that.

17          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Just for the record.

18          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Yeah.  I'll offer Exhibit 2020.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Budge?

20          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  No objection.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Lemmon?

22          MR. LEMMON:  No objection.

23          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Just with the notation for the

24   record it's the same as Exhibit 1000.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.
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 1          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  Now, Mr. Courtney,

 2   subsequent --

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  It's received into

 4   evidence.

 5               (Exhibit 2020 received.)

 6          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  -- to the mitigation

 7   call, you have attended various depositions on this

 8   mitigation plan; is that correct?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   You've had a chance to review the discovery

11   response from IGWA; correct?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   We'll just walk through these individually.

14               To date, do you have any concrete idea how

15   IGWA is going to make improvements to the Martin-Curren

16   Tunnel to provide Rangen water?

17          A.   No.

18          Q.   Has anyone told you, have you discerned

19   from any of the testimony or discovery or proceedings

20   how much water would be provided to Rangen under No. 6,

21   "Improvements to the Martin-Curren Tunnel"?

22          A.   No.

23          Q.   Let's go on to No. 7.  Mr. Courtney, No. 7

24   is a horizontal well.

25               Do you see that?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   After all of the proceedings that you

 3   described that you've attended to, reviewed, do you

 4   have any idea how much water would be provided to

 5   Rangen for a horizontal well?

 6          A.   No.

 7          Q.   Let's go on to No. 8.

 8               Now, Mr. Courtney, No. 8 is a proposal for

 9   vertical wells or something called over-the-rim.

10               Do you see that?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   After attending all the proceedings,

13   reviewing all the discovery, do you have any idea of

14   how much water IGWA would intend to provide Rangen

15   under No. 8?

16          A.   No.

17          Q.   And you haven't seen any concrete plans of

18   any kind for No. 6, 7, and 8; correct?

19          A.   Correct.

20          Q.   Now, I want to be clear, Mr. Courtney,

21   if -- Rangen is not against providing IGWA reasonable

22   access to its property; correct?

23          A.   Correct.

24          Q.   As any landowner providing strangers access

25   to the property, you want to understand what they're
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 1   doing?

 2          A.   Absolutely.

 3          Q.   That's not unreasonable; correct?

 4          A.   No.

 5          Q.   So if you understood what the plans were,

 6   you had some concept, you would definitely give IGWA

 7   reasonable access to your property to explore No. 6, 7,

 8   and 8?

 9          A.   As long as it wasn't intrusive to the

10   property, yes.

11          Q.   Okay.  Reasonable access?

12          A.   Reasonable access.

13          Q.   And the same thing is true of No. 9, which

14   is the direct pump-back; correct?

15          A.   Correct.

16          Q.   Now, let's kind of wade through the

17   concrete or objective aspects of this mitigation plan.

18   Let's go to No. 1.

19               Mr. Courtney, No. 1 you understand that

20   IGWA is seeking credits for conversions and dry-ups and

21   recharge; is that true?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Now, you've had a chance to review some

24   objective facts on how much water that would provide

25   Rangen; true?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   If we can pull up Exhibit 1025.

 3               Mr. Courtney, you've had a chance to review

 4   Exhibit 1025?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   You understand that those are calculations

 7   of credits that IGWA would be entitled to for

 8   conversions, dry-ups; correct?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And the Department calculated a number of

11   1-point cfs at steady state?

12          A.   1.7, yes.

13          Q.   Today -- you heard my opening statements;

14   correct?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   You heard me say at the very opening of

17   this proceeding that Rangen would agree to give IGWA

18   credit for 1.7 cfs at steady state?

19          A.   Yes.

20          Q.   And that's your position, as you sit here

21   today?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Now, understanding that the underlying

24   variables that provide those numbers change over

25   time -- do you understand that?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   -- you would like the Director to issue an

 3   order saying that there should be no pumping from those

 4   properties?

 5          A.   Correct.

 6          Q.   All right.  Now, Mr. Budge asked you about

 7   the CREP program that -- you would agree IGWA receives

 8   credit for CREP; correct?

 9          A.   Correct.

10          Q.   And you understand that those are actual

11   IGWA members who dry up their property?

12          A.   I'm not positive that it's actual IGWA

13   members.  But if they are, yes.

14          Q.   And if they are actual IGWA members who dry

15   up their properties, to be sure they should be given

16   credit for that?

17          A.   Yes.

18          Q.   So to end the discussion really on all

19   aspects of No. 1, IGWA should deserve 1.7 cfs at steady

20   state.

21               You agree to that today?

22          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Asked and answered.

23          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

24          THE WITNESS:  Yes.

25          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  Let's go on,
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 1   Mr. Courtney, to No. 2, which is the Sandy Pipe.

 2               You've had a long opportunity to consider

 3   all aspects of the Sandy Pipe, Mr. Courtney?

 4          A.   Yes.

 5          Q.   And there's a memorandum agreement attached

 6   to the mitigation plan as Exhibit B which purports to

 7   be the agreement between the North Snake Groundwater

 8   Users and Mr. Morris.

 9               Do you see that?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   Do you understand how that agreement works?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   The agreement works that in exchange for

14   Mr. Morris not taking his rights out of the

15   Martin-Curren Tunnel, he would receive credit for water

16   that is taken out of the Sandy Ponds?

17          A.   Correct.

18          Q.   Do you believe Mr. Morris should be allowed

19   to gain credits for the illegal use of water?

20          A.   No.

21          Q.   You heard the testimony from Mr. Morris

22   that he had one single water right out of the Sandy

23   Ponds; correct?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   And that was for 2.4 cfs?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   So to the extent Mr. Morris in fact has a

 3   water right under other circumstances, he should be

 4   given the credit for up to 2.4 cfs?

 5          A.   As a maximum credit, yes.

 6          Q.   Okay.  And that's true because he has no

 7   other legal water rights out of the Sandy Ponds?

 8          A.   Correct.

 9          Q.   Now, Mr. Budge went over a 2004 agreement

10   that Rangen entered into.  It was a one-year agreement.

11               Do you recall that?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   Do you recall why that agreement was

14   entered into?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   Why was that agreement entered into?

17          A.   At that time Rangen had a delivery call

18   with a final order from the Director that there was

19   going to be curtailment on the ESPA.  And Rangen agreed

20   to a one-year stay of that requirement for the

21   curtailment in exchange for that agreement.

22          Q.   Okay.  As I understand what happened on

23   Rangen's first delivery call, there was an order issued

24   by the Director, what we'd call the first order;

25   correct --
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 1          A.   Yeah.

 2          Q.   -- curtailing water?

 3          A.   Yes.

 4          Q.   And in response to the first order

 5   curtailing water, there was this one-year agreement

 6   stay, correct, that Rangen agreed to?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   I understand that the Director subsequently

 9   issued two other orders.

10               Correct?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   And the last order was that Rangen's call

13   was futile?

14          A.   Correct.

15          Q.   And thereafter, IGWA thought it was futile

16   and made no further effort to --

17          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Objection.  It's leading as to

18   whether -- this witness is not competent as to what

19   IGWA did or didn't do.  IGWA didn't exist at the time.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I've allowed flexibility

21   in the nature of the questions, but --

22          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'll try not to do that,

23   Director.

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

25               Sustained.
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 1          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  Do you know what IGWA

 2   or its groundwater district members did in response to

 3   the futile call?

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Objection.  Foundation.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.  He can state

 6   whether he knows or not.

 7          THE WITNESS:  I don't know what they did.

 8          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  But to be sure, that

 9   agreement was a one-year agreement; correct?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   Was there anything about that agreement

12   that you assumed Mr. Morris could illegally use waters

13   to comply with that agreement?

14          A.   No.

15          Q.   Now, Mr. Morris' agreement also states that

16   in response to him not taking water out of the Curren

17   Tunnel he would be entitled to 6 cfs of credit.

18               Do you understand that?

19          A.   That's the request.

20          Q.   Okay.  But again, that's limited by what --

21   his legal right to use; correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   All right.  Which is 2.4 cfs?

24          A.   From the Sandy Ponds, yes.

25          Q.   And the idea is to provide you actual use
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 1   of water out of the Martin-Curren Tunnel.

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   Do you understand that?

 4          A.   Yes.

 5          Q.   So if the tunnel is only flowing, say,

 6   1 cfs -- I'm going to ask you to assume that -- do you

 7   believe that Mr. Morris should be given credit beyond

 8   1 cfs under those circumstances?

 9          A.   There is actually some other reductions

10   that would have to come first, because there is

11   domestic use from a couple of the users with the same

12   priority dates.  And so that water should go to

13   domestic use first.  But less than the 1 cfs, yes.

14          Q.   Okay.  So it's limited by how much is

15   flowing out of the tunnel?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   It's limited by Mr. Morris' legal rights to

18   use Sandy Pond water?

19          A.   Yes.

20          Q.   And it's limited, of course, by the Curren

21   Ditch weir and the senior users of 15 cfs?

22          A.   And season of use.

23          Q.   Okay.  Have you heard any testimony at all

24   how IGWA is to provide you water during the

25   nonirrigation season?
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 1          A.   No.

 2          Q.   Not one single one of the proposals you

 3   understand would do that; correct?

 4          A.   Correct.

 5          Q.   So the conditions you've just described,

 6   you would accept the Sandy Pipe mitigation proposal;

 7   correct?

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          Q.   And I believe the conditions you just

10   testified to are the very same conditions that

11   Mr. Brendecke suggested.

12          A.   Correct.

13          Q.   Moving on to No. 3 of the mitigation plan,

14   Mr. Courtney.

15               You're aware of the assignment of water

16   right 36-16976?

17          A.   I'm aware of the proposal for the

18   assignment of the water right, yes.

19          Q.   Mr. Courtney, have you had a chance to --

20   we understand -- we have protested this permit in a

21   whole separate proceeding; correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Have you had a chance to review this?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   And Rangen has filed a competing claim for
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 1   the same water; is that true?

 2          A.   For the same water and for additional cfs,

 3   yes.

 4          Q.   Okay.  Let's kind of go down, scroll down

 5   through here.  Let's stop right there.

 6               Now, Mr. Courtney, do you understand the

 7   nature of use that IGWA is seeking to perfect on

 8   Rangen's property?

 9          A.   It's what's stated there, yes.

10          Q.   Okay.  They want a permit for fish

11   propagation on Rangen's property.

12               Do you see that?

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   Do you intend to voluntarily give IGWA

15   permission to access your property, to use your

16   property to raise fish?

17          A.   Absolutely not.

18          Q.   Do you see the mitigation for irrigation

19   component?

20          A.   Yes.

21          Q.   Are you aware that there's a whole lot of

22   water available for appropriation in the Curren Ditch

23   for the source of water of Billingsley Creek?

24          A.   I'm aware there's water, yes.

25          Q.   Available for irrigation purposes?
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 1          A.   No.

 2          Q.   Now, through here, true, Mr. Courtney, I

 3   believe IGWA has sought its right of eminent domain to

 4   take Rangen's property to accomplish these uses?

 5          A.   It's what they've stated, yes.

 6          Q.   Are you aware of any action that IGWA has

 7   taken to date to seek to condemn Rangen's property for

 8   those uses?

 9          A.   Not that I'm aware of, no.

10          Q.   Let's go to the horizontal well at the end.

11   Let's go to Exhibit 1060, actually.  I'm sorry.

12               Mr. Courtney, Mr. May has pulled up for us

13   Exhibit 1060, which I'll tell you is the SPF report.

14               Is that true?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   Why did Rangen ask that this report be

17   created?

18          A.   At the time we were substantially short of

19   water, and we were exploring several different

20   proposals to increase our water flow.

21          Q.   And you obtained that proposal; correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   I'll direct your attention to page 6 of

24   that report.

25               I take it Rangen considered the benefits of
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 1   the proposal?

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   And I take it Rangen considered the risks

 4   of the proposal?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   Do you understand what the risks of the

 7   proposal were?

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          Q.   And Justin has pulled up a highlight.  Why

10   don't you read that for a moment.

11               Do you consider the risk would harm others?

12          A.   Yes.

13          Q.   And it would decrease the flow to the

14   Rangen facility itself?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   Given the risks expressed in the SPF

17   report, did Rangen make a calculated decision not to

18   proceed with the horizontal well?

19          A.   Yes.

20          Q.   And you heard Dr. Brendecke's testimony

21   earlier today?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Did you hear about the risks that he

24   testified to?

25          A.   Yes.
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 1          Q.   In building a horizontal well, is it your

 2   desire to decrease flows to your neighbors?

 3          A.   No.

 4          Q.   Let's move on to the vertical well -- or

 5   vertical wells, over-the-rim delivery.

 6               Do you have any idea how that would work?

 7          A.   Conceptually.

 8          Q.   Specifically, do you have any idea how that

 9   would work?

10          A.   No.

11          Q.   Now, Mr. Budge has talked about the

12   necessity of developing redundant systems.

13               Do you understand that for those redundant

14   systems there would have to be redundant systems on

15   every single well involved?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   And Mr. Budge I think said that it could be

18   made as safe as possible.

19               Do you remember Mr. Budge asking you those

20   questions?

21          A.   I remember --

22          Q.   Or perhaps it came from Mr. Brendecke.

23          A.   -- him asking Mr. -- or Dr. Brendecke, yes.

24          Q.   Do you have experiences with redundant

25   systems in any part of your career?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   And where was that?

 3          A.   At Cactus Pete's.

 4          Q.   Did they have redundant systems for their

 5   casino operations?

 6          A.   We did.  We had backup generators for the

 7   electrical system.

 8          Q.   And I take it those were evaluated and kept

 9   and maintained and that whole thing?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   Did they work?

12          A.   No.

13          Q.   And what happened?

14          A.   We had a power outage relating to the

15   casino.  The backup generators did not start up, and we

16   had to dispatch security throughout the whole casino.

17          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  You know, I'm going to object

18   to this whole line of questioning.  This has no

19   relevancy to the plan proposed by IGWA talking about --

20   I've given considerable leeway.  But what Rangen did or

21   didn't do in the past is not relevant to what we

22   propose to do in the future.

23          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  We need to get

24   through.

25          Q.   (BY MR. HAEMMERLE):  Now, again, to
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 1   summarize, Mr. Courtney, other than the proposal 1,

 2   which provides actual water -- you would agree to that;

 3   correct?

 4          A.   Yes.

 5          Q.   There's aspects of the Sandy Pipe you

 6   absolutely agree to?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   But there's nothing in the other proposals

 9   that tell you how much water would be made available to

10   Rangen; correct?

11          A.   Correct.

12          Q.   And it doesn't tell you exactly how the

13   water would be made available to Rangen?

14          A.   Correct.

15          Q.   So as you sit here today, is there anything

16   that you can agree to?

17          A.   No. 1A through 1C and parts of the Sandy

18   Pipeline, yes.

19          Q.   And the other things you just can't

20   evaluate?

21          A.   Correct.

22          Q.   You don't know about the plans and you

23   don't know how much water would be provided?

24          A.   Correct.

25          Q.   And you would give IGWA reasonable access
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 1   if you understood those plans to access your property

 2   to investigate?

 3          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Objection.  Leading.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

 5          THE WITNESS:  Yes.

 6          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Thank you, Director.  I'm done.

 7          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon, any

 8   questions for Mr. Courtney?

 9          MR. LEMMON:  No.

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Redirect?

11          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Just a couple questions.

12   

13                    REDIRECT EXAMINATION

14   BY MR. RANDY BUDGE:

15          Q.   In response to all of my questions about

16   access, you repeatedly said you would have to talk to

17   your lawyers first.  But in response to your attorney's

18   question, you just said you would give IGWA reasonable

19   access.

20               So which answer is correct, Mr. Courtney,

21   your answer that you would only give access upon

22   consulting with your lawyers that you repeatedly gave

23   me for over a half hour, or the answer now that we will

24   get reasonable access?

25          A.   No, my first answer was that I needed to
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 1   have more information to be able to make that

 2   evaluation.  I also agree that my statement on the

 3   response was correct.  I didn't repeat myself every

 4   single time to every one of your questions with the

 5   same response, that I --

 6          Q.   My question --

 7          A.   -- would have to have the information

 8   available so that I could make that determination.

 9          Q.   Up until the question of your attorney, I

10   have not seen any evidence or testimony in this case of

11   IGWA ever proposing to come on Rangen's property and

12   raise fish.

13               Can you point me to any testimony or any

14   exhibit, other than your attorney's interpretation of

15   the word "fish mitigation" on the application, that

16   suggested IGWA ever wants to raise fish on the Rangen

17   property?

18          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Object to the form of the

19   question.  The actual application is for fish

20   propagation.

21          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Not by IGWA.

22          MR. HAEMMERLE:  That's your application.

23          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Well, that's Counsel's

24   creative --

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.
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 1          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  -- interpretation of the

 2   application.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.  Let's go on.

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Okay.

 5          Q.   Is there any testimony that you've heard

 6   from any of the groundwater users or anyone else that

 7   suggests in any way that any groundwater users want to

 8   come on IGWA's property and raise fish?

 9          A.   From testimony, no.

10          Q.   Is there any -- other than your own

11   attorneys creative interpretation of one word on an

12   Application for Permit that Rangen protested, have you

13   seen any document or other exhibit in this case that

14   suggests that the groundwater users want to come on

15   Rangen's property and raise any fish?

16          A.   That was my interpretation of --

17          Q.   Your interpretation?

18          A.   Yes.

19          Q.   Well, let me dispel to you, we'll stipulate

20   in this record we have no interest in raising fish.

21               Did you not read the assignment where we

22   proposed to assign the entire permit to Rangen so it

23   could raise fish?

24          A.   You made the application before you made

25   the proposal to assign the application.
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 1          Q.   Well, if you'll look at the mitigation

 2   plan, Exhibit 1000, item 3 that I've talked to you

 3   about extensively, and your attorney has, it's entitled

 4   "Assignment of Water Right 36-16976 to Rangen."

 5               How could the groundwater users use a

 6   permit to raise fish on your property, if that was your

 7   interpretation, if we in fact are assigning it to

 8   Rangen?

 9          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Object to the characterization

10   of that as a water right.  It's not a water right until

11   it's perfected.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.  Both parties

13   have referred to the application as a permit or various

14   forms of a water right.  I understand what's being

15   asserted.

16               Mr. Budge.

17          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  You made a statement

18   in response to one of Counsel's questions that you

19   don't want to decrease any flows that would injure your

20   neighbors.  He was referring to the pumpers on the --

21   above the rim, I assume.

22               Do you consider the groundwater users who

23   are within the curtailment area to be your neighbors?

24          A.   Some of them.

25          Q.   What about the 14 cities that are subject
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 1   to the curtailment order, do you consider them to be

 2   neighbors?

 3          A.   No.

 4          Q.   You don't consider them your neighbors?

 5          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Objection.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

 7          MR. HAEMMERLE:  We're never going to get through

 8   this.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, I don't think we

10   need to have an interpretation of who are neighbors and

11   who are not, Mr. Budge.

12          Q.   (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE):  Some neighbors

13   you're happy to curtail and some not; correct?

14          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Objection.

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  Let's not go

16   along this line anymore, Mr. Budge.

17          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Okay.

18          Q.   Well, one final question, Mr. Courtney:

19   Would you buy an unconstructed fish farm without first

20   having an opportunity to see a feasibility study?

21          A.   Buy an unconstructed one?

22          Q.   Yeah.

23          A.   I don't know.  I don't know the particulars

24   to it.

25          Q.   Would you buy an unconstructed fish
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 1   facility if you hadn't had an opportunity to see

 2   complete engineering designs?

 3          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I'm going to object to this line

 4   of questioning.  It --

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

 6          MR. HAEMMERLE:  It's a waste of time, first of

 7   all.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

 9          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  No further questions.

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  More questions,

11   Mr. Haemmerle?

12          MR. HAEMMERLE:  None.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon?

14          MR. LEMMON:  No.

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Courtney,

16   you're finished.

17               Let's take five to ten minutes and then

18   we'll come back.

19               Is that your last witness, Mr. Budge?

20          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Yes.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  So you rest your

22   presentation of evidence?

23          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We have no further evidence to

24   present.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.
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 1          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  And I believe that -- we can

 2   go off the record here, but I think we just have one

 3   witness, Mr. Brockway.

 4          MR. HAEMMERLE:  That's it.

 5          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We may propose to go straight

 6   through that would enable us to get Dr. Brendecke to a

 7   plane.  Unless you expect to be a long time with him.

 8          MR. HAEMMERLE:  What's that?

 9          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Do you expect a long time with

10   Brockway?

11          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I don't think so.

12          MR. MAY:  I don't expect -- we don't expect a

13   long time with Dr. Brockway.

14          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Why don't we just go straight

15   through without a noon break so we could get Brendecke

16   to his plane.

17          MR. MAY:  I don't know that we have even after

18   noon.  I believe we have til noon.

19               Correct?

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, I told you noon.  I

21   have a fixed one o'clock appointment that I need to go

22   to.  We can take a late --

23               Let's go off the record, Jeff.

24               (Recess.)

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We are back on the
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 1   record.

 2               And IGWA has rested presentation of their

 3   evidence.

 4               Mr. May.

 5          MR. MAY:  Before we begin, could I just ask a

 6   couple of questions about the documents that we were

 7   talking about and what we might be getting and when.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  That would be fine.

 9   Garrick and I just talked about when we might introduce

10   them.  We could do that now, if you want.  But we

11   thought maybe we'd save it until the end.

12               What we have is we have a map and an

13   attached sheet that shows both the boundaries, at least

14   in our .shp files of the North Side Canal Company, as

15   well as .shp files for the Candy, Musser, and Morris

16   properties.

17          MR. MAY:  Okay.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  And then we have I think

19   two sets of discs with the data, so --

20          MR. MAY:  Okay.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- they're CDs.

22          MR. MAY:  And this is now data with regard to

23   the Curren Tunnel, potentially?

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I don't think it's new

25   data.  It would be data through I think 2013.  I don't
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 1   think we have '14 data in them.

 2          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Are there any water rights

 3   shares that show the right to irrigate the Musser,

 4   Candy, Morris properties beyond what we put in the

 5   record currently?

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  No.

 7          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Okay.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  All we're doing is showing

 9   that at least those properties are within the

10   boundaries of the North Side Canal Company.  And that

11   may or may not be important, but we thought it was

12   information that the parties needed to have at their

13   disposal, because I'm not aware that there's been any

14   discussion of this subject.

15          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I think that's an important

16   issue to clarify.

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.

18          MR. MAY:  Director, can I just ask you, on the

19   disc you said it's not new data.

20               Is it a revision of some of the data that

21   we've got that's, for instance, Exhibit 2045, which is

22   the Martin-Curren Tunnel?

23          MR. BAXTER:  It's the data that's been

24   previously provided to the parties related to the

25   recorded water levels out of the white pipe.
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 1          MR. MAY:  Okay.  So it is in addition to this?

 2          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.  It contains both

 3   those pieces of information, Curren Tunnel measurements

 4   and reported flows in the PVC pipe.

 5          MR. MAY:  Okay.

 6          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Does it say where that measuring

 7   device is located on that white pipe?  Does anyone

 8   know?

 9          MR. BAXTER:  It's my recollection that through

10   the depositions in the Rangen proceeding there was

11   discussions about the transducer and how the Department

12   takes measurements.  I believe Tim Luke testified as to

13   some of that information previously.

14          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We can go off the record

15   and have a discussion, but I'd like to get through the

16   testimony.

17          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Yeah, let's rock.

18          MR. MAY:  Let's get Dr. Brockway on.  And I

19   don't think it's going to change anything.  It may just

20   clarify something he's got.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.  Okay.  Mr. Budge.

22          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Before we broke, I indicated

23   we would mark as Exhibits 1097 and 1098, the Notice of

24   Violation Cease-and-Desist Order and the Consent Order

25   Agreement.  I acknowledge that the Hearing Officer took
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 1   judicial notice of those and proposed to make an

 2   exhibit of those and have them admitted for judicial

 3   notice purposes so we have a complete record with

 4   everything else.

 5               (Exhibits 1097 and 1098 marked.)

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Haemmerle, you stated

 7   earlier you object.

 8          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I do object on relevance.

 9               Is the Director's stay order also made a

10   part of this record on --

11          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Yes.  1098.

12          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No.

13          MR. HAEMMERLE:  No?

14          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No.  You mean the stay of the

15   curtailment?

16          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Yeah.  Is the stay of the

17   curtailment a record of this?

18          MR. TJ BUDGE:  That would be fine.

19          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We stipulate to that as well.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  They are Department

21   documents.  So rather than taking notice of them, I'll

22   receive them into evidence over the objection.

23               Thank you.

24               (Exhibits 1097 and 1098 received.)

25          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I think Exhibit 1098, we
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 1   stipulated to the admission of that document as well.

 2          MR. MAY:  1099.

 3          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Whatever the stay on the

 4   curtailment.

 5               Is that Exhibit 1099?

 6          MS. BRODY:  No.

 7          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Correct.

 8          MR. MAY:  That's their next one.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Either way.  It's in the

10   record.

11          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Fine.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

13          MR. BAXTER:  Can we identify what exhibit

14   numbers they were again?

15          MR. TJ BUDGE:  1098 is the cease -- excuse me,

16   1097 is the cease-and-desist order.  1098 is the

17   consent order.  I'm not sure --

18          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  And agreement.  And I marked

19   those exhibits and have them there in front of you.

20          MR. TJ BUDGE:  And then 1099 would be the stay

21   of the curtailment order.

22               (Exhibit 1099 marked.)

23          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Since they're all coming in -- I

24   objected to ours, but I don't object to those documents

25   coming in.
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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  They're received

 2   into evidence.

 3               (Exhibit 1099 received.)

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. May, call

 5   Dr. Brockway?

 6          MR. MAY:  Thank you, Mr. Director.

 7               We call Dr. Brockway.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Raise your hand, please.

 9   

10                    CHARLES E. BROCKWAY,

11   having been called as a witness by Rangen, Inc., and

12   duly sworn to tell the truth relating to said cause,

13   testified as follows:

14   

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.  Please be

16   seated.

17   

18                     DIRECT EXAMINATION

19   BY MR. MAY:

20          Q.   Good morning, Dr. Brockway.

21          A.   Good morning.

22          Q.   Could you please state your name and spell

23   your last name for the record, please.

24          A.   It's Charlies E.  Brockway,

25   B-r-o-c-k-w-a-y.
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 1          Q.   Dr. Brockway, what degrees do you hold?

 2          A.   I have a bachelor's degree in civil

 3   engineering, a master's degree in water resources

 4   engineering, and a Ph.D. in water resources

 5   engineering.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Budge, can we

 7   stipulate to the expertise of Dr. Brockway?

 8          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  We can so stipulate.

 9          MR. MAY:  Thank you.

10          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Thank you.

11               I'm trying to get through this.

12          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  Dr. Brockway, in this

13   particular case what were you asked to do?

14          A.   In just this case?

15          Q.   With regard to this mitigation plan

16   proceeding.

17          A.   My understanding is I was asked to -- to

18   evaluate the mitigation plan that was submitted by IGWA

19   in response to the order from the prior hearing for

20   curtailment or mitigation for Rangen.

21          Q.   And did you do that, Dr. Brockway?

22          A.   I did do that.  I looked over the

23   mitigation plan and the various elements with the idea

24   to evaluate it hydrologically and hydraulically as to

25   whether the various components of that plan met the --
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 1   what the order required as far as water at the tunnel

 2   or new water or whatever.

 3               And I will say in general that the document

 4   I received in fact is really not a plan.  It's a list

 5   of potential components that might be utilized to meet

 6   the requirements of a plan.

 7          Q.   And generally with regard to those

 8   components, were you able to review their feasibility

 9   reports?

10          A.   Well, I could review what was submitted,

11   but I could not really determine sufficiently whether

12   those components really provided water, would provide

13   water, and certainly not -- I was not able to quantify

14   what -- how much water might come from those

15   components.

16          Q.   And I want to make sure that we separate

17   out a little bit the various components that we're

18   talking about, because I understand that there likely

19   are some components that you were able to do some

20   analysis of.  I'd like to first -- or your attention

21   first to some analysis that you may have seen,

22   Exhibit 1025 from Ms. Sukow.

23               Have you seen this document?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   And were you able to review Exhibit 1025?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to the analysis that

 3   Ms. Sukow has done regarding this document, do you

 4   generally have any issues with the process that was

 5   used to create this document?

 6          A.   No.  The process, the model that was used

 7   in evaluating it, I'm familiar with that.  And I know

 8   what Ms. Sukow went through, and the procedure and the

 9   protocol that was used.

10               And I don't have any problem with what she

11   did or the results.  I did have a question about, you

12   know, whether the recharge for southwest Idaho should

13   be counted.

14          Q.   Okay.

15          A.   But it's not very big.

16          Q.   Okay.

17          A.   So in general, I don't have a problem with

18   that.

19          Q.   Okay.  And in general, with regard to

20   what's up here, you would accept these numbers that

21   Ms. Sukow did; correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Now, you mentioned recharge.

24               With regard to recharge and credits, what

25   is your understanding of -- well, do you have
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 1   familiarity with credits for recharge being given?

 2          A.   Yes.

 3          Q.   And is it generally a requirement for that

 4   credit that the entity seeking credit would have

 5   ownership of the water?

 6          A.   Well, my understanding in reviewing what

 7   this state has done and what SWID has done and other

 8   entities relative to aquifer enhancement, there have

 9   been various programs that have been implemented and

10   beneficial results documented, but in my opinion if an

11   entity does recharge, builds the facilities, finds the

12   water, or uses their water or whatever, they ought to

13   get credit for the recharge.

14               But there's a lot of things relative to

15   recharge that have happened on the ESPA where specific

16   entities have -- have initiated the plan or the

17   project, and perhaps other entities would like to take

18   credit for it.  I think you should only get credit for

19   what you paid for or you initiated or you made happen.

20          Q.   Dr. Brockway, I understand that Ms. Sukow's

21   analysis -- and I discussed this with Dr. Brendecke --

22   was done running the model at steady state.

23               Is that correct?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Okay.  And it's my understanding that
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 1   steady state would not give you any information about

 2   what would occur in a particular year.

 3               Is that correct?

 4          A.   It will not.

 5          Q.   Did you make any -- did you do any

 6   investigation with regard to the mitigation plan that

 7   was proposed and the inputs that Ms. Sukow used to

 8   create her steady-state result to come up with a result

 9   that would tell you what would happen in a given year?

10          A.   Yes.  We in fact reran some of Ms. Sukow's

11   runs that were portrayed in the previous exhibit to

12   make sure we could duplicate them and do the same

13   thing.

14               And then --

15          Q.   Let me stop you for just a second.

16               When you say to make sure that you could

17   duplicate it and do the same thing, you mean you ran it

18   at steady state to see if you came up with the same

19   results?

20          A.   Yes.

21          Q.   And did you?

22          A.   And we did.

23          Q.   And then what did do you?

24          A.   Then there was a part of the order that

25   talked about furnishing -- if IGWA was to furnish

0679

 1   direct flow of water, that they had to meet certain

 2   levels of enhancement for the first five years.  And

 3   there was a question about that relative to what do

 4   some of these components give us on a transient run of

 5   the model.  So we ran the model in a transient mode.

 6          Q.   And what did you do to set up the model so

 7   that you could run it in a transient mode?

 8          A.   Well, you have to use the full -- the full

 9   dataset.  You have to run the model, and not just use

10   the response functions for steady state that have been

11   generated.

12               So we ginned up the whole model and ran it

13   in the transient mode.  You have to run it twice to get

14   to some differences.  But we did run it in the

15   transient mode.  And we compared that with what the

16   direct flow requirements were.  And I think that's what

17   you have on the board.

18          Q.   Okay.  So I've got on the board

19   Exhibit 2071.

20               Could you identify 2071.

21          A.   That's plots of -- well, the transient run

22   that I talked about.  And then we've also plotted on

23   there, both tabular and otherwise, the required

24   mitigation under the order for the five years, I think

25   it is, or four years.
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 1          Q.   And I'd like to focus in here, if I can, on

 2   the -- kind of the legend here.

 3               Just so that we can see what's going on,

 4   with regard to these various lines, you created, it

 5   looks like where I've got the pointer here, a dashed

 6   line for proposed IGWA conversions.

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   Okay.  And so what does that dashed line

 9   represent?

10          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Objection.  Relevance and

11   misleading.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

13          THE WITNESS:  The dashed -- the dashed lines on

14   the bottom of that chart are the result of running the

15   proposed --

16          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  Dr. Brockway, can I

17   interrupt you?

18          A.   Yeah.

19          Q.   Because I think TJ's objection, there was

20   an additional foundation point that I need to raise to

21   address what I think was TJ's objection that I didn't

22   catch, and it's partially valid.

23               Dr. Brockway, does this represent all of

24   the data that's on Exhibit 1025?  In other words, did

25   you include all of the Southwest Irrigation District on
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 1   here?

 2          A.   We did, yes.

 3          Q.   On this particular exhibit, Southwest

 4   Irrigation District?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6               You mean --

 7          Q.   I'm talking on Exhibit 2071, did you, in

 8   addition to the IGWA acres that are calculated --

 9          A.   Oh, no, no, no.

10          Q.   -- on Exhibit 1025, did you also make an

11   analysis with regard to Southwest Irrigation District?

12          A.   We did, but that's not on here.

13          Q.   Okay.  So this just represents the IGWA

14   side of Exhibit 1025?

15          A.   Yes.  This is the groundwater model run as

16   represented by -- by the -- for instance, the red line

17   along the bottom is the result of running ESPAM-2.1

18   model in transient mode using the input that's claimed

19   for CREP by IGWA.

20          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Objection.

21               Director, may I inquire of the witness in

22   further aid of objection?

23          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.

24   ///

25   ///
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 1                    VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION

 2   BY MR. TJ BUDGE:

 3          Q.   Dr. Brockway, do you understand that Rangen

 4   has consented to the calculation of mitigation credits

 5   on a steady-state basis?

 6          A.   Yes.

 7          Q.   And your testimony today is that your graph

 8   up here as Exhibit 2071 does not include the recharge

 9   activities of Southwest Irrigation District?

10          A.   Well, the line that says "IGWA CREP"

11   certainly doesn't.  And the "Proposed IGWA conversions"

12   doesn't.

13          Q.   So does this not account for any of

14   Southwest Irrigation District's mitigation activities?

15          A.   The -- the transient model, the blue

16   diamonds has all of it in it.

17          Q.   Okay.  You've depicted on this graph what

18   is reported there as being IGWA CREP and IGWA

19   conversions.

20               I just want to make clear, your graph does

21   not show the effect of Southwest Irrigation District,

22   CREP, or conversions or recharge; is that correct?

23          A.   It doesn't show that separately, no.

24          Q.   And I also see that in year zero you --

25   your graph depicts no credit for conversions, CREP, or
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 1   recharge activities; is that right?

 2          A.   That's right, yeah.

 3          Q.   So you have not taken into account the

 4   recharge, conversion, and CREP efforts that have

 5   happened for the last six or seven years?

 6          A.   No.  Remember, this is a groundwater model

 7   run.

 8          Q.   I understand.

 9          A.   And you have to start it out in the

10   steady-state run.  You have to assume that what was

11   happening at the beginning is going to happen for 150

12   years.

13          Q.   I understand that.  But your graph does not

14   reflect any credit, either for what Southwest has done

15   or IGWA has done or Goose Creek Irrigation District,

16   for the six or seven years leading up to the date of

17   curtailment; is that right?

18          A.   It does not go back and attempt to model

19   those types of events prior to the time of starting the

20   model.

21          MR. MAY:  Can I --

22          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Director, my objection is that

23   this graph is equally, if not more, misleading than the

24   Sandy Ponds recharge.  This purports to depict the

25   comparison of mitigation activities to what's required,
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 1   and it doesn't take account for anything Southwest has

 2   done, even from the date of curtailment, and nor does

 3   it take into account what was done for the six or seven

 4   years prior.  I think it's misleading to have that in

 5   the record.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. May I don't

 7   think has yet offered this exhibit.  I think we were in

 8   a foundational set of questions here.  I think the

 9   objection is premature.

10          MR. TJ BUDGE:  But can he ask the witness about

11   the substance of the graph without bringing it into the

12   record?  That was the objection that we have.

13          MR. MAY:  Can I just address a couple of things,

14   because this is not offered in an attempt to take away

15   any credit for Southwest irrigation District or

16   anything?

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sure.

18   

19                CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

20   BY MR. MAY:

21          Q.   Dr. Brockway, this, I understand, was

22   prepared with the information that you had.

23               Correct?

24          A.   That's right.

25          Q.   And, Dr. Brockway, I would understand that
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 1   this particular transient run was made solely with an

 2   effort to show what the transient run would look like

 3   with regard to the data for those three specific things

 4   that are set out on Ms. Sukow's table.

 5               Correct?

 6          A.   That's right.

 7          Q.   And no attempt is made to try and say that

 8   no credit should be given for Southwest Idaho -- or

 9   excuse me, Southwest Irrigation District, it's just an

10   attempt to show relatively what a transient run would

11   look like given the information that was available?

12          A.   That's right.

13          Q.   And in that regard, did you follow, in

14   running the same run with these three sets of input

15   data, the same procedures that Ms. Sukow run, with the

16   exception it was done as a transient run?

17          A.   Yes.

18          MR. MAY:  And with those explanations and

19   foundation, Director, I would offer Exhibit 2071.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Budge?

21          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I'll renew my objection on the

22   grounds of relevance, because Rangen stipulated to

23   steady-state calculations, and also, again, on the

24   point of it being misleading.  What Mr. May has

25   explained is they're trying to compare the steady-state
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 1   curtailment run with the steady-state mitigation

 2   benefits.

 3               And what's just been explained is their

 4   steady state -- their representation of steady-state

 5   curtailment benefits does not include anything that

 6   Southwest has done from the date of curtailment, nor

 7   does it include all the mitigation that's happened for

 8   years prior.  So I really think the portion of the

 9   exhibit purporting to depict mitigation benefits is

10   very misleading.

11          MR. MAY:  Director, may I respond?

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Let me just address it,

13   Mr. May.

14               Mr. Budge, in the order that I issued at

15   the end of January, there were two components that

16   could satisfy the mitigation obligation that could be

17   implemented in lieu of curtailment:  And one was that

18   activities provide a steady-state mitigation of

19   9.1 cfs; the other was delivery of water in this year,

20   2014, of 3.4.

21               And just because of the two components,

22   there is, from my perspective, a need to look at

23   steady-state conditions and transient conditions both.

24   And in fact, at the end the information that we're

25   distributing, that I've talked to the parties about,
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 1   will enhance either the ability of the parties or the

 2   Department -- and I apologize we've not run those

 3   transient runs, but they will enhance the ability of

 4   the Department to simulate what IGWA has done in the

 5   past.  And I will tell the parties we intend to do it.

 6               Now, the question was posed to Department

 7   staff, can we get it done before the end of the

 8   hearing.  And the answer is no.  And I apologize.

 9               So it's something that I'll need to augment

10   the record with.  But the parties need to be on notice

11   that we intend to run those transient simulations and

12   determine, based on past activities that we've

13   recognized in contested cases before the Department,

14   what those transient values are, starting in 2005 when

15   we started with the records.  So we got to have both.

16   And in my opinion, they're both relevant.

17               What Dr. Brockway has done here, in my

18   opinion, is an attempt at modeling transient impacts.

19   But I also recognize that they don't -- they don't

20   include all of that information and data that we have.

21   So I hope that helps the perspectives of the parties

22   and we won't quibble over it.

23               So given the qualifications that you

24   pointed out, Mr. Budge, I'll overrule the objection,

25   and we'll go on.
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 1               (Exhibit 2071 received.)

 2          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. May.

 3          MR. MAY:  Thank you, Director.  That was

 4   precisely the reason for the...

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.

 6          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  Dr. Brockway, I'm going to

 7   show you what's been marked as Exhibit 2073.

 8               Do you recognize what I've just put on the

 9   screen as Exhibit 2073?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   And what is that?

12          A.   That is a compilation of the Curren Tunnel

13   discharge by month for 2013.  And it's just plotted to

14   show the seasonal variability in the flow from the

15   Curren Tunnel.

16          Q.   And what data is that created from?  And I

17   might just represent down here that you see two sheets,

18   one of which says "1993 to the present."

19          A.   Yeah, the red line --

20          Q.   Do you recognize that?

21          A.   The previous chart is data from this chart,

22   the red line, computed on a monthly basis instead of a

23   daily basis.

24          Q.   Okay.  And so this chart here represents

25   the same data, just calculated in a different manner,
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 1   just on an average monthly basis; correct?

 2          A.   Yes.  It's the same data.

 3          MR. MAY:  Director, I would move for the

 4   admission of Exhibit 2073.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Budge?

 6          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No objection.

 7          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Lemmon?

 8          MR. LEMMON:  No objection.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  The document marked

10   as Exhibit 2073 is received into evidence.

11               (Exhibit 2073 received.)

12          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  I'm going to direct your

13   attention, Dr. Brockway, to Exhibit 2069.

14               Do you recognize Exhibit 2069, despite the

15   fact that it's very small up there?

16          A.   I think I know what that is.

17          Q.   Okay.  I'll try and highlight a little bit

18   of that.

19               Do you recognize that?

20          A.   Yes, I do.

21          Q.   And, Dr. Brockway, what is Exhibit 2069?

22          A.   That's a compilation of all of the water

23   rights on file with the IDWR database on Billingsley

24   Creek.  And I've sorted it by priority so that the --

25   the first entry, 36-16198, is the last -- the most
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 1   junior priority on Billingsley Creek.  And that goes

 2   from -- essentially from the headwaters of Billingsley

 3   Creek and Curren Tunnel clear to the Snake River.

 4          Q.   I notice everyone is squinting.  Let me see

 5   if I can get it a little bit bigger.

 6               They're sorted by priority based on the

 7   earliest or the latest?

 8          A.   Well, the latest priority is at the top,

 9   and the earliest priority is at the bottom.

10          Q.   1880 is the latest priority?

11          A.   Oh, I'm sorry.  I was looking at the decree

12   date.

13               No, they're sorted by earliest to latest.

14          Q.   Okay.  And you created this table yourself,

15   Dr. Brockway?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Okay.  Directly from the Department's

18   database?

19          A.   Yes.

20          Q.   I notice if you look here on the second

21   page there's some highlighted rights here.

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   Okay.  And I'll try and zoom in here so you

24   can try -- what does the yellow highlighting indicate?

25          A.   The yellow are the water rights that are
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 1   listed for diversion from Billingsley Creek into the

 2   Curren Ditch.

 3          Q.   Okay.  So the yellow highlighted rights are

 4   rights that are associated with the Curren Ditch?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   Okay.  And the rights that are highlighted

 7   in red?

 8          A.   Those are -- that's -- well, the Candy and

 9   Morris and one Rangen right from the Martin-Curren

10   Tunnel.

11          Q.   And you do have a column here, I

12   understand.  I just wasn't over there.

13               There's a column that indicates where the

14   rights are; correct?

15          A.   Yes.  Those are the ditches emanating from

16   Billingsley Creek where the water rights are authorized

17   to be diverted.

18          MR. MAY:  Director, I would offer Exhibit 2069.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Budge?

20          MR. TJ BUDGE:  May I ask the witness a few

21   questions?

22   

23                    VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION

24   BY MR. TJ BUDGE:

25          Q.   Dr. Brockway, how did you determine which
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 1   ditches each water right's diverted into?

 2          A.   Well, usually on the water right, maybe not

 3   on the database water right, but on the decree or

 4   somewhere in the backfile you can find the diversion

 5   ditch or point on Billingsley Creek.

 6          Q.   Did you review the watermaster binders that

 7   have been submitted into evidence in this case that

 8   designates which water rights go into which ditch?

 9          A.   I did not review that.

10          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I don't object to the document

11   coming into evidence, on condition that recognize we

12   already have evidence of what water rights are

13   delivered through which ditches.  And to the extent

14   there's any conflict with those, we would defer to the

15   watermaster's records.

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Mr. Lemmon, any

17   objection?

18          MR. LEMMON:  No objection.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  With the stated

20   qualification, the document marked as Exhibit -- and I

21   believe this is 2069; is that correct, Mr. May?

22          MR. MAY:  Yes, Director.

23          THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- is received into

24   evidence.

25               (Exhibit 2069 received.)
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 1                CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

 2   BY MR. MAY:

 3          Q.   Dr. Brockway, I'm showing you on the screen

 4   here what's been marked as Exhibit 2075.

 5               Do you recognize this?

 6          A.   Yes.

 7          Q.   Okay.  And can you tell me what this is.

 8          A.   Well, I was asked to take a look at the

 9   authorized water rights for the irrigation rights from

10   the Martin-Curren Tunnel and also from the -- from the

11   Sandy Ponds.

12          Q.   And these are rights held by Butch Morris?

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   Okay.  And what does this document

15   represent?  What did you do with that review?

16          A.   Well, my attempt was to determine what --

17   there are some overlaps in the water rights, both with

18   place of use and with the diversion allowed.  And I

19   wanted to find out if there were any conflicts or there

20   were any constraints to what could be diverted from --

21   from the Sandy Ponds and/or the Curren Tunnel.

22               So the first three rights are Morris rights

23   from the Martin-Curren Tunnel that, in evaluating those

24   rights, have no limits or overlaps connected with other

25   water rights.  So those three rights are unencumbered
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 1   by any kind of constraint or condition.

 2               The second set -- the 134 and 135D, 10141A,

 3   and the 08723 -- are linked by some constraints.  The

 4   36-08723 is the wastewater right held by Mr. Morris

 5   from the Sandy Ponds.

 6          Q.   And if I was to pull up that water right --

 7   and I believe it's 2041.

 8               2041 has been admitted, hasn't it, Garrick?

 9          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yes.

10          THE WITNESS:  If we look at conditions 2 and 3,

11   I think they'll --

12          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  So conditions 2 and 3 on

13   the --

14          A.   Those are important, yeah.

15          Q.   Okay.  And how does conditions 2 and 3

16   relate to your calculations there in the middle?

17          A.   Well, condition 2 is a condition that's

18   normally put on most irrigation water rights that

19   limits the diversion under that right to more -- no

20   more than 2/100ths of a cfs per acre.  That's an inch

21   per acre.

22               Condition 3 on this right, which is a

23   wastewater right, is used in conjunction with 36-134D

24   and 135D and 10141A.  And that condition is that when

25   these -- the water authorized by these rights is used,

0695

 1   that the combined use shall not exceed 3.98 cfs and the

 2   irrigation of 143 acres.

 3          Q.   And so how did you represent or what did

 4   you do with that information for the middle part of

 5   that table that I've got highlighted on there?

 6          A.   Well, what it says is with that constraint,

 7   the 3.98 cfs, that if you use all four of these rights

 8   on the same authorized place of use, which they all

 9   have the same, that you'll be limited to 3.98 cfs.

10               But if you add up the authorized diversion

11   rates by those four rights, you get more than 3.98.  So

12   I believe that that condition on the wastewater right

13   limits what you can legally apply to those 143 acres.

14          Q.   And the bottom section here, what does that

15   represent?

16          A.   Well, the bottom section purports to show

17   what the maximum flow that could be put on those

18   143 acres is.

19               The first -- the first four rights out of

20   the Martin-Curren Tunnel are not limited by anything.

21   The 134D, or the 143-acre rights, I believe would be

22   limited to the 1.58 cfs.  So the total is 3.65.

23          Q.   And that 1.58 is represented here; correct?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Okay.
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 1          A.   The condition on 08723 essentially says you

 2   can't -- you can't divert from the two red rights, the

 3   135D and the 1041A because of that limitation on the

 4   discharge condition.

 5          MR. MAY:  Director, I would move for the

 6   admission of Exhibit 2075.

 7          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Budge?

 8          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I apologize.  I do have an

 9   objection that may be able to resolve with some further

10   questioning of the witness.

11          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

12   

13                    VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION

14   BY MR. TJ BUDGE:

15          Q.   Dr. Brendecke, did you personally prepare

16   this -- Dr. Brockway, did you personally prepare this

17   document labeled as Exhibit 2075?

18          A.   No.

19          Q.   Who prepared it?

20          A.   I'm not sure.  I think it may have been

21   either Justin or Mr. Haemmerle.

22          Q.   So one of Rangen's attorneys handed this to

23   you?

24          A.   It was e-mailed to me.

25          Q.   E-mailed it to you.
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 1               Did you go back and look at the current

 2   Department water right reports for every one of the

 3   water rights that are listed on this?

 4          A.   I did.  I pulled every one of them.

 5          Q.   So you went and verified all of the data

 6   that's on this document?

 7          A.   I did, yes.

 8          Q.   Fair enough.  And I'm a little confused by

 9   the labeling on this.  The top three rights say

10   Martin-Curren Tunnel water rights.

11          A.   They are.

12          Q.   Those are water rights that have their

13   source as the Martin-Curren Tunnel?

14          A.   Yes.

15          Q.   And then the second section relates to

16   combined use, but these water rights are not all

17   Martin-Curren Tunnel water rights; is that correct?

18          A.   They are not.

19          Q.   So water right 36-08723 is a Sandy Ponds

20   water right?

21          A.   Yes.

22          Q.   And the other three, 134D, 135D, and 1014A

23   are Martin-Curren Tunnel rights?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Are those rights all owned by Morris?
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 1          A.   Yes.

 2          Q.   So this document doesn't include any of the

 3   water rights for Musser or Candy?

 4          A.   No.

 5          Q.   And I am also confused by the total

 6   combined diversion limit you show at the bottom of

 7   3.65.

 8               Is the 75 acres referred to in the top

 9   three rights, is that one part of the 143 acres

10   referenced in the middle section of water rights, or is

11   that a separate parcel of land?

12          A.   I don't know if there's any -- I don't

13   remember if there's any overlap there or not.  The

14   143 acres, as specified as place of use for the center

15   rights, the 134D, 135D, 10141A, and 86 -- 872- --

16   whatever that is, those 143 acres are the same exact

17   acres.

18          Q.   Okay.

19          A.   So the place of use for all of those four

20   rights is the 143 acres.

21          Q.   Okay.  So those are one parcel of land,

22   143 acres.

23               The top three rights that say 75 acres,

24   those are a separate parcel of land; right?

25          A.   I don't remember.  I can look it up,
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 1   though.

 2          Q.   You're not sure.  Okay.  Assuming they're

 3   separate parcels, if you add up the top three water

 4   rights, the .82, .82, and .43, you get 2.07 cfs; is

 5   that right?

 6          A.   I don't know that I put that on there.

 7          Q.   Well, it's not on there.  I'm just adding

 8   it up.

 9          A.   1.64 and .43.  That's right.

10          Q.   Okay.  So for that parcel there's 2.07 cfs

11   Morris can divert, and then for the 143-acre parcel you

12   get 3.98 cfs.  So I'm confused by this bottom section

13   that says "Total combined diversion right," and maybe

14   that's because you're limiting it to the tunnel.  But

15   if I add up the 2.07 and the 3.98, I get to 6.05.

16               I guess my objection, Director, is I'm a

17   little confused by the math and where the parcels

18   pertain.  I'm confused about this leading to

19   confusion -- I'm concerned about this leading to the

20   confusion of others.

21               And I would note that every one of these

22   water rights reports are in the record and speak for

23   themselves, and I do think that those would be better

24   evidence than this summary that leaves, I think,

25   reasons for questions in people's mind.
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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay, Mr. Budge.

 2               Any objection to this, Mr. Lemmon?

 3          MR. LEMMON:  No.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Well, Mr. Budge,

 5   this is a summary, one person's interpretation.  And

 6   thank you for at least pointing out some possible other

 7   interpretations.  I'll allow it into the record, but

 8   thank you at least for pointing it out.

 9               So the document marked as --

10               What's the number, Mr. May?  I --

11          MR. MAY:  20- -- sorry.  It's 2075.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  2075 is received into

13   evidence.

14               (Exhibit 2075 received.)

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I appreciate what you've

16   done, Mr. Budge, in pointing out possible anomalies in

17   the computation.

18   

19                CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION

20   BY MR. MAY:

21          Q.   Dr. Brockway, I've brought up on the screen

22   Exhibit 2067.

23               Do you recognize this?

24          A.   Yes.

25          Q.   Okay.  And what is this?
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 1          A.   That's a compilation of the data from

 2   ESPAM-2.1 for four different scenarios of curtailment

 3   of junior rights on the ESPA.

 4          Q.   And so what process did you use to create

 5   those different scenarios?

 6          A.   Well, we ran the ESPAM-2.1 model in steady

 7   state, and then we cookie-cutted the -- the junior

 8   water rights to those -- to those priority dates on the

 9   left and ran the model.  And the result is the third

10   column in cfs.

11          Q.   And so with regard to the dates on the

12   left, I see one that says 7/13/1962 at the top, and

13   that's followed over, and you've got -- I guess we can

14   look at what these are.

15               What is the significance of 1962, the

16   7/13/1962?

17          A.   That's the priority date of the Rangen,

18   Inc., water right from Curren Tunnel.

19          Q.   And that's the water right that was

20   generally the subject of the prior call and the order

21   that we've been talking about; correct?

22          A.   Yes.

23          Q.   And here I notice 14.4 under "Cell," and

24   then 9.1 under the column that says "cfs."

25               What does the 14.4 represent?
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 1          A.   That's the output from the model for that

 2   curtailment run --

 3          Q.   And the --

 4          A.   -- for the spring cell.

 5          Q.   Excuse me.  The 9.1, what does that

 6   represent?

 7          A.   That's 63 percent of the 14.4.

 8          Q.   And so with regard to this first line, did

 9   you run that process in the same manner in which you

10   understand the Department ran the model in order to

11   come up with the numbers in the Rangen order?

12          A.   We did.  We duplicated essentially the

13   Department's.

14          Q.   And you came up with essentially the same

15   numbers; correct?

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to the lines for

18   1957, 1908, and 1870, is the only difference in the

19   process between those the date at which you selected

20   water rights?

21          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Objection.  Relevance.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I think it's premature,

23   but let's see where it goes.

24               Overruled for now.

25          THE WITNESS:  Well, all of the model runs were
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 1   done the same way.

 2          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  Okay.  With the exception of

 3   the date?

 4          A.   Huh?

 5          Q.   With the exception of the date?

 6          A.   Yes.  Yeah.  But they were run with the

 7   same protocol as IDWR uses.  And in fact, they had run

 8   the 1870 right as part of the model development.  And

 9   so the only difference is the date.

10          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to the 1908, why did

11   you select 1908 there?

12          A.   Well, let's see.  That --

13          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Mr. Director?

14          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yes.

15          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I apologize for interrupting.  I

16   would like to renew my objection for a couple reasons.

17   This document has not been admitted into evidence.  I

18   can't connect this to any aspect of the mitigation

19   plan.  And I'm concerned there will not be an

20   opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Brockway if this

21   continues.

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm expecting the

23   objection.  I think Mr. May is still in foundational

24   examination.  But I'm very wary, Mr. Budge.

25               Mr. May.
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 1          MR. MAY:  Sure.

 2          Q.   Why did you select the 1908 date?

 3          A.   4/1/1908 is, as I remember, a date for one

 4   of the earliest water rights from the Martin-Curren

 5   Tunnel.

 6          Q.   The irrigation rights, for instance --

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   -- that are owned by Butch Morris?

 9          A.   Yes.

10          Q.   And I understand that Mr. Morris testified

11   that one of his options, were he to not receive his

12   water, either through the Curren Tunnel or through the

13   Sandy Pipeline because he was off, would be to

14   curtail -- issue a call himself; correct?  Do you

15   understand that?

16          A.   I remember that, yes.

17          Q.   And given that understanding, is this an

18   attempt to look at what a similar order to Rangen's

19   would look like, given a 1908 call?

20          A.   That was the reason primarily for doing the

21   various scenarios.  The 1870 one we repeated just to

22   make sure we were getting the same answer as IDWR got.

23   And there's obviously no development of groundwater

24   between 19- -- 1870 and 1908.

25          Q.   And so if Mr. Morris were to make that
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 1   call, the amount that would be expected to show up in

 2   the Curren Tunnel itself would be 17.9 cfs?

 3          A.   I believe it would, yes.

 4          MR. MAY:  Okay.  Director, I would move for the

 5   admission of 2067.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  And I won't even wait for

 7   the objection.  I don't want it in the record, and I

 8   don't see a reason for it.  We don't have a call from

 9   Mr. Morris.  He said what he did.  But we're dealing

10   with a call from Rangen today and mitigation for that

11   call.

12          MR. MAY:  May I address that a little bit, your

13   Honor, because they're attempting to mitigate

14   Mr. Morris with water from the Sandy Pipeline, and to

15   mitigate other waters on -- other users on Billingsley

16   Creek?

17               And so the amount of water that would show

18   up in -- from Rangen's call is the amount that would

19   show up from Rangen's call.  There's also other water

20   that would potentially show up.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I see no relevance of this

22   document until I have a call from those other

23   individuals pending in front of me.  I won't allow this

24   document into the record.

25          MR. MAY:  Thank you, Director.

0706

 1          Q.   We've looked at some of the specific items

 2   that you were able to make some evaluation on.  You

 3   also mentioned that others were too conceptual maybe to

 4   do a full evaluation on.  However, you did see that --

 5   and you've heard testimony with regard to potentially

 6   cleaning the tunnel.

 7               Did you have any opinion on whether or not

 8   cleaning the tunnel would result in more water to --

 9   available at the Curren Tunnel?

10          A.   I do have an opinion.

11          Q.   Okay.  And what is that?

12          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Objection.  Foundation.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  Some

14   foundation would be helpful, that Mr. Brockway's been

15   in the tunnel or observed, Mr. May.

16          Q.   (BY MR. MAY):  Dr. Brockway, are you

17   familiar with the Curren Tunnel?

18          A.   Yes.

19          Q.   Okay.  Have you visited the Curren Tunnel?

20          A.   I have visited it and I've been in it.

21          Q.   Okay.  And have you visited and been in it

22   multiple times?

23          A.   Only one time did I go in it.

24          Q.   Okay.

25          A.   But I've visited the mouth of the tunnel
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 1   and the facilities there several times.

 2          Q.   And did you have a chance to observe the

 3   condition of the tunnel while you were there?

 4          A.   I did not go to the end of the tunnel.  I

 5   chickened out when the water got up to my waist.  But I

 6   did observe the -- the corrugated metal pipe and the

 7   rock tunnel for some distance, about 100 feet into

 8   there.  And at least for that hundred feet there was no

 9   debris in the tunnel.

10          Q.   And when we're talking about the tunnel, it

11   is a corrugated pipe.

12               Would you expect debris where there's a

13   corrugated pipe?

14          A.   Well, I wouldn't expect anything to fall

15   down from the roof of the tunnel.

16          Q.   Okay.  Are you familiar generally with the

17   hydrogeology of the Curren Tunnel?

18          A.   Generally, yes.

19          Q.   And based upon your familiarity with the

20   hydrogeology of the tunnel and visits that you've made

21   to the tunnel observing the tunnel, do you have an

22   opinion on whether or not cleaning the tunnel would

23   result in more water flowing from it?

24          A.   I do.

25          Q.   And what is that?
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 1          A.   Well, first let me define what I think

 2   "cleaning" means.  I don't believe "cleaning" means

 3   extending the length of the tunnel or the diameter of

 4   the tunnel.  To me, "cleaning" means about what the

 5   watermaster said, if there are rocks in the bottom that

 6   have fallen down, take them out.

 7               I would not expect any debris from the

 8   standpoint of limbs or tree limbs, leaves, or anything

 9   else in there.  I would expect very little sediment in

10   the bottom, just because the media -- that tunnel is --

11   is developed in basalt.  And with the exception of

12   sometimes interflow beds of maybe sand or something,

13   you don't get a bunch of sediment.

14               So I don't think, based on my observations,

15   that there's a lot of -- of rocks or debris in the

16   bottom of the tunnel.  And cleaning it by removing

17   those, in my opinion, would result in very little, if

18   any, increase in flow.

19          Q.   And this may sound like an obvious

20   question, but why wouldn't you expect branches and such

21   things, leaves and things in the tunnel?

22          A.   Well, I just don't know -- there aren't any

23   trees in the tunnel.  I don't know where it would come

24   from.

25          Q.   Okay.  So your understanding -- or your
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 1   expectation would be that there would be little, if

 2   any, benefit in terms of flow from cleaning the tunnel?

 3          A.   Unless there's a cave-in up there

 4   somewhere, and then perhaps there could be some

 5   impediment to flow out of the tunnel.  I don't know

 6   that there is.

 7          Q.   With regard to the procedure for -- or the

 8   proposal for a horizontal well, were you able to do

 9   any -- or do you have any opinion with regard to the

10   horizontal well that has been proposed?

11          A.   I have an opinion.

12          Q.   And what is that?

13          A.   As I understand the concept of drilling a

14   horizontal well at some elevation in the vicinity of

15   the Curren Tunnel but below the Curren Tunnel, there --

16   there is technology to drill horizontal wells.

17               My concern would be with the hydraulic and

18   hydrologic impact of that -- if a horizontal well were

19   drilled on both the Curren Tunnel, existing flows, and

20   the aquifer in the vicinity of Curren Tunnel and

21   adjacent wells and springs.  They would decrease.

22               And I believe Dr. Brendecke said if you

23   take more water out of the tunnel, it's got to come

24   from someplace.  And it will result in decreasing water

25   levels in that area above or upgradient from the Curren
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 1   Tunnel.

 2          Q.   Dr. Brendecke (sic), with regard to the

 3   over-the-rim plan -- sorry.  Now I'm doing it.

 4   Dr. Brockway -- Dr. Brockway, I'm showing you on the

 5   screen what's been admitted as Exhibit 1059, which I

 6   understand was prepared by Dr. Brendecke related to the

 7   over-the-rim proposal.

 8          A.   Yes.

 9          Q.   Have you seen this before?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   Okay.  And I'd call your attention to the

12   column here, which is the second from the last,

13   relating to the volume.  I will represent to you -- and

14   you may recall that Dr. Brendecke indicated that this

15   is the simply the volume limitation on the water right.

16          A.   Yes.

17          Q.   Okay.  And with regard to the proposal to

18   pump water from these wells, what significance does

19   that column have for you?

20          A.   Well, it doesn't -- it doesn't allow me to

21   definitively determine, first of all, what would be the

22   volume available for pumping from each of those wells.

23          Q.   And why is that?

24          A.   Well, in some cases there's no volume

25   listed on that table or they're combined with some
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 1   other water rights which would affect perhaps the

 2   volume.

 3               And the other concern I have is that my

 4   understanding is the 8,008 acre-feet of potentially

 5   available well water is the diversion allowance.  And

 6   my understanding is if you pump these wells as

 7   mitigation for some other use and you're changing the

 8   use of the water rights, that you may only be able to

 9   transfer to that new use the consumptive use under that

10   water right.

11               And if that's the case, then the 8,008 is

12   high.  And the actual available water for use for

13   mitigation may be considerably lower.

14          MR. MAY:  Thank you, Dr. Brendecke, that's all

15   I've got -- or, Dr. Brockway.  I apologize.

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Cross-examination,

17   Mr. Budge?

18               And I guess I want to put everybody on

19   notice, I need to be out of here no later than 20 to

20   the hour, which means that we only have about ten

21   minutes for cross-examination and no time for rebuttal

22   testimony from Dr. Brendecke if you intend to call him.

23               So I guess I anticipate that we'll be back

24   here at two o'clock, folks.  I just don't see us

25   getting through it.
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 1          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I think we can, if Dr. Brockway

 2   will talk a little faster, not wait so much between

 3   questions and answers, we'll get it done.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  It is always the fault of

 5   the witness, isn't it?

 6               Be careful, Mr. Budge.

 7          MR. TJ BUDGE:  If I talk too quick, slow me

 8   down.  I'll do the same.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm not sure who's been

10   responsible for us going this long.

11               Go ahead.

12          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Director, you said 20 to the

13   hour?

14          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.

15          MR. TJ BUDGE:  If I lose track of time, please

16   point it out.

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We have ten minutes.

18   

19                      CROSS-EXAMINATION

20   BY MR. TJ BUDGE:

21          Q.   Dr. Brockway, I'm holding what is one of

22   the exhibits that's been put into evidence.  I don't

23   have the number.

24               Justin, can you tell me?

25          MR. MAY:  2073.
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 1          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  It's hydrograph of

 2   flows from the Curren Tunnel.

 3               This does not include flows out of the

 4   white pipe in the bottom of the tunnel; is that

 5   correct?

 6          A.   No.  That's the IDWR data coming out.

 7          Q.   Good enough.  Okay.

 8               Justin, please pull up Exhibit 2069.

 9               This was a table of all Billingsley Creek

10   water rights.  You had highlighted flows to various

11   ditches.

12               Am I correct in understanding that this

13   table does not include combined limits for any of these

14   water rights?

15          A.   I think you're right.  These are directly

16   off the page 1 of the IDWR database.

17          Q.   Okay.  So these are what's on paper, but

18   not necessarily representative of what the watermaster

19   may need to deliver; is that correct?

20          A.   Yes.

21          Q.   Okay.  Justin, if you'd please turn to

22   Exhibit 2075.

23               Just to make sure we're clear on this, this

24   is the table that you were provided by Rangen's

25   attorneys and has some summaries of water rights from
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 1   Martin-Curren Tunnel and the Sandy Pipe or the Sandy

 2   Ponds.

 3               I want to confirm, this table does not

 4   include any Candy or Musser water rights; is that

 5   right?

 6          A.   It does not.

 7          Q.   You're not sure if the first group of water

 8   rights of 75 acres overlaps in part or in full the

 9   second group of water rights; is that right?

10          A.   I'm not sure.

11          Q.   There's no accounting in this table of

12   water that may be delivered under shares of stock at

13   North Side Canal Company; is that right?

14          A.   That's right.

15          Q.   Justin, please turn to Exhibit 2067.

16               This is the model -- the table summarizing

17   model run.  Go ahead.  Okay.  In the interest of time,

18   I'm going to skip this one.

19               Justin, please --

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I hope so.  It's not in

21   evidence.

22          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Right.

23          MR. MAY:  I'd be happy to offer it again.

24          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Let me shift gears a

25   moment and have Justin pull up Exhibit 1018.
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 1               Dr. Brendecke (sic), this is the

 2   application that the groundwater districts have

 3   submitted in this case.

 4               Have you reviewed this?

 5          A.   Yes.

 6          Q.   Do you see there's a purpose of use for

 7   mitigation?

 8          A.   I see one for mitigation for irrigation.

 9          Q.   Have you seen other water rights in your

10   experience working with water users that have

11   mitigation as a purpose of use?

12          A.   Yes.  But not mitigation for irrigation.

13          Q.   You have seen other water rights with

14   mitigation as a purpose of use?

15          A.   Yes.

16          Q.   And is it your understanding that if the

17   groundwater districts were to assign this application

18   for permit to Rangen, then Rangen could then take up

19   the rest of the permitting and perfection process?

20          A.   You can assign a permit, yes.

21          Q.   Okay.  Let me ask you a few questions about

22   the Martin-Curren Tunnel.  You testified that you'd

23   been inside the tunnel.

24               When was that?

25          A.   Probably about 1995 or earlier.
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 1          Q.   And you had been to the end of the

 2   corrugated pipe; is that right?

 3          A.   As I remember, we went about 100 feet in.

 4   That's all.

 5          Q.   Beyond the end of the corrugated pipe?

 6          A.   I don't remember.  That's a long time ago.

 7          Q.   Okay.  You testified that you would not

 8   expect that removing rock and other debris from the

 9   tunnel would have any impact on flows from the tunnel;

10   right?

11          A.   I did.

12          Q.   Would the Curren Tunnel behave

13   hydraulically similar to other tunnels in the area,

14   such as the Hoagland Tunnel or some of the others that

15   are in that vicinity?

16          A.   I don't -- I don't know if it would or not.

17   It depends on what those other tunnels are built in and

18   how they're built and stability and a whole bunch of

19   stuff.

20          Q.   And if actual experience of cleaning

21   tunnels had a record of improving flows from the

22   tunnel, I guess you would acknowledge that cleaning can

23   have some benefit on increasing flows?

24          A.   On those tunnels, sure.  That was

25   demonstrated then.
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 1          Q.   Let me ask you about extending the tunnel

 2   or drilling a horizontal well, which are kind of

 3   similar activities.

 4               Do you remember testifying about these

 5   subjects at the delivery call hearing that was held

 6   last May?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   Do you recall during that testimony

 9   reviewing the engineering report by SPF Engineering

10   that evaluated a horizontal well?

11          A.   I have looked at that report, yes.

12          Q.   Do you recall agreeing at that time that

13   drilling a horizontal well would have a -- likely have

14   a net increase on the total flow available at the

15   Rangen facility?

16          A.   It could.

17          Q.   So conceptually you'd agree that a

18   horizontal well could provide additional water to

19   Rangen?

20          A.   It could.

21          Q.   You've raised a concern here that you

22   haven't actually seen the engineering designs for a

23   horizontal well.

24               But at least on a conceptual level, you'd

25   agree that that may be a suitable form of mitigation?
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 1          A.   With some caveats, yes.

 2          Q.   Okay.  And you did explain you have some

 3   concern about a hydraulic impact on the local aquifer,

 4   in that extending the Curren Tunnel or drilling a

 5   horizontal well could have some drawdown in the water

 6   table in that vicinity; is that right?

 7          A.   Yes.

 8          Q.   And that drawdown would occur because more

 9   water is discharging out of those tunnels to Rangen?

10          A.   The water table will be decreased by a

11   horizontal well.

12          Q.   Let me ask you, in your experience as an

13   engineer dealing with water delivery systems, it's not

14   uncommon for a surface water user to improve their

15   diversion device, such as a headgate; correct?

16          A.   No.  That happens.

17          Q.   Or to improve their conveyance system, say

18   lining a ditch or piping a ditch, something of that

19   nature?

20          A.   They can do that.

21          Q.   Those types of activities can have adverse

22   impact on other water users who may have become

23   dependent on the seepage or something of that nature?

24          A.   Well, depending on the individual project,

25   yes.
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 1          Q.   And for groundwater users, isn't it common

 2   for them to deepen wells on occasion?

 3          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Relevance.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

 5          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Is it common for

 6   groundwater pumpers to deepen their wells on occasion?

 7          A.   They can do that, yes.

 8          Q.   Sometimes they even drill new wells to

 9   replace wells that aren't functioning properly?

10          A.   Yes.

11          Q.   And they're permitted to do that, if the

12   Department grants them transfer if they need to or

13   something like that.

14               And those activities can have the effect,

15   for example, a groundwater pumper drilling a new well

16   or deepening a well or enlarging a well, that can have

17   the effect of drawing down the water table in the

18   vicinity of that well; is that right?

19          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Relevance.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

21          THE WITNESS:  It can.

22          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  And those activities

23   are generally resolved based on the priority of the

24   water rights used to withdraw water from those wells or

25   other affected wells; is that your understanding?
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 1          A.   I don't think -- if you're just going to

 2   repair a well, priority doesn't mean much.

 3          Q.   But if maybe improving it, deepening it or

 4   enlarging it or something like that.

 5          A.   Well, keep in mind this is not a vertical

 6   well.  This is not a groundwater right.

 7          Q.   I understand that.  I'm asking you about

 8   vertical wells.

 9          A.   With groundwater rights?

10          Q.   Yes.

11          A.   Can you improve them?

12          Q.   Yeah.

13          A.   Yes.

14          Q.   And they can have an effect in drawing down

15   the water table in that vicinity of that well; is that

16   right?

17          A.   They could.

18          Q.   You complained earlier about not having

19   sufficient technical data to adequately review the

20   feasibility of some of the mitigation alternatives.

21   You've admitted that drilling a horizontal well or

22   extending the Curren Tunnel would likely have a net

23   increase in water flow.  I want to ask you about a

24   pump-back system.

25               Isn't designing a pump-back system I mean
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 1   fairly common type of engineering work for somebody

 2   like you?

 3          MR. MAY:  Object.  It's beyond the scope of

 4   direct.

 5          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Well, I'll rephrase the question.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.

 7          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  Do you have any

 8   objection to the pump-back proposal made by the

 9   groundwater users to recirculate water within the

10   Rangen hatchery?

11          A.   Yes.

12          MR. MAY:  Same objection.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.  I don't think

14   it's Mr. Brockway's place here to object or not.  He's

15   here as an expert.

16          MR. TJ BUDGE:  So Mr. Brockway is not offering

17   any testimony concerning the feasibility of a pump-back

18   system; is that correct?

19          MR. HAEMMERLE:  I don't think he did.

20          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Okay.  I just want to clarify

21   that he's not offering any testimony in opposition to

22   that.

23          Q.   Let me ask you about engineering work.

24               If your firm was hired to design and

25   develop an over-the-rim system for Rangen, I want to
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 1   ask you about the process you'd go through.  I presume

 2   there initially would be a period of a feasibility

 3   study.

 4          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Beyond the scope of

 5   direct.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled, at least for

 7   now.

 8          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  You would begin with an

 9   initial feasibility study?

10          A.   Usually start with a reconnaissance study.

11          Q.   You might, as part of that reconnaissance

12   study, review prior work that your firm or other

13   engineering firms have done in this regard?

14          A.   Yes.

15          Q.   And initially come up with just an

16   evaluation of the -- on a conceptual level whether it's

17   likely to work.

18               And then having that done, would you then

19   engage in some preliminary engineering work?

20          A.   If it appeared from that

21   reconnaissance-level study that there was merit to

22   proceed.

23          Q.   And as part of that preliminary work, you

24   would obtain surveys, if necessary.

25               Would that be common?
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 1          A.   That would.

 2          Q.   Identify design parameters, like the flows

 3   necessary, the pipe sizing, the pump sizing, things of

 4   that nature?

 5          A.   And the acquisition to the resource --

 6          Q.   The acquisition --

 7          A.   -- yes.

 8          Q.   That would be certainly something you'd do.

 9               Sometimes there's permits necessary that

10   you would evaluate during that process?

11          A.   Yes.

12          Q.   And then after the preliminary plans are

13   done, there would be a period of review where you

14   review those before coming up with final engineering

15   plans; is that right?

16          A.   That would be normal.

17          Q.   If you were to go through this process for

18   Rangen, I assume that would take a fair amount of

19   engineering resources of your firm?

20          A.   Yes.

21          Q.   I presume the other engineers that work at

22   your firm have other projects they're also engaged in

23   today?

24          A.   I hope so.

25          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Relevance, beyond the
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 1   scope of direct.

 2          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Overruled.

 3          Q.   (BY MR. TJ BUDGE):  How long do you think

 4   it would take to go through the process of obtaining

 5   preliminary engineering plans for an over-the-rim

 6   system similar to those conceptually proposed for Snake

 7   River Farms or that we proposed here for Rangen?

 8          A.   To get construction drawings, is that what

 9   you're saying?

10          Q.   How about preliminary engineering plans.

11   Which would be prior to the construction plans; right?

12          A.   It would -- it would take at least six

13   months.

14          Q.   And do you have just a rough, off the cuff

15   ballpark of what the cost of doing that might be?

16          A.   No.  No, I don't.

17          MR. MAY:  Objection.  Relevance, as well as

18   beyond the scope.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Sustained.

20          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No further questions.

21          THE HEARING OFFICER:  My clock says 12:40,

22   folks.  I'll see you at two o'clock.  Thanks.

23          MR. HAEMMERLE:  Are you calling Mr. Brendecke?

24          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No.  We're done.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  But we have cross-examine
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 1   or we have --

 2          MR. LEMMON:  No.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- redirect?

 4          MR. MAY:  I don't have any redirect.

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  You don't intend to call

 6   Dr. Brendecke?

 7          MR. TJ BUDGE:  No.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  So everybody's

 9   finished.

10               Mr. Lemmon, do you have questions?

11          MR. LEMMON:  No, I don't.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We have some

13   cleanup to do and I need to make it very brief.

14               So we have documents to distribute.  And I

15   propose that we mark these as exhibits in the 3000

16   series.

17               By the way, Mr. Lemmon, I did not ask you

18   whether you want to present any direct testimony today.

19          MR. LEMMON:  No.  I think in view of everything

20   we've covered and the amount of time we've got, I

21   would --

22          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm happy to come back at

23   two o'clock.

24          MR. LEMMON:  I will rest.  I won't ask everybody

25   to do that.
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 1          THE HEARING OFFICER:  You certainly have the

 2   option.  I don't want to cut your time short.

 3          MR. LEMMON:  I did have a written document that

 4   I -- you know, that I prepared to present.  I guess I

 5   could submit that, if it would be --

 6          MR. TJ BUDGE:  We haven't seen that.  We would

 7   like to review that, and then we could evaluate whether

 8   we have an objection to it.

 9          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'll see you back at two

10   o'clock, folks.  And it's not the fault of the

11   witnesses.

12               Thanks.

13               (Lunch recess.)

14               (Exhibits 3000-3002 marked.)

15          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We are recording after the

16   lunch break.

17               And we're in the home stretch here.  IGWA

18   has presented all the evidence it intends to submit.

19   Rangen has submitted all the evidence it intends to

20   submit.  And I understand there won't be any rebuttal

21   testimony.  So the direct testimony is completed from

22   IGWA and Rangen.

23               But, Mr. Lemmon, you have not had an

24   opportunity to testify or, Linda, either one of you.  I

25   want to give you the chance to testify and present any
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 1   evidence you want to today.  We've discussed the

 2   possibility of an alternative.  And maybe you could

 3   tell us, Gary, what you want to do at this point.

 4          MR. LEMMON:  Yeah, I feel like being able to be

 5   involved -- and I thank you for going along with my

 6   inexperience in participating in something like this,

 7   but that I would -- in lieu of testifying today, I

 8   think I would just like to submit my written testimony

 9   for you to consider.  And with that I think we're

10   complete with what we'd like to present.

11          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  And the parties

12   have reviewed the written testimony, as I understand,

13   Randy, and --

14          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Yes, that's correct.  We

15   reviewed the testimony that's typed up by the Lemmons,

16   and would propose to just allow that to be entered as

17   written without him being sworn or testifying, with one

18   change on -- which I spoke to Mr. Lemmon about, would

19   be on page 3, at the top.

20               The first full paragraph has a comment

21   under the title "IGWA Proposal 9."  And in the first

22   sentence is the word "would."  And we agreed to strike

23   the word "would" and substitute the word "might."

24               And I think Mr. Lemmon penned that in on

25   the copy that he has.  He could --
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 1          MR. LEMMON:  I used the word "may."  "May not."

 2          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  "May" instead of "might."

 3          MR. LEMMON:  Yeah.

 4          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Okay.  And if that would be

 5   penned in and initialed by Mr. Lemmon, that one word

 6   change, just submit it in that fashion.

 7          THE HEARING OFFICER:  So the document that I

 8   have in front of me shows the change that you discussed

 9   and that Gary Lemmon discussed.  And I -- well, no, I

10   was thinking the original with his handwriting.

11               But that's this; right?

12          MS. LEMMON:  Uh-huh.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  So I have an

14   original document with the change from "would" to

15   "may," and initialed by Gary Lemmon.

16               And, Mr. Lemmon, this is acceptable to

17   you --

18          MR. LEMMON:  That is.

19          THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- with the change or

20   amendment?

21          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  The only other qualification,

22   just to clarify, is that Mr. Lemmon's testimony is

23   presented as a lay witness.  He's not contending to be

24   an expert on any matter.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Mr. Lemmon?
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 1          MR. LEMMON:  Yeah, we had this discussion.  You

 2   know, obviously since we have fish farms, I do know a

 3   little bit about the subject.  But I don't pretend to

 4   know a great deal about recirculation systems, so...

 5          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, I guess I'll accept

 6   the explanation.  Some people can be qualified as

 7   experts because of long experience in an area.  And I

 8   know the Lemmon family has been there for a long time,

 9   so I guess I would view, at least what's stated in the

10   document from his own personal observations, as being

11   credible from the standpoint of his long experience in

12   the Hagerman Valley.

13               Mr. Budge, I suspect you're referring to

14   some technical discussion about pump-backs based on

15   what Mr. Lemmon has said.

16          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  Just -- I'm not questioning

17   Mr. Lemmon's experience as a fish farmer.  Just simply

18   he's not an engineer or a hydrologist or anyone with

19   technical training or expertise and wasn't intending to

20   submit this as an expert witness, just simply as a lay

21   witness.

22          MR. LEMMON:  I'm not intending to submit it as

23   an expert witness.

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We could attempt to

25   qualify you.
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 1          MS. BRODY:  I put my money on Mr. Lemmon on

 2   that.

 3          THE HEARING OFFICER:  And has Rangen reviewed

 4   this document?

 5          MR. MAY:  We have no objection, your Honor.

 6          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  All right.  So

 7   should we mark this as an exhibit?  I'm assuming, based

 8   on the numbering scheme, this probably should be 4000.

 9               Is that acceptable?

10          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yes.

11          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Do you want an actual

12   label, blue label, I assume?

13               (Exhibit 4000 marked and received.)

14          THE HEARING OFFICER:  And another matter we need

15   to discuss.  Garrick Baxter has distributed some CD

16   discs, some CDs, and they contain data.  And in

17   particular, as I understand the discussions off the

18   record, Exhibit 3000 -- or what's been marked as

19   Exhibit 3000 contains data related to flows in the PVC

20   pipe that diverts water from inside the Curren Tunnel

21   and then delivers the water diverted to the Rangen

22   hatch house and related facilities.

23               And the Department intends to use this data

24   in combination with Department-measured flows in Curren

25   Tunnel to determine and evaluate what the total flows
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 1   of the Curren Tunnel are.  And the Hearing Officer felt

 2   it was important to have this data in the record, along

 3   with the Department's measurement data.

 4               We also have some data that's recorded on

 5   another CD.  It's marked as Exhibit 3001.  And the

 6   second CD is a summary -- and I guess these are data

 7   tables, and I haven't looked at the information myself,

 8   but there's information contained in this CD regarding

 9   previous activities conducted by IGWA and Southwest

10   Irrigation District from the years 2005 through 2010.

11               As I understand it, Jennifer.

12               And these activities have been recognized

13   in previous delivery calls for -- and actually used or

14   included as stresses in the model.  And that would be

15   model 1.1, as I understand.  But they've been included

16   in evaluating the simulated benefits of these

17   activities, specifically conversions, CREP, and

18   groundwater recharge.

19               And my intention is that the Department

20   will use this information, then, to conduct transient

21   model runs with version 2.1 to then determine what

22   the -- for each year what the remaining benefits are,

23   simulated benefits of these activities.

24               Now, it's probably not the right time for

25   this, and I don't necessarily want to have Jennifer
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 1   back up on the stand, but is my representation okay,

 2   Jennifer, with respect to this disc?

 3          MS. SUKOW:  Yes.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  So hopefully, you

 5   can glean, at least from this, the information that I'm

 6   asking staff to digest and then work through.  And I

 7   anticipate that the model runs, then, that are

 8   generated will be sent to the parties and that I will

 9   augment the record with those model runs.

10               It creates a particular procedural problem

11   for me because the parties then will have an

12   opportunity to review it and question the contents, and

13   I'll give the parties another opportunity if they want

14   to call witnesses regarding these model runs to do so.

15               I would hope, based on the testimony of the

16   experts, that they'll find that the work done by

17   Jennifer is credible.  In fact, I'd say incredible.

18   But certainly I have confidence in what she does.  And

19   I haven't heard any questioning of the Department's

20   modeling, model runs that have been done.

21               And the last document marked as Exhibit --

22   and I think it's 3002, is an aerial image or imagery of

23   the vicinity of the Rangen facility and also of the

24   Musser, Morris, and Candy properties.  And this

25   particular aerial photograph outlines the boundaries of
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 1   those properties, as well as depicts an outline of the

 2   boundaries of the North Side Canal Company service area

 3   as contained in the records of the Department of Water

 4   Resources.  Attached to the aerial imagery is a

 5   description of the two colored boundary lines.

 6               And all of these marked exhibits the

 7   Director intends to consider as -- as part of the

 8   record and will use this information in writing the

 9   decision.

10               Now, it seemed to me that there was some

11   additional information, Randy Budge, that you wanted me

12   to somehow recognize in the record, but maybe I

13   misunderstood.

14               Were there some additional documents out

15   there, or did we address all of them?

16          MR. TJ BUDGE:  The only ones that we had were

17   the reports of Bern Hinckley and Tom Rogers that we had

18   anticipated submitting in the record.  But we

19   understand those are not being allowed.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, I thought there were

21   maybe some Department documents that you wanted to

22   ensure that I --

23          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Well, the documents that we tried

24   to obtain from the Water Resource Board that we've been

25   unsuccessful at were their records of IGWA's
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 1   participation in recharge activities.  And so far we've

 2   struck out on that.  I don't know if that's something

 3   the Department has available to it or not.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  What documents are you

 5   talking about?

 6          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Well, in preparing for the

 7   hearing, we tried to find out -- tried to get a summary

 8   of the recharge -- the Water Board recharge activities

 9   that have happened each year and the private

10   contributors to those.

11               We were unable to get that data, in part

12   because of person who was keeping it, Mr. Quinn I think

13   his name was, is no longer either working or in charge

14   of that program.  I don't know if that's something

15   Department personnel have access to or not.  But that

16   is public record.

17          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We can look for it, I

18   suppose.  I assume somebody has already.  I don't know.

19          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yeah.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  I'm willing to try

21   to find it.  If it's out there, then maybe we need to

22   have a further discussion about it.

23          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  On that point, I did have an

24   e-mail back, one response from Brian Patton that was

25   provided -- I'm not sure if it was over the weekend or
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 1   Monday -- in response to the requests we made earlier.

 2               And he provided some information and

 3   indicated that there was a recharge project through the

 4   canals of something like 217,000 acre-feet, with one of

 5   those we contributed to that he tied the money to.  And

 6   it's one of the exhibits we have here that showed

 7   something less than $50,000 being paid.  That was one

 8   project.  But he hadn't yet been able to identify the

 9   specifics of where that water was recharged.

10               And as I understood, he was still looking

11   for the other one, some contributions made on I think

12   it was Milepost 31 and perhaps one other recharge site.

13          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  We had an exhibit,

14   Justin, that was not at least verbally recognized as

15   having been admitted.

16               And is that No. 1071?

17          MR. BAXTER:  2071.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Oh, 2071.  Sorry.  And as

19   I recall, and in our discussions in going back through

20   the record, the exhibit was offered, but I never

21   responded.

22               So Exhibit 2071 is received into evidence.

23          MR. MAY:  Thank you.

24          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Now, do we need to do any

25   additional cleanup?
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 1          MR. RANDY BUDGE:  I show that as being admitted

 2   over objection.

 3          MR. TJ BUDGE:  Yeah.

 4          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah, and I --

 5          MR. MAY:  I think there was some issue in the

 6   record maybe as to whether it was, so we're just

 7   cleaning it up.

 8          THE HEARING OFFICER:  And I didn't have a very

 9   good recollection of it, and Garrick didn't either.

10   And his records didn't reflect its admission.  So we

11   just wanted to ensure that it was in the record.  Okay.

12          MR. MAY:  The only final thing that we were

13   wondering about was are you going to be wanting or

14   requiring some kind of briefing after the hearing

15   today?

16          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I didn't plan to request

17   briefs.  I suppose if the parties want to submit them,

18   that's fine.  But my intention is to issue a decision

19   in a time frame of days or weeks, not months.  There's

20   an urgency about this.

21               And my concern is that if there's a

22   briefing schedule, it pushes all of those I think very

23   urgent timetables back.

24               And so I want the parties to tell me why

25   it's important to brief.  And recognizing that on both
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 1   sides, whatever happens, it will push us farther into

 2   the summer.  There's less opportunity for relief if

 3   that's the goal, Mr. May.  And there's less opportunity

 4   for preparation and certainty on the part of IGWA.

 5               And so I guess I'm wondering why the

 6   parties would want to do that.

 7               Mr. Budge?

 8          MR. TJ BUDGE:  I think there are some legal

 9   issues out there, as far as recharge credit, that we

10   were anticipating briefing on.  And it may be helpful

11   for the Director to understand each party's view of the

12   evidence and its relevance.

13               I do feel like with the cease-and-desist

14   order having been stayed, along with the curtailment,

15   that maybe will relieve some of the pressure or provide

16   some opportunity to provide briefing.  But our

17   preference would be to submit briefing under a schedule

18   that is acceptable to the Director and hopefully to

19   Rangen as well.

20          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Okay.  Justin?

21          MR. MAY:  We didn't necessarily have a reason

22   that we really wanted to brief.  I just wanted to make

23   sure that I understood if you were expecting something,

24   how quickly I needed to get it generated.

25          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Well, I can tell the
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 1   parties that I intend to work on this order over the

 2   weekend.  And if you want to submit briefs, you can

 3   work on a brief over the weekend too.

 4               So one week simultaneous briefs.  If you

 5   want to submit one I want it in by next Wednesday,

 6   seven days.

 7               Do you have any input?

 8          MR. BAXTER:  I was just going to say that would

 9   give time to also have Jennifer run the transient model

10   runs and provide that information, so I think that

11   could be taking place in tandem.

12          THE HEARING OFFICER:  I'm not sure she told me

13   she could have it done in a week, but --

14          MS. SUKOW:  I think I told you two weeks.  And

15   part of the reason for that is we usually do run an

16   internal QA check.  So Allan will make a run, too, and

17   discuss the time conflicts.

18          THE HEARING OFFICER:  We may not have it out by

19   then.  But I guess I want to have the benefit of the

20   briefs before I issue a decision.  So -- and I may have

21   that earlier or later.  I'm not sure I can tie -- given

22   what Jennifer has said, and staff time and Allan

23   Wylie's availability or unavailability.  We'll get it

24   done as soon as we can.  But one week to brief.

25          MR. MAY:  One week simultaneous with no reply, I

0739

 1   understand?

 2          THE HEARING OFFICER:  Yeah.  Yeah.  We need to

 3   have -- I just can't extend the time frame out.  This

 4   is number one priority for me and writing a decision

 5   and giving the parties, those water users out there,

 6   some -- a decision that creates certainty.

 7               Okay.  Anything else?

 8               Thanks for the help of everyone.  The

 9   record will close.  As I said, we'll work diligently on

10   a decision.

11               (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)

12                            -oOo-

13   

14   

15   

16   

17   

18   

19   

20   

21   

22   

23   

24   

25   
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1 THE HEARING OFFICER: We're on the record. 1 simulated steady-state benefits of 9.1 cfsto the
2 MR. HAEMMERLE: During the testimony of Butch 2 Curren Tunnd"?
3 Morris, | referred to Exhibit 2032, which isthe 3 A. Yes
4 memorandum of agreement between Butch and North Snake | 4 Q. Okay. And with regard to that portion of
5 Groundwater District. 5 the order, to the simulated steady-state benefits to
6 Previously it was admitted, one of your 6 the Curren Tunnel, it would be my understanding that
7 exhibits, but I'd like to offer 2032. It'seasier to 7 Ms. Sukow has prepared what we've looked at before,
8 follow. 8 which is Exhibit 1025 outlining what the steady-state
9 MR. RANDY BUDGE: No objection. 9 benefitswould be of the items proposed in the plan.
10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon? 10 Isthat your understanding?
11 MR. LEMMON: That'sfine. 11 A. Theitemsproposed in IGWA's plan?
12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Document marked as 12 Q. Yes
13 Exhibit 2032 is received into evidence. 13 A. Weéll, these are steady-state benefits of
14 (Exhibit 2032 received.) 14 conversions-- IGWA's conversions and CREP and
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Just the single exhibit, 15 Southwest recharge. There are other aspects of the
16 Mr. Haemmerle? 16 plan, but these are steady-state calculations for these
17 MR. HAEMMERLE: That'sit. Thank you. 17 threedifferent years.
18 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thanks. 18 Q. Right. And those other aspects of the plan
19 Okay. Cross-examination, Mr. May? 19 wewill discuss.
20 MR. MAY: If | can come over here and adjust the 20 Y ou're talking about the Sandy Pipeline and
21 lights. 21 thingslike that?
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah. 22 A. Yes.
23 23 Q. That would provide actual water direct flow
24 /I 24 to the tunnel; correct?
25 /Il 25 A. Yes.
Page 538 Page 540
1 CHARLES M. BRENDECKE, 1 Q. Okay. Intermsof the steady-state
2 having been called as awitness by IGWA and previously | 2 benefits that would be modeled, it's my understanding
3 duly sworn to tell the truth relating to said cause, 3 that these are the items that IGWA is seeking credit
4 tedtified asfollows: 4 for.
5 5 Correct?
6 CROSS-EXAMINATION 6 A. IGWA isseeking credit for these items,
7 BY MR. MAY: 7 Ye€s.
8 Q. Good morning, Dr. Brendecke. 8 Q. Okay. Andinterms of theitemsthat are
9 A. Good morning, Mr. May. 9 modeled here, the CREP --
10 Q. Justin May on behaf of Rangen. 10 And if you'd blow that up maybe alittle
11 Dr. Brendecke, have you had a chance to 11 bit maybe you'd seeit.
12 review the Director's order in this matter? Have you 12 But in terms of the items that are modeled
13 seen the order that was issued in Rangen's delivery 13 here, the CREP, conversions, and the recharge that are
14 cal? 14 modeled here, it's my understanding that you are
15 A. Yes. 15 comfortable with Ms. Sukow's calculation.
16 Q. I'mgoing to show you a page of that order. 16 A. Yes. | don't a this point have any reason
17 For those who are flipping, it's the 42nd page of the 17 todispute them. | usually double-check things, but
18 actua exhibit. Anditispage 42 in the order, 18 there hasn't been an opportunity. And when I've done
19 Exhibit No. 2042. 19 that in the past, the differences have been minor.
20 Dr. Brendecke, if you'll ook here in the 20 Q. Okay. And so recognizing that with regard
21 Director's order, the second sentence of what we've got 21 tothose steady-state benefits, for the years that are
22 here, which isthe last paragraph in the order, 22 calculated here, if we go year by year, in 2011 the
23 discussing amitigation plan to be filed in this case. 23 total benefit would be 1.7; in 2012, 2.1; and for 2013
24 Do you see the beginning of that second 24 itwould be 1.7. Isthat correct?
25 sentence says "The mitigation plan must provide 25 A. Yes, that'swhat she calculated.
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1 Q. Okay. Andinterms-- so when we're 1 understanding that that's 14 shares of water going into
2 looking at the 9.1 cfs obligation at steady state, you 2 the Sandy Ponds?
3 would agree with me that those items there do not get 3 A. That'swhat | heard yesterday.
4 there by themselves; correct? 4 Q. Under the order, as we just discussed, the
5 A. That's correct. 5 order also allows an alternative where IGWA could
6 Q. Okay. And in addition to the somewhere 6 provide amitigation plan to provide adirect flow to
7 around 1.7 cfs credit for those existing items, is 7 thetunnel aswell.
8 there something else, just looking at the steady-state 8 Isthat your understanding?
9 calculation that IGWA isasking for credit for in 9 A. Yes.
10 conversions, recharge, or CREP? 10 Q. Okay. And that also was an alternative
11 A. Waél, I've outlined the possibilities of 11 9.1 cfs of water; correct?
12 some recharge benefits from Sandy Ponds and from other | 12 A. Yes.
13 activities that IGWA has either done itself or 13 Q. Okay. Intermsof direct flow -- well,
14 participated in. 14 before we move on to that, | want to talk alittle bit
15 Q. Andthose were -- 15 about the steady-state result.
16 A. But those haven't been quantified 16 It's my understanding that IGWA is claiming
17 precisely. 17 credit for steady-state benefits for the activities
18 Q. Sorry. | didn't mean to talk over you. 18 that are noted here on -- or taken into account on
19 Those are the activities that you discussed 19 Exhibit 1025.
20 yesterday with your exhibit, | believe it was 1095; 20 Correct?
21 correct? 21 A. Yes
22 A. Yes. 22 Q. Okay. Those activities are not consi stent
23 Q. Okay. Other than those activities that 23 throughout the years, are they? They vary?
24 we've got up here from Ms. Sukow and your Exhibit 1095, |24 A. They vary alittle bit from year to year.
25 arethere other activitiesin that nature that IGWA is 25 Not very much.
Page 542 Page 544
1 claiming credit for? 1 Q. Theassumption of -- if | understand it
2 A. WEell, the assignment of the water right on 2 correctly, the assumption of a steady-state run is that
3 Billingsley Creek could provide an immediate credit. 3 theinputsthat you're putting into it occurred during
4 Q. Right. And so that would be another one 4 the entire steady-state period; correct?
5 that would provide direct flow. I'mjust trying to 5 A. Ingenera asteady-state model runisone
6 talk about something that would have a modeled 6 inwhich there's complete equilibrium.
7 steady-state benefit to the tunnel. 7 Q. Okay. And so the assumptions, as|
8 Was there something else within that first 8 understand it, with regard to these numbers -- the 1.7,
9 category? 9 the2.1, and 1.7 -- isthat for each of those years the
10 A. Not that | can think of at the moment. 10 activitiesthat are calculated or put into the model
11 Q. Okay. With regard to your Exhibit 1095 -- 11 would have occurred for the entire steady-state period,;
12 | won't go back through that again in detail, but it's 12 isthat correct?
13 my understanding that with regard to the Sandy Ponds 13 A. Widl, when you say "the entire steady-state
14 North Snake Groundwater District isthe only member of |14 period," it's not aperiod. It'sjust an assumption
15 IGWA that owns any water rights into the Sandy Pond. 15 of, well, how does thislook at equilibrium.
16 Isthat correct? Isthat your 16 Q. Okay. And so--
17 understanding? 17 A. Not really aperiod of time associated with
18 A. | don't believe any of the other 18 it.
19 groundwater districts own sharesin North Side. 19 Q. Okay. And so it may not be aparticular
20 Q. Andintermsof IGWA, that would be the 20 period of time.
21 only sharesthat are owned by anyone with regard to 21 You run it until it reaches that
22 water going into the Sandy Pond? 22 equilibrium; correct?
23 A. Wadl, it'sthe only onesthat I've heard 23 A. Yes.
24 of. 24 Q. Okay. And during the time period for which
25 Q. Okay. Andit's-- would you -- it's your 25 yourun it -- whatever it is-- you're assuming that
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these activities remain the same?

A. Yes, that they don't change.

Q. Andinfact, they do change? | mean that's
not true in this case that they don't change; is that
right?

A. They change dightly from year to year.

Q. Okay. And they change enough that at least
for these years that were looked at you've got a
difference of 1.7 to 2.1 and back down to 1.7 within a
three-year period?

A. Yeah. When each of those yearsis viewed
inisolation, you do get a slightly different number
each year.

Q. And asteady-state run does not tell us
what would accrue this year, does it?

A. No. It sayswhat would accruein a state
of complete equilibrium.

Q. Allright. So at some point in the future,
whenever you reach that steady state, you would get
that amount of water? It doesn't occur this year?

A. It-- that number is not going -- well, |
guessit depends on when things start. |1 mean the
conversions have been going on for quite along time.
We may well be near steady state with those effects at
this point.
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pumpers have indicated that they need to have the right
to turn their pumps back on; right?

A. On some conversions, the soft conversions,
| understand people can use their pumpsif the surface
water supply isinadequate.

Q. And when you say "some conversions,” it's
my understanding that all of the conversions are soft,
the vast majority of them?

A. | believe the vast majority of them are
soft conversions.

Q. Okay. And by "soft," you understand that
to mean that they can turn their pumps back on if they
feel that they need to?

A. Yeah. My understanding was it was sort of
alast resort thing, from Mr. Carlquist's description.
Rangen doesn't have that option, do they?
Turn pumps on?

Right.

WEell, they don't have awell.

Right. They don't --

They certainly could have awell.

But they don't have the water coming out of
the Curren Tunnel, and they can't just decide, Hey,
wait, the water that's from this mitigation plan isn't
there so we're going to do something else.

OPO>O0>0
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Q. And have you made any attempt to figure
that out? Have you looked back to see which
conversions have lasted for a certain period of time?
Have you done any of that investigation?

A. No, I'venot. But I'm aware that the model
responds relatively quickly in this area.

Q. And | understand from your deposition that
you have made no attempt with regard to this particular
mitigation plan to make any determination of what would
show up in any given year.

Correct?

A. | have not done any modeling to predict
when effects would show up.

Q. And it would be my understanding that that
would require some kind of transient run.

Correct?

A. Weéll, you know, the problem with doing a
transient run is you have to make alot of other
assumptions about what's going to happen next year and
the year after.

Q. Right. And we just don't know that right
now; right?

A. Wedon't know all of those things.

Q. Okay. And we don't know that in part
because, as Mr. Carlquist testified earlier, that the
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The water isn't there; right?

A. There'swater in Billingsley Creek that
could be made available pretty quickly.

Q. Okay. Sowithregard to this particular
plan, do you have a contingency plan that you've
created for getting the water to Rangen? If the
pumpers decide to turn the water back on, do you have a
contingency plan for that?

A. Well, | believe that the soft conversions
that have occurred historically have probably reflected
some degree of groundwater use. And Ms. Yenter
testified that she accounts for that in figuring out
the credit. So | think these credits account for some
amount of that that has occurred historically. | don't
have any reason to think it would be any different in
the future.

Q. Andyou'rewilling to let Rangen take that
risk?

A. Weél, our -- | believe IGWA's mitigation
plan intends to fully comply with the order and provide
the 9.1 cfs, either through activities that benefit the
aguifer or by direct flow, in some combination thereof.

Q. And we'vetalked about the activities that
benefit the aquifer.

And the activities that benefit the aquifer
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1 that you're aware of do not amount to 9.1 cfs; correct? | 1 A. At thetunnel?
2 A. Waéll, these certainly don't -- 2 Q. Yes
3 Q. Weéll, we've talked -- 3 A. Yes, that'sapotential limitation. That
4 A. --theonesthat are ssimulated here. 4 doesn't sound, from the testimony I've heard, like it
5 Q. Okay. Andyou'veindicated that there 5 Occurs very often.
6 aren't any others simulated in terms of the aquifer? 6 Q. Okay. And the potentia limitations there
7 A. Notinthisanalysis of Ms. Sukow's, no. 7 would be when those water rightsin the tunnel are
8 Q. Okay. Andwhereisthe other analysis? 8 actualy in priority; correct?
9 A. There are -- there are other activities 9 A. Yes
10 that have gone on that have benefited the aquifer that | 10 Q. Andyou've heard the testimony of Mr. Erwin
11 probably have benefits to Rangen. 11 with regard to the required flows in the Curren Ditch,
12 Q. Okay. Andyou've attempted to quantify 12 potentially Billingsley Creek.
13 those, | believe, in your Exhibit 1095? 13 And to the extent that those rights are out
14 A. My Exhibit 1095 was meant to just get an 14 of priority, there would be no credit for IGWA;
15 ideaof what the possible order of magnitude of those |15 correct?
16 benefits might be. 16 A. [Ithink | heard Mr. Erwin say that there
17 Q. Andthe-- 17 arerightsto 15 cfsin the Curren Ditch that are
18 A. It'snot aprecise quantification. 18 senior to theirrigation rights at the tunnel, and have
19 Q. And the order of magnitude is significantly 19 at least the theoretical potential to call out those
20 lessthan 9.17? 20 rightsat thetunnel.
21 A. ltislessthan 9.1. 21 Q. Right. And to the extent that that call
22 Q. Let'stalk about some of the alternatives 22 existsthere, that would be another limitation on
23 that you -- that the plan proposes for to get direct 23 IGWA's credit; correct?
24 water to Rangen. 24 A. Yes. Now, it's certainly possible, |
25 Thefirst one I'd like to talk about isyou 25 think, for that call to be removed by delivering water
Page 550 Page 552
1 had some comments with regard to the Sandy Pipeline. 1 into the Curren Ditch by the pipeline.
2 A. | probably mentioned it. 2 Q. And that water isonly available -- or
3 Q. Okay. With regard to the Sandy Pipeline, 3 excuse me, the Curren Ditch rights are irrigation
4 IGWA's seeking some direct flow credit for the Sandy 4 rights; correct?
5 Pipeline. And as| understand it, the reasoning from 5 A. That's my understanding.
6 IGWA isthat Mr. Morris hasrightsin the Curren Tunnel | 6 Q. Therights, at least, that we're talking
7 for irrigation, IGWA is-- the Sandy Pipeline exists, 7 about for Mr. Morris.
8 and Mr. Morrisis taking some water from the Sandy 8 A. There may be someirrigation -- some
9 Pipeline so he's not taking that water from the Curren 9 year-round rightsin the ditch.
10 Tunnel. 10 Q. Therightsthat we're discussing with
11 That's correct? Right? That's their 11 regard to Mr. Morris areirrigation rights; correct?
12 reasoning? 12 A. Yes
13 A. Yes, it'sa--it'saproject that reduces 13 Q. And thoserights have a period of use that
14 competing diversions at the Curren Tunnel. 14 isnot year-round; correct?
15 Q. Andinterms of benefit, of direct flow 15 A. | believe there were some stock rights at
16 benefit to Rangen, there's anumber of limitations on 16 the mouth of the tunnel that are year-round, but the
17 what IGWA is seeking for credit. 17 majority of them are irrigation rights.
18 Thefirst of those would be the amount of 18 Q. And to the extent that they areirrigation,
19 water that's actually available at the tunnel; correct? 19 they are not available all year round?
20 A. Yes, the physical discharge at the tunnel. 20 A. Thoseirrigation rights would not be
21 Q. Right. Sointerms of these limits, we're 21 available year-round.
22 looking at the lesser of the physical water available 22 Q. And they would be limited to any amount of
23 at the tunnel, and also the amount of water, as | would 23 water that was actually delivered to Mr. Morris,
24 understand it, that the farmers could actually take 24 correct, in terms of alimitation on credit?
25 legally; correct? 25 A. I'mnot sure what you mean by "delivered to
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1 Mr. Morris." 1 about.
2 Q. Waell, any water that's delivered through 2 Q. Okay. When you were discussing the
3 the Sandy Pipelineto Mr. Morris, that would provide 3 horizontal well, you indicated that one of the primary
4 another upper bound on what credit they could receive; | 4 waysthat you could test it would be to just do it,
5 correct? 5 correct, just drill it and see what happens?
6 A. Wadll, the concept isthat Mr. Morriswould 6 A. Wadl, | think it would be more prudent to
7 bediverting water from the Sandy Pipeline that he 7 putin some test holes up on the rimto -- so you had a
8 would otherwise divert from the tunnel. So if he 8 better idea of what direction you wanted to go.
9 diverted less from the Sandy Pipeline, he -- perhapshe | 9 Q. Okay. And those test wells, the purpose
10 could still divert from the tunnel. 10 you said would be to decide which direction you want to
11 Q. Looking at the further proposals that 11 go?
12 you've made, there's anumber of proposalsthat you've |12 A. Right.
13 addressed that are conceptual proposals that you've 13 Q. Okay. Andwould you do anything to try and
14 provided some kind of conceptual ideafor, beginning |14 evaluate the risks to other -- other users of water
15 with the cleaning of the tunnel; is that correct? 15 around the Curren Tunnel?
16 A. Yes 16 A. That might be a condition that the Director
17 Q. Okay. And with regard to cleaning the 17 would put on that kind of ascheme.
18 tunnel, what do you mean by "clean the tunnel™? 18 Q. Now, | understand that you yourself did not
19 A. Ensuring that there aren't any obstructions 19 do any kind of investigation with regard to a
20 or collapsesin there that cause water to not appear at |20 horizontal well. And in fact, you had reviewed a
21 the mouth of the tunnel and into the farmer's box 21 report that was done by Mr. Petrich, Christian Petrich.
22 collection system, if you will. 22 Do you recall that, in SPF?
23 Q. Areyou aware of any such obstructions? 23 A. Itwasdoneby SPF. | don't know exactly
24 A. Well, I'm aware that periodically there's 24 how they divided the responsibilities for it.
25 debris build-up upstream of the corrugated pipe. | 25 Q. Do you know who Christian Petrich provided
Page 554 Page 556
1 don't know the degree to which this causesflowstobe | 1 that report for?
2 diverted away from the normal outlet at the tunnel. 2 A. | believe he provided the report for
3 | do know the tunnel is unlined above the 3 Rangen.
4 corrugated pipe. There's certainly a possibility that 4 Q. Right. And sothisisadraftof a
5 there has been over time collapse of various parts of 5 memorandum to Rangen when Rangen was seeking to try and
6 thetunnel. And the tunnel could conceivably be 6 find some opportunities to get water; correct?
7 extended. | mean the hole was put into the side of the | 7 A. That's my understanding.
8 cliff to find water, and they found it. And if they 8 Q. And Mr. Petrich was identifying one of
9 went farther, they might well find more. 9 those, and indicated that a horizontal well might be
10 Q. Andyou've done no investigation to 10 oneoption.
11 determine how much that might be? 11 And that's -- thisis what you were relying
12 A. No. 12 upon, substantial part, with regard to your testimony
13 Q. Or what the results of such an extension 13 that a horizontal well would result in additional
14 would be in terms of other water users? 14 water; correct?
15 A. No. Wetalked alittle bit about how you 15 A. Yes. Anditjust makes hydraulic sense
16 might try to estimate that yesterday. 16 also that another well or tunnel beneath the existing
17 Q. And that really goesinto your conceptual 17 onewould draw more water from the aguifer.
18 plan with regard to a horizontal well, correct, 18 Q. I'mgoing to point you to the -- I've
19 drilling a horizontal well somewhere? 19 pulled up page 6 of this exhibit, and the last page
20 A. Waell, the horizontal well would presumably 20 here.
21 be somewhere beneath the existing tunnel. 21 And you'll see here Mr. Petrich is saying,
22 Q. Okay. Andit would carry some of thesame |22 "A horizontal well could result in substantial increase
23 risks as extending the tunnel for other water users; 23 in flow to the Rangen facility"; correct?
24 correct? 24 A. Yes.
25 A. I'mnot sure what risks you're talking 25 Q. Okay. "However, thisflow will likely
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1 decrease current discharge to the Curren Tunnel, to 1 A. If you were trying to provide the full
2 other springsin the vicinity of the Curren Tunnel, and | 2 9.1 cfsthisway.
3 possibly to wells located on the rim above the Curren 3 Q. Soin order to accomplish an over-the-rim
4 Tunnel." 4 plan, the conceptual plan that you've got, you would
5 Do you agree that those would be concerns 5 need virtualy al of these wells to be connected,
6 when drilling a horizontal well below the Curren 6 correct, in order to get 9.1 cfs?
7 Tunnel? 7 A. If thiswasthe only method of providing
8 A. | think those are possibilities. If the 8 mitigation.
9 objective here isto extract more water from the 9 Q. Do you know whether these volume
10 aguifer than is presently discharging at the tunnel, 10 limitationsthat are here are simply the volume
11 that water will have to come from somewhere. 11 limitations off of the water rights, or are these the
12 Q. Right. And soit'samost certain to do 12 consumptive uses of these wells?
13 precisely what Mr. Petrich was worried about here? 13 A. These are numbers from the water rights.
14 A. | think it'scertainly apossibility. It's 14 Q. Okay. So the actual consumptive use for
15 something that, you know, we could examine withthe |15 thesewellswould likely be less than that?
16 groundwater model, for example. 16 A. It might beless, in some cases at | east.
17 Q. And you have not done that? 17 Q. Withregard to the wellsthat are listed
18 A. No. 18 herethat you are proposing, it's my understanding that
19 Q. One of the other conceptual plans or 19 you have not spoken with any of these water-right
20 proposalsthat you had waswhat I'll call an 20 holders.
21 over-the-rim proposal, to take some wells that are 21 Correct?
22 above the Rangen facility and pipe that water together |22 A. | have not personally spoken with any of
23 and run it down the tunnel; correct? Or runitdownto |23 them.
24 thetunnel; correct? 24 Q. Do you know whether the proposal --
25 A. Yes, that's the basic concept. 25 assuming that you come up with it, do you know whether
Page 558 Page 560
1 Q. Okay. And you looked at a number of wells, 1 the proposal would provide for these acresto be dried
2 | understand. And I'm going to show you Deposition 2 up so that the water can be pumped, or would you be
3 Exhibit 1059, which | understand to be alist of the 3 planning on conversions from some kind of surface
4 weéllsthat you looked at within a 2-mile radius. 4 water?
5 Correct? 5 A. 1don't know what the mix would be. It
6 A. Yeah 6 might well be a combination of those things.
7 Q. Do you recognize that? 7 Q. Haveyou had any conversations with, for
8 A. These are wellswithin 2 miles of the 8 instance, North Side to try and see if water was
9 tunnel outlet. 9 availableto be able to do conversions?
10 Q. Okay. AndI'm going to direct you to the 10 A. Only general ones.
11 column here that refers to the use volume on those 11 Q. Okay. Andwereyou herefor
12 water rights. And | understand the significance for 12 Mr. Carlquist's testimony indicating that he believes
13 you of that column isthat that's the maximum acre-feet |13 the North Sideis at capacity with regard to
14 that you indicate could be pumped from those wells. 14 conversions?
15 Correct? 15 A. | heard him say that. | don't know where
16 A. Yes. Those are the water right volumetric 16 the bottlenecks are precisely in the conversion water
17 limits-- 17 delivery.
18 Q. Okay. 18 Q. Okay. And that would seem to be abig one
19 A. -- where they existed. 19 towards getting an over-the-rim plan, wouldn't it, if
20 Q. Andit'smy understanding that that's 20 you're looking for conversions, big bottleneck?
21 significant because -- in your mind, because it shows 21 A. It would depend on whereitis. Theseare
22 8,008 acre-feet volume limitation, and that in order to |22 all served by W -- laterals off the -- or conveyances
23 get 9.1 cfsyou would need approximately 7,000. 23 offer the W Latera. | don't know if that's where the
24 A. A little under 7,000. 24 big bottlenecks are or if they're farther up in the
25 Q. A littleunder 7-? 25 system.
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1 Q. Il'dliketolook at Exhibit 1053. 1 A. If the only water running through the
2 Exhibit 1053 | understand is a plan that was submitted | 2 Rangen facility that can be pumped back is that which
3 inthe Clear Springs case. 3 can be obtained from the Curren Tunnel, it would
4 Correct? 4 probably be difficult to make up the 9 cfswith that,
5 A. Yes 5 because | think the tunnel flows now are only a
6 Q. How many -- how many wells were being 6 few cfs. Although I've heard of mixtures on the order
7 connected with regard to the Clear Springs case? 7 of 10 percent for pump-backs.
8 A. | think there were seven, seven or eight 8 MR. MAY: Thank you. That'sall I've got.
9 wells. 9 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon,
10 Q. Okay. 10 cross-examination?
11 A. Thereweretwo alternatives. Therewasone |11 MR. LEMMON: Yeah, | have afew questions |
12 that involved seven or eight wells, and one that 12 would like to ask.
13 involved, | think, two or three wells. 13
14 Q. And for those wells, do you know how many |14 CROSS-EXAMINATION
15 pages there are of documents here connected withthe |15 BY MR. LEMMON:
16 Exhibit 10537 16 Q. | believe yesterday you characterized that
17 A. | haven't counted. 17 perhaps a horizontal well was one of the best options
18 Q. Okay. Would it surpriseyou -- and I'll go 18 availableto supplying water directly to Rangen's.
19 towhat | believeto be the last page here. Would it 19 Would that be your --
20 surpriseyou if there were 46 pagesin this document? |20 A. 1don't know if I'd characterized it asthe
21 A. No, if you count all those schematics, 21 best.
22 thingslike that. 22 Q. Okay.
23 Q. Okay. Schematics of what would actually be |23 A. 1don't remember that. It's certainly one
24 done. 24 of the options.
25 Y ou have not prepared something similar in 25 Q. | think you said perhaps it was the best
Page 562 Page 564
1 thiscase, have you? 1 option. But okay.
2 A. No. Therewas quite abit moretime 2 Y ou've admitted or you've said that there
3 availableto prepare this than we've had in this case. 3 are somerisk to other springs in the area by the use
4 Q. Turning your attention to the pump-back 4 of the horizontal well or extending the tunnel.
5 system that you had -- at least had a conceptual plan 5 Could you describe how you see that --
6 for. 6 either extending the tunnel or drilling the horizontal
7 With regard to that pump-back system, what 7 well at Rangen's affecting local spring discharges.
8 water would be -- where would you get the water to pump | 8 A. Extending the tunnel or putting in alower
9 back? It's my understanding right now that Rangen has 9 horizontal well would -- if they resulted in an
10 rightsin the Curren Tunnel which are flowing 10 increase in discharge, which would be the goal, of
11 approximately 1 or 2 cfs. Where would you get the 11 course, would tend to lower water tablesin the
12 water to pump back? 12 immediate vicinity.
13 A. Waéll, the groundwater districts have an 13 That might have an effect on other nearby
14 application for awater right on Billingsley Creek. 14 springs. It might diminish somewhat the flow of other
15 That could be pumped. It could be pumped from the 15 springs. It might cause groundwater levelsto decline
16 tail -- the effluent from existing raceways at Rangen. 16 dlightly in the upstream area. It would depend on the
17 Q. Well, the existing raceways, again, that 17 amount of additional water being extracted. And these
18 would require some other water to go into Rangen's 18 arethe kinds of analyses that the groundwater model is
19 facility to be used; correct? 19 designed to look at.
20 A. Well, that'swhy | mentioned the 20 Q. Soit could affect other water right
21 Billingsley Creek water. 21 divertersin the area?
22 Q. Inother words, the pump-back system by 22 A. It'spossible.
23 itsdlf, at least as things currently stand, isreally 23 Q. Okay. Do you know of other tunnelsin the
24 not going to provide much water for Rangen, unless one 24 area?
25 of the other conceptual plans were approved? 25 A. TheHoagland Tunnel is not far from Curren
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1 Tunnel. 1 Q. (BY MR.LEMMON): Would it be your
2 Q. Okay. 2 understanding that a horizontal well would be viewed as
3 A. And | suspect there are othersthat | don't 3 agroundwater -- or a-- yeah, a groundwater right?
4 know about. 4 A. | redly can't say whether anew
5 Q. From personal experience, | can tell you 5 application for a new water right would be required for
6 thereare others. 6 that or not. That's sort of alegal question.
7 Would it be then your recommendation if 7 MR. LEMMON: Okay.
8 those -- the owners of those tunnels are also impacted 8 MS. LEMMON: |sthere acontingency in your
9 and their supply goes down, would it be your 9 mitigation plan should --
10 recommendation that they should lengthen or install 10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Let's have the questions
11 horizonta wells at their locations? 11 funneled through one person. I'm sorry, Linda.
12 A. They -- should those decreases be material, 12 MS. LEMMON: That's okay.
13 there are probably awhole suite of methods that we'd 13 Q. (BY MR.LEMMON): Okay. Given thefact
14 havetolook at to see how to keep people whole. They |14 that you've said that there's a possibility of
15 involve the things you mentioned. They may involve |15 drilling -- if you drill a horizontal well or extend
16 something else. 16 thetunnel at Rangen's, there's a possibility that it
17 Q. Sothe solution of Rangen's could lead us 17 would affect other springsin the area, what would be
18 to problems at other diversion locations? 18 the contingency plan to compensate those other
19 A. Increasing the discharge from the aquifer 19 diversions?
20 at Rangen will cause lower water tablesin the 20 A. It would be some combination, | presume, of
21 immediate vicinity. It's hard to say how far those 21 the sorts of thingsthat arein this plan. Some
22 would be extended. There were other aspects of the 22 similar combination.
23 mitigation plan that would not have any of these 23 Q. Okay. You'vetaked about -- let'sgo to
24 effects. 24 the over-the-rim proposal.
25 Q. So what would be one of those options that 25 As an engineer what are your estimations of
Page 566 Page 568
1 wouldn't have these effects? 1 therisk of failure of that system?
2 A. Well, the obvious one, the 800-pound 2 A. Do you mean like amechanical failure of
3 gorillaisthe assignment of the Billingsley Creek 3 thesystem?
4 water right to Rangen. 4 Q. A mechanical failure. A failureto deliver
5 Q. Okay. If wetakethat one off the table, 5 therequired water to Rangen's.
6 thenwhat else? 6 A. | think those can be made quite small. The
7 A. Increased recharge from Sandy Ponds, for 7 plan that was developed for Snake River Farm had
8 example. 8 emergency power, had generators that had automatic
9 Q. Okay. What water right would you foresee 9 switches on them. It had more pumps plumbed into the
10 being used to extend the tunnel or drill a horizontal 10 system that were needed to supply the required flow
11 well at Rangen's? 11 rates, and switching systems that would turn those
12 A. Weéll, in the SPF report, it was 12 pumps on if for some reason or another one went off.
13 hypothesized that the Department would view these -- 13 So | think the risks of mechanical failure were pretty
14 could view these as well deepening efforts. 14 small there.
15 Q. Okay. 15 Q. So--
16 A. | don't know if that's the case or if anew 16 A. | can't tell you anumber .002 percent or
17 application would be required. 17 something like that.
18 Q. | believe Rangen's water right has been 18 Q. Okay. What would be the proposal asfar as
19 viewed as a surface water right. So that would, in my 19 responding to failures of the system? In other words,
20 estimation, mean that they wouldn't be able to go for 20 who would respond and who would be the staff on call,
21 what would now be determined to be agroundwater right. |21 or how would those failures be detected by the
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon, you |22 groundwater districts?
23 need to ask questions. Y ou're testifying now. 23 A. Well, | presume there would have to be
24 MR. LEMMON: Okay. Excuse me. 24 sufficient monitoring and telemetry on the system, if
o5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yesh. 25 anything. The goa would be to make the response
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1 automatic, run by electronics and switching. 1 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): --just east of Rangen;
2 Q. So that adds more components that could 2 isthat correct?
3 possibly fail? 3 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Wehave an
4 A. Weéll, | guessthere's the argument that the 4 objection.
5 more components you have, the more likely it isthere's 5 MR. MAY: Yes. Objection. It'sleading.
6 going to be afailure someplace. But on the other 6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thisisredirect. He's
7 hand, these components are all designed to operate 7 trying to characterize Brendecke's testimony.
8 backup systems. 8 Brendecke can state whether it's correct or not.
9 So | mean at what point do you have backups 9 So overruled.
10 for the backups for the backups? | mean | don't know. 10 Mr. Brendecke.
11 It'skind of a-- just -- | can't -- maybe I'm not 11 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): Dr. Brendecke, did you
12 answering your question. 12 tedtify yesterday that thereis arobust groundwater
13 MR.LEMMON: Yeah. Okay. That'sall of my 13 supply in the vicinity of Rangen?
14 questions, | guess. 14 A. Yes
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thank you, Mr. Lemmon. |15 Q. Andyou testified yesterday that should the
16 And | want to clarify at this point, you're 16 Director authorize development of a horizontal well or
17 representing yourself pro se. And, Mr. Lemmon, youdid |17 an over-the-rim system you believe there was adequate
18 agood job of asking questions. 18 water in the aquifer to operate such a system?
19 | just want to make sure, Linda, that you 19 A. Yes, | believethereis.
20 know -- 20 Q. Andyou recall testifying yesterday about a
21 MS. LEMMON: | understand. 21 tablethat you had put together of groundwater rights
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: --if youwant totakethe |22 inthe vicinity of Rangen that could be used for an
23 lead in questioning and examining the witnesses, you're 23 over-the-rim system?
24 welcometo do that. | just need to know -- what | 24 A. Yes.
25 don't want is aswitching back and forth. 25 Q. Areyou aware that Rangen itself owns some
Page 570 Page 572
1 And some of that isfor the sake of the 1 land above the rim just east of its aguaculture
2 court reporter. Some of it isfor the sake of the 2 facility?
3 witness, because | think the witness -- I've been in 3 A. Only because of looking at maps prepared by
4 situations where two or three attorneys are asking me 4 others. It looks like there's some land that Rangen
5 questions all at the sametime, and it'sa 5 ownsabovetherim.
6 disconcerting situation to bein. So it's as much for 6 Q. Would you mind turning to Exhibit 1059.
7 order asanything. So thanks for your patience. 7 A. 1 haveit.
8 Okay. Mr. Budge, redirect? 8 Q. Thisisthetable of water rights within
9 MR. TIBUDGE: Yeah. Thank you, Director. | 9 2 miles of the Rangen hatchery; is that right?
10 don't think thiswill take too long. 10 A. Yes.
11 11 Q. There was some discussion earlier about --
12 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 12 or at least an inference made by Mr. May that to use
13 BY MR. TIBUDGE: 13 these water rights for an over-the-rim system you would
14 Q. Dr. Brendecke, | just want to ask afew 14 haveto actually interconnect every well that's
15 follow-up questionsto clarify afew things. 15 presently used to deliver these water rights.
16 First, | want to talk about the 16 Do you recall that suggestion?
17 availability of groundwater in the aquifer to support a 17 A. Yes
18 horizontal well or an over-the-rim system. Mr. May 18 Q. | assumeyou're familiar with what we call
19 made a statement that water was not availableto Rangen |19 in Idaho awater-right transfer, which could be used to
20 at the Curren Tunnel. And | wanted to clarify some 20 change points of diversion or places of use of water
21 testimony that you provided yesterday. 21 rights?
22 My recollection isthat it was your opinion 22 A. Yes
23 that there is an abundant groundwater supply 23 Q. Wouldn't you agree that whatever number of
24 available -- 24 these water rights were necessary to meet a mitigation
25 MR. MAY: Objection. Leading. 25 obligation over the rim awater-right transfer
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application could be filed to consolidate the points of
diversion to a handful of points of diversion similar
to what was proposed in the Snake River Farms plan?

MR. MAY: Objection. He'sjust testifying.

THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.

Go ahead.

MR. TIBUDGE: Typically, on redirect you're
allowed to lead the witness.

Q. To rephrase the question, would you agree
that a water-right transfer application can be filed,
subject to Department approval, to consolidate a number
of these water rightsin a series of wells similar as
was proposed in the Snake River Farms plan?

A. Yes, | believethat's the case.

Q. Therewas also questions to you about
whether the groundwater users would convert all of this
land to surface water.

And | understood your testimony to be that
they may or they may in part; isthat correct?

A. Yes.

Q. They could also purchase some of thisland
if that made economic sense?

A. Yes

Q. | want to point to one of the water rights
on thistablein 1059. It'swater right 36-8048 in the

© 0 ~NOoO O~ WDN P

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Page 575

MR. TIBUDGE: To point out that Rangen has also
had the opportunity to deliver water over the rim.

THE HEARING OFFICER: But it has awater right.
Sustained.

Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): Dr. Brendecke, there
was some questioning about the backups utilized in an
over-the-rim delivery system.

Do you recall those questions by
Mr. Lemmon?

A. Yes

Q. You explained that in the Snake River Farms
plan they had backup power and pumps and the like.

A. Yes.

Q. Isityour opinion that backup facilities
of that nature reasonably --

MR. MAY: Objection. It'sredirect, and all
he's doing is testifying for the witness. It's
inappropriate. It'sleading.

THE HEARING OFFICER: No. | think for the most
part, Mr. May, Mr. Budge is asking Mr. Brendecke about
his testimony, and his previous testimony, and
reiterating it. And so Mr. Brendecke can qualify his
statements.

Overruled.
Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): Wasyour testimony
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name of Rangen, Inc.

A. Yes.

Q. You'll seethat it authorized adiversion
volume of 80 acre-feet --

A. Yes.

Q. -- annualy.

You testified that if a horizontal well
were installed it may have an effect on groundwater
levelsin this area; isthat correct?

A. It might, yeah.

Q. And would you agree that the use of water
from any of these wells would have effect on
groundwater levelsin the area?

A. Itwould.

Q. Andif Rangenisusing itswater right, it
would also have an effect to lower the groundwater
level in this area?

A. Itwould.

Q. And soin that sense Rangen has -- it's
been using its water right, been contributing to its
own water decline?

MR. MAY: Objection. Objection. Leading, and
it'smisleading him. Objection.

THE HEARING OFFICER: | guess my question is,
Mr. Budge, what's the purpose for thisinquiry?
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that, in your opinion, backup devices of that nature
adequately or reasonably protect against system
failure?

A. | believethey did, yes.

Q. Could similar backup measures be included
on a pump-back system?

A. Of course.

Q. Infact, isn't it true that any water
delivery system has arisk of failure? For example, a
piping system, a ditch system, a canal system, any of
those can fail by accident?

MR. MAY: Objection. Continuing.

THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.

THE WITNESS: All water delivery systems-- or
all constructed water delivery systems have risks of
failure.

Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): And so therisk of
failure also exists with Rangen's current system of
piping coming from the Curren Tunnel to the small
raceways?

A. Yes

Q. And the pipes between their raceways?

A. Yes, they would.

Q. Soyouwould agreethat it's not realistic
to construct any water delivery system that is
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1 100 percent immune from arisk of failure? 1 that correct?
2 A. | believethat'strue. 2 A. Yes
3 Q. Thebest we can do is create a system that 3 Q. And apump-back system then would be much
4 minimizesthat risk to atolerable level? 4 more feasible with that Billingsley Creek water
5 A. Yes 5 available?
6 Q. And-- 6 A. Yes.
7 A. That'swhat backups are for. 7 MR. TIBUDGE: | have no further questions.
8 Q. And inyour opinion, there are backups and 8 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Thank you,
9 redundancies available to minimize that risk for a 9 Mr. Budge.
10 pump-back or an over-the-rim system to a reasonable 10 Recross, Mr. May?
11 level? 1 MR. MAY: No, thank you.
12 A. | believe so. 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Recross, Mr. Lemmon?
13 Q. Let meback up just briefly to the 13 MR. LEMMON: No.
14 discussion about the challenge of delivering the full 14 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Thank you,
15 9.1 cfsto Rangen in an over-the-rim system. 15 Dr. Brendecke.
16 | presume you would agree that that would 16 THE WITNESS: Thank you.
17 be an expensive option for the groundwater users? 17 THE HEARING OFFICER: Does |GWA have additional
18 A. Itwould be. 18 witnessesit wantsto call?
19 Q. Would you characterize that as their 19 MR. TIBUDGE: Yeah.
20 mitigation alternative of last resort, most likely? 20 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yes, wedo. We call Wayne
21 MR. MAY: Objection. He'sjust testifying. 21 Courtney as an adverse witness.
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. The question, |22 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Courtney, if
23 | think, can be posed in a different way, Mr. Budge. 23 you'll come forward, please. Raise your right hand.
24 MR. TIBUDGE: Yeah. 24 1l
25 Q. Would the groundwater users -- in your 25 Il
Page 578 Page 580
1 view, would it make sense for them to limit the 1 WAYNE COURTNEY,
2 capacity of an over-the-rim system to the minimum 2 having been called as awitness by IGWA and duly sworn
3 amount of water needed to meet their mitigation 3 totel thetruth relating to said cause, testified as
4 obligation? For example, if they received credit for 4 follows:
5 conversions, CREP, or other activities, wouldn't you 5
6 expect those would be taken into account, and then the 6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Thank you. And
7 over-the-rim system would be designed simply to makeup | 7 please be seated.
8 the shortfall to meet the full 9.1 obligation? 8 And you are being called as an adverse
9 A. 1 think that would be the most 9 witness, so the nature of questioning may be alittle
10 cost-effective thing to do. 10 different than what you've heard at least on direct
11 Q. Okay. Just -- and then one last question 11 examination. And as an adverse witness, it will
12 about the feasibility of a pump-back system. My 12 resemble more the nature of cross-examination. So |
13 understanding of the question asked by Mr. May and your |13 just wanted to prepare you.
14 testimony isthat if Rangen's water use was limited 14 THE WITNESS: Okay.
15 dtrictly to water discharging from the tunnel it may be 15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Very good.
16 difficult to provide the full 9.1 cfs by recirculating 16 Mr. Budge, Randy, are you examining?
17 that Curren Tunnel discharge. 17 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Thank you.
18 A. Yes, it would be driven, to some degree, by 18 One matter, we would ask that the Director
19 water quality and constraints and the like. Might 19 takejudicial notice of the January 31st, 2014
20 reguire some oxygenation equipment. 20 cease-and-desist order issued, as well asthe
21 Q. If Rangen was allowed to use Billingsley 21 March 7th, '14 consent order and agreement with Rangen.
22 Creek water, either by an assignment of the Groundwater | 22 MR. HAEMMERLE: | would object to that,
23 Disdtrict's permit or by them obtaining their own water 23 Director. That isawhole separate proceeding. |
24 right permit, that would provide a significant 24 think that's been stated repeatedly. | don't think
25 additional water supply for usein the facility; is 25 that cease-and-desist order isin any way relevant to
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1 thisproceeding. | object. 1 injury. That was decided in the prior call. If you
2 MR. RANDY BUDGE: If | could respond briefly. 2 recall, the proceedings on the cease and desist, we
3 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sure. 3 showed up willing to cease on February 24th, and you
4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: We've already admitted into | 4 graciously allowed usto continue diversion, but
5 evidence anumber of orders. Exhibit 1004 isthe 5 recognizing an order -- the diversion, according to
6 mitigation planin aprior proceeding. 1005isa 6 your order, isillegal and not authorized. But you
7 mitigation plan order granting credits for CREP 7 have stayed that for a period of time.
8 conversion recharge. 1020 is an order approving our 8 Whether or not -- or how that relates to
9 Snake River Farms over-the-rim mitigation plan. 9 the prior applicationsis completely unclear, and
10 And thereason thisis particularly 10 there'sno connection at all. Those are separate
11 relevant iswe have mitigation proposals here that 11 proceedings.
12 directly relate to mitigating all material injury to 12 That's exactly what Mr. Budge wants to do,
13 Rangen. Whether Rangen isinjured will depend largely, |13 isclaim that because of that cease-and-desist order
14 infact asfar asthe short term, on whether or not the 14 werenot injured. That's exactly what he's going to
15 cease-and-desist order remainsin effect. 1t may or 15 argueinthiscase. And thatis not theissue here.
16 may not according to the terms of the order. 16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Inresponse,
17 The order makesit clear that Rangen is 17 Mr. Budge, | will take notice of this document and the
18 illegally using water. And by reason of that illegal 18 consent order that was signed, but -- becauseit isa
19 use, it could be curtailed. We're entitled to inquire 19 Department document and everyone knows about it, but |
20 into what impact that might have on their operation, 20 question the relevancy of having this document in the
21 because that will determine precisely the level of 21 record.
22 materia injury which we have an obligation to 22 And if you intend to examine Mr. Courtney
23 mitigate. 23 at length about what's happening or any components of
24 And our pending Application for Permit is 24 this, | probably would cut off the examination in short
25 intended exactly to do that. We could replace any 25 order. Okay?
Page 582 Page 584
1 water that Rangen may lose by reason of the 1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: That isn't my intent to ask
2 cease-and-desist order relating to awater right that 2 him how that came about.
3 it does not have. 3 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay.
4 So for that reason, the proceedings are 4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: The questionswould only
5 interconnected, one leg of the body. 5 relateto our efforts to mitigate injury and how that
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Solet mejust ask a 6 cease-and-desist order might affect their operation.
7 question, Mr. Budge. Areyou arguing that because 7 MR. HAEMMERLE: It's Counsel'sintent to argue
8 Rangen isnow diverting water that, at least the 8 exactly that because of that order that he's not --
9 Director has determined it does not have a water right 9 that Rangenisnot injured. That's exactly what he's
10 for, that because of that diversion of water it is not 10 goingto do. Andwhen he doesit, I'm going to object.
11 materialy injured? Isthat your argument? 11 THE HEARING OFFICER: That'sfine. And just as
12 MR. RANDY BUDGE: What werearguingisthat we |12 aforwarning, | fail to see the relevancy of this
13 have an ability to mitigate that injury and any other 13 document to the present proceedings. | don't
14 relating to our mitigation plan water right permit. 14 understand the relevance.
15 And they've opposed our effort to assign that permit to 15 MR. RANDY BUDGE: So therecord'sclear, the
16 Rangen. And soit'sdirectly relevant to our plan and 16 Hearing Officer'sruling isthat judicial notice will
17 our mitigation, and whether we can prevent material 17 be taken of both the cease-and-desist order of
18 injury to Rangen that they complain of. 18 January 31st, 2014, aswell asthe -- | think you had
19 And we're simply asking judicial notice of 19 inyour hand the consent order and agreement that was
20 those proceedings. They've been the subject of alot 20 signed by Rangen?
21 of discussion inthe case. 21 THE HEARING OFFICER: That's correct. And | was
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: Well, Mr. Haemmerle, go |22 only referring to the consent order. So thank you,
23 ahead. I'll hear you. 23 Mr. Budge.
24 MR. HAEMMERLE: Thank you, Director. 24 Okay. You may examine.
25 This proceeding is not about material 25 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Thank you.
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1 DIRECT EXAMINATION 1 that you've read the Rangen responses, know the content
2 BY MR. RANDY BUDGE: 2 thereof and the facts stated you believe to be true;
3 Q. Morning, Mr. Courtney. 3 correct?
4 A. Good morning. 4 A. Correct
5 Q. | believeyou're the vice president for 5 Q. Haveyou had an opportunity to review those
6 Rangen. 6 discovery responses of Rangen prior to your testimony
7 Isthat correct? 7 today?
8 A. Yes | am. 8 A. Yes
9 Q. Do you also serve on the board of 9 Q. Isthereany -- | redlize we're kind of on
10 directors? 10 ashort time framein this case, and even though the
1 A. Yes, | do. 11 discovery requests were to be deemed ongoing and could
12 Q. And how long have you been in that 12 beamended, it didn't provide alot of timefor that.
13 capacity? 13 Solet mejust ask you this.
14 A. Since 1996. 14 Arethere any changes that you're aware of
15 Q. On the board since 19967 15 from the answers you gave in those interrogatories that
16 A. Yes 16 Rangen would assert differently if answered today?
17 Q. And how long have you been the vice 17 A. Can| read them real quick?
18 president? 18 Q. Yes.
19 A. Since 1996. 19 A. (Reviews)
20 Q. And do you serve under the direction and 20 There's afew items that came up during the
21 control of Christopher Rangen, who's the president? |21 depositions of the different individuals that we
22 A. Yes, | do. 22 weren't aware of at the time that we responded to this.
23 Q. And haveyou participated in all aspectsof |23 But other than that, it would stay the same.
24 thedelivery call proceeding previously, as well as 24 Q. Turnto page 3.
25 been present during the testimony the last three days |25 And if you'd pull that up, please, Justin.
Page 586 Page 588
1 inthiscase? 1 Mr. Courtney, Rangen's answers on page 3
2 A. I'mnot sure of al of the activities of 2 pertain to adiscovery request that basically asked
3 theprior -- 3 Rangen to describe precisely and in detail its
4 Q. Let merephrasethat. | apologize. 4 opposition to each mitigation proposal. And then
5 Y ou've been present in the courtroom the 5 Rangen's answers start on page 3. And | have some
6 last three daysin this mitigation hearing; correct? 6 questions| wanted to ask you regarding those, if you
7 A. Yes 7 would, please.
8 Q. And were you not present and participate in 8 A. Okay.
9 theoriginal case dealing with the Rangen curtailment | 9 Q. Soat thetop of page 3, thefirst bullet,
10 request in May of last year? 10 if you could enlarge the last two sentences of that.
11 A. Yes 11 Just the last two sentences.
12 Q. Youtestified in that proceeding? 12 The first bullet deals with items 1A, B,
13 A. Yes. 13 and C of IGWA's mitigation plan, which was a requested
14 Q. And| believe you were present during all 14 credit for CREP, conversion, and recharge.
15 of the depositions that were taken in this proceeding? |15 Do you recall that?
16 A. Yes 16 A. Yes
17 Q. Could you please turn to Exhibit 1079. 17 Q. And thefirst sentence of the response, it
18 And if you could pull that up, please, 18 says, "Rangen doesn't have sufficient information to
19 Justin, I'd appreciate it. 19 say whether it opposes the proposal set forth in 1A to
20 Do you recognize Exhibit 1079 asapleading |20 1C." And then if you turn to the last two sentences
21 filedinthis case entitled "Rangen, Inc.'sResponseto |21 where Rangen gives further explanation, you'll see the
22 |IGWA'sFirst Set of Discovery Requeststo Rangen"? |22 second-to-the-last sentence, starting three lines up
23 A. Yes 23 states, "Rangen also objects to mitigation credit for
24 Q. Andif youd turn to the last page, please. 24 IGWA related to activity -- related to efforts
25 | believethat's averification page. And it states 25 undertaken or financed by others."
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1 There's been evidence presented in this 1 Q. Wédll, this says you abject to the credit
2 casethat IGWA paysfor CREP program costs, but the | 2 for effortsrelated -- financed by others. And the
3 amount IGWA paysisarelatively small percentageof | 3 CREP program, all but 1.3 percent of the $258 million
4 those costs, not all. 4 expended, is paid by the federal government, not by
5 Do you remember that testimony in this 5 IGWA
6 case? 6 So I'm just trying to clarify, is Rangen
7 A. Yes. 7 contending IGWA should only get 1.3 percent of the
8 Q. Soisit Rangen's position since IGWA does 8 credit resulting from CREP?
9 not pay al of the costs of CREP that it should receive | 9 A. No.
10 no credit? 10 Q. Or -- areyou willing to agree that IGWA
11 A. | believethat IGWA should not receive 11 getsfull credit for CREP, as the Director has ordered
12 credit for water that is not their water. They were 12 inother cases?
13 paying for some transportation costs, but it was not 13 A. Full credit, aslong asthe CREP acres are
14 under their water. 14 within the curtailment area.
15 Q. Wédll, you may not have understood my 15 Q. Now, let'sturn to the last sentence. It
16 question. Solet mere-ask it. I'm talking 16 says, "Rangen aso objects to the mitigation credit for
17 specifically about the CREP program. 17 IGWA for temporary or honpermanent changes.”
18 Do you understand the CREP programisone |18 Y ou've been present in the courtroom during
19 that paysfarmers not to pump their wells, and they 19 testimony provided by a number of witnesses that the
20 essentially dry up their acres? 20 conversion acres are not permanent in nature, that they
21 A. Yes. 21 may change year to year.
22 Q. Sothere'sno water delivered to those 22 Do you understand that?
23 farmers. Their acresare dried up. 23 A. Yes.
24 Do you understand that part of the CREP 24 Q. And areyou aso aware that those that are
25 program? 25 involved in the conversion program have soft
Page 590 Page 592
1 A. Yes 1 conversions that they can choose to turn their pumps
2 Q. AndIGWA paid several million dollars of 2 back on? Did you hear that testimony?
3 that CREP program, according to evidence in this case, 3 A. Yes
4 but that was only 1.3 percent of the total program 4 Q. Soisit Rangen's position when it states
5 costs. So the statement says that IGWA shouldn't get a 5 you object to any temporary or nonpermanent changes,
6 credit for costs financed by others. 6 that Rangen isunwilling to agree to any credit for
7 Soisit the position of Rangen that IGWA 7 conversion acres because they are not permanent in
8 should get no credit for CREP in this case because they 8 nature as Rangen requests here?
9 only paid 1.3 percent of the costs? 9 A. If they'reto get credit for those
10 A. No, itisnot our position on that. 10 conversion acres, we would like to have an order that
11 Q. What isyour position? 11 those conversion acres cannot be placed in -- under
12 A. The CREP acresthat were IGWA membersthat |12 pumping during the time of the credit.
13 were set aside should -- aslong asit's within the 13 Q. Sounlessthey're permanent, you're going
14 areaof curtailment, not out to the east of the Great 14 to object to any credit for CREP, which you state here?
15 Rift or not within the -- it has to be within the trim 15 Areyou changing your mind on that?
16 line, they should get credit for that. 16 A. For CREP or soft conversions? I'm sorry.
17 Q. Okay. So you've changed your position 17 Q. For conversions. Y ou state here that
18 here, then, that IGWA had to finance all of the CREP 18 you're not going to agree to any credit for conversions
19 money to get credit. 19 unless there are permanent changes, and you wouldn't
20 You're basically now testifying, if | 20 agreeto any credit for recharge unlessit's permanent.
21 understand it, that as long as we're within the trim 21 So does that remain Rangen's position? Yes
22 line we should get credit for the CREP program? 22 orno?
23 A. That isn't changing that position, because 23 A. My position is that to receive the credit
24 that doesn't specifically -- that does not answer just 24 for that nonpumping credit, that the land should stay
25 to CREP. 25 dry during the period of the credit.
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1 Q. Not permanently? 1 maintaining the tunnel. It doesn't say anything about
2 A. Not permanently, but during the time of the 2 deepening the tunnel.
3 credit. 3 Q. Wadll, I'm asking you that question. Does
4 Q. | just wanted to clarify. That's different 4 IGWA opposed -- excuse me. Does Rangen oppose any
5 than your testimony here. Let'sturntoitem 2. 5 effort by IGWA to improve Rangen's point of diversion
6 Item 2 says that "Rangen opposes mitigation 6 at the Curren Tunnel which might involve deepening it,
7 credit for water delivered to Butch Morris'; is that 7 lengthening the tunnel, or widening the tunnel?
8 correct? 8 A. For those -- for deegpening, lengthening, or
9 A. Yes. 9 widening the tunnel --
10 Q. Thethird bullet point says, "Rangen 10 Q. Yes
11 opposes mitigation credit for the assignment of water 11 A. --1 would haveto check with our attorneys
12 right application 36-16976." 12 before | would be able to answer that.
13 Rangen opposes that effort; correct? 13 Q. Sodoes Rangen allow its attorneys to make
14 A. Thisone should not be a surprise to 14 itsdecisionsfor you?
15 anybody at thistime. 15 A. | consult with them.
16 Q. Ildidn'taskif itwasasurprise. | 16 Q. All right. Soyou'renot ableto say
17 wanted to clarify. 17 whether or not -- you're the spokesman for Rangen, are
18 It remains Rangen's position that you 18 you not?
19 oppose any credit by reason of the pending Application 19 A. Yes | am.
20 for Permit that IGWA has? 20 Q. Andyou've been taking positionsin
21 A. Yes. 21 opposition to every mitigation effort IGWA's proposed
22 Q. Let'sturn to the next page, if you would, 22 inthisproceeding; correct?
23 item4. 23 A. No.
24 Am | correct to assume because your counsel 24 Q. Let meask you specificaly: Will Rangen
25 moved -- excuse me, because Rangen moved to dismissthe |25 allow accessto IGWA in order to go in and investigate
Page 594 Page 596
1 fish replacement part of the plan that Rangen obviously 1 thefeasibility of deepening, widening, or lengthening
2 opposed that? Correct? 2 the Curren Tunnel?
3 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'm going to object, Director. | 3 A. For thelast 24 months | have had --
4 Thisviolatesyour pretrial order. Theresamotionin 4 Q. Let'sforget about the last four months.
5 liminein place on numbers 4 and 5. If the Director 5 A. 24 months.
6 recalls, those are not legal forms of mitigation. 6 Q. We haven't done anything in the last 24
7 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. 7 months.
8 Mr. Budge, | don't see areason -- 8 A. | know.
9 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Isit correct that 9 Q. I'masking you as of today --
10 Rangen still opposes any effort by IGWA to improve the |10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Courtney, you need to
11 diversion structure in the Curren Tunnel ? 11 answer Mr. Budge's question.
12 A. If there'sto be cleaning in the tunnel, 12 THE WITNESS: I'm sorry. Okay.
13 Rangenwill doit. 13 MR. RANDY BUDGE: I'd like he asked to be
14 Q. Soyour answer would be yes, you oppose any 14 responsive.
15 effort by IGWA to deepen the tunnel, to lower the 15 Q. I'masking, as of today, if this Director
16 tunnel, or to widen the tunnel, any kind of an 16 issuesan order allowing IGWA to proceed with the
17 improvement would be proposed by Rangen; correct? 17 conceptual design of efforts that would result in the
18 A. That | would haveto look at the details, 18 improvement of Rangen's diversion facility at the
19 and | would have to check with attorneys, our 19 Curren Tunnel by way of widening the tunnel, degpening
20 attorneys. 20 thetunnel, or lengthening the tunnel, will Rangen
21 Q. Okay. But so far you basically have 21 grant IGWA permission to have its consultants and
22 opposed -- according to item 6, you oppose any effort 22 engineers do that work?
23 not done by Rangen to clean the tunnel, to improve the 23 A. Andas| stated before, | would consult
24 tunnel, or anything of that nature; correct? 24 with my attorneys before | would give you that answer.
25 A. Waéll, No. 6 hasto do with cleaning and 25 Q. Soyou'renot willing to say "yes'?
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1 A. I'mnot willing to answer it right now. 1 respect to item 9, Rangen opposes any type of a
2 Q. Andif the Director conceptually approves 2 pump-back system; correct?
3 IGWA's proposal to improve the tunnel, would Rangen 3 A. Yes
4 grant IGWA the necessary easements to perform thework | 4 Q. Andisit truethat as of today Rangen
5 if the conceptual design were approved? 5 would not give IGWA access temporarily to do
6 A. Onceagain, that's hypothetically. But | 6 engineering or feasibility studies on your property,
7 would consult with our attorneys before | would give 7 evenif it were conditionally approved by the Director?
8 you that answer. 8 A. | would consult with my attorney before |
9 Q. Sotoday you can't give me ayes answer; 9 would give that answer.
10 correct? 10 Q. You'renot willing to give ayes answer on
11 A. That's correct. 11 that?
12 Q. Onthat issue of access, let's go down to 12 A. Correct.
13 the next point on page 6. 13 Q. If you'd turn to the next page, 10,
14 It says, "Rangen opposes the drilling of a 14 Rangen's answer to interrogatory No. 10. Andit also
15 horizontal well"; correct? 15 dealswith the access question.
16 A. Yes 16 If you could pull that answer up, Justin.
17 Q. Would Rangen grant access or permission to 17 MR. MAY: Which oneisit?
18 IGWA's consultants to investigate the feasibility of a 18 Q. (BY MR.RANDY BUDGE): Interrogatory No. 10
19 horizontal well if the Director approved it conditional 19 asks Rangenif it would agree "...to provide IGWA with
20 upon afinal design being completed? 20 accessto its property to investigate, engineer,
21 A. Onthatissue, | would also consult with 21 construct, and install improvements to deliver
22 our attorneys before | would be able to answer that. 22 mitigation water to the Rangen Aquaculture facility,
23 Q. Soit'saccurate to say your answer today 23 such asahorizontal or vertical well, improvementsto
24 isyou would not say yestoday that IGWA could have 24 Curren Tunnel, and over-the-rim delivery, recirculation
25 accessto do any feasibility studies or design on a 25 system."
Page 598 Page 600
1 horizontal well? 1 And | think you've already answered that as
2 A. That's correct. 2 of today your answer would be no, but you might
3 Q. And would your answer be the same with 3 reconsider after you talk to your lawyers?
4 respect to an over-the-rim delivery plan, that Rangen 4 A. That's correct.
5 would not grant IGWA access to do any of the 5 Q. Okay. So onyour answer to No. 10 -- and
6 feasibility study or engineering on its property to do 6 thereason | ask you thisisyour answer didn't really
7 anover-the-rim delivery? 7 respond very directly to the question, so | need to
8 A. | would check with my attorneys and would 8 bring it up here. The third sentence down on -- or
9 provide an answer afterwards. 9 excuse me, the fourth -- the third sentence, which
10 Q. But asof today, IGWA (sic) would not give 10 beginsdown on line 4, it says, "Rangen will not
11 IGWA access for an over-the-rim delivery plan 11 consider." It says, "Rangen will not consider
12 feasibility study; correct? 12 providing IGWA with access to its property for any
13 A. | don't have enough information to give 13 other purpose.”
14 that right now today, no. 14 And if you look at the previous sentence,
15 Q. Soyour answer today is no, you would not 15 you basicaly said we've had some permission for
16 grant -- IGWA would not grant permission today? 16 investigation purposes to provide access to the
17 MR. TIBUDGE: Rangen. 17 research hatchery.
18 THE WITNESS: IGWA would not grant it? 18 And | think your answer there is referring
19 Q. (BY MR.RANDY BUDGE): That Rangenwould |19 toin the prior proceeding, access was provided to the
20 not grant IGWA permission today to access its property 20 research hatchery; correct?
21 toinvestigate the feasibility of an over-the-rim 21 A. Correct.
22 delivery plan, even if the Director were to 22 Q. But then your answer goes on and says,
23 conditionally approveit? 23 "Rangen will not consider providing IGWA with access to
24 A. 1 would talk to our attorneysfirst. 24 its property for any other purpose.”
25 Q. Okay. And would the same answer apply with 25 Can you explain what you mean by that.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800- 234- 9611





Page 19 (Pages 601-604)

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. |1l 3/19/2014
Page 601 Page 603
1 A. | don't know what other purpose you have to 1 A. Yes. We may apped it, yes.
2 beon the property. And without knowing that, I'm not 2 Q. At this point the only right would bein
3 granting access carte blanche. We would consider 3 the Curren Tunnel; correct?
4 providing access, but I'm not obligated to do so. | 4 A. Asl said, we may appedl it. I'm not going
5 would consult with our attorneys before | would give 5 to argue asfar asthelegal issue asfar astheright.
6 that answer. 6 Q. No, I'm not asking that. I'm not asking
7 Q. Sothat isn't any different than the 7 youif you're going to appedl.
8 answersyou already gave me. As of today, no access 8 A. Okay.
9 for any purpose, but you might consider it later after 9 Q. I'mjust acknowledging you don't like it.
10 you tak to your lawyers? 10 A. Okay.
11 A. Correct. 11 Q. Wedon't like being curtailed either, under
12 Q. Mr. Courtney, | believe you provided 12 our rights.
13 testimony in the previous mitigation hearing, 13 A. Wedon' either.
14 curtailment hearing, in May of 2013 about Rangen'suse |14 Q. Let'sgo back to the question. If the--
15 of thewater at itsfacility at the head of Billingsley 15 Rangen were limited to the Curren Tunnel, about what
16 Creek; isthat correct? 16 portion of the water rights that you utilize at the
17 A. Yes 17 Rangen facility comes from the tunnel itself?
18 Q. And| just wanted to ask you generally, has 18 A. Right now the tunnel is flowing somewhere
19 there been any significant change from your testimony |19 between 1 and 2 cfs of water.
20 back in May until today regarding the manner in which |20 Q. Andwhat'sthe total supply at Rangen
21 Rangen useswater at the facility? 21 approximately, from all water that it's currently using
22 A. Wecontinueto raise fish. We continue to 22 today?
23 doresearch. We -- we continue to maintain the 23 A. 12.
24 facilities. 24 Q. Soif 1 or 2 are coming from the tunnel and
25 Q. No significant change today from how you 25 your total supply is 10 --
Page 602 Page 604
1 used it then? 1 MR. TJBUDGE: 12.
2 A. No significant change. 2 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): -- then somewhere --
3 Q. If Rangen were not allowed to divert water 3 or total supply is 12, then you have roughly either 11
4 from any source other than the Curren Tunnel, which 4 or12--or 10 or 11 cfsthat are coming from sources
5 would happen if the stay was lifted on the 5 other than the tunnel for which you currently have no
6 cease-and-desist order, would that have the effect of 6 water right; correct?
7 depriving Rangen of use of any and al water fromthe | 7 A. It'scoming from other water, yes.
8 talussope? 8 Q. Correct. So what would be the change on
9 A. We have an application for that water right 9 Rangen's current operations if it was only able to use
10 now. We believe that we're entitled -- excuse me, we |10 the 1 or 2 cfs coming out of the tunnel?
11 believe that we will get -- 11 A. Well, we're currently repiping from the
12 Q. I'll ask you about your application later. 12 hatch house right now to bring water from it directly
13 | think you're aware that IGWA also has an 13 into the small raceways. We've aready started our
14 application that isprior intimeinitsfiling date 14 trenching.
15 than Rangen's; correct? 15 Q. You'rereferring to the tunnel water, the 1
16 A. Yes 16 to 2 cfsfrom the tunnel?
17 Q. Sol'll cometo that later. 17 A. Yes
18 My question was, if the stay of the 18 Q. It'spiped directly to the hatch house;
19 cease-and-desist order was lifted, Rangen hasnoright, |19 correct?
20 other than the Curren Tunnel; correct? 20 A. It'sgoing to the hatch house. And we are
21 A. Asof right now, yes. 21 currently changing the delivery system from the hatch
22 Q. That'swhat Rangen signed when it signed 22 houseto bring it over to the small raceways.
23 the consent order. The consent order said Rangen had | 23 Q. Okay. And doesn't that water from the
24 no right, other than the tunnel. | can appreciate you 24 tunnel itself, onceit's piped through the hatch house,
25 may appeal that, and yOU don't ||ke |t, but - 25 go to the small raceways anyway?
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1 A. Thedifferenceisthe water that we're 1 MR. HAEMMERLE: Director, this hearing, as
2 usingin -- the water that we're using in the hatch 2 you've stated, is about the delivery of 9.1 cfs of
3 house and the greenhouse, that water, onceit gets used 3 water at steady state or the delivery of amount of
4 there, we're piping it over to the small racewaysto 4 water spread out over five years by direct flow.
5 utilize that water. 5 That'swhat you ordered them to provide in mitigation.
6 Q. Allright. So back to my question. 6 And this hearing is about how they're going
7 Y ou would have 1 to 2 cfs of water that you 7 todothat. It'snot about material injury. It's not
8 canusetotal inyour facility? 8 about how our beneficial use has changed. It's about
9 A. Yes 9 them providing water.
10 Q. And you would be deprived of the other 10 10 MR. RANDY BUDGE: That's not right. The Rule 43
11 or 11 cfsavailable. 11 specifically saysour mitigation plan must mitigate to
12 So my question is, what changes would that 12 theinjury. SoI'm simply inquiring about theinjury.
13 have upon your operation with respect to operation of 13 I'm not disputing the beneficial use of water. I'm
14 your research and/or operation of your fish production 14 trying to understand, and it is relevant to this
15 activitiesif you're deprived of that 10 to 11 15 proceeding, how their operations have changed by reason
16 second-feet that you have today? 16 of thefact that they may no longer be able to use
17 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'm going to object tothisline |17 water for which they've been diverting illegally and
18 of questioning, Director. Evidently Mr. Budge wantsto 18 havenoright for.
19 get into some sort of beneficial-use analysis -- 19 MR. HAEMMERLE: We had atwo-and-a-half week
20 MR. RANDY BUDGE: That's not correct. 20 hearing oninjury. We argued all about it.
21 MR. HAEMMERLE: -- during this hearing. Andyou |21 THE HEARING OFFICER: All right. Based on what
22 know, we had that whole analysis at the delivery call. 22 | heard, Mr. Budge, when | took notice of the
23 | don't think we should be obligated to 23 documents, | said that | didn't understand the
24 prove our beneficial use at every single hearing after 24 relevance. | ill don't understand the rel evance of
25 the delivery call where those things are decided. 25 thisline of questioning.
Page 606 Page 608
1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Certainly not trying to 1 I'll sustain the objection. And | want you
2 relitigate that. I'mtrying to get at the issue of the 2 tomoveon. Thank you.
3 materia injury to Rangen that we have a mitigation 3 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Will therebe
4 plantrying to eliminate. So we need to understand how 4 changesto your operation if you're limited to
5 that's affected its operation, and how our assignment 5 diverting water from the Curren Tunnel ?
6 of the permit, for example, could entirely eliminate 6 A. Yes
7 any adverse effects. 7 Q. Canyou describe those changes.
8 So once | know of what the adverse effect 8 MR. HAEMMERLE: Objection. Same objection. |
9 is, thenitisrelevant to our mitigation plan trying 9 alowed him to ask one question, he answered it. We're
10 to satisfy those. 10 right back where we started. And I'm going to keep
11 THE HEARING OFFICER: But, Mr. Budge, | think -- |11 objecting every time Mr. Budge doesiit.
12 wall, | don't think. The previous order addressed the 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained.
13 issueof material injury. This hearing today isnot a 13 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Wéll, Mr. Hearing Officer, I'd
14 materia injury hearing. 14 like to make an offer of proof to establish arecord on
15 MR. RANDY BUDGE: | agree. I'm not asking about |15 this. And thereason | do soisthe prior order
16 material injury. 16 establishing material injury was all based upon the use
17 MR. HAEMMERLE: Hejust said heis. 17 of water at thetime. And the use of water at the time
18 THE HEARING OFFICER: You just said you are. 18 included all of the Curren Tunnel and al of the talus
19 MR. RANDY BUDGE: | said I'm not. I'mtrying to 19 dlope.
20 ask about what changes in its operation may have 20 A significant change has happened since
21 occurred. So it relates to the mitigation plan effort 21 thattime. The Director entered aruling that they
22 that we'retrying to take care of. If Rangen -- Rangen 22 have no lawful water right to anything with the tunnel,
23 contends that they would get no benefit and oppose our 23 and all diversions otherwise areillegal. And Rangen,
24 assignment of our permit to them to immediately provide 24 through its president, signed a consent order
25 them awater supply. 25 acknowledging that.
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1 The consent order he signed says they have 1 THE HEARING OFFICER: Back on the record.
2 nowater right. Sothat isarelatively significant 2 Okay. Without further argument, I've heard
3 changeasit relatesto our mitigation plan. They've 3 enough. | have an objection | need to address. | also
4 been deprived of roughly 90 percent of their water 4 have arequest for an establishment of proof.
5 supply. 5 What's the term of art, Mr. Budge? Offer
6 So we're being ordered to mitigate to 6 of proof. It escaped mefor aminute. And after
7 injury to awater right that does not exist. We have 7 considering both, Mr. Budge, my determination is that
8 lawful water rights from pumpers that are being shut 8 what you're asking for is an exploration of an issue
9 off. They haverightsthat are being shut off. Rangen 9 that was determined previously in the hearing.
10 hasno right that it's being allowed to use, and we're 10 And the material injury with respect to the
11 trying to mitigate to a nonexistent right. 11 water rights that describe the Curren Tunnel as a
12 And when we provide a mitigation plan with 12 source of water, that material injury was determined in
13 nine different alternatives to supply, Rangen finds 13 the previous proceeding. And the obligation was
14 none of them acceptable, and has objected to every one. |14 established by the order issued by the Director
15 Sowhen werein amitigation plan hearing, it is 15 previously at the end of January.
16 certainly relevant, in my view, in our view, that we 16 And the line of questioning which you're
17 have an opportunity to inquire what has changed at 17 attempting to pursue, in my opinion, is areopening of
18 Rangen if they're not able to divert water unlawfully. 18 that material injury question and is not an appropriate
19 So I'll accept and recognize and appreciate 19 line of questioning for an offer of proof.
20 theruling, but I'd like to make arecord of it by way 20 To me, an offer of proof dealswith a
21 of an offer of proof through this witness to simply 21 specific piece of evidence that you want to bring into
22 have him describe what changes have occurred, would |22 the record, and that piece of evidence you've been
23 occur, if Rangen only can divert 1 or 2 second-feet 23 denied the opportunity. Thisisareopening of an
24 from the Curren Tunnel. 24 entire, in my opinion, legal theory that was
25 That's one more -- one or two more 25 appropriately addressed in the prior order.
Page 610 Page 612
1 questions as an offer of proof, recognizing that it's 1 So I'll sustain the objection, and I'll
2 not going to be allowed. 2 deny therequest for an offer of proof and ask you to
3 THE HEARING OFFICER: | will hear once from you, 3 move on, Randy.
4 Mr. Haemmerle. 4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Okay. Thank you.
5 And then no response, Mr. Budge. And then 5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thank you.
6 | want totakeabreak. | think thisisan issue -- 6 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Mr. Courtney, would
7 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'll be very brief. 7 you agree that activities within the trim line which
8 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. 8 reduce the amount of water pumped from the aquifer
9 MR. HAEMMERLE: It's not about how much water we | 9 would be a benefit to Rangen by increasing the
10 can use out of the tunnel currently, which is currently 10 discharges from the springs operated by Rangen at the
11 flowing 1 cfs. The Director found in the prior order 11 head of Billingsley Creek?
12 that through the modeling of ESPAM-2.1 we would receive | 12 A. Would you -- | missed the very first part
13 9.1cfs. And | think the Director considered all the 13 of that. I'm sorry.
14 things about beneficia use. 14 Q. Yeah. Would you agree that reducing
15 So it's not about how we operate at 1. 15 pumping from the aquifer within the trim line provides
16 It's about how we should get 9.1 cfs of water, and we 16 abenefit to Rangen'sfacility at Billingsley Creek?
17 could certainly useit. All the beneficial use has 17 A. Yes
18 been decided. And he wantsto now limit usto 1.1 cfs 18 Q. Would you also agree that activities which
19 because they haven't provided -- they've used our 19 recharge the aquifer within the trim line provide a
20 water, they've caused us injury, and now we're at 20 benefit to Rangen's facility?
21 1cfs. It'sabout how they're going to provide us 21 A. Yes
22 9cfs. That'swhat thisis about. 22 Q. And with respect to the conversion program,
23 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Let'stake our 23 would you admit that shutting down groundwater pumping
24 midmorning break. We'll be back in 15. 24 for those that participate in the conversion program
25 (Recess)) 25 within the trim line provide a benefit to Rangen?
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1 A. Yes 1 A. No.
2 Q. Would you also admit that when those users 2 Q. Now, turning your attention, if you would,
3 who convert, shut down their pumpers and start 3 tothe Sandy Pipeline.
4 converting to surface water, that that delivery of 4 | think you're familiar with the
5 surface water also provides a benefit in the way of 5 construction of the pipeline?
6 rechargeto the aquifer? 6 A. Somewhat.
7 A. Incidental, yes. 7 Q. Okay. Could we have you, please,
8 Q. Would you also agree that the model which 8 Mr. Courtney, turn to Exhibit 1050.
9 Rangen advocated be used to curtail groundwater pumpers | 9 And maybe you could bring that up.
10 should aso be used to determine the benefit to Rangen 10 | believeit's correct, isn't it,
11 from conversions and CREP and recharge? 11 Mr. Courtney, that Rangen made an application to obtain
12 A. Yes. 12 somefinancial assistanceto participate in the
13 Q. Isit accurate to say that Rangen has not 13 delivery of some water through the Sandy Pipeline to
14 contributed any of the costs associated with the 14 the Candy pasture? That application being
15 recharge or conversion or CREP efforts within the trim 15 Exhibit 1050.
16 line? 16 A. Yes
17 A. No. 17 Q. Do you recognize that as the application?
18 Q. It'snot accurate or, no, you didn't 18 A. Yes.
19 contribute? 19 Q. And | believe that's signed by you, is that
20 A. No, it'snot accurate. 20 correct, on page 1?
21 Q. Okay. Did Rangen fund any of the costs 21 A. Correct.
22 associated with the CREP program? 22 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Wed offer Exhibit 1050.
23 A. Not directly. But Rangen has allowed meto 23 MR. HAEMMERLE: No objection.
24 be on the board of the Lower Snake River Aquifer 24 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon?
25 Recharge District, and has paid my salary during those 25 MR. LEMMON: No objection.
Page 614 Page 616
1 meetings for that board. 1 THE HEARING OFFICER: The document marked as
2 Q. Okay. 2 Exhibit 1050 is received into evidence.
3 A. And I've aso been alowed to participate 3 MR. BAXTER: Just asaside note, Director, |
4 inthe Technical Advisory Committee for the 4 noticeit was already stipulated to by the parties.
5 establishment of CREP. 5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Must have already
6 Q. Okay. Let me rephrase my question. | 6 beenin.
7 wasn't asking about what Rangen pays you to do or what | 7 MR. MAY: Not surprised.
8 you may participate in. 8 Q. (BY MR.RANDY BUDGE): If you'd turnto
9 My gquestion was, does Rangen contribute 9 page 1 of Exhibit 1050, the application, Mr. Courtney,
10 financially to any of the costs associated with the 10 down in the middle there's a section called "Brief
11 CREP program? 11 project description.”
12 A. No. 12 Do you find that?
13 Q. Isittruethat Rangen has not paid any 13 A. Yes
14 costs associated with the conversion of 14 Q. Andit states there the brief project
15 groundwater-irrigated land to surface-water irrigated 15 description is, quote, "To enable all irrigation water
16 water or the delivery of water to those lands within 16 from rights 36-134A and 36-135B to be drawn from the
17 thetrimline? 17 Sandy Pipeline instead of the occasional diversions
18 A. True 18 from the Curren Tunnel."
19 Q. Isit also truethat Rangen has not made 19 A. Yes
20 any contributions to the managed recharge programs 20 Q. So at thetime would it be accurate to say
21 implemented by the State of 1daho? 21 that thiswas an effort by Rangen that would enable
22 A. Other than for our staff's contributions 22 water from the Curren Tunnel that might otherwise be
23 when working on those projects. 23 diverted to these rights to be available to Rangen?
24 Q. Okay. My question wasn't labor. 24 A. Yes
25 Was any financial contributions? 25 Q. And isthat use of the Sandy Pipelineto --
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1 an effort by Rangen to augment its flows ahead of 1 groundwater userswere going to start conveying
2 Billingsley Creek? 2 wastewater from the Sandy Pipe -- through the Sandy
3 A. Yes 3 Pipeline, wastewater from North Side Canal Company?
4 Q. Andwasthat pipe that was proposed to be 4 A. It doesn't say wastewater for the
5 constructed pursuant to this grant application, did 5 groundwater. It saysfor North Side Canal Company to
6 that ever get instituted? 6 convey. So |l don't know what the differenceis as far
7 A. No, it didnot. 7 aswho ownsthe water.
8 Q. Wasthe application not granted? 8 Q. Let merephrase the question.
9 A. No, the application was granted. 9 Did Rangen know, since it signed the
10 Q. Itwasgranted? 10 agreement in 2004, that wastewater was going to be
11 A. Yes 11 conveyed down the Sandy Pipeline by the groundwater
12 Q. But never got constructed? 12 users?
13 A. Correct. 13 A. Yes.
14 Q. Did Rangen ever seek to obtain a water 14 Q. Andisit true that from the time 2004 on
15 right to use wastewater from the North Side Canal 15 Rangen was aware that the groundwater users were
16 Company system, to your knowledge? 16 putting wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline to supply
17 A. Not to my knowledge, no. 17 irrigation water to the Morris, the Candy, and the
18 Q. Could weturn, please, to Exhibit 1014. 18 Musser rights operated by Mr. Morris, according to his
19 Do you recognize this as the 2004 Eastern 19 testimony?
20 Snake Plain Aquifer Mitigation, Recovery and 20 A. No. | didn't know the groundwater users
21 Restoration Agreement? 21 were doing that.
22 A. Yes 22 Q. Okay. You're not aware that there's been
23 Q. AndI believe from the signature page, in 23 water delivered to Mr. Morris from 2004 on?
24 addition to the governor and the senate and the house 24 A. | was aware of that.
25 and other spring users, it was signed by Rangen through | 25 Q. Okay.
Page 618 Page 620
1 itsattorney, Mr. May? 1 A. | didn't know who owns the water.
2 A. Yes 2 Q. Okay. You're aware that the wastewater
3 Q. If you'dturnto page 5 of that agreement, 3 from the canal system, North Side Canal, has been
4 you will noteit contains alisting of various 4 coming down the Sandy Pipeline to supply irrigation
5 groundwater commitments. And if you'd turn down to 5 rightsever since 2004; right?
6 paragraph 4(e)(2) and (3). 6 A. Yes
7 Do you have that available? 7 Q. Andisit truethat from that period 2004
8 A. Yes 8 until 2014 in this proceeding Rangen never objected to
9 Q. 4(e)(2) and (3) indicate that among the 9 that delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on
10 groundwater user commitments would be to use best 10 thebasisthat it did not have awater right?
11 effortsto convey North Side Canal Company operational | 11 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'm going to object to the
12 gpillsto the Sandy project into the Sandy Pipeline. 12 relevance of the question. | don't know what relevance
13 Though it would be accurate to say that 13 it has, whether someone has knowledge of whether
14 Rangen had actual knowledge since 2004 that the North 14 there's awater right associated or not. | think Idaho
15 Side Canal Company wastewater was going to beused by |15 water law is clear, you need awater right to use
16 the groundwater users to supply water viathe Sandy 16 water.
17 Pipeline? 17 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
18 A. It says, "use the best efforts to convey 18 Mr. Courtney, please answer the question,
19 the operationa spills." Other than that, | don't know 19 if you remember it.
20 past thisif it was done or not because thiswas for a 20 THE WITNESS: Can you read it back for me?
21 one-year term. 21 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Do youwant meto
22 Q. Okay. Let me rephrase the question. 22 rephraseit?
23 So by reason of this agreement signed by 23 A. Orjust repeat it back.
24 Rangen and thislanguage | pointed you out to, wouldn't 24 Q. Okay. I think my question was simply,
25 it be accurate to say that Rangen knew in 2004 that the 25 during the period 2004 until Rangen objected in this
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1 case, at notimein that period did Rangen object to 1 for that purpose?

2 the delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on 2 A. Yes.

3 thebasisthat there wasn't awater right to use the 3 Q. And I believe that -- without going into

4 wastewater? 4 thedetails of that exhibit, | believe the SPF report

5 A. | wasn't aware that there wasn't one. So 5 indicated that it would be a feasible means of

6 no, | did not object. 6 improving the water supply worth further investigating.

7 Q. Sothisproceeding in 2014 isthefirst 7 Do you recall that?

8 time Rangen has objected to the lack of awater right 8 A. | believeit said it was apossible.

9 to usewastewater? 9 Q. And Rangen chose not to pursue any of those
10 A. It'sthefirst that I've known about it, 10 improvements; correct?
11 yes. 11 A. Waéll, there were too many risksinvolved
12 Q. I'mturning your attention to the 12 from our standpoint.
13 groundwater users proposal to assign water right 13 Q. Okay. | didn't ask you why.
14 permit 36-16976 to Rangen. 14 | think my question was, isn't it true that
15 And | believe you're aware that that 15 Rangen chose not to pursue any further investigation or
16 proposed assignment would enable Rangento divert and |16 the construction of any of these improvementsto its
17 use water from the talus slope for which it has no 17 diversion mechanism?
18 right? 18 A. Yes.
19 A. Propose, yes. 19 Q. IGWA aso had proposed inits plan anew
20 Q. Andwould you agree that if Rangen had no 20 horizontal well, avertical well, and an over-the-rim
21 right to use the water from the talus slope, the 21 system.
22 assignment by the Groundwater Districts of their right 22 Do you recall those proposals?
23 could be ameans of allowing Rangen to resume that use? |23 A. Yes.
24 A. If that was the only option available, yes. 24 Q. And those were al things that Rangen
25 Q. If the Director ordered that, you'd 25 objected to.

Page 622 Page 624

1 recognize that would be the effect of it? 1 Would you admit, Mr. Courtney, that the

2 A. If that wasthe only offer available, yes. 2 Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer isthe source of water

3 Q. Andisit truethat the only party that has 3 flowing in the Curren Tunnel and the talus slope used

4 objected to the Application for Permit of the 4 by Rangen?

5 groundwater usersis Rangen itself? 5 A. Yes.

6 A. Not to my knowledge, no. 6 Q. Anddo you have -- isit true that Rangen

7 Q. Who else has objected? 7 has no reason to dispute that the Eastern Snake Plain

8 A. | bdlievethat the watermaster did not 8 Aquifer would also be the same source of water that

9 support it. 9 would be used by the over-the-rim plan proposed by
10 Q. Thewatermaster didn't file an objection. 10 IGWA?
11 But do you know of any party that did file 11 A. No reason to disputeiit, no.
12 an objection, other than Rangen? 12 Q. You'd have no reason to dispute it would be
13 A. Yeah, I'mnot aware. I'm sorry. 13 the same source of water for any vertical or horizontal
14 Q. Okay. IGWA'smitigation plan 6 proposed |14 well to supply an alternate supply of water to Rangen?
15 improvements to the Curren Tunnel. And | believe |15 A. Correct.
16 Yyou've been present during some of the testimony on |16 Q. Isittruethat Rangen has no reason to
17 that issue. 17 believe that the water temperature varies from any of
18 Has Rangen ever investigated the 18 these potential means of accessing the aquifer, whether
19 feasibility of improving its diversion in the Curren 19 it be by the over-the-rim plan, the vertical well, or
20 Tunnel by either deepening the structures there, the |20 horizontal well?
21 pipes, or lengthening them or widening thetunnel? |21 A. | don't know.
22 A. Yes 22 Q. Isit true that Rangen has no evidence to
23 Q. And wasthat the SPF investigation? 23 believe that the water quality would be different from
24 A. Yes. 24 any of these other proposed aternatives made by IGWA
25 Q. And SPF were the engineersthat were hired |25 than from the water quality you presently utilize
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1 coming from the tunnel and the talus slope? 1 time
2 A. 1 don't know. 2 Q. And that's one of them that you
3 Q. You don't have any evidence to suggest 3 gpecifically requested a grant for; correct?
4 there'sawater quality or temperature problem with any 4 A. Correct.
5 of these proposals? 5 Q. And Exhibit 1061 would be the application
6 A. | don't have, no. 6 that was submitted to investigate the facility of a
7 Q. | asked you some questions about the SPF 7 horizontal well; correct?
8 memorandum, Exhibit 1060. Would you turn to that, 8 A. Yes.
9 please. If you'dturnto page7, please, if you would, 9 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Wed offer Exhibit 1061, the
10 of Exhibit 1060. And that contains a paragraph 10 application.
11 concerning the recommendations for a grant application. 11 MR. HAEMMERLE: No objection.
12 And it states there -- thisis Rangen's 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon?
13 engineer states, quote, "Based on our initial review of 13 MR. LEMMON: No objection.
14 these alternatives, it's our opinion that a horizontal 14 MR. HAEMMERLE: | think it'sin aready anyway.
15 well near the Curren Tunnel has the greatest potential 15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Itis?
16 for providing substantially enhanced flows to the 16 MR. BAXTER: My records show that it was
17 Rangen facility.” 17 admitted yesterday afternoon.
18 Isit true, Mr. Courtney, that Rangen 18 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Document marked as
19 apparently wanted to proceed forward with that 19 Exhibit 1061 has already been received into evidence.
20 recommendation at the time? 20 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Would you agree,
21 A. Let me see which one this one pertainsto. 21 Mr. Courtney, that if IGWA agreed to pay the cost of
22 MR. RANDY BUDGE: | apologizeif | got ahead of 22 thefeasibility study on a horizontal well that Rangen
23 you on that, Justin. 23 would not be out anything, whether it proved to be
24 MR. MAY: Which one are you on? 24 feasible or not?
25 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Maybe you could pull uppage7 |25 A. For just the feasibility of it, yes, |
Page 626 Page 628
1 and highlight the second sentence under the -- 1 would agreeto that.
2 MR. MAY: Isthis 1060, page 7? 2 Q. Would you also agree that to the extent a
3 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Under the middle section | 3 horizontal well proved to be feasible and was actually
4 "Recommendations for grant applications,” highlight 4 constructed by IGWA at its expense and improved the
5 thosefirst four or five lines of -- 5 water supply at Rangen, that that would be an effective
6 MR. MAY: Right here? 6 mitigation alternative for which IGWA should receive
7 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yeah, right there. 7 credit?
8 MR. MAY: Just like that? 8 A. | would have afew concerns as to the
9 MR. RANDY BUDGE: That'sgood. Thanks. 9 potentia risk asfar asliability if it causes damage.
10 THE WITNESS: Thisis on the horizontal well? 10 Q. | wasn't asking about risk or liability.
11 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): I thinkit's--it's |11 I'mjust saying if the Director
12 on page 7 that's highlighted here, the second sentence. |12 conditionally approved it, subject to final
13 It might be easier to get to. It says, "Based on our 13 engineering, if the engineering occurred, if it was
14 initia review" -- thisis Rangen's engineer, SPF. 14 constructed, if it resulted in more water coming out of
15 "Based on our initia review of these alternatives, it 15 the Curren Tunnel, would you agree that provides a
16 isour opinion that a horizontal well near the Curren 16 benefit to Rangen for which the groundwater users
17 Tunnel hasthe greatest potential for providing 17 should receive a credit against their mitigation
18 substantially enhanced flows to the Rangen facility." 18 obligation?
19 A. That'swhat it says, correct. 19 A. Depending upon it meeting other criteria.
20 Q. Somy question was, based on this 20 Q. That was part of my question. Assuming it
21 recommendation, at the time Rangen accepted the 21 met al of the conditions of the Director and was
22 recommendation and started to move forward to 22 approved by the Director, engineered and constructed in
23 investigate the feasibility of a horizontal well; 23 accordance with those conditions and improved the water
24 correct? 24 supply, would you agree that that would be a benefit to
25 A. Wewerelooking at alot of options at that 25 Rangen to have more water coming out of the Curren
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1 Tunnel? 1 there should be credit for conversions within the trim
2 A. Aslong aswe werenot at risk for any 2 line?
3 damagesto other users, yes. 3 A. Yes.
4 Q. Andif IGWA wereto indemnify and hold 4 Q. And you now agree that there should be
5 harmless Rangen from any risks or damage by way of an | 5 credit for recharge within the trim line?
6 insurance policy or otherwise, would you agree that 6 A. If thewater isfrom IGWA, yes.
7 would mitigate these risks you're worried about? 7 Q. Isit true my understanding's correct that
8 A. Possibly, yes. 8 you opposed any assignment of IGWA's water right permit
9 Q. | believe you were present during some 9 36-16976? Correct?
10 testimony by Dr. Brendecke that a pump-back from 10 A. Correct.
11 Billingsley Creek could rather easily be constructed to 11 Q. And Rangen opposes any credit for the Sandy
12 provide additional water supply to Rangen. 12 Pipeline deliveries of irrigation water in exchange for
13 Has Rangen ever investigated the use of a 13 the prior irrigation rights being diverted from the
14 pump-back at this hatchery or any other facilities? 14 Curren Tunnel?
15 A. Yes. 15 A. No, we don't oppose any rights that are
16 Q. And explain that to me. Where? At this 16 within the criteriabeing in priority that are actually
17 facility? 17 beneficial water to Rangen.
18 A. Atthisfacility. 18 Q. lsn'tit true, according to your objection,
19 Q. And was that work done by Dr. Brendecke? 19 you stated that you oppose any credit for water
20 A. No. 20 delivered to Butch Morris. Are you changing your
21 Q. Or excuse me. By Dr. Brockway? 21 testimony on that?
22 A. No. 22 A. Aslong asit -- excuse me. Whereismy --
23 Q. Who wasthat work done by? 23 what exhibit are you looking at? I'm sorry.
24 A. ldontrecal. 24 Q. Okay. Well, | asked you earlier about your
25 Q. Let mesum thisup and seeif -- on that 25 answersto interrogatories. And item 2 | asked you
Page 630 Page 632
1 report that you -- or excuse me, on that investigation 1 about the delivery of water through the Sandy Pipeline
2 that you had somebody €lse do on a pump-back, do you 2 toButch Morrisor othersfor irrigation purposes. And
3 know who did that? 3 it saysthere, "Rangen opposes mitigation credit for
4 A. | don't remember, because | believe that 4 water delivered to Butch Morris or others as
5 happened in the early 1990s. And at that time | was 5 replacement for water at the Martin-Curren Tunnel.”
6 controller for the company, not the vice president. 6 So is my understanding correct Rangen is
7 Q. Let metry to sum up what | understand IGWA 7 opposing any mitigation credit to IGWA for deliveries
8 wants-- or excuse me, what | understand Rangen opposes | 8 to the Sandy Pipeline of irrigation water to Morris and
9 inthis proceeding. 9 others?
10 If my understanding is correct, obvioudy 10 A. If those water rights arein priority, and
11 IGWA -- or excuse me, Rangen obtained dismissalsof the |11 that would include the other water rights for domestic
12 proposals for reimbursement of lost profits or 12 useand it'snot in excess of the amount of the tunnel
13 replacement fish, and doesn't want that. 13 and -- | mean there's alot of criteriafor those water
14 Rangen does not want any credits for CREP 14 rightsto be allowed for credits.
15 or conversions or recharge unless they are fully funded 15 Q. Wéll, without getting into a water right
16 by the groundwater users and permanent; correct? 16 issue, are you qualifying your answer? Up until now
17 A. No, that's not correct. 17 we've understood you opposed any credit from Sandy
18 Q. Okay. You're now willing to accept credits 18 Pipeline. Areyou now testifying, Mr. Courtney, that
19 from those activities, even if they're not permanent or 19 under certain circumstances if those water rights are
20 fully funded? 20 inthe Curren Tunnel that are prior to Rangen in
21 A. You said -- you included the CREP in there. 21 priority and we replace them with water through the
22 | know that CREP is not fully funded. 22 Sandy Pipeline, that's agreeable to have a credit?
23 Q. So CREP'sokay? 23 A. If they meet the criteria, yes.
24 A. Yes. 24 Q. Rangen'scriteria. Rangen's criteria, or
25 Q. But what about conversions? Y ou agree that 25 the Department's criteria?
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1 A. The Department's criteria 1 A. | think what | stated was accurate on our

2 Q. You were here during testimony from the 2 answer, isthat reasonable access for investigation

3 watermaster Frank Erwin, were you not? 3 would be considered.

4 A. Yes 4 Q. Would it be accurate to say that the only

5 Q. Anddid you hear histestimony that senior 5 thing that Rangen will agree to without condition or

6 water rights on Billingsley Creek and the Curren Ditch | 6 equivocation would be curtailment of the groundwater

7 to date have never been used to call out any of the 7 pumpersthat are junior in the 150,000-acre curtailment

8 irrigation rightsin the Curren Tunnel? 8 area?

9 A. Yes 9 A. No, that is not accurate.
10 Q. And so up to date, that exchange through 10 Q. Okay.
11 the Sandy Pipeline has always provided water that 11 A. Under 1A through 1C, we had agreed to the
12 benefited Rangen; correct? 12 calculation by the Department for the 1.7 cfs at steady
13 A. Notintotal, no. 13 state for those items that fall within the criteria
14 Q. Soyou disagree with the testimony of the 14 and --
15 watermaster that the rights have never been curtailed, |15 Q. Soisit true, Mr. Rangen, or Mr. --
16 irrigation rightsin the Curren Tunnel have never been |16 Rangen's primary position isthat they desire to have
17 curtailed? 17 groundwater pumpers curtailed within the trim line?
18 A. No. I'mdisagreeing -- in your 18 A. No. Wedesireto have the groundwaters
19 application -- or in your proposal was for 6.05 19 comply with the order and provide us 9.1 cfs of water
20 credits, 6.05 cfs of credits. | disagree with the 20 through steady state or 9.1 cfs of direct delivery.
21 6.05. 21 Q. But with the exception of the CREP,
22 Q. Rangen -- is my understanding correct that 22 conversion, recharge, Rangen opposes any effort to have
23 Rangen opposes any type of a pump-back facility as 23 water delivered other than curtailment; correct?
24 proposed by IGWA? 24 A. | didn't say | opposed every effort. |
25 A. I'magainst a conceptual one where | 25 want results. | don't want proposals that don't

Page 634 Page 636

1 haven't been given enough information to make a 1 provideresults. | want results.

2 determination on it. 2 Q. Can you understand from the perspective of

3 Q. Andismy understanding correct that IGWA 3 our clients, the groundwater pumpers, that they feel

4 also opposes -- or Rangen also opposes any effortsby | 4 it'salittle bit disingenuous on behalf of Rangen to

5 IGWA to improve Rangen'sdiversion facilitiesin the 5 onone hand say "We are short of water. Y ou need to

6 Curren Tunnel by widening the tunnel, deepening the 6 provide uswater," and yet come into this proceeding

7 tunnel, or lengthening the tunnel ? 7 and oppose, in some fashion or another, almost every

8 A. Based upon the proposal that isincomplete, 8 effort IGWA has proposed to get water to Rangen?

9 | don't have enough information to make that 9 MR. HAEMMERLE: Object to that as being asked
10 determination. 10 and answered. | think he's gone over every single
11 Q. Isit true that Rangen al so opposes any 11 proposal and stated why specifically he opposes those
12 horizontal well? 12 things.
13 A. Based upon the level of information that's 13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
14 provided in the mitigation plan, there's not enough 14 THE WITNESS: Rangen is currently materially
15 information for me to make a determination. 15 injured by junior groundwater pumping today. We are
16 Q. Ismy understanding correct that IGWA 16 curtailed today.
17 OpPOSeS -- excuse me, that Rangen opposes any 17 Q. (BY MR.RANDY BUDGE): Excuseme. Excuse
18 over-the-rim delivery plan or any vertical well? 18 me. | apologize for interrupting, but you can answer
19 A. For the same reason, because of the lack of 19 questions from your attorney if you want.
20 information in the submitted plan, there's not enough 20 But the question | had is whether you can
21 information for me to make a determination at this 21 understand why our groundwater pumpers, who do have
22 time. 22 rightsthat are subject to being curtailed, feel that
23 Q. And you're not sure whether you would give |23 it is disingenuous for Rangen on one hand to say "We're
24 IGWA access for any engineering purposes unlessyou |24 short of water. Curtail groundwater pumpers,” but when
25 first get the okay from your lawyers; correct? 25

the pumpers come forward and make multiple alternatives
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1 to Rangen to supply it water, that none are acceptable 1 of the question. | object on my prior ground of
2 to Rangen, except for on certain conditions -- 2 relevance. But | don't want to impede the proceeding,
3 A. No, the mitigation -- 3 Director, s0...
4 Q. -- excepting the CREP diversion? | think 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. Mr. Courtney
5 that'sa"yes' or "no" answer. Can you understand why 5 can venture an answer.
6 our pumpers feel it's disingenuous? 6 THE WITNESS: Would you restate it, please.
7 A. No. 7 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): | mean you've been
8 Q. Youdon't understand that? 8 involved in construction works for Rangen, have you
9 A. No. Theplanisnot specific enough to 9 not?
10 alow me to make a determination. 10 A. Yes
11 Q. Wadll, onefina areathat | need to ask you 11 Q. You'vedeat with engineers, | suppose?
12 about, Mr. Courtney. 12 A. Yes
13 Up until your testimony today, everything 13 Q. And you hired SPF to do some feasibility
14 we had from Rangen reflected its opposition to 14 work for you?
15 everything IGWA's proposed. Rangen has filed two 15 A. Yes
16 different objectionsthat are in the record, Rangen 16 Q. How long did it take SPF from the time you
17 filesdiscovery responses objecting to virtually 17 hired them to get the study out to Rangen?
18 everything, and now you've come forward and seemto be |18 A. A couple months.
19 saying that if things were engineered and designed 19 Q. Okay. And so that was simply afeasibility
20 okay, it may be okay. 20 study; correct?
21 A. It may be. The plan that's presented does 21 A. Correct.
22 not provide enough information to make adetermination | 22 Q. Sodoyouthinkitisat al feasible and
23 to whether or not it will deliver 9.1 cfs of water to 23 reasonable, as Rangen contends, that IGWA should bein
24 the Rangen facility. 24 aperiod of approximately 30 days from the time the
25 Q. Anddo you think it would be practical or 25 curtailment order was issued to be able to go out and
Page 638 Page 640
1 reasonable from the date the order was issued by the 1 dothefeasibility studies, the design, and have fina
2 Director on January 19th of 2014 curtailing groundwater 2 engineering ready by this hearing date to satisfy
3 pumpersfor thefirst time, recognizing that the call 3 Rangen's objections that's not sufficiently detailed?
4 from Rangen has been futile from 2004 until 2014, do 4 MR. HAEMMERLE: Objection. Asked and answered.
5 you think it would be reasonable for the groundwater 5 That's been asked and answered now three times. And he
6 usersto go out and spend the types of money to do 6 answered the question.
7 engineering studies and feasibility studies on Rangen's 7 Now, we have an hour and 20 minutes to get
8 property that you won't give us accessto in 8 our one and only witness on the stand. And | think
9 anticipation that some order would be issued 9 that Mr. Budgeis just quibbling on nonsense at this
10 January 19th of 20147 Isthat reasonable to spend 10 point intimeto prevent us from putting our last
11 money in anticipation to an obligation? 11 witnesson. So that's been asked and answered three
12 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'm going to object to the 12 separatetimes.
13 question on relevance grounds. There's an order out 13 MR. RANDY BUDGE: | don't think I've ever got an
14 that IGWA isto provide uswater. And that's their 14 answer to that question.
15 obligation. So there's no reasonable factor involved. 15 MR. HAEMMERLE: He answered it.
16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. 16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
17 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Would it be 17 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Go ahead and answer,
18 reasonable, Mr. Courtney, to expect IGWA could get the 18 please.
19 engineering studies done, the complete, final 19 A. The Director's order asked for amitigation
20 engineering on feasibility and design to construct any 20 plan. And the mitigation plan needsto provide the
21 of these proposals requiring infrastructure from the 21 information with enough detail that the Director can
22 period the order was issued, January 19th, until ten 22 make an answer. Soit's up for the Director to make
23 days ago when we were reguired to disclose al of our 23 that determination, not me.
24 exhibits? 24 Q. I'djust like an answer to the question.
25 MR. HAEMMERLE: Objection. The compound nature |25 Based on your experience, isit reasonable
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1 to expect acomplete and detailed engineering report be 1 Mr. Courtney, we have placed up on the
2 prepared by this hearing when the first time you knew 2 screen Exhibit 2020.
3 you had to have amitigation plan was January 19th? 3 Do you recognize that document?
4 That's ayes-or-no answer. 4 A. Yes.
5 A. You could have started this process back in 5 Q. Okay. Thisisin fact the mitigation plan
6 December of 2011. 6 filed by IGWA?
7 Q. Soisyour answer yesor no? My question 7 A. Yes.
8 was, isit reasonable if you started on January 19th to 8 Q. Generally speaking, are there any specifics
9 expect to have final engineering plans, which Rangen is 9 inthe mitigation plan, for example, telling you how
10 requesting by this hearing? 10 much water would be provided to Rangen under, say,
11 MR. HAEMMERLE: Director, | objected previously |11 No. 6?
12 five questions ago on the term "reasonable," and you 12 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Counsel, excuse mefor
13 sustained my objection. And hejust keeps doing it. 13 interrupting, but just as apoint of clarity
14 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Y ou keep objecting to the 14 Exhibit 2020 is not in evidence, but it isthe same as
15 questionsthat are -- 15 Exhibit 1000.
16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Courtney can answer |16 MR. HAEMMERLE: | appreciate that.
17 the question instead of being evasive, and | think it 17 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just for the record.
18 isayesor no answer, and we can move on. 18 MR. HAEMMERLE: Yeah. I'll offer Exhibit 2020.
19 Mr. Courtney, will you please attempt to 19 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Budge?
20 answer the question. 20 MR. RANDY BUDGE: No objection.
21 THE WITNESS: | don't know if it's reasonable or 21 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Lemmon?
22 not. 22 MR. LEMMON: No objection.
23 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Thank you. 23 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just with the notation for the
24 No further questions. 24 record it's the same as Exhibit 1000.
25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Examination, 25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay.
Page 642 Page 644
1 Mr. Haemmerle? 1 Q. (BY MR. HAEMMERLE): Now, Mr. Courtney,
2 MR. HAEMMERLE: Justin, if you could pull up | 2 subsequent --
3 Exhibit 2042. And that'sthe |last page. 3 THE HEARING OFFICER: It'sreceived into
4 4 evidence.
5 CROSS-EXAMINATION 5 (Exhibit 2020 received.)
6 BY MR.HAEMMERLE: 6 Q. (BY MR.HAEMMERLE): -- to the mitigation
7 Q. Mr. Courtney, you've examined and had an 7 call, you have attended various depositions on this
8 opportunity to review the Director's final order on 8 mitigation plan; isthat correct?
9 curtailment proceedings or Rangen's water call; 9 A. Yes.
10 correct? 10 Q. You've had achanceto review the discovery
11 A. Yes. 11 response from IGWA; correct?
12 Q. Andyou understand that IGWA isto provide |12 A. Yes.
13 Rangen 9.1 cfs at steady state or 9.1 of direct flow; 13 Q. Well just walk through these individually.
14 correct? 14 To date, do you have any concrete idea how
15 A. Correct. 15 IGWA isgoing to make improvements to the Martin-Curren
16 Q. IGWA'sobligation isto provide Rangen 16 Tunnel to provide Rangen water?
17 water; correct? 17 A. No.
18 A. Correct. 18 Q. Hasanyonetold you, have you discerned
19 Q. A specific amount? 19 from any of the testimony or discovery or proceedings
20 A. Correct. 20 how much water would be provided to Rangen under No. 6,
21 Q. All right. Now, after the curtailment 21 "Improvements to the Martin-Curren Tunnel"?
22 order wasissued, IGWA filed amitigation plan; 22 A. No.
23 correct? 23 Q. Let'sgoontoNo. 7. Mr. Courtney, No. 7
24 A. Correct. 24 isahorizontal well.
25 Q. If wecan pull up Exhibit 2020. 25 Do you see that?
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1 A. Yes 1 A. Yes.
2 Q. After al of the proceedings that you 2 Q. If wecan pull up Exhibit 1025.
3 described that you've attended to, reviewed, do you 3 Mr. Courtney, you've had a chance to review
4 have any idea how much water would be provided to 4 Exhibit 1025?
5 Rangen for a horizontal well? 5 A. Yes
6 A. No. 6 Q. You understand that those are calculations
7 Q. Let'sgoontoNo. 8. 7 of credits that IGWA would be entitled to for
8 Now, Mr. Courtney, No. 8 is aproposal for 8 conversions, dry-ups; correct?
9 vertical wells or something called over-the-rim. 9 A. Yes.
10 Do you seethat? 10 Q. And the Department calculated a number of
11 A. Yes 11 1-point cfs at steady state?
12 Q. After attending all the proceedings, 12 A. 1.7, yes
13 reviewing al the discovery, do you have any idea of 13 Q. Today -- you heard my opening statements,
14 how much water IGWA would intend to provide Rangen |14 correct?
15 under No. 8? 15 A. Yes
16 A. No. 16 Q. You heard me say at the very opening of
17 Q. Andyou haven't seen any concrete plans of 17 this proceeding that Rangen would agree to give IGWA
18 any kind for No. 6, 7, and 8; correct? 18 credit for 1.7 cfs at steady state?
19 A. Correct. 19 A. Yes.
20 Q. Now, | want to be clear, Mr. Courtney, 20 Q. And that's your position, asyou sit here
21 if -- Rangenis not against providing IGWA reasonable 21 today?
22 accessto its property; correct? 22 A. Yes
23 A. Correct. 23 Q. Now, understanding that the underlying
24 Q. Asany landowner providing strangers access 24 variables that provide those numbers change over
25 to the property, you want to understand what they're 25 time -- do you understand that?
Page 646 Page 648
1 doing? 1 A. Yes
2 A. Absolutely. 2 Q. -- youwould like the Director to issue an
3 Q. That's not unreasonable; correct? 3 order saying that there should be no pumping from those
4 A. No. 4 properties?
5 Q. Soif you understood what the plans were, 5 A. Correct.
6 you had some concept, you would definitely give IGWA 6 Q. All right. Now, Mr. Budge asked you about
7 reasonable access to your property to explore No. 6, 7, 7 the CREP program that -- you would agree IGWA receives
8 and8? 8 credit for CREP; correct?
9 A. Aslongasit wasn't intrusiveto the 9 A. Correct.
10 property, yes. 10 Q. And you understand that those are actua
11 Q. Okay. Reasonable access? 11 IGWA memberswho dry up their property?
12 A. Reasonable access. 12 A. I'mnot positive that it's actual IGWA
13 Q. Andthe samethingistrue of No. 9, which 13 members. But if they are, yes.
14 isthedirect pump-back; correct? 14 Q. Andif they are actual IGWA members who dry
15 A. Correct. 15 up their properties, to be sure they should be given
16 Q. Now, let'skind of wade through the 16 credit for that?
17 concrete or objective aspects of this mitigation plan. 17 A. Yes
18 Let'sgotoNo. 1. 18 Q. Sotoendthediscussion realy on all
19 Mr. Courtney, No. 1 you understand that 19 aspects of No. 1, IGWA should deserve 1.7 cfs at steady
20 IGWA isseeking creditsfor conversionsand dry-upsand |20 state.
21 recharge; isthat true? 21 Y ou agree to that today?
22 A. Yes 22 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Asked and answered.
23 Q. Now, you've had a chance to review some 23 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
24 objective facts on how much water that would provide 24 THE WITNESS: Yes.
25 Rangen; true? 25 Q. (BY MR.HAEMMERLE): Let'sgoon,
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1 Mr. Courtney, to No. 2, which is the Sandy Pipe. 1 A. Yeah
2 Y ou've had along opportunity to consider 2 Q. --curtailing water?
3 dl aspects of the Sandy Pipe, Mr. Courtney? 3 A. Yes
4 A. Yes 4 Q. Andinresponseto thefirst order
5 Q. And there'samemorandum agreement attached | 5 curtailing water, there was this one-year agreement
6 tothemitigation plan as Exhibit B which purportsto 6 stay, correct, that Rangen agreed to?
7 be the agreement between the North Snake Groundwater | 7 A. Yes
8 Usersand Mr. Morris. 8 Q. | understand that the Director subsequently
9 Do you seethat? 9 issued two other orders.
10 A. Yes 10 Correct?
1 Q. Do you understand how that agreement works? |11 A. Yes
12 A. Yes 12 Q. Andthe last order was that Rangen's call
13 Q. Theagreement works that in exchange for 13 wasfutile?
14 Mr. Morris not taking his rights out of the 14 A. Correct.
15 Martin-Curren Tunnel, he would receive credit for water |15 Q. And thereafter, IGWA thought it was futile
16 that istaken out of the Sandy Ponds? 16 and made no further effort to --
17 A. Correct. 17 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Objection. It'sleading asto
18 Q. Doyou believe Mr. Morris should be allowed 18 whether -- this witnessis not competent as to what
19 togain creditsfor theillegal use of water? 19 IGWA did or didn't do. IGWA didn't exist at the time.
20 A. No. 20 THE HEARING OFFICER: I've alowed flexibility
21 Q. You heard the testimony from Mr. Morris 21 inthe nature of the questions, but --
22 that he had one single water right out of the Sandy 22 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'll try not to do that,
23 Ponds; correct? 23 Director.
24 A. Yes 24 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thank you.
25 Q. Andthat wasfor 2.4 cfs? 25 Sustained
Page 650 Page 652
1 A. Yes 1 Q. (BY MR.HAEMMERLE): Do you know what IGWA
2 Q. Sototheextent Mr. Morrisinfact hasa 2 oritsgroundwater district members did in response to
3 water right under other circumstances, he should be 3 thefutilecall?
4 given the credit for up to 2.4 cfs? 4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Objection. Foundation.
5 A. Asamaximum credit, yes. 5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. He can state
6 Q. Okay. And that's true because he has no 6 whether he knows or not.
7 other legal water rights out of the Sandy Ponds? 7 THE WITNESS: | don't know what they did.
8 A. Correct. 8 Q. (BY MR.HAEMMERLE): But to be sure, that
9 Q. Now, Mr. Budge went over a 2004 agreement 9 agreement was a one-year agreement; correct?
10 that Rangen entered into. It was a one-year agreement. 10 A. Yes.
11 Do you recall that? 1 Q. Wasthere anything about that agreement
12 A. Yes 12 that you assumed Mr. Morris could illegally use waters
13 Q. Doyou recall why that agreement was 13 to comply with that agreement?
14 entered into? 14 A. No.
15 A. Yes 15 Q. Now, Mr. Morris agreement also states that
16 Q. Why was that agreement entered into? 16 in response to him not taking water out of the Curren
17 A. At that time Rangen had adelivery call 17 Tunnel he would be entitled to 6 cfs of credit.
18 with afina order from the Director that there was 18 Do you understand that?
19 going to be curtailment on the ESPA. And Rangen agreed |19 A. That'sthe request.
20 toaoneyear stay of that requirement for the 20 Q. Okay. But again, that's limited by what --
21 curtailment in exchange for that agreement. 21 hislegal right to use; correct?
22 Q. Okay. Asl understand what happened on 22 A. Yes
23 Rangen'sfirst delivery call, there was an order issued 23 Q. Allright. Whichis2.4 cfs?
24 by the Director, what we'd call the first order; 24 A. From the Sandy Ponds, yes.
25 correct -- 25 Q. Andtheideaisto provide you actual use
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1 of water out of the Martin-Curren Tunnel. 1 the same water; isthat true?
2 A. Yes. 2 A. For the same water and for additiona cfs,
3 Q. Do you understand that? 3 Yyes.
4 A. Yes 4 Q. Okay. Let'skind of go down, scroll down
5 Q. Soif thetunnel isonly flowing, say, 5 through here. Let's stop right there.
6 1cfs--1'mgoing to ask you to assume that -- do you 6 Now, Mr. Courtney, do you understand the
7 believethat Mr. Morris should be given credit beyond | 7 nature of use that IGWA is seeking to perfect on
8 1 cfsunder those circumstances? 8 Rangen's property?
9 A. Thereisactualy some other reductions 9 A. It'swhat's stated there, yes.
10 that would have to come first, because thereis 10 Q. Okay. They want a permit for fish
11 domestic use from acouple of the userswith thesame |11 propagation on Rangen's property.
12 priority dates. And so that water should go to 12 Do you see that?
13 domestic use first. But lessthan the 1 cfs, yes. 13 A. Yes
14 Q. Okay. Soit'slimited by how muchis 14 Q. Doyouintend to voluntarily give IGWA
15 flowing out of the tunnel? 15 permission to access your property, to use your
16 A. Yes. 16 property to raise fish?
17 Q. It'slimited by Mr. Morris' legal rightsto 17 A. Absolutely not.
18 use Sandy Pond water? 18 Q. Do you see the mitigation for irrigation
19 A. Yes 19 component?
20 Q. Andit'slimited, of course, by the Curren 20 A. Yes
21 Ditch weir and the senior users of 15 cfs? 21 Q. Areyou aware that there'sawhole ot of
22 A. And season of use. 22 water available for appropriation in the Curren Ditch
23 Q. Okay. Haveyou heard any testimony at all 23 for the source of water of Billingsley Creek?
24 how IGWA isto provide you water during the 24 A. I'm aware there's water, yes.
25 nonirrigation season? 25 Q. Availablefor irrigation purposes?
Page 654 Page 656
1 A. No. 1 A. No.
2 Q. Not one single one of the proposals you 2 Q. Now, through here, true, Mr. Courtney, |
3 understand would do that; correct? 3 believe IGWA has sought its right of eminent domain to
4 A. Correct. 4 take Rangen's property to accomplish these uses?
5 Q. Sothe conditions you've just described, 5 A. It'swhat they've stated, yes.
6 you would accept the Sandy Pipe mitigation proposal; | 6 Q. Areyou aware of any action that IGWA has
7 correct? 7 taken to date to seek to condemn Rangen's property for
8 A. Yes 8 those uses?
9 Q. And| believe the conditions you just 9 A. Not that I'm aware of, no.
10 tedtified to are the very same conditions that 10 Q. Let'sgo tothe horizontal well at the end.
11 Mr. Brendecke suggested. 11 Let'sgo to Exhibit 1060, actualy. I'm sorry.
12 A. Correct. 12 Mr. Courtney, Mr. May has pulled up for us
13 Q. Moving onto No. 3 of the mitigation plan, 13 Exhibit 1060, which I'll tell you is the SPF report.
14 Mr. Courtney. 14 Isthat true?
15 Y ou're aware of the assignment of water 15 A. Yes
16 right 36-16976? 16 Q. Why did Rangen ask that this report be
17 A. I'maware of the proposal for the 17 created?
18 assignment of the water right, yes. 18 A. Atthetime we were substantially short of
19 Q. Mr. Courtney, have you had a chanceto -- 19 water, and we were exploring several different
20 we understand -- we have protested this permit in a 20 proposalsto increase our water flow.
21 whole separate proceeding; correct? 21 Q. And you obtained that proposal; correct?
22 A. Yes. 22 A. Yes
23 Q. Haveyou had a chance to review this? 23 Q. [I'll direct your attention to page 6 of
24 A. Yes 24 that report.
25 Q. And Rangen hasfiled acompeting claimfor |25 | take it Rangen considered the benefits of
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1 the proposal? 1 A. Yes
2 A. Yes. 2 Q. And where was that?
3 Q. And | take it Rangen considered the risks 3 A. At Cactus Pete's.
4 of the proposal? 4 Q. Did they have redundant systems for their
5 A. Yes 5 casino operations?
6 Q. Do you understand what the risks of the 6 A. Wedid. We had backup generators for the
7 proposal were? 7 electrical system.
8 A. Yes 8 Q. And | takeit those were evaluated and kept
9 Q. And Justin has pulled up a highlight. Why 9 and maintained and that whole thing?
10 don't you read that for a moment. 10 A. Yes.
11 Do you consider the risk would harm others? |11 Q. Did they work?
12 A. Yes. 12 A. No.
13 Q. And it would decrease the flow to the 13 Q. And what happened?
14 Rangen facility itself? 14 A. We had a power outage relating to the
15 A. Yes. 15 casino. The backup generators did not start up, and we
16 Q. Giventherisksexpressed in the SPF 16 had to dispatch security throughout the whole casino.
17 report, did Rangen make a calculated decision notto |17 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Y ou know, I'm going to object
18 proceed with the horizontal well? 18 tothiswholeline of questioning. This has no
19 A. Yes 19 relevancy to the plan proposed by IGWA talking about --
20 Q. Andyou heard Dr. Brendecke'stestimony |20 I've given considerable leeway. But what Rangen did or
21 earlier today? 21 didn't doin the past is not relevant to what we
22 A. Yes. 22 proposeto do in the future.
23 Q. Didyou hear about the risks that he 23 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. We need to get
24 testified to? 24 through.
25 A. Yes 25 Q. (BY MR HAEMMERLE): Now, again, to
Page 658 Page 660
1 Q. Inbuilding a horizontal well, isit your 1 summarize, Mr. Courtney, other than the proposal 1,
2 desire to decrease flows to your neighbors? 2 which provides actual water -- you would agree to that;
3 A. No. 3 correct?
4 Q. Let'smoveon tothe vertical well -- or 4 A. Yes
5 vertical wells, over-the-rim delivery. 5 Q. There's aspects of the Sandy Pipe you
6 Do you have any idea how that would work? 6 absolutely agreeto?
7 A. Conceptualy. 7 A. Yes.
8 Q. Specifically, do you have any idea how that 8 Q. But there's nothing in the other proposals
9 would work? 9 that tell you how much water would be made available to
10 A. No. 10 Rangen; correct?
1 Q. Now, Mr. Budge has talked about the 11 A. Correct.
12 necessity of developing redundant systems. 12 Q. And it doesn't tell you exactly how the
13 Do you understand that for those redundant 13 water would be made available to Rangen?
14 systemsthere would have to be redundant systemson |14 A. Correct.
15 every single well involved? 15 Q. Soasyou sit heretoday, is there anything
16 A. Yes 16 that you can agreeto?
17 Q. And Mr. Budge | think said that it could be 17 A. No. 1A through 1C and parts of the Sandy
18 made as safe as possible. 18 Pipeline, yes.
19 Do you remember Mr. Budge asking you those |19 Q. And the other things you just can't
20 questions? 20 evauate?
21 A. | remember -- 21 A. Correct.
22 Q. Or perhapsit came from Mr. Brendecke. 22 Q. You don't know about the plans and you
23 A. --himasking Mr. -- or Dr. Brendecke, yes. 23 don't know how much water would be provided?
24 Q. Do you have experiences with redundant 24 A. Correct.
25 systemsin any part of your career? 25 Q. Andyou would give IGWA reasonable access
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1 if you understood those plans to access your property 1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: -- interpretation of the
2 toinvestigate? 2 application.
3 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Objection. Leading. 3 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. Let'sgo on.
4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. 4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Okay.
5 THE WITNESS: Yes. 5 Q. Isthereany testimony that you've heard
6 MR. HAEMMERLE: Thank you, Director. I'mdone. | 6 from any of the groundwater users or anyone else that
7 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon, any | 7 suggestsin any way that any groundwater users want to
8 questionsfor Mr. Courtney? 8 come on IGWA's property and raise fish?
9 MR. LEMMON: No. 9 A. From testimony, no.
10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Redirect? 10 Q. Isthereany -- other than your own
1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just acouple questions. 11 attorneys creative interpretation of one word on an
12 12 Application for Permit that Rangen protested, have you
13 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 13 seen any document or other exhibit in this case that
14 BY MR.RANDY BUDGE: 14 suggests that the groundwater users want to come on
15 Q. Inresponseto all of my questions about 15 Rangen's property and raise any fish?
16 access, you repeatedly said you would have to talk to 16 A. That was my interpretation of --
17 your lawyersfirst. But in response to your attorney's 17 Q. Your interpretation?
18 question, you just said you would give IGWA reasonable 18 A. Yes
19 access. 19 Q. Weéll, let me dispel to you, welll stipulate
20 So which answer is correct, Mr. Courtney, 20 inthisrecord we have no interest in raising fish.
21 your answer that you would only give access upon 21 Did you not read the assignment where we
22 consulting with your lawyers that you repeatedly gave 22 proposed to assign the entire permit to Rangen so it
23 mefor over ahalf hour, or the answer now that we will 23 could raise fish?
24 get reasonable access? 24 A. You made the application before you made
25 A. No, my first answer was that | needed to 25 the proposal to assign the application.
Page 662 Page 664
1 have more information to be able to make that 1 Q. Wadll, if you'll look at the mitigation
2 evauation. | also agree that my statement on the 2 plan, Exhibit 1000, item 3 that I've talked to you
3 response was correct. | didn't repeat myself every 3 about extensively, and your attorney has, it's entitled
4 singletime to every one of your questions with the 4 "Assignment of Water Right 36-16976 to Rangen.”
5 sameresponse, that | -- 5 How could the groundwater users use a
6 Q. My question -- 6 permit to raise fish on your property, if that was your
7 A. --would have to have the information 7 interpretation, if wein fact are assigning it to
8 available so that | could make that determination. 8 Rangen?
9 Q. Up until the question of your attorney, | 9 MR. HAEMMERLE: Object to the characterization
10 have not seen any evidence or testimony in this case of 10 of that asawater right. It's not awater right until
11 IGWA ever proposing to come on Rangen's property and |11 it's perfected.
12 raisefish. 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. Both parties
13 Can you point meto any testimony or any 13 have referred to the application as a permit or various
14 exhibit, other than your attorney's interpretation of 14 forms of awater right. | understand what's being
15 theword "fish mitigation" on the application, that 15 asserted.
16 suggested IGWA ever wantsto raise fish onthe Rangen |16 Mr. Budge.
17 property? 17 Q. (BY MR.RANDY BUDGE): You made a statement
18 MR. HAEMMERLE: Object to the form of the 18 in response to one of Counsel's questions that you
19 question. The actual applicationisfor fish 19 don't want to decrease any flows that would injure your
20 propagation. 20 neighbors. He was referring to the pumpers on the --
21 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Not by IGWA. 21 abovetherim, | assume.
22 MR. HAEMMERLE: That's your application. 22 Do you consider the groundwater users who
23 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Wéll, that's Counsel's 23 arewithin the curtailment area to be your neighbors?
24 credtive -- 24 A. Some of them.
25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled. 25 Q. What about the 14 cities that are subject
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1 tothe curtailment order, do you consider them to be 1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: And| believethat -- we can
2 neighbors? 2 go off the record here, but | think we just have one
3 A. No. 3 witness, Mr. Brockway.
4 Q. You don't consider them your neighbors? 4 MR. HAEMMERLE: That'sit.
5 MR. HAEMMERLE: Objection. 5 MR. RANDY BUDGE: We may propose to go straight
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. 6 through that would enable usto get Dr. Brendecke to a
7 MR. HAEMMERLE: We're never going to get through | 7 plane. Unlessyou expect to be along time with him.
8 this. 8 MR. HAEMMERLE: What's that?
9 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah, | don't think we 9 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Do you expect along time with
10 need to have an interpretation of who are neighbors and 10 Brockway?
11 who are not, Mr. Budge. 1 MR. HAEMMERLE: | don't think so.
12 Q. (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): Some neighbors 12 MR. MAY: | don't expect -- we don't expect a
13 you're happy to curtail and some not; correct? 13 long time with Dr. Brockway.
14 MR. HAEMMERLE: Objection. 14 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Why don't we just go straight
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. Let'snot go 15 through without a noon break so we could get Brendecke
16 aong thisline anymore, Mr. Budge. 16 to hisplane.
17 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Okay. 17 MR. MAY: | don't know that we have even after
18 Q. Wadll, onefinal question, Mr. Courtney: 18 noon. | believe we havetil noon.
19 Would you buy an unconstructed fish farm without first 19 Correct?
20 having an opportunity to see afeasibility study? 20 THE HEARING OFFICER: WEell, | told you noon. |
21 A. Buy an unconstructed one? 21 have afixed one o'clock appointment that | need to go
22 Q. Yeah. 22 to. Wecantakealate --
23 A. I don't know. | don't know the particulars 23 Let's go off the record, Jeff.
24 toit. 24 (Recess))
25 Q. Would you buy an unconstructed fish 25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. We are back on the
Page 666 Page 668
1 facility if you hadn't had an opportunity to see 1 record.
2 complete engineering designs? 2 And IGWA has rested presentation of their
3 MR. HAEMMERLE: I'm going to object to thisline 3 evidence.
4 of questioning. It -- 4 Mr. May.
5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. 5 MR. MAY: Beforewe begin, could | just ask a
6 MR. HAEMMERLE: It'sawaste of time, first of 6 couple of questions about the documents that we were
7 dl. 7 talking about and what we might be getting and when.
8 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. 8 THE HEARING OFFICER: That would befine.
9 MR. RANDY BUDGE: No further questions. 9 Garrick and | just talked about when we might introduce
10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. More questions, 10 them. We could do that now, if you want. But we
11 Mr. Haemmerle? 11 thought maybe we'd save it until the end.
12 MR. HAEMMERLE: None. 12 What we have iswe have amap and an
13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon? 13 attached sheet that shows both the boundaries, at least
14 MR. LEMMON: No. 14 inour .shp files of the North Side Canal Company, as
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Courtney, 15 well as .shpfilesfor the Candy, Musser, and Morris
16 you're finished. 16 properties.
17 Let's take five to ten minutes and then 17 MR. MAY: Okay.
18 we'll come back. 18 THE HEARING OFFICER: And then we have | think
19 Isthat your last witness, Mr. Budge? 19 two sets of discs with the data, so --
20 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yes. 20 MR. MAY: Okay.
21 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Soyou rest your 21 THE HEARING OFFICER: -- they're CDs.
22 presentation of evidence? 22 MR. MAY: And thisisnow datawith regard to
23 MR. RANDY BUDGE: We have no further evidenceto |23 the Curren Tunnel, potentially?
24 present. 24 THE HEARING OFFICER: | don't think it's new
25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. 25 data. It would be datathrough | think 2013. | don't
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1 think we have '14 datain them. 1 judicial notice of those and proposed to make an
2 MR. HAEMMERLE: Arethere any water rights 2 exhibit of those and have them admitted for judicial
3 sharesthat show theright to irrigate the Musser, 3 notice purposes so we have a complete record with
4 Candy, Morris properties beyond what we put in the 4 everything else.
5 record currently? 5 (Exhibits 1097 and 1098 marked.)
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: No. 6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Haemmerle, you stated
7 MR. HAEMMERLE: Okay. 7 earlier you object.
8 THE HEARING OFFICER: All we'redoing isshowing | 8 MR. HAEMMERLE: | do object on relevance.
9 that at least those properties are within the 9 Isthe Director's stay order also made a
10 boundaries of the North Side Canal Company. And that 10 part of thisrecord on --
11 may or may not be important, but we thought it was 1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yes. 1098.
12 information that the parties needed to have at their 12 MR. TJIBUDGE: No.
13 disposal, because I'm not aware that there's been any 13 MR. HAEMMERLE: No?
14 discussion of this subject. 14 MR. TIBUDGE: No. You mean the stay of the
15 MR. HAEMMERLE: | think that's an important 15 curtailment?
16 issueto clarify. 16 MR. HAEMMERLE: Yeah. Isthe stay of the
17 THE HEARING OFFICER: Y esh. 17 curtailment arecord of this?
18 MR. MAY': Director, can | just ask you, on the 18 MR. TIBUDGE: That would befine.
19 discyou said it's not new data. 19 MR. RANDY BUDGE: We stipulate to that as well.
20 Isit arevision of some of the data that 20 THE HEARING OFFICER: They are Department
21 wevegot that's, for instance, Exhibit 2045, which is 21 documents. So rather than taking notice of them, I'll
22 the Martin-Curren Tunnel? 22 receive them into evidence over the objection.
23 MR. BAXTER: It'sthe datathat's been 23 Thank you.
24 previously provided to the parties related to the 24 (Exhibits 1097 and 1098 received.)
25 recorded water levels out of the white pipe. 25 MR. HAEMMERLE: | think Exhibit 1098, we
Page 670 Page 672
1 MR. MAY: Okay. Soitisin addition to this? 1 stipulated to the admission of that document as well.
2 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah. It contains both 2 MR. MAY: 1099.
3 those pieces of information, Curren Tunnel measurements 3 MR. HAEMMERLE: Whatever the stay on the
4 and reported flows in the PV C pipe. 4 curtailment.
5 MR. MAY: Okay. 5 Isthat Exhibit 1099?
6 MR. HAEMMERLE: Doesit say where that measuring | 6 MS. BRODY: No.
7 deviceislocated on that white pipe? Does anyone 7 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Correct.
8 know? 8 MR. MAY: That'stheir next one.
9 MR. BAXTER: It'smy recollection that through 9 THE HEARING OFFICER: Either way. It'sinthe
10 the depositions in the Rangen proceeding there was 10 record.
11 discussions about the transducer and how the Department 11 MR. HAEMMERLE: Fine.
12 takes measurements. | believe Tim Luke testified asto 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay.
13 some of that information previously. 13 MR. BAXTER: Can weidentify what exhibit
14 THE HEARING OFFICER: We can go off the record 14 numbersthey were again?
15 and have adiscussion, but I'd like to get through the 15 MR. TJBUDGE: 1098 isthe cease -- excuse me,
16 testimony. 16 1097 isthe cease-and-desist order. 1098 isthe
17 MR. HAEMMERLE: Yeah, let'srock. 17 consent order. I'm not sure --
18 MR. MAY: Let'sget Dr. Brockway on. And | 18 MR. RANDY BUDGE: And agreement. And | marked
19 don't think it's going to change anything. 1t may just 19 those exhibits and have them therein front of you.
20 clarify something he's got. 20 MR. TIBUDGE: And then 1099 would be the stay
21 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah. Okay. Mr. Budge. |21 of the curtailment order.
22 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Beforewe broke, | indicated 22 (Exhibit 1099 marked.)
23 we would mark as Exhibits 1097 and 1098, the Notice of 23 MR. HAEMMERLE: Sincethey'reall comingin -- |
24 Violation Cease-and-Desist Order and the Consent Order 24 objected to ours, but | don't object to those documents
25 Agreement. | acknowledge that the Hearing Officer took 25 comingin.
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1 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. They're received 1 what the order required as far as water at the tunnel
2 into evidence. 2 or new water or whatever.
3 (Exhibit 1099 received.) 3 And | will say in general that the document
4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. May, call 4 | receivedinfactisreally not aplan. It'salist
5 Dr. Brockway? 5 of potential components that might be utilized to meet
6 MR. MAY: Thank you, Mr. Director. 6 therequirements of a plan.
7 We call Dr. Brockway. 7 Q. And generally with regard to those
8 THE HEARING OFFICER: Raiseyour hand, please. | 8 components, were you able to review their feasibility
9 9 reports?
10 CHARLESE. BROCKWAY, 10 A. Wadll, | could review what was submitted,
11 having been called as awitness by Rangen, Inc., and 11 but | could not really determine sufficiently whether
12 duly swornto tell the truth relating to said cause, 12 those components really provided water, would provide
13 testified asfollows: 13 water, and certainly not -- | was not able to quantify
14 14 what -- how much water might come from those
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thank you. Please be 15 components.
16 seated. 16 Q. And | want to make sure that we separate
17 17 out alittle bit the various components that we're
18 DIRECT EXAMINATION 18 talking about, because | understand that there likely
19 BY MR. MAY: 19 are some components that you were able to do some
20 Q. Good morning, Dr. Brockway. 20 anaysisof. I'dliketo first -- or your attention
21 A. Good morning. 21 first to some analysisthat you may have seen,
22 Q. Could you please state your name and spell 22 Exhibit 1025 from Ms. Sukow.
23 your last name for the record, please. 23 Have you seen this document?
24 A. It'sCharliesE. Brockway, 24 A. Yes
25 B-r-o-ck-w-ay. 25 Q. And wereyou ableto review Exhibit 1025?
Page 674 Page 676
1 Q. Dr. Brockway, what degrees do you hold? 1 A. Yes
2 A. | haveabachelor's degreein civil 2 Q. Okay. And with regard to the analysis that
3 engineering, amaster's degree in water resources 3 Ms. Sukow has done regarding this document, do you
4 engineering, and a Ph.D. in water resources 4 generaly have any issues with the process that was
5 engineering. 5 used to create this document?
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Budge, can we 6 A. No. The process, the model that was used
7 dtipulate to the expertise of Dr. Brockway? 7 inevauating it, I'm familiar with that. And | know
8 MR. RANDY BUDGE: We can so stipulate. 8 what Ms. Sukow went through, and the procedure and the
9 MR. MAY: Thank you. 9 protocol that was used.
10 THE HEARING OFFICER: Thank you. 10 And | don't have any problem with what she
11 I'm trying to get through this. 11 didor the results. | did have a question about, you
12 Q. (BY MR. MAY): Dr. Brockway, in this 12 know, whether the recharge for southwest |daho should
13 particular case what were you asked to do? 13 be counted.
14 A. Injust thiscase? 14 Q. Okay.
15 Q. With regard to this mitigation plan 15 A. Butit'snot very big.
16 proceeding. 16 Q. Okay.
17 A. My understanding is| was asked to -- to 17 A. Soingenerd, | don't have a problem with
18 evauate the mitigation plan that was submitted by IGWA |18 that.
19 inresponse to the order from the prior hearing for 19 Q. Okay. Andin genera, with regard to
20 curtailment or mitigation for Rangen. 20 what's up here, you would accept these numbers that
21 Q. And did you do that, Dr. Brockway? 21 Ms. Sukow did; correct?
22 A. | diddothat. | looked over the 22 A. Yes
23 mitigation plan and the various elements with the idea 23 Q. Now, you mentioned recharge.
24 to evauate it hydrologically and hydraulically asto 24 With regard to recharge and credits, what
25 whether the various components of that plan met the -- 25 isyour understanding of -- well, do you have
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1 familiarity with credits for recharge being given? 1 direct flow of water, that they had to meet certain
2 A. Yes. 2 levelsof enhancement for the first five years. And
3 Q. Andisit generaly arequirement for that 3 there was a question about that relative to what do
4 credit that the entity seeking credit would have 4 some of these components give us on atransient run of
5 ownership of the water? 5 themodel. So we ran the model in atransient mode.
6 A. Weéll, my understanding in reviewing what 6 Q. Andwhat did you do to set up the model so
7 this state has done and what SWID has done and other 7 that you could run it in atransient mode?
8 entities relative to aquifer enhancement, there have 8 A. Wadll, you haveto use the full -- the full
9 been various programs that have been implemented and 9 dataset. You have to run the model, and not just use
10 beneficial results documented, but in my opinion if an 10 theresponse functions for steady state that have been
11 entity doesrecharge, builds the facilities, finds the 11 generated.
12 water, or usestheir water or whatever, they ought to 12 So we ginned up the whole model and ran it
13 get credit for the recharge. 13 inthetransient mode. You haveto run it twiceto get
14 But there'salot of thingsrelative to 14 to somedifferences. But wedid runitinthe
15 recharge that have happened on the ESPA where specific |15 transient mode. And we compared that with what the
16 entities have -- have initiated the plan or the 16 direct flow requirementswere. And | think that's what
17 project, and perhaps other entities would like to take 17 you have on the board.
18 credit for it. | think you should only get credit for 18 Q. Okay. Sol'vegot on the board
19 what you paid for or you initiated or you made happen. 19 Exhibit 2071.
20 Q. Dr. Brockway, | understand that Ms. Sukow's 20 Could you identify 2071.
21 analysis-- and | discussed thiswith Dr. Brendecke -- 21 A. That'splotsof -- well, the transient run
22 was done running the model at steady state. 22 that | talked about. And then we've also plotted on
23 Isthat correct? 23 there, both tabular and otherwise, the required
24 A. Yes 24 mitigation under the order for the five years, | think
25 Q. Okay. And it's my understanding that 25 itis, or four years.
Page 678 Page 680
1 steady state would not give you any information about 1 Q. AndlI'dliketo focusin here, if | can, on
2 what would occur in a particular year. 2 the-- kind of the legend here.
3 Isthat correct? 3 Just so that we can see what's going on,
4 A. ltwill not. 4 with regard to these various lines, you created, it
5 Q. Didyou make any -- did you do any 5 looks like where I've got the pointer here, a dashed
6 investigation with regard to the mitigation plan that 6 linefor proposed IGWA conversions.
7 was proposed and the inputs that Ms. Sukow used to 7 A. Yes
8 create her steady-state result to come up with aresult 8 Q. Okay. And sowhat doesthat dashed line
9 that would tell you what would happeninagivenyear? | 9 represent?
10 A. Yes. Wein fact reran some of Ms. Sukow's 10 MR. TIBUDGE: Objection. Relevance and
11 runsthat were portrayed in the previous exhibit to 11 misleading.
12 make sure we could duplicate them and do the same 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
13 thing. 13 THE WITNESS: The dashed -- the dashed lines on
14 And then -- 14 the bottom of that chart are the result of running the
15 Q. Let mestop you for just a second. 15 proposed --
16 When you say to make sure that you could 16 Q. (BY MR. MAY): Dr. Brockway, can |
17 duplicateit and do the same thing, you meanyouranit |17 interrupt you?
18 at steady state to seeif you came up with the same 18 A. Yeah.
19 results? 19 Q. Because| think TJs objection, there was
20 A. Yes 20 an additional foundation point that | need to raise to
21 Q. Anddidyou? 21 addresswhat | think was TJs objection that | didn't
22 A. Andwedid. 22 catch, and it's partially valid.
23 Q. And then what did do you? 23 Dr. Brockway, does this represent all of
24 A. Then there was a part of the order that 24 the datathat's on Exhibit 1025? In other words, did
25 talked about furnishing -- if IGWA was to furnish 25 you include all of the Southwest Irrigation District on
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1 here? 1 recharge activities; is that right?
2 A. Wedid, yes. 2 A. That'sright, yeah.
3 Q. On this particular exhibit, Southwest 3 Q. Soyou have not taken into account the
4 Irrigation District? 4 recharge, conversion, and CREP efforts that have
5 A. Yes 5 happened for the last six or seven years?
6 Y ou mean -- 6 A. No. Remember, thisis agroundwater model
7 Q. I'mtaking on Exhibit 2071, did you, in 7 run.
8 addition to the IGWA acresthat are calculated -- 8 Q. | understand.
9 A. Oh, no, no, no. 9 A. Andyou haveto start it out in the
10 Q. -- on Exhibit 1025, did you also make an 10 steady-staterun. You have to assume that what was
11 analysiswith regard to Southwest Irrigation District? |11 happening at the beginning is going to happen for 150
12 A. Wedid, but that's not on here. 12 years.
13 Q. Okay. Sothisjust representsthe IGWA 13 Q. | understand that. But your graph does not
14 side of Exhibit 1025? 14 reflect any credit, either for what Southwest has done
15 A. Yes. Thisisthe groundwater model run as 15 or IGWA has done or Goose Creek Irrigation District,
16 represented by -- by the -- for instance, the red line 16 for the six or seven years leading up to the date of
17 aong the bottom is the result of running ESPAM-2.1 |17 curtailment; isthat right?
18 model in transient mode using the input that's claimed | 18 A. It does not go back and attempt to model
19 for CREP by IGWA. 19 those types of events prior to the time of starting the
20 MR. TIBUDGE: Objection. 20 model.
21 Director, may | inquire of the witnessin 21 MR. MAY: Canl --
22 further aid of objection? 22 MR. TIBUDGE: Director, my objection isthat
23 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yes. 23 thisgraphisequaly, if not more, misleading than the
24 24 Sandy Ponds recharge. This purportsto depict the
25 /Il 25 comparison of mitigation activities to what's required,
Page 682 Page 684
1 VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 1 and it doesn't take account for anything Southwest has
2 BY MR. TIBUDGE: 2 done, even from the date of curtailment, and nor does
3 Q. Dr. Brockway, do you understand that Rangen 3 it take into account what was done for the six or seven
4 has consented to the calculation of mitigation credits 4 yearsprior. | think it'smisleading to have that in
5 on asteady-state basis? 5 therecord.
6 A. Yes 6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. May | don't
7 Q. And your testimony today isthat your graph 7 think has yet offered this exhibit. | think we werein
8 up here as Exhibit 2071 does not include the recharge 8 afoundational set of questions here. | think the
9 activities of Southwest Irrigation District? 9 objection is premature.
10 A. Widl, theline that says"IGWA CREP" 10 MR. TIBUDGE: But can he ask the witness about
11 certainly doesn't. And the "Proposed IGWA conversions' |11 the substance of the graph without bringing it into the
12 doesn't. 12 record? That was the objection that we have.
13 Q. So does this not account for any of 13 MR. MAY: Can| just address a couple of things,
14 Southwest Irrigation District's mitigation activities? 14 because thisis not offered in an attempt to take away
15 A. The-- thetransient model, the blue 15 any credit for Southwest irrigation District or
16 diamondshasall of itinit. 16 anything?
17 Q. Okay. You've depicted on this graph what 17 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sure.
18 isreported there as being IGWA CREP and IGWA 18
19 conversions. 19 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
20 | just want to make clear, your graph does 20 BY MR.MAY:
21 not show the effect of Southwest Irrigation District, 21 Q. Dr. Brockway, this, | understand, was
22 CREP, or conversions or recharge; isthat correct? 22 prepared with the information that you had.
23 A. It doesn't show that separately, no. 23 Correct?
24 Q. And| aso seethat in year zero you -- 24 A. That'sright.
25 your graph depicts no credit for conversions, CREP, or 25 Q. And, Dr. Brockway, | would understand that
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1 thisparticular transient run was made solely with an 1 will enhance either the ability of the parties or the
2 effort to show what the transient run would look like 2 Department -- and | apologize we've not run those
3 with regard to the data for those three specific things 3 transient runs, but they will enhance the ability of
4 that are set out on Ms. Sukow's table. 4 the Department to simulate what IGWA has done in the
5 Correct? 5 past. And | will tell the partiesweintend to doit.
6 A. That'sright. 6 Now, the question was posed to Department
7 Q. And no attempt is made to try and say that 7 staff, can we get it done before the end of the
8 no credit should be given for Southwest I1daho -- or 8 hearing. And the answer isno. And | apologize.
9 excuse me, Southwest Irrigation District, it'sjust an 9 So it's something that I'll need to augment
10 attempt to show relatively what atransient run would 10 therecord with. But the parties need to be on notice
11 look like given the information that was available? 11 that we intend to run those transient simulations and
12 A. That'sright. 12 determine, based on past activities that we've
13 Q. Andin that regard, did you follow, in 13 recognized in contested cases before the Department,
14 running the same run with these three sets of input 14 what those transient values are, starting in 2005 when
15 data, the same procedures that Ms. Sukow run, withthe |15 we started with the records. So we got to have both.
16 exception it was done as a transient run? 16 Andin my opinion, they're both relevant.
17 A. Yes 17 What Dr. Brockway has done here, in my
18 MR. MAY: And with those explanations and 18 opinion, isan attempt at modeling transient impacts.
19 foundation, Director, | would offer Exhibit 2071. 19 But | also recognize that they don't -- they don't
20 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Budge? 20 include all of that information and data that we have.
21 MR. TIBUDGE: I'll renew my objectiononthe |21 So | hope that helps the perspectives of the parties
22 grounds of relevance, because Rangen stipulated to 22 and we won't quibble over it.
23 steady-state calculations, and also, again, on the 23 So given the qualifications that you
24 point of it being misleading. What Mr. May has 24 pointed out, Mr. Budge, I'll overrule the objection,
25 explained isthey're trying to compare the steady-state |25 and we'll go on.
Page 686 Page 688
1 curtailment run with the steady-state mitigation 1 (Exhibit 2071 received.)
2 benéefits. 2 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. May.
3 And what's just been explained is their 3 MR. MAY: Thank you, Director. That was
4 steady state -- their representation of steady-state 4 precisely the reason for the...
5 curtailment benefits does not include anything that 5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah.
6 Southwest has done from the date of curtailment, nor 6 Q. (BY MR. MAY): Dr. Brockway, I'm going to
7 doesit include all the mitigation that's happened for 7 show you what's been marked as Exhibit 2073.
8 yearsprior. Sol really think the portion of the 8 Do you recognize what I've just put on the
9 exhihit purporting to depict mitigation benefitsis 9 screen as Exhibit 20737
10 very misleading. 10 A. Yes
1 MR. MAY: Director, may | respond? 11 Q. Andwhat isthat?
12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Let mejust addressit, |12 A. That isacompilation of the Curren Tunnel
13 Mr. May. 13 discharge by month for 2013. And it'sjust plotted to
14 Mr. Budge, in the order that | issued at 14 show the seasonal variability in the flow from the
15 the end of January, there were two components that 15 Curren Tunnel.
16 could satisfy the mitigation obligation that could be 16 Q. Andwhat dataisthat created from? And |
17 implemented in lieu of curtailment: And one was that 17 might just represent down here that you see two shests,
18 activities provide a steady-state mitigation of 18 one of which says"1993 to the present.”
19 9.1 cfs; the other was delivery of water in thisyear, 19 A. Yeah, theredline --
20 2014, of 3.4. 20 Q. Do you recognize that?
21 And just because of the two components, 21 A. The previous chart is data from this chart,
22 thereis, from my perspective, aneed to look at 22 thered line, computed on a monthly basisinstead of a
23 steady-state conditions and transient conditions both. 23 daily basis.
24 Andinfact, at the end the information that we're 24 Q. Okay. And so this chart here represents
25 distributing, that I've talked to the parties about, 25 the same data, just calculated in a different manner,
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1 juston an average monthly basis; correct? 1 listed for diversion from Billingsley Creek into the
2 A. Yes. It'sthe samedata. 2 Curren Ditch.
3 MR. MAY: Director, | would move for the 3 Q. Okay. Sotheyellow highlighted rights are
4 admission of Exhibit 2073. 4 rightsthat are associated with the Curren Ditch?
5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Budge? 5 A. Yes.
6 MR. TJBUDGE: No objection. 6 Q. Okay. And therightsthat are highlighted
7 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Lemmon? 7 inred?
8 MR. LEMMON: No objection. 8 A. Those are -- that's -- well, the Candy and
9 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Thedocument marked | 9 Morris and one Rangen right from the Martin-Curren
10 asExhibit 2073 is received into evidence. 10 Tunnel.
1 (Exhibit 2073 received.) 11 Q. And you do have acolumn here, |
12 Q. (BY MR.MAY): I'm going to direct your 12 understand. | just wasn't over there.
13 attention, Dr. Brockway, to Exhibit 2069. 13 There's a column that indicates where the
14 Do you recognize Exhibit 2069, despite the 14 rights are; correct?
15 fact that it's very small up there? 15 A. Yes. Those are the ditches emanating from
16 A. Ithink | know what that is. 16 Billingsley Creek where the water rights are authorized
17 Q. Okay. I'll try and highlight alittle bit 17 to bediverted.
18 of that. 18 MR. MAY: Director, | would offer Exhibit 2069.
19 Do you recognize that? 19 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Budge?
20 A. Yes, | do. 20 MR. TIBUDGE: May | ask the witness afew
21 Q. And, Dr. Brockway, what is Exhibit 2069? 21 questions?
22 A. That'sacompilation of al of the water 22
23 rights on file with the IDWR database on Billingsley 23 VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION
24 Creek. And I've sorted it by priority so that the -- 24 BY MR. TJIBUDGE:
25 thefirst entry, 36-16198, isthe last -- the most 25 Q. Dr. Brockway, how did you determine which
Page 690 Page 692
1 junior priority on Billingsley Creek. And that goes 1 ditches each water right's diverted into?
2 from -- essentially from the headwaters of Billingsley | 2 A. Well, usually on the water right, maybe not
3 Creek and Curren Tunnel clear to the Snake River. 3 onthe database water right, but on the decree or
4 Q. | notice everyoneissquinting. Let me see 4 somewhere in the backfile you can find the diversion
5 if | can getit alittle bit bigger. 5 ditch or point on Billingsley Creek.
6 They're sorted by priority based on the 6 Q. Did you review the watermaster binders that
7 earliest or the latest? 7 have been submitted into evidence in this case that
8 A. Weéll, thelatest priority is at the top, 8 designates which water rights go into which ditch?
9 and the earliest priority is at the bottom. 9 A. | did not review that.
10 Q. 1880isthelatest priority? 10 MR. TIBUDGE: | don't object to the document
11 A. Oh, I'msorry. | waslooking at the decree 11 coming into evidence, on condition that recognize we
12 date. 12 dready have evidence of what water rights are
13 No, they're sorted by earliest to latest. 13 delivered through which ditches. And to the extent
14 Q. Okay. Andyou created this table yourself, 14 there's any conflict with those, we would defer to the
15 Dr. Brockway? 15 watermaster's records.
16 A. Yes. 16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Mr. Lemmon, any
17 Q. Okay. Directly from the Department's 17 objection?
18 database? 18 MR. LEMMON: No objection.
19 A. Yes 19 THE HEARING OFFICER: With the stated
20 Q. I noticeif you look here on the second 20 qualification, the document marked as Exhibit -- and |
21 page there's some highlighted rights here. 21 believethisis 2069; is that correct, Mr. May?
22 A. Yes 22 MR. MAY: Yes, Director.
23 Q. Okay. AndI'll try and zoominheresoyou |23 THE HEARING OFFICER: -- isreceived into
24 cantry -- what doesthe yellow highlighting indicate? |24 evidence.
25 A. Theyellow are the water rights that are 25 (Exhibit 2069 received.)
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1 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION 1 that the combined use shall not exceed 3.98 cfs and the
2 BY MR.MAY: 2 irrigation of 143 acres.
3 Q. Dr. Brockway, I'm showing you on the screen 3 Q. And so how did you represent or what did
4 here what's been marked as Exhibit 2075. 4 you do with that information for the middle part of
5 Do you recognize this? 5 that table that I've got highlighted on there?
6 A. Yes 6 A. Wadll, what it saysiswith that constraint,
7 Q. Okay. And can you tell mewhat thisis. 7 the 3.98 cfs, that if you use all four of these rights
8 A. Wadll, | was asked to take alook at the 8 on the same authorized place of use, which they all
9 authorized water rights for the irrigation rights from 9 have the same, that you'll be limited to 3.98 cfs.
10 the Martin-Curren Tunnel and also from the -- fromthe |10 But if you add up the authorized diversion
11 Sandy Ponds. 11 rates by those four rights, you get more than 3.98. So
12 Q. And these are rights held by Butch Morris? 12 | believe that that condition on the wastewater right
13 A. Yes. 13 limitswhat you can legally apply to those 143 acres.
14 Q. Okay. And what does this document 14 Q. And the bottom section here, what does that
15 represent? What did you do with that review? 15 represent?
16 A. Wedl, my attempt was to determine what -- 16 A. Weéll, the bottom section purports to show
17 there are some overlaps in the water rights, both with 17 what the maximum flow that could be put on those
18 place of use and with the diversion allowed. And | 18 143 acresis.
19 wanted to find out if there were any conflicts or there 19 Thefirst -- the first four rights out of
20 were any constraints to what could be diverted from-- |20 the Martin-Curren Tunnel are not limited by anything.
21 from the Sandy Ponds and/or the Curren Tunnel. 21 The 134D, or the 143-acrerights, | believe would be
22 So thefirst three rights are Morris rights 22 limited to the 1.58 cfs. Sothetotal is 3.65.
23 from the Martin-Curren Tunnel that, in evaluating those |23 Q. Andthat 1.58 isrepresented here; correct?
24 rights, have no limits or overlaps connected with other |24 A. Yes
25 water rights. So those three rights are unencumbered 25 Q. Okay.
Page 694 Page 696
1 by any kind of constraint or condition. 1 A. The condition on 08723 essentially saysyou
2 The second set -- the 134 and 135D, 10141A, 2 can't -- you can't divert from the two red rights, the
3 and the 08723 -- are linked by some constraints. The 3 135D and the 1041A because of that limitation on the
4 36-08723 isthe wastewater right held by Mr. Morris 4 discharge condition.
5 from the Sandy Ponds. 5 MR. MAY: Director, | would move for the
6 Q. Andif | wasto pull up that water right -- 6 admission of Exhibit 2075.
7 and | believeit's 2041. 7 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Budge?
8 2041 has been admitted, hasn't it, Garrick? 8 MR. TIBUDGE: | apologize. | do have an
9 MR. TJBUDGE: Yes. 9 objection that may be able to resolve with some further
10 THE WITNESS: If welook at conditions2and 3, |10 questioning of the witness.
11 | think they'll -- 11 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay.
12 Q. (BY MR.MAY): So conditions 2 and 3 on 12
13 the-- 13 VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION
14 A. Those are important, yeah. 14 BY MR. TIBUDGE:
15 Q. Okay. And how does conditions 2 and 3 15 Q. Dr. Brendecke, did you personally prepare
16 relateto your calculations there in the middle? 16 this-- Dr. Brockway, did you personally prepare this
17 A. Wall, condition 2 is a condition that's 17 document labeled as Exhibit 20757
18 normally put on most irrigation water rights that 18 A. No.
19 limitsthe diversion under that right to more -- no 19 Q. Who prepared it?
20 morethan 2/100ths of a cfs per acre. That's aninch 20 A. I'mnot sure. | think it may have been
21 per acre. 21 either Justin or Mr. Haemmerle.
22 Condition 3 on thisright, whichisa 22 Q. Soone of Rangen's attorneys handed this to
23 wastewater right, is used in conjunction with 36-134D 23 you?
24 and 135D and 10141A. And that condition isthat when |24 A. Itwase-mailed to me.
25 these -- the water authorized by these rightsis used, 25 Q. E-mailed it to you.
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1 Did you go back and look at the current 1 though.
2 Department water right reports for every one of the 2 Q. You'renot sure. Okay. Assuming they're
3 water rights that are listed on this? 3 separate parcels, if you add up the top three water
4 A. ldid. | pulled every one of them. 4 rights, the .82, .82, and .43, you get 2.07 cfs; is
5 Q. Soyouwent and verified al of the data 5 that right?
6 that'son this document? 6 A. | don't know that | put that on there.
7 A. 1did, yes. 7 Q. Widll, it'snot on there. I'm just adding
8 Q. Fair enough. And I'm alittle confused by 8 itup.
9 thelabeling on this. The top threerights say 9 A. 1.64 and .43. That'sright.
10 Martin-Curren Tunnel water rights. 10 Q. Okay. Sofor that parcel there's 2.07 cfs
11 A. They are. 11 Morris can divert, and then for the 143-acre parcel you
12 Q. Those are water rights that have their 12 get 3.98 cfs. So I'm confused by this bottom section
13 source as the Martin-Curren Tunnel? 13 that says"Total combined diversion right," and maybe
14 A. Yes. 14 that's because you're limiting it to the tunnel. But
15 Q. And then the second section relates to 15 if | add up the 2.07 and the 3.98, | get to 6.05.
16 combined use, but these water rights are not all 16 | guess my objection, Director, is|'m a
17 Martin-Curren Tunnel water rights; isthat correct? 17 little confused by the math and where the parcels
18 A. They are not. 18 pertain. I'm confused about this leading to
19 Q. Sowater right 36-08723 is a Sandy Ponds 19 confusion -- I'm concerned about this leading to the
20 water right? 20 confusion of others.
21 A. Yes. 21 And | would note that every one of these
22 Q. And the other three, 134D, 135D, and 1014A |22 water rights reports are in the record and speak for
23 are Martin-Curren Tunnel rights? 23 themselves, and | do think that those would be better
24 A. Yes. 24 evidence than this summary that leaves, | think,
25 Q Arethose rights al owned by Morris? 25 reasonsfor quesn onsin peop| esmind.
Page 698 Page 700
1 A. Yes. 1 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay, Mr. Budge.
2 Q. So thisdocument doesn't include any of the | 2 Any objection to this, Mr. Lemmon?
3 water rights for Musser or Candy? 3 MR. LEMMON: No.
4 A. No. 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Well, Mr. Budge,
5 Q. And! am also confused by the total 5 thisisasummary, one person'sinterpretation. And
6 combined diversion limit you show at the bottom of 6 thank you for at least pointing out some possible other
7 3.65. 7 interpretations. I'll alow it into the record, but
8 Isthe 75 acresreferred to in the top 8 thank you at least for pointing it out.
9 threerights, isthat one part of the 143 acres 9 So the document marked as --
10 referenced in the middle section of water rights, oris |10 What's the number, Mr. May? | --
11 that a separate parcel of land? 11 MR. MAY: 20- -- sorry. It's 2075.
12 A. | don't know if there'sany -- | don't 12 THE HEARING OFFICER: 2075 isreceived into
13 remember if there's any overlap there or not. The 13 evidence.
14 143 acres, as specified as place of use for thecenter |14 (Exhibit 2075 received.)
15 rights, the 134D, 135D, 10141A, and 86 -- 872- -- 15 THE HEARING OFFICER: | appreciate what you've
16 Wwhatever that is, those 143 acres are the sasmeexact |16 done, Mr. Budge, in pointing out possible anomaliesin
17 acres. 17 the computation.
18 Q. Okay. 18
19 A. Sothe place of use for all of those four 19 CONTINUED DIRECT EXAMINATION
20 rightsisthe 143 acres. 20 BY MR.MAY:
21 Q. Okay. Sothose are one parcel of land, 21 Q. Dr. Brockway, I've brought up on the screen
22 143 acres. 22 Exhibit 2067.
23 The top three rights that say 75 acres, 23 Do you recognize this?
24 those are a separate parcel of land; right? 24 A. Yes
25 A. | don't remember. | canlook it up, 25 Q. Okay. And what isthis?
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1 A. That'sacompilation of the datafrom 1 done the same way.
2 ESPAM-2.1for four different scenarios of curtailment | 2 Q. (BY MR.MAY): Okay. With the exception of
3 of junior rights on the ESPA. 3 thedate?
4 Q. And so what process did you use to create 4 A. Huh?
5 those different scenarios? 5 Q. With the exception of the date?
6 A. Wedll, weranthe ESPAM-2.1 model insteady | 6 A. Yes. Yeah. Butthey were run with the
7 state, and then we cookie-cutted the -- the junior 7 same protocol as IDWR uses. And in fact, they had run
8 water rights to those -- to those priority dates on the 8 the 1870 right as part of the model development. And
9 left and ranthe model. And the result isthe third 9 sotheonly differenceisthe date.
10 columnin cfs. 10 Q. Okay. And with regard to the 1908, why did
11 Q. And so with regard to the dates on the 11 you select 1908 there?
12 left, | see onethat says 7/13/1962 at the top, and 12 A. Well, let'ssee. That --
13 that'sfollowed over, and you've got -- | guesswecan |13 MR. TIBUDGE: Mr. Director?
14 look at what these are. 14 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yes.
15 What is the significance of 1962, the 15 MR. TIBUDGE: | apologize for interrupting. |
16 7/13/19627? 16 would like to renew my objection for a couple reasons.
17 A. That'sthe priority date of the Rangen, 17 This document has not been admitted into evidence. |
18 Inc., water right from Curren Tunnel. 18 can't connect this to any aspect of the mitigation
19 Q. And that'sthe water right that was 19 plan. And I'm concerned there will not be an
20 generally the subject of the prior call and the order 20 opportunity to cross-examine Dr. Brockway if this
21 that we've been talking about; correct? 21 continues.
22 A. Yes 22 THE HEARING OFFICER: I'm expecting the
23 Q. And herel notice 14.4 under "Cell," and 23 objection. | think Mr. May isstill in foundational
24 then 9.1 under the column that says "cfs." 24 examination. But I'm very wary, Mr. Budge.
25 What does the 14.4 represent? 25 Mr. May.
Page 702 Page 704
1 A. That'sthe output from the model for that 1 MR. MAY: Sure.
2 curtailment run -- 2 Q. Why did you select the 1908 date?
3 Q. Andthe-- 3 A. 4/1/1908is, as| remember, a date for one
4 A. --for the spring cell. 4 of the earliest water rights from the Martin-Curren
5 Q. Excuseme. The9.1, what does that 5 Tunndl.
6 represent? 6 Q. Theirrigation rights, for instance --
7 A. That's 63 percent of the 14.4. 7 A. Yes
8 Q. And so with regard to thisfirst line, did 8 Q. -- that are owned by Butch Morris?
9 you run that process in the same manner in which you 9 A. Yes
10 understand the Department ran the model in order to 10 Q. And | understand that Mr. Morris testified
11 come up with the numbers in the Rangen order? 11 that one of his options, were he to not receive his
12 A. Wedid. Weduplicated essentialy the 12 water, either through the Curren Tunnel or through the
13 Department's. 13 Sandy Pipeline because he was off, would be to
14 Q. And you came up with essentially the same 14 curtail -- issue acall himself; correct? Do you
15 numbers; correct? 15 understand that?
16 A. Yes. 16 A. | remember that, yes.
17 Q. Okay. Andwith regard to the linesfor 17 Q. And given that understanding, isthis an
18 1957, 1908, and 1870, isthe only difference in the 18 attempt to look at what a similar order to Rangen's
19 process between those the date at which you selected 19 would look like, given a 1908 call?
20 water rights? 20 A. That wasthe reason primarily for doing the
21 MR. TIBUDGE: Objection. Relevance. 21 various scenarios. The 1870 one we repeated just to
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: | think it's premature, |22 make sure we were getting the same answer as IDWR got.
23 but let's see where it goes. 23 And there's obviously no development of groundwater
24 Overruled for now. 24 between 19- -- 1870 and 1908.
25 THE WITNESS: Weéll, al of the model runswere |25 Q. Andsoif Mr. Morris were to make that
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1 call, the amount that would be expected to show up in 1 and the facilities there several times.
2 the Curren Tunnél itself would be 17.9 cfs? 2 Q. And did you have a chance to observe the
3 A. | believeit would, yes. 3 condition of the tunnel while you were there?
4 MR. MAY: Okay. Director, | would move for the 4 A. 1did not go to the end of thetunnel. |
5 admission of 2067. 5 chickened out when the water got up to my waist. But |
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: And | won't evenwait for | 6 did observe the -- the corrugated metal pipe and the
7 theobjection. | don't want it in the record, and | 7 rock tunnel for some distance, about 100 feet into
8 don't seeareason for it. We don't have acall from 8 there. And at least for that hundred feet there was no
9 Mr. Morris. He said what he did. But we're dealing 9 debrisinthe tunnel.
10 with acall from Rangen today and mitigation for that 10 Q. And when we're talking about the tunnel, it
11 call. 11 isacorrugated pipe.
12 MR. MAY: May | address that alittle bit, your 12 Would you expect debris where there'sa
13 Honor, because they're attempting to mitigate 13 corrugated pipe?
14 Mr. Morriswith water from the Sandy Pipeline, and to 14 A. Wall, | wouldn't expect anything to fall
15 mitigate other waters on -- other users on Billingsley 15 down from the roof of the tunnel.
16 Creek? 16 Q. Okay. Areyou familiar generaly with the
17 And so the amount of water that would show 17 hydrogeology of the Curren Tunnel?
18 upin-- from Rangen's cal is the amount that would 18 A. Generdly, yes.
19 show up from Rangen's call. There's also other water 19 Q. And based upon your familiarity with the
20 that would potentially show up. 20 hydrogeology of the tunnel and visits that you've made
21 THE HEARING OFFICER: | seenorelevanceof this |21 to the tunnel observing the tunnel, do you have an
22 document until | have a call from those other 22 opinion on whether or not cleaning the tunnel would
23 individuals pending in front of me. | won't allow this 23 resultin more water flowing from it?
24 document into the record. 24 A. ldo.
25 MR. MAY: Thank you, Director. 25 Q. Andwhat isthat?
Page 706 Page 708
1 Q. We'velooked at some of the specific items 1 A. Wadll, first et me define what | think
2 that you were able to make some evauation on. You 2 "cleaning" means. | don't believe "cleaning" means
3 also mentioned that others were too conceptual maybeto | 3 extending the length of the tunnel or the diameter of
4 do afull evaluation on. However, you did see that -- 4 thetunnel. To me, "cleaning” means about what the
5 and you've heard testimony with regard to potentially 5 watermaster said, if there are rocks in the bottom that
6 cleaning the tunnel. 6 havefallen down, take them out.
7 Did you have any opinion on whether or not 7 | would not expect any debris from the
8 cleaning the tunnel would result in more water to -- 8 standpoint of limbs or tree limbs, leaves, or anything
9 available at the Curren Tunnel? 9 elseinthere. | would expect very little sediment in
10 A. | do have an opinion. 10 the bottom, just because the media -- that tunnel is --
11 Q. Okay. And what isthat? 11 isdeveloped in basalt. And with the exception of
12 MR. TIBUDGE: Objection. Foundation. 12 sometimes interflow beds of maybe sand or something,
13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. Some 13 you don't get a bunch of sediment.
14 foundation would be helpful, that Mr. Brockway's been 14 So | don't think, based on my observations,
15 inthe tunnel or observed, Mr. May. 15 that theré'salot of -- of rocks or debrisin the
16 Q. (BY MR. MAY): Dr. Brockway, are you 16 bottom of the tunnel. And cleaning it by removing
17 familiar with the Curren Tunnel? 17 those, in my opinion, would result in very little, if
18 A. Yes 18 any, increasein flow.
19 Q. Okay. Haveyou visited the Curren Tunnel? 19 Q. And this may sound like an obvious
20 A. | havevisitedit and I've beeninit. 20 question, but why wouldn't you expect branches and such
21 Q. Okay. And haveyou visited and beenin it 21 things, leaves and thingsin the tunnel?
22 multiple times? 22 A. Well, | just don't know -- there aren't any
23 A. Only onetimedid | goinit. 23 treesinthetunnel. | don't know where it would come
24 Q. Okay. 24 from.
25 A. But I'vevisited the mouth of the tunnel 25 Q. Okay. So your understanding -- or your
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1 expectation would be that there would be little, if 1 other water rights which would affect perhaps the
2 any, benefit in terms of flow from cleaning the tunnel? 2 volume.
3 A. Unlessthere'sacave-in up there 3 And the other concern | have isthat my
4 somewhere, and then perhaps there could be some 4 understanding is the 8,008 acre-feet of potentially
5 impediment to flow out of the tunnel. | don't know 5 available well water isthe diversion allowance. And
6 that thereis. 6 my understanding isif you pump these wells as
7 Q. With regard to the procedure for -- or the 7 mitigation for some other use and you're changing the
8 proposal for a horizontal well, were you able to do 8 use of the water rights, that you may only be able to
9 any -- or do you have any opinion with regard to the 9 transfer to that new use the consumptive use under that
10 horizontal well that has been proposed? 10 water right.
11 A. | have an opinion. 11 And if that's the case, then the 8,008 is
12 Q. Andwhat isthat? 12 high. And the actua available water for use for
13 A. AslI understand the concept of drilling a 13 mitigation may be considerably lower.
14 horizontal well at some elevation in the vicinity of 14 MR. MAY: Thank you, Dr. Brendecke, that's all
15 the Curren Tunnel but below the Curren Tunnel, there-- |15 I'vegot -- or, Dr. Brockway. | apologize.
16 thereistechnology to drill horizontal wells. 16 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Cross-examination,
17 My concern would be with the hydraulic and 17 Mr. Budge?
18 hydrologic impact of that -- if a horizontal well were 18 And | guess | want to put everybody on
19 drilled on both the Curren Tunnel, existing flows, and 19 notice, | need to be out of here no later than 20 to
20 theaguifer in the vicinity of Curren Tunnel and 20 the hour, which means that we only have about ten
21 adjacent wellsand springs. They would decrease. 21 minutes for cross-examination and no time for rebuttal
22 And | believe Dr. Brendecke said if you 22 testimony from Dr. Brendecke if you intend to call him.
23 take more water out of the tunnel, it's got to come 23 So | guess | anticipate that we'll be back
24 from someplace. And it will result in decreasing water |24 here at two o'clock, folks. | just don't see us
25 levelsin that area above or upgradient from the Curren |25 getting through it.
Page 710 Page 712
1 Tunndl. 1 MR. TIBUDGE: | think we can, if Dr. Brockway
2 Q. Dr. Brendecke (sic), with regard to the 2 will talk alittle faster, not wait so much between
3 over-the-rim plan -- sorry. Now I'm doing it. 3 questions and answers, welll get it done.
4 Dr. Brockway -- Dr. Brockway, I'm showing you on the 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: It isaways the fault of
5 screen what's been admitted as Exhibit 1059, which | 5 thewitness, isn't it?
6 understand was prepared by Dr. Brendeckerelatedtothe | 6 Be careful, Mr. Budge.
7 over-the-rim proposal. 7 MR. TIBUDGE: If | talk too quick, sSlow me
8 A. Yes 8 down. I'll dothe same.
9 Q. Have you seen this before? 9 THE HEARING OFFICER: I'm not sure who's been
10 A. Yes 10 responsible for us going thislong.
11 Q. Okay. And I'd call your attention to the 11 Go ahead.
12 column here, which is the second from the last, 12 MR. TIBUDGE: Director, you said 20 to the
13 relating to the volume. | will represent to you -- and 13 hour?
14 you may recall that Dr. Brendecke indicated that this 14 THE HEARING OFFICER: Y eah.
15 isthe simply the volume limitation on the water right. 15 MR. TIBUDGE: If | losetrack of time, please
16 A. Yes 16 point it out.
17 Q. Okay. And with regard to the proposal to 17 THE HEARING OFFICER: We have ten minutes.
18 pump water from these wells, what significance does 18
19 that column have for you? 19 CROSS-EXAMINATION
20 A. Wadl, it doesn't -- it doesn't allow me to 20 BY MR. TJIBUDGE:
21 definitively determine, first of all, what would be the 21 Q. Dr. Brockway, I'm holding what is one of
22 volume available for pumping from each of those wells. |22 the exhibits that's been put into evidence. | don't
23 Q. Andwhy isthat? 23 have the number.
24 A. Waéll, in some cases there's no volume 24 Justin, can you tell me?
25 listed on that table or they're combined with some 25 MR. MAY: 2073.
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1 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): It's hydrograph of 1 Dr. Brendecke (sic), thisisthe
2 flowsfrom the Curren Tunnel. 2 application that the groundwater districts have
3 This does not include flows out of the 3 submitted in this case.
4 white pipein the bottom of the tunnel; is that 4 Have you reviewed this?
5 correct? 5 A. Yes
6 A. No. That'sthe IDWR data coming out. 6 Q. Do you seethere's apurpose of use for
7 Q. Good enough. Okay. 7 mitigation?
8 Justin, please pull up Exhibit 2069. 8 A. | seeonefor mitigation for irrigation.
9 Thiswas atable of all Billingsey Creek 9 Q. Haveyou seen other water rightsin your
10 water rights. You had highlighted flows to various 10 experience working with water users that have
11 ditches. 11 mitigation as a purpose of use?
12 Am | correct in understanding that this 12 A. Yes. But not mitigation for irrigation.
13 table does not include combined limits for any of these |13 Q. You have seen other water rights with
14 water rights? 14 mitigation as a purpose of use?
15 A. |think you'reright. These aredirectly 15 A. Yes
16 off the page 1 of the IDWR database. 16 Q. Andisit your understanding that if the
17 Q. Okay. Sothese arewhat's on paper, but 17 groundwater districts were to assign this application
18 not necessarily representative of what the watermaster |18 for permit to Rangen, then Rangen could then take up
19 may need to deliver; isthat correct? 19 therest of the permitting and perfection process?
20 A. Yes 20 A. You can assign a permit, yes.
21 Q. Okay. Justin, if you'd pleaseturn to 21 Q. Okay. Let me ask you afew questions about
22 Exhibit 2075. 22 the Martin-Curren Tunnel. You testified that you'd
23 Just to make sure we're clear on this, this 23 been inside the tunnel.
24 isthe table that you were provided by Rangen's 24 When was that?
25 attorneys and has some summaries of water rightsfrom |25 A. Probably about 1995 or earlier.
Page 714 Page 716
1 Martin-Curren Tunnel and the Sandy Pipe or the Sandy | 1 Q. Andyou had been to the end of the
2 Ponds. 2 corrugated pipe; isthat right?
3 | want to confirm, this table does not 3 A. AsI remember, we went about 100 feet in.
4 include any Candy or Musser water rights; is that 4 That'sall.
5 right? 5 Q. Beyond the end of the corrugated pipe?
6 A. It does not. 6 A. | don't remember. That's along time ago.
7 Q. You'renot sureif thefirst group of water 7 Q. Okay. Youtestified that you would not
8 rightsof 75 acres overlapsin part or in full the 8 expect that removing rock and other debris from the
9 second group of water rights; isthat right? 9 tunnel would have any impact on flows from the tunnel;
10 A. I'mnot sure. 10 right?
1 Q. There'sno accounting in this table of 11 A. |did.
12 water that may be delivered under shares of stock at 12 Q. Would the Curren Tunnel behave
13 North Side Canal Company; isthat right? 13 hydraulically similar to other tunnelsin the area,
14 A. That'sright. 14 such as the Hoagland Tunnel or some of the others that
15 Q. Justin, please turn to Exhibit 2067. 15 arein that vicinity?
16 Thisisthe model -- the table summarizing 16 A. | don't-- | don't know if it would or not.
17 model run. Go ahead. Okay. Intheinterest of time, 17 It depends on what those other tunnels are built in and
18 I'm going to skip this one. 18 how they're built and stability and a whole bunch of
19 Justin, please -- 19 stuff.
20 THE HEARING OFFICER: | hopeso. It'snotin |20 Q. Andif actual experience of cleaning
21 evidence. 21 tunnelshad arecord of improving flows from the
22 MR. TIBUDGE: Right. 22 tunnel, | guess you would acknowledge that cleaning can
23 MR. MAY:: I'd be happy to offer it again. 23 have some benefit on increasing flows?
24 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): Let meshift gearsa 24 A. Onthosetunnels, sure. That was
25 moment and have Justin pull up Exhibit 1018. 25 demonstrated then.
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1 Q. Let meask you about extending the tunnel 1 Q. And for groundwater users, isn't it common
2 or drilling a horizontal well, which are kind of 2 for them to deepen wells on occasion?
3 similar activities. 3 MR. MAY: Objection. Relevance.
4 Do you remember testifying about these 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
5 subjects at the delivery call hearing that was held 5 Q. (BY MR. TJBUDGE): Isit common for
6 last May? 6 groundwater pumpers to deepen their wells on occasion?
7 A. Yes 7 A. They can do that, yes.
8 Q. Do you recall during that testimony 8 Q. Sometimes they even drill new wellsto
9 reviewing the engineering report by SPF Engineering | 9 replace wellsthat aren't functioning properly?
10 that evaluated a horizontal well? 10 A. Yes.
11 A. | havelooked at that report, yes. 11 Q. And they're permitted to do that, if the
12 Q. Doyou recall agreeing at that time that 12 Department grants them transfer if they need to or
13 drilling ahorizontal well would have a-- likely have |13 something like that.
14 anet increase on the total flow available at the 14 And those activities can have the effect,
15 Rangen facility? 15 for example, a groundwater pumper drilling a new well
16 A. It could. 16 or deepening awell or enlarging awell, that can have
17 Q. So conceptually you'd agree that a 17 theeffect of drawing down the water table in the
18 horizontal well could provide additional water to 18 vicinity of that well; isthat right?
19 Rangen? 19 MR. MAY: Objection. Relevance.
20 A. It could. 20 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
21 Q. You'veraised aconcern here that you 21 THE WITNESS: It can.
22 haven't actually seen the engineering designs for a 22 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): And those activities
23 horizontal well. 23 aregenerally resolved based on the priority of the
24 But at least on a conceptual level, you'd 24 water rights used to withdraw water from those wells or
25 agree that that may be a suitable form of mitigation? |25 other affected wells; is that your understanding?
Page 718 Page 720
1 A. With some caveats, yes. 1 A. | don'tthink -- if you're just going to
2 Q. Okay. And you did explain you have some 2 repar awell, priority doesn't mean much.
3 concern about a hydraulic impact on the local aquifer, 3 Q. Butif maybeimproving it, deepening it or
4 inthat extending the Curren Tunnel or drilling a 4 enlarging it or something like that.
5 horizontal well could have some drawdown inthewater | 5 A. Waell, keep in mind thisis not avertical
6 tableinthat vicinity; isthat right? 6 well. Thisisnot agroundwater right.
7 A. Yes 7 Q. | understand that. I'm asking you about
8 Q. And that drawdown would occur because more | g vertical wells.
9 water isdischarging out of those tunnels to Rangen? 9 A. With groundwater rights?
10 A. Thewater table will be decreased by a 10 Q. Yes
11 horizontal well. 11 A. Canyouimprove them?
12 Q. Let meask you, inyour experience as an 12 Q. Yeah.
13 engineer dealing with water delivery systems, it's not 13 A. Yes.
14 uncommon for a surface water user to improve their 14 Q. And they can have an effect in drawing down
15 diversion device, such as a headgate; correct? 15 the water tablein that vicinity of that well; is that
16 A. No. That happens. 16 right?
17 Q. Ortoimprove their conveyance system, say 17 A. They could.
18 lining aditch or piping a ditch, something of that 18 Q. You complained earlier about not having
19 nature? 19 sufficient technical datato adequately review the
20 A. They can do that. 20 feasibility of some of the mitigation alternatives.
21 Q. Thosetypes of activities can have adverse 21 You've admitted that drilling a horizontal well or
22 impact on other water users who may have become 22 extending the Curren Tunnel would likely have a net
23 dependent on the seepage or something of that nature? |23 increase in water flow. | want to ask you about a
24 A. Weéll, depending on the individual project, 24 pump-back system.
25 yes. 25 Isn't designing a pump-back system | mean
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1 fairly common type of engineering work for somebody 1 A. That would.
2 likeyou? 2 Q. Identify design parameters, like the flows
3 MR. MAY: Object. It'sbeyond the scope of 3 necessary, the pipe sizing, the pump sizing, things of
4 direct. 4 that nature?
5 MR. TIBUDGE: Well, I'll rephrase the question. 5 A. And the acquisition to the resource --
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. 6 Q. Theacquisition --
7 Q. (BY MR.TJBUDGE): Do you have any 7 A. --yes.
8 objection to the pump-back proposal made by the 8 Q. That would be certainly something you'd do.
9 groundwater usersto recirculate water within the 9 Sometimes there's permits necessary that
10 Rangen hatchery? 10 you would evaluate during that process?
11 A. Yes 11 A. Yes
12 MR. MAY: Same objection. 12 Q. And then after the preliminary plans are
13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained. | don't think |13 done, there would be a period of review where you
14 it's Mr. Brockway's place here to object or not. He's 14 review those before coming up with final engineering
15 here as an expert. 15 plans; isthat right?
16 MR. TIBUDGE: So Mr. Brockway isnot offering |16 A. That would be normal.
17 any testimony concerning the feasibility of apump-back |17 Q. If you wereto go through this process for
18 system; isthat correct? 18 Rangen, | assume that would take afair amount of
19 MR. HAEMMERLE: | don't think he did. 19 engineering resources of your firm?
20 MR. TIBUDGE: Okay. | just want to clarify 20 A. Yes
21 that he's not offering any testimony in opposition to 21 Q. | presume the other engineers that work at
22 that. 22 your firm have other projectsthey're also engaged in
23 Q. Let meask you about engineering work. 23 today?
24 If your firm was hired to design and 24 A. | hope so.
25 develop an over-the-rim system for Rangen, | want to 25 MR. MAY: Objection. Relevance, beyond the
Page 722 Page 724
1 ask you about the process you'd go through. | presume 1 scope of direct.
2 thereinitially would be a period of afeasibility 2 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled.
3 study. 3 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): How long do you think
4 MR. MAY: Objection. Beyond the scope of 4 it would take to go through the process of obtaining
5 direct. 5 preliminary engineering plans for an over-the-rim
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Overruled, at least for 6 system similar to those conceptually proposed for Snake
7 now. 7 River Farms or that we proposed here for Rangen?
8 Q. (BY MR. TIBUDGE): Youwould beginwithan | 8 A. To get construction drawings, is that what
9 initia feasibility study? 9 you're saying?
10 A. Usually start with areconnaissance study. 10 Q. How about preliminary engineering plans.
11 Q. You might, as part of that reconnai ssance 11 Which would be prior to the construction plans; right?
12 study, review prior work that your firm or other 12 A. ltwould -- it would take at least six
13 engineering firms have donein this regard? 13 months.
14 A. Yes 14 Q. And do you have just arough, off the cuff
15 Q. Andinitially come up with just an 15 ballpark of what the cost of doing that might be?
16 evaluation of the -- on a conceptual level whether it's 16 A. No. No, | don't.
17 likely to work. 17 MR. MAY: Objection. Relevance, aswell as
18 And then having that done, would you then 18 beyond the scope.
19 engage in some preliminary engineering work? 19 THE HEARING OFFICER: Sustained.
20 A. If it appeared from that 20 MR. TIBUDGE: No further questions.
21 reconnaissance-level study that there was merit to 21 THE HEARING OFFICER: My clock says 12:40,
22 proceed. 22 folks. I'll seeyou at two o'clock. Thanks.
23 Q. And as part of that preliminary work, you 23 MR. HAEMMERLE: Areyou caling Mr. Brendecke?
24 would obtain surveys, if necessary. 24 MR. TJBUDGE: No. We'redone.
25 Would that be common? 25 THE HEARING OFFICER: But we have cross-examine
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1 orwehave-- 1 evidence you want to today. We've discussed the
2 MR. LEMMON: No. 2 possibility of an aternative. And maybe you could
3 THE HEARING OFFICER: -- redirect? 3 tell us, Gary, what you want to do at this point.
4 MR. MAY: | don't have any redirect. 4 MR. LEMMON: Yeah, | fed like being able to be
5 THE HEARING OFFICER: You don'tintend to call 5 involved -- and | thank you for going along with my
6 Dr. Brendecke? 6 inexperiencein participating in something like this,
7 MR. TIBUDGE: No. 7 but that | would -- in lieu of testifying today, |
8 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. So everybody's 8 think | would just like to submit my written testimony
9 finished. 9 for youto consider. Andwiththat | think we're
10 Mr. Lemmon, do you have questions? 10 complete with what we'd like to present.
11 MR. LEMMON: No, | don't. 11 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. And the parties
12 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. We have some 12 have reviewed the written testimony, as | understand,
13 cleanup to do and | need to makeit very brief. 13 Randy, and --
14 So we have documents to distribute. And | 14 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yes, that's correct. We
15 propose that we mark these as exhibitsin the 3000 15 reviewed the testimony that's typed up by the Lemmons,
16 series. 16 and would propose to just allow that to be entered as
17 By the way, Mr. Lemmon, | did not ask you 17 written without him being sworn or testifying, with one
18 whether you want to present any direct testimony today. 18 change on -- which | spoke to Mr. Lemmon about, would
19 MR. LEMMON: No. | think in view of everything 19 beon page 3, at the top.
20 we've covered and the amount of time we've got, | 20 Thefirst full paragraph has a comment
21 would -- 21 under thetitle"IGWA Proposal 9." Andin thefirst
22 THE HEARING OFFICER: I'm happy to comeback at |22 sentenceistheword "would.” And we agreed to strike
23 two o'clock. 23 theword "would" and substitute the word "might."
24 MR. LEMMON: | will rest. | won't ask everybody 24 And | think Mr. Lemmon penned that in on
25 todo that. 25 the copy that he has. He could --
Page 726 Page 728
1 THE HEARING OFFICER: You certainly have the 1 MR. LEMMON: | used theword "may." "May not."
2 option. | don't want to cut your time short. 2 MR. RANDY BUDGE: "May" instead of "might."
3 MR. LEMMON: | did have awritten document that 3 MR. LEMMON: Yeah.
4 | -- you know, that | prepared to present. | guess| 4 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Okay. Andif that would be
5 could submit that, if it would be -- 5 pennedin and initialed by Mr. Lemmon, that one word
6 MR. TIBUDGE: We haven't seen that. We would 6 change, just submit it in that fashion.
7 liketo review that, and then we could evaluate whether 7 THE HEARING OFFICER: So the document that |
8 we have an objection toit. 8 havein front of me shows the change that you discussed
9 THE HEARING OFFICER: I'll seeyou back at two 9 and that Gary Lemmon discussed. And | -- well, no, |
10 o'clock, folks. And it's not the fault of the 10 was thinking the original with his handwriting.
11 witnesses. 11 But that's this; right?
12 Thanks. 12 MS. LEMMON: Uh-huh.
13 (Lunch recess.) 13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. So | have an
14 (Exhibits 3000-3002 marked.) 14 original document with the change from “would" to
15 THE HEARING OFFICER: We arerecording after the |15 "may," and initialed by Gary Lemmon.
16 lunch break. 16 And, Mr. Lemmon, thisis acceptable to
17 And we're in the home stretch here. IGWA 17 you --
18 has presented all the evidence it intends to submit. 18 MR. LEMMON: That is.
19 Rangen has submitted al the evidence it intends to 19 THE HEARING OFFICER: -- with the change or
20 submit. And | understand there won't be any rebuttal 20 amendment?
21 testimony. So the direct testimony is completed from 21 MR. RANDY BUDGE: The only other qualification,
22 IGWA and Rangen. 22 justto clarify, isthat Mr. Lemmon'stestimony is
23 But, Mr. Lemmon, you have not had an 23 presented as alay witness. He's not contending to be
24 opportunity to testify or, Linda, either one of you. | 24 an expert on any matter.
25 want to give you the chance to testify and present any 25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Mr. Lemmon?
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1 MR. LEMMON: Yeah, we had thisdiscussion. You | 1 of the Curren Tunnel are. And the Hearing Officer felt
2 know, obviously since we have fish farms, | do know a 2 it wasimportant to have this datain the record, along
3 little bit about the subject. But | don't pretend to 3 with the Department's measurement data.
4 know agreat deal about recirculation systems, so... 4 We aso have some data that's recorded on
5 THE HEARING OFFICER: Well, | guess!'ll accept | 5 another CD. It's marked as Exhibit 3001. And the
6 the explanation. Some people can be qualified as 6 second CD isasummary -- and | guess these are data
7 experts because of long experienceinan area. And | 7 tables, and | haven't looked at the information myself,
8 know the Lemmon family has been there for along time, 8 but there'sinformation contained in this CD regarding
9 sol guess| would view, at least what's stated in the 9 previous activities conducted by IGWA and Southwest
10 document from his own personal observations, as being 10 Irrigation District from the years 2005 through 2010.
11 credible from the standpoint of hislong experiencein 11 As| understand it, Jennifer.
12 the Hagerman Valley. 12 And these activities have been recognized
13 Mr. Budge, | suspect you're referring to 13 inpreviousdelivery callsfor -- and actually used or
14 some technical discussion about pump-backs based on 14 included as stresses in the model. And that would be
15 what Mr. Lemmon has said. 15 model 1.1, as| understand. But they've been included
16 MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just -- I'm not questioning 16 in evaluating the simulated benefits of these
17 Mr. Lemmon's experience as afish farmer. Just simply 17 activities, specifically conversions, CREP, and
18 he'snot an engineer or a hydrologist or anyone with 18 groundwater recharge.
19 technical training or expertise and wasn't intending to 19 And my intention is that the Department
20 submit this as an expert witness, just simply asalay 20 will use thisinformation, then, to conduct transient
21 witness. 21 model runswith version 2.1 to then determine what
22 MR. LEMMON: I'm not intending to submit it as 22 the-- for each year what the remaining benefits are,
23 an expert witness. 23 simulated benefits of these activities.
24 THE HEARING OFFICER: We could attempt to 24 Now, it's probably not the right time for
25 qualify you. 25 this, and | don't necessarily want to have Jennifer
Page 730 Page 732
1 MS. BRODY: | put my money on Mr. Lemmon on 1 back up on the stand, but is my representation okay,
2 that. 2 Jennifer, with respect to this disc?
3 THE HEARING OFFICER: And has Rangen reviewed 3 MS. SUKOW: Yes.
4 this document? 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. So hopefully, you
5 MR. MAY: We have no objection, your Honor. 5 canglean, at least from this, the information that I'm
6 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. All right. So 6 asking staff to digest and then work through. And |
7 should we mark this as an exhibit? I'm assuming, based 7 anticipate that the model runs, then, that are
8 on the numbering scheme, this probably should be 4000. 8 generated will be sent to the parties and that | will
9 Is that acceptable? 9 augment the record with those model runs.
10 MR. TJBUDGE: Yes. 10 It creates a particular procedural problem
11 THE HEARING OFFICER: Do you want an actual 11 for me because the parties then will have an
12 label, bluelabdl, | assume? 12 opportunity to review it and question the contents, and
13 (Exhibit 4000 marked and received.) 13 I'll give the parties another opportunity if they want
14 THE HEARING OFFICER: And another matter we need |14 to call witnesses regarding these model runsto do so.
15 todiscuss. Garrick Baxter has distributed some CD 15 | would hope, based on the testimony of the
16 discs, some CDs, and they contain data. Andin 16 experts, that they'll find that the work done by
17 particular, as| understand the discussions off the 17 Jennifer iscredible. Infact, I'd say incredible.
18 record, Exhibit 3000 -- or what's been marked as 18 But certainly | have confidence in what she does. And
19 Exhibit 3000 contains data related to flowsin the PVC 19 | haven't heard any questioning of the Department's
20 pipethat diverts water from inside the Curren Tunnel 20 modeling, model runs that have been done.
21 and then delivers the water diverted to the Rangen 21 And the last document marked as Exhibit --
22 hatch house and related facilities. 22 and | think it's 3002, is an aerial image or imagery of
23 And the Department intends to use this data 23 thevicinity of the Rangen facility and also of the
24 in combination with Department-measured flowsin Curren 24 Musser, Morris, and Candy properties. And this
25 Tunnel to determine and evaluate what the total flows 25 particular aerial photograph outlines the boundaries of
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1 those properties, as well as depicts an outline of the 1 Monday -- in response to the requests we made earlier.
2 boundaries of the North Side Canal Company service area 2 And he provided some information and
3 ascontained in the records of the Department of Water 3 indicated that there was a recharge project through the
4 Resources. Attached to the aeria imagery isa 4 canals of something like 217,000 acre-feet, with one of
5 description of the two colored boundary lines. 5 those we contributed to that he tied the money to. And
6 And al of these marked exhibits the 6 it'sone of the exhibits we have here that showed
7 Director intendsto consider as -- as part of the 7 something less than $50,000 being paid. That was one
8 record and will use thisinformation in writing the 8 project. But he hadn't yet been able to identify the
9 decision. 9 specifics of where that water was recharged.
10 Now, it seemed to me that there was some 10 And as | understood, he was still looking
11 additional information, Randy Budge, that you wanted me 11 for the other one, some contributions made on | think
12 to somehow recognize in the record, but maybe | 12 it was Milepost 31 and perhaps one other recharge site.
13 misunderstood. 13 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. We had an exhibit,
14 Were there some additional documents out 14 Justin, that was not at least verbally recognized as
15 there, or did we address all of them? 15 having been admitted.
16 MR. TIBUDGE: The only onesthat we had were 16 And isthat No. 1071?
17 thereports of Bern Hinckley and Tom Rogers that we had 17 MR. BAXTER: 2071.
18 anticipated submitting in the record. But we 18 THE HEARING OFFICER: Oh, 2071. Sorry. And as
19 understand those are not being allowed. 19 | recall, and in our discussions in going back through
20 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah, | thought there were |20 the record, the exhibit was offered, but | never
21 maybe some Department documents that you wanted to 21 responded.
22 ensurethat | -- 22 So Exhibit 2071 is received into evidence.
23 MR. TIBUDGE: WEéll, the documents that we tried 23 MR. MAY: Thank you.
24 to obtain from the Water Resource Board that we've been 24 THE HEARING OFFICER: Now, do we need to do any
25 unsuccessful at were their records of IGWA's 25 additional cleanup?
Page 734 Page 736
1 participation in recharge activities. And so far we've 1 MR. RANDY BUDGE: | show that as being admitted
2 struck out on that. 1 don't know if that's something 2 over objection.
3 the Department has available to it or not. 3 MR. TIBUDGE: Y eah.
4 THE HEARING OFFICER: What documentsareyou | 4 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah, and| --
5 talking about? 5 MR. MAY: | think there was someissuein the
6 MR. TIBUDGE: WEéll, in preparing for the 6 record maybe as to whether it was, so we're just
7 hearing, wetried to find out -- tried to get a summary 7 cleaning it up.
8 of therecharge -- the Water Board recharge activities 8 THE HEARING OFFICER: And | didn't have avery
9 that have happened each year and the private 9 good recollection of it, and Garrick didn't either.
10 contributorsto those. 10 And hisrecords didn't reflect its admission. So we
11 We were unable to get that data, in part 11 just wanted to ensure that it was in the record. Okay.
12 because of person who was keeping it, Mr. Quinn | think 12 MR. MAY: The only final thing that we were
13 hisnamewas, is no longer either working or in charge 13 wondering about was are you going to be wanting or
14 of that program. | don't know if that's something 14 requiring some kind of briefing after the hearing
15 Department personnel have accessto or not. But that 15 today?
16 ispublic record. 16 THE HEARING OFFICER: | didn't plan to request
17 THE HEARING OFFICER: Wecan look for it, | 17 briefs. | supposeif the parties want to submit them,
18 suppose. | assume somebody has already. | don't know. 18 that'sfine. But my intention isto issue adecision
19 MR. TIBUDGE: Yeah. 19 inatime frame of days or weeks, not months. There's
20 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. I'mwillingtotry |20 anurgency about this.
21 tofindit. If it'sout there, then maybe we need to 21 And my concernisthat if theresa
22 have afurther discussion about it. 22 briefing schedule, it pushes all of those | think very
23 MR. RANDY BUDGE: On that point, | did have an 23 urgent timetables back.
24 e-mail back, one response from Brian Patton that was 24 And so | want the parties to tell me why
25 provided -- I'm not sureiif it was over the weekend or 25 it'simportant to brief. And recognizing that on both
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1 sides, whatever happens, it will push usfarther into 1 understand?
2 thesummer. There'sless opportunity for relief if 2 THE HEARING OFFICER: Yeah. Yeah. We need to
3 that'sthegoal, Mr. May. And there's |ess opportunity 3 have-- | just can't extend the time frame out. This
4 for preparation and certainty on the part of IGWA. 4 isnumber one priority for me and writing adecision
5 And so | guess I'm wondering why the 5 and giving the parties, those water users out there,
6 partieswould want to do that. 6 some-- adecision that creates certainty.
7 Mr. Budge? 7 Okay. Anything else?
8 MR. TIBUDGE: 1 think there are some legal 8 Thanks for the help of everyone. The
9 issuesout there, asfar as recharge credit, that we 9 record will close. Asl said, well work diligently on
10 were anticipating briefing on. And it may be helpful 10 adecision.
11 for the Director to understand each party's view of the 11 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
12 evidence and its relevance. 12 -000-
13 | do feel like with the cease-and-desist 13
14 order having been stayed, along with the curtailment, 14
15 that maybe will relieve some of the pressure or provide |15
16 some opportunity to provide briefing. But our 16
17 preference would be to submit briefing under aschedule |17
18 that is acceptable to the Director and hopefully to 18
19 Rangen aswell. 19
20 THE HEARING OFFICER: Okay. Justin? 20
21 MR. MAY: We didn't necessarily have areason 21
22 that wereally wanted to brief. | just wanted to make 22
23 surethat | understood if you were expecting something, |23
24 how quickly | needed to get it generated. 24
25 THE HEARING OFFICER: Wdll, | cantdll the 25
Page 738 Page 740
1 partiesthat | intend to work on this order over the 1 REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
2 weekend. Andif you want to submit briefs, you can 2 I, JEFF LaMAR, CSR No. 640, Certified Shorthand
3 work on abrief over the weekend too. 3 Reporter, certify:
4 So one week simultaneous briefs. If you 4 That the foregoing proceedings were taken before
5 want to submit one | want it in by next Wednesday, 5 me at the time and place therein set forth, at which
6 seven days. 6 time the witness was put under oath by me.
7 Do you have any input? 7 That the testimony and all objections made were
8 MR. BAXTER: | wasjust going to say that would 8 recorded stenographically by me and transcribed by me
9 givetimeto also have Jennifer run the transient model 9 or under my direction.
10 runsand provide that information, so | think that 10 That the foregoing is atrue and correct record
11 could be taking place in tandem. 11 of all testimony given, to the best of my ability.
12 THE HEARING OFFICER: I'm not sure she told me 12 | further certify that | am not arelative or
13 she could have it donein aweek, but -- 13 employee of any attorney or party, nor am | financially
14 MS. SUKOW: 1 think | told you two weeks. And 14 interested in the action.
15 part of the reason for that iswe usually do run an 15 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, | set my hand and seal this
16 internal QA check. So Allan will make arun, too, and 16 27th day of March, 2014.
17 discuss the time conflicts. 17
18 THE HEARING OFFICER: We may not haveit out by |18
19 then. But | guess| want to have the benefit of the 19
20 briefsbeforel issue adecision. So-- and | may have 20
21 that earlier or later. I'm not sure | cantie-- given 21
22 what Jennifer has said, and staff time and Allan 22 JEFF LaMAR, CSR NO. 640
23 Wylie'savailability or unavailability. Well get it 23 Notary Public
24 done as soon as we can. But one week to brief. 24 Eagle, Idaho 83616
25 MR. MAY: One week simultaneous with no reply, | 25 My commission expires December 30, 2017
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APPEARANCES ( Conti nued):
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322 East Front Street
Boi se, |daho 83720
For Blind Canyon Aquaranch, Inc.:
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THE HEARI NG OFFICER  We're on the record.

MR. HAEMVERLE: During the testinony of Butch
Morris, | referred to Exhibit 2032, which is the
menor andum of agreenent between Butch and North Snake
G oundwat er District.

Previously it was adm tted, one of your
exhibits, but I'd like to offer 2032. |It's easier to
fol | ow.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: No objecti on.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Ckay. M. Lenmon?

MR. LEMMON: That's fine.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Docunent mar ked as
Exhi bit 2032 is received into evidence.

(Exhi bit 2032 received.)

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Just the single exhibit,
M. Haemmerl e?

MR. HAEMVERLE: That's it. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Thanks.

Okay. Cross-exam nation, M. My?

MR. MAY: |If | can conme over here and adjust the
l'ights.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Yeah.

111
111
111

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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CHARLES M BRENDECKE,
havi ng been called as a witness by | GM and previously
duly sworn to tell the truth relating to said cause,

testified as foll ows:

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR NMNAY:
Q Good norning, Dr. Brendecke.
A Good norning, M. My.
Q Justin May on behal f of Rangen.

Dr. Brendecke, have you had a chance to
review the Director's order in this matter? Have you
seen the order that was issued in Rangen's delivery
call?

A Yes.

Q I'"'mgoing to show you a page of that order
For those who are flipping, it's the 42nd page of the
actual exhibit. And it is page 42 in the order,
Exhi bit No. 2042.

Dr. Brendecke, if you'll look here in the
Director's order, the second sentence of what we've got
here, which is the |ast paragraph in the order,

di scussing a mtigation plan to be filed in this case.

Do you see the beginning of that second

sentence says "The mtigation plan nust provide

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,

I NC. 800-234-9611
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sinmul ated steady-state benefits of 9.1 cfs to the
Curren Tunnel "?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. And with regard to that portion of
the order, to the sinulated steady-state benefits to
the Curren Tunnel, it would be nmy understandi ng that
Ms. Sukow has prepared what we've | ooked at before,
which is Exhibit 1025 outlining what the steady-state
benefits would be of the itens proposed in the plan.

I s that your understandi ng?

A The itens proposed in | GM s pl an?

Q Yes.
A Wel |, these are steady-state benefits of
conversions -- | GM' s conversions and CREP and

Sout hwest recharge. There are other aspects of the
pl an, but these are steady-state cal culations for these
three different years.

Q Right. And those other aspects of the plan
we w || discuss.

You' re tal ki ng about the Sandy Pipeline and

things |ike that?

A Yes.

Q That woul d provide actual water direct flow
to the tunnel; correct?

A. Yes.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,

I NC. 800-234-9611
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Q Ckay. In terns of the steady-state
benefits that would be nodeled, it's nmy understandi ng
that these are the itens that IGM is seeking credit
for.

Correct?

A | GM is seeking credit for these itens,
yes.

Q Ckay. And in terns of the itens that are
nodel ed here, the CREP --

And if you'd blow that up naybe a little
bit maybe you' d see it.

But in ternms of the itens that are nodel ed
here, the CREP, conversions, and the recharge that are
nodel ed here, it's mnmy understanding that you are
confortable with Ms. Sukow s cal cul ati on.

A Yes. | don't at this point have any reason
to dispute them | usually doubl e-check things, but
there hasn't been an opportunity. And when |'ve done
that in the past, the differences have been m nor.

Q Ckay. And so recognizing that with regard
to those steady-state benefits, for the years that are
calcul ated here, if we go year by year, in 2011 the
total benefit would be 1.7; in 2012, 2.1; and for 2013
it would be 1.7. 1Is that correct?

A. Yes, that's what she cal cul at ed.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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Q Okay. And in ternms -- so when we're
| ooking at the 9.1 cfs obligation at steady state, you
woul d agree with ne that those itens there do not get
there by thensel ves; correct?

A That's correct.

Q Okay. And in addition to the sonmewhere
around 1.7 cfs credit for those existing itens, is
there sonmething el se, just |ooking at the steady-state
calculation that 1GM is asking for credit for in
conversi ons, recharge, or CREP?

A Well, I've outlined the possibilities of
sone recharge benefits from Sandy Ponds and from ot her
activities that | GM has either done itself or
participated in.

Q And those were --

A But those haven't been quantified
precisely.

Q Sorry. | didn't nmean to tal k over you

Those are the activities that you di scussed
yesterday with your exhibit, | believe it was 1095;
correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. O her than those activities that
we' ve got up here from Ms. Sukow and your Exhibit 1095,

are there other activities in that nature that 1GM is

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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claimng credit for?

A Vel |, the assignment of the water right on
Billingsley Creek could provide an inmedi ate credit.

Q Right. And so that woul d be another one
that would provide direct flow |I'mjust trying to
tal k about sonething that woul d have a nodel ed
steady-state benefit to the tunnel.

Was there sonething else within that first
category?

A Not that | can think of at the nonent.

Q Okay. Wth regard to your Exhibit 1095 --
I won't go back through that again in detail, but it's
nmy understanding that wwth regard to the Sandy Ponds
North Snake Groundwater District is the only nmenber of
| GMA that owns any water rights into the Sandy Pond.

Is that correct? Is that your
under st andi ng?

A I don't believe any of the other
groundwat er districts own shares in North Side.

Q And in terns of |GM, that woul d be the
only shares that are owned by anyone with regard to
wat er going into the Sandy Pond?

A Well, it's the only ones that |'ve heard
of .

Q Ckay. And it's -- would you -- it's your

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,

I NC. 800-234-9611
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understanding that that's 14 shares of water going into
t he Sandy Ponds?

A That's what | heard yesterday.

Q Under the order, as we just discussed, the
order also allows an alternative where | GM could
provide a mtigation plan to provide a direct flowto
the tunnel as well.

I s that your understandi ng?

Yes.

Ckay. And that also was an alternative
9.1 cfs of water; correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. In terns of direct flow-- well,
before we nove on to that, | want to talk a little bit
about the steady-state result.

It's my understanding that |GM is claimng
credit for steady-state benefits for the activities
that are noted here on -- or taken into account on
Exhi bit 1025.

Correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. Those activities are not consistent

t hroughout the years, are they? They vary?
A They vary a little bit fromyear to year.

Not very much.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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Q The assunption of -- if | understand it
correctly, the assunption of a steady-state run is that
the inputs that you're putting into it occurred during
the entire steady-state period; correct?

A In general a steady-state nodel run is one
in which there's conplete equilibrium

Q Ckay. And so the assunptions, as
understand it, with regard to these nunbers -- the 1.7,
the 2.1, and 1.7 -- is that for each of those years the
activities that are calculated or put into the nodel
woul d have occurred for the entire steady-state period;
is that correct?

A Well, when you say "the entire steady-state
period,"” it's not a period. It's just an assunption
of, well, how does this |ook at equilibrium

Q Ckay. And so --

A Not really a period of tinme associated with

Q Ckay. And so it may not be a particul ar
period of tine.
You run it until it reaches that
equi li brium correct?
A Yes.
Q Ckay. And during the tinme period for which

you run it -- whatever it is -- you're assun ng that
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these activities remain the sane?

A Yes, that they don't change.

Q And in fact, they do change? | nean that's
not true in this case that they don't change; is that
right?

A They change slightly fromyear to year

Q Ckay. And they change enough that at | east
for these years that were | ooked at you've got a
difference of 1.7 to 2.1 and back down to 1.7 within a
t hree-year period?

A Yeah. \When each of those years is viewed
in isolation, you do get a slightly different nunber
each year.

Q And a steady-state run does not tell us
what woul d accrue this year, does it?

A No. It says what would accrue in a state
of conplete equilibrium

Q Al right. So at sone point in the future,
whenever you reach that steady state, you would get
that amount of water? It doesn't occur this year?

A It -- that nunber is not going -- well, |
guess it depends on when things start. | nean the
conversi ons have been going on for quite a long tine.
W may well be near steady state with those effects at

this point.
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Q And have you nmade any attenpt to figure
that out? Have you | ooked back to see which
conversions have lasted for a certain period of tine?
Have you done any of that investigation?

A No, I've not. But I'maware that the nodel
responds relatively quickly in this area.

Q And | understand from your deposition that
you have nade no attenpt wth regard to this particul ar
mtigation plan to nake any determ nation of what woul d
show up in any given year.

Correct?
A I have not done any nodeling to predict

when effects woul d show up.

Q And it would be ny understandi ng that that

woul d require sonme kind of transient run.
Correct?

A Well, you know, the problemw th doing a
transient run is you have to nake a | ot of other
assunpti ons about what's going to happen next year and
the year after.

Q Right. And we just don't know that right
now, right?

A We don't know all of those things.

Q Ckay. And we don't know that in part

because, as M. Carlquist testified earlier, that the
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punpers have indicated that they need to have the right
to turn their punps back on; right?

A On sone conversions, the soft conversions,
| understand people can use their punps if the surface
wat er supply is inadequate.

Q And when you say "sone conversions," it's
nmy understanding that all of the conversions are soft,
the vast mgjority of then?

A | believe the vast mgjority of themare
soft conversions.

Q Ckay. And by "soft," you understand that
to nean that they can turn their punps back on if they
feel that they need to?

A Yeah. M understanding was it was sort of

a last resort thing, fromM. Carlquist's description

Q Rangen doesn't have that option, do they?
A Turn punps on?

Q Ri ght.

A Wl l, they don't have a well.

Q Right. They don't --

A They certainly could have a well.

Q But they don't have the water com ng out of

the Curren Tunnel, and they can't just decide, Hey,
wait, the water that's fromthis mtigation plan isn't

there so we're going to do sonething el se.
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The water isn't there; right?

A There's water in Billingsley Creek that
coul d be made avail able pretty quickly.

Q Ckay. So with regard to this particular
pl an, do you have a contingency plan that you' ve
created for getting the water to Rangen? If the
punpers decide to turn the water back on, do you have a
contingency plan for that?

A Vell, | believe that the soft conversions
that have occurred historically have probably reflected
sone degree of groundwater use. And Ms. Yenter
testified that she accounts for that in figuring out
the credit. So | think these credits account for sone
amount of that that has occurred historically. | don't
have any reason to think it would be any different in
the future.

Q And you're willing to |l et Rangen take that
risk?

A Well, our -- | believe IGM' s mtigation
plan intends to fully conply with the order and provide
the 9.1 cfs, either through activities that benefit the
aquifer or by direct flow, in sone conbination thereof.

Q And we've tal ked about the activities that
benefit the aquifer.

And the activities that benefit the aquifer
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that you're aware of do not anobunt to 9.1 cfs; correct?

A Well, these certainly don't --

Q Vell, we've tal ked --

A -- the ones that are sinulated here.

Q Ckay. And you've indicated that there
aren't any others sinulated in ternms of the aquifer?

A Not in this analysis of Ms. Sukow s, no.

Q Ckay. And where is the other analysis?

A There are -- there are other activities
t hat have gone on that have benefited the aquifer that
probably have benefits to Rangen.

Q Ckay. And you've attenpted to quantify
those, | believe, in your Exhibit 10957

A My Exhibit 1095 was neant to just get an
i dea of what the possible order of magnitude of those
benefits m ght be.

Q And the --

A It's not a precise quantification.

Q And the order of magnitude is significantly
| ess than 9.17

A It is less than 9.1.

Q Let's tal k about sonme of the alternatives
that you -- that the plan proposes for to get direct

wat er to Rangen.

The first one I'd like to talk about is you

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611





© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N NN P P P PP R R R
o A W N P O © ® N O O M W N P O

Page 550

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. 11 3/19/2014
had sone comments with regard to the Sandy Pipeline.

A | probably nentioned it.

Q Ckay. Wth regard to the Sandy Pipeli ne,
| GV s seeking sone direct flowcredit for the Sandy
Pipeline. And as | understand it, the reasoning from
IGM is that M. Mrris has rights in the Curren Tunnel
for irrigation, 1GM is -- the Sandy Pipeline exists,
and M. Morris is taking sonme water fromthe Sandy
Pi peline so he's not taking that water fromthe Curren
Tunnel .

That's correct? R ght? That's their
reasoni ng?

A Yes, it's a -- it's a project that reduces
conpeting diversions at the Curren Tunnel.

Q And in terns of benefit, of direct flow
benefit to Rangen, there's a nunber of limtations on
what |GM is seeking for credit.

The first of those would be the anount of
water that's actually available at the tunnel; correct?

A Yes, the physical discharge at the tunnel.

Q Right. So in terns of these limts, we're

| ooking at the | esser of the physical water avail able
at the tunnel, and also the anmount of water, as | would
understand it, that the farners could actually take

| egal ly; correct?
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A At the tunnel?

Q Yes.

A Yes, that's a potential limtation. That
doesn't sound, fromthe testinony |I've heard, like it
occurs very often.

Q Okay. And the potential Iimtations there
woul d be when those water rights in the tunnel are
actually in priority; correct?

A Yes.

Q And you' ve heard the testinony of M. Erwn
with regard to the required flows in the Curren Ditch,
potentially Billingsley Creek.

And to the extent that those rights are out
of priority, there would be no credit for | GM;
correct?

A I think I heard M. Erwin say that there

are rights to 15 cfs in the Curren Ditch that are
senior to the irrigation rights at the tunnel, and have
at least the theoretical potential to call out those
rights at the tunnel.

Q Right. And to the extent that that cal
exi sts there, that would be another limtation on
IGM's credit; correct?

A Yes. Now, it's certainly possible, |

think, for that call to be renoved by delivering water
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into the Curren Ditch by the pipeline.

Q And that water is only available -- or
excuse nme, the Curren Ditch rights are irrigation
rights; correct?

A That's ny under st andi ng.

Q The rights, at least, that we're tal king
about for M. Morris.

A There may be sone irrigation -- sone
year-round rights in the ditch.

Q The rights that we're discussing with
regard to M. Morris are irrigation rights; correct?

A Yes.

Q And those rights have a period of use that
isS not year-round; correct?

A | believe there were sonme stock rights at
the nouth of the tunnel that are year-round, but the
majority of themare irrigation rights.

Q And to the extent that they are irrigation
they are not available all year round?

A Those irrigation rights would not be
avai |l abl e year-round.

Q And they would be limted to any anount of
water that was actually delivered to M. Mrris,
correct, internms of alimtation on credit?

A "' mnot sure what you nean by "delivered to
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M. Mrris."

Q Well, any water that's delivered through
the Sandy Pipeline to M. Mrris, that would provide
anot her upper bound on what credit they could receive;
correct?

A Well, the concept is that M. Mrris would
be diverting water fromthe Sandy Pipeline that he
woul d ot herwi se divert fromthe tunnel. So if he
diverted less fromthe Sandy Pi peline, he -- perhaps he
could still divert fromthe tunnel

Q Looki ng at the further proposals that
you' ve nade, there's a nunber of proposals that you' ve
addressed that are conceptual proposals that you' ve
provi ded some kind of conceptual idea for, beginning
with the cleaning of the tunnel; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. And with regard to cleaning the
tunnel, what do you nean by "clean the tunnel"?

A Ensuring that there aren't any obstructions
or collapses in there that cause water to not appear at
the mouth of the tunnel and into the farnmer's box
collection system if you will.

Q Are you aware of any such obstructions?

A Well, I'"maware that periodically there's

debris build-up upstream of the corrugated pipe.
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don't know the degree to which this causes flows to be
diverted away fromthe normal outlet at the tunnel.

| do know the tunnel is unlined above the
corrugated pipe. There's certainly a possibility that
there has been over tine collapse of various parts of
the tunnel. And the tunnel could conceivably be
extended. | nean the hole was put into the side of the
cliff to find water, and they found it. And if they
went farther, they mght well find nore.

Q And you' ve done no investigation to
det erm ne how nuch that m ght be?

A No.

Q O what the results of such an extension
woul d be in terns of other water users?

A No. W talked a little bit about how you
mght try to estimate that yesterday.

Q And that really goes into your conceptua
plan with regard to a horizontal well, correct,
drilling a horizontal well sonewhere?

A Well, the horizontal well would presumably
be somewhere beneath the existing tunnel.

Q Ckay. And it would carry sone of the sane
ri sks as extending the tunnel for other water users;
correct?

A "' mnot sure what risks you're talking
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about .

Q Ckay. When you were discussing the
hori zontal well, you indicated that one of the primary
ways that you could test it would be to just do it,
correct, just drill it and see what happens?

A Well, I think it would be nore prudent to
put in some test holes up on the rimto -- so you had a
better idea of what direction you wanted to go.

Q Ckay. And those test wells, the purpose
you said would be to decide which direction you want to
go?

A Ri ght .

Q Ckay. And would you do anything to try and
eval uate the risks to other -- other users of water
around the Curren Tunnel ?

A That m ght be a condition that the D rector
woul d put on that kind of a schene.

Q Now, | wunderstand that you yourself did not
do any kind of investigation with regard to a
hori zontal well. And in fact, you had reviewed a
report that was done by M. Petrich, Christian Petrich.

Do you recall that, in SPF?

A It was done by SPF. | don't know exactly

how t hey divided the responsibilities for it.

Q Do you know who Christian Petrich provided
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that report for?

A | believe he provided the report for
Rangen.

Q Right. And so this is a draft of a
nmenor andum t o Rangen when Rangen was seeking to try and
find sone opportunities to get water; correct?

A That' s ny under st andi ng.

Q And M. Petrich was identifying one of
those, and indicated that a horizontal well m ght be
one option.

And that's -- this is what you were relying
upon, substantial part, with regard to your testinony
that a horizontal well would result in additional
wat er; correct?

A Yes. And it just makes hydraulic sense
al so that another well or tunnel beneath the existing
one woul d draw nore water fromthe aquifer

Q I'"'mgoing to point you to the -- |'ve
pul l ed up page 6 of this exhibit, and the | ast page
here.

And you'll see here M. Petrich is saying,
"“A horizontal well could result in substantial increase
in flowto the Rangen facility"; correct?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. "However, this floww Il likely
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decrease current discharge to the Curren Tunnel, to
other springs in the vicinity of the Curren Tunnel, and
possibly to wells |located on the rimabove the Curren
Tunnel . "

Do you agree that those woul d be concerns
when drilling a horizontal well below the Curren
Tunnel ?

A I think those are possibilities. |If the
objective here is to extract nore water fromthe
aquifer than is presently discharging at the tunnel,
that water will have to cone from sonmewhere

Q Right. And so it's alnpbst certain to do
precisely what M. Petrich was worri ed about here?

A I think it's certainly a possibility. It's
sonet hing that, you know, we could exanmine with the
groundwat er nodel, for exanple.

Q And you have not done that?

A No.

Q One of the other conceptual plans or
proposal s that you had was what I'Il call an

over-the-rimproposal, to take sone wells that are
above the Rangen facility and pipe that water together
and run it down the tunnel; correct? O run it down to
the tunnel; correct?

A Yes, that's the basic concept.
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Q Ckay. And you | ooked at a nunmber of wells,
| understand. And I'mgoing to show you Deposition
Exhi bit 1059, which | understand to be a Iist of the
wel l's that you | ooked at within a 2-mle radi us.

Correct?

A Yeah.

Q Do you recogni ze that?

A These are wells within 2 mles of the
tunnel outlet.

Q Ckay. And I'mgoing to direct you to the
colum here that refers to the use volume on those
water rights. And | understand the significance for
you of that colum is that that's the nmaxi num acre-feet
that you indicate could be punped fromthose wells.

Correct?

A Yes. Those are the water right volunetric
limts --

Q Ckay.

A -- where they exi sted.

Q And it's ny understanding that that's
significant because -- in your mnd, because it shows

8,008 acre-feet volume Iimtation, and that in order to
get 9.1 cfs you would need approxi mately 7, 000.
A. Alittle under 7, 000.

Q Alittle under 7-?
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A If you were trying to provide the ful
9.1 cfs this way.

Q So in order to acconplish an over-the-rim
pl an, the conceptual plan that you've got, you would
need virtually all of these wells to be connected,
correct, in order to get 9.1 cfs?

A If this was the only nethod of providing
mtigation.

Q Do you know whet her these vol une
[imtations that are here are sinply the vol une
l[imtations off of the water rights, or are these the
consunptive uses of these wells?

A These are nunbers fromthe water rights.

Q Ckay. So the actual consunptive use for
these wells would likely be I ess than that?

A It mght be less, in sone cases at |east.

Q Wth regard to the wells that are |isted
here that you are proposing, it's ny understanding that
you have not spoken with any of these water-right
hol ders.

Correct?

A | have not personally spoken with any of

them

Q Do you know whet her the proposal --

assum ng that you cone up with it, do you know whet her
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the proposal would provide for these acres to be dried
up so that the water can be punped, or would you be

pl anni ng on conversions fromsone kind of surface
wat er ?

A | don't know what the mix would be. It
m ght well be a conbination of those things.

Q Have you had any conversations with, for
instance, North Side to try and see if water was
avail able to be able to do conversions?

A Only general ones.

Q Ckay. And were you here for
M. Carlquist's testinony indicating that he believes
the North Side is at capacity with regard to
conver si ons?

A | heard himsay that. | don't know where
the bottl enecks are precisely in the conversion water
delivery.

Q Ckay. And that would seemto be a big one
towards getting an over-the-rimplan, wouldn't it, if

you' re | ooking for conversions, big bottleneck?

A It would depend on where it is. These are
all served by W-- laterals off the -- or conveyances
offer the WlLateral. | don't knowif that's where the

big bottl enecks are or if they're farther up in the

system
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Q I"d like to | ook at Exhibit 1053.

Exhibit 1053 | understand is a plan that was submtted
in the C ear Springs case.
Correct?

A Yes.

Q How many -- how many wells were being
connected with regard to the C ear Springs case?

A I think there were seven, seven or eight
wel | s.

Q Ckay.

A There were two alternatives. There was one
that invol ved seven or eight wells, and one that
i nvolved, | think, two or three wells.

Q And for those wells, do you know how many
pages there are of docunents here connected with the
Exhi bit 105372

A | haven't counted.

Ckay. Wuld it surprise you -- and I'Il go

to what | believe to be the | ast page here. Wuld it
surprise you if there were 46 pages in this docunent?
A No, if you count all those schematics,
things like that.
Q Ckay. Schematics of what would actually be
done.

You have not prepared sonmething simlar in
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this case, have you?

A No. There was quite a bit nore tine
avail able to prepare this than we've had in this case.

Q Turni ng your attention to the punp-back
systemthat you had -- at |east had a conceptual plan
for.

Wth regard to that punp-back system what
wat er woul d be -- where would you get the water to punp
back? 1t's ny understanding right now that Rangen has
rights in the Curren Tunnel which are flow ng
approximately 1 or 2 cfs. Were would you get the
water to punp back?

A Wel |, the groundwater districts have an
application for a water right on Billingsley Creek.
That could be punped. It could be punped fromthe
tail -- the effluent fromexisting raceways at Rangen.

Q Wel |, the existing raceways, again, that
woul d require sonme other water to go into Rangen's
facility to be used; correct?

A Well, that's why | nentioned the
Billingsley Creek water.

Q In other words, the punp-back system by

itself, at least as things currently stand, is really
not going to provide nuch water for Rangen, unless one

of the other conceptual plans were approved?
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A If the only water running through the
Rangen facility that can be punped back is that which
can be obtained fromthe Curren Tunnel, it would
probably be difficult to nake up the 9 cfs wth that,
because | think the tunnel flows now are only a
few cfs. Al though |'ve heard of m xtures on the order
of 10 percent for punp-backs.

MR, MAY: Thank you. That's all |'ve got.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. M. Lemmon,

Cr oss-exam nation?

MR. LEMMON:  Yeah, | have a few questions |
woul d |'i ke to ask.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR LEMVON:

Q | believe yesterday you characterized that
perhaps a horizontal well was one of the best options
avail able to supplying water directly to Rangen's.

Wul d that be your --

A | don't know if |I'd characterized it as the
best .

Q Ckay.

A I don't renmenber that. |It's certainly one

of the options.

Q I think you said perhaps it was the best
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option. But okay.

You've admtted or you' ve said that there
are sone risk to other springs in the area by the use
of the horizontal well or extending the tunnel.

Coul d you describe how you see that --
either extending the tunnel or drilling the horizontal
wel | at Rangen's affecting |ocal spring discharges.

A Extendi ng the tunnel or putting in a | ower
hori zontal well would -- if they resulted in an
i ncrease in discharge, which would be the goal, of
course, would tend to |lower water tables in the
i medi ate vicinity.

That m ght have an effect on other nearby
springs. It mght dimnish somewhat the fl ow of other
springs. It mght cause groundwater |evels to decline
slightly in the upstreamarea. It would depend on the

anount of additional water being extracted. And these
are the kinds of analyses that the groundwater nodel is
designed to | ook at.

Q So it could affect other water right
di verters in the area?

A It's possible.

Q Ckay. Do you know of other tunnels in the
area?

A The Hoagl and Tunnel is not far from Curren
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Tunnel .

Q Ckay.

A And | suspect there are others that | don't
know about .

Q From personal experience, | can tell you
there are others.

Wuld it be then your recommendation if
those -- the owners of those tunnels are al so inpacted
and their supply goes down, would it be your
recommendation that they should | engthen or instal
hori zontal wells at their |ocations?

A They -- should those decreases be materi al,
there are probably a whole suite of nethods that we'd
have to | ook at to see how to keep people whole. They
i nvol ve the things you nentioned. They may involve
sonet hi ng el se.

Q So the solution of Rangen's could | ead us
to problens at other diversion |ocations?

A I ncreasing the discharge fromthe aquifer
at Rangen will cause |lower water tables in the
imediate vicinity. It's hard to say how far those
woul d be extended. There were other aspects of the
mtigation plan that would not have any of these
ef fects.

Q So what woul d be one of those options that
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woul dn't have these effects?

A Wel |, the obvious one, the 800-pound
gorilla is the assignnent of the Billingsley Creek
wat er right to Rangen

Q Ckay. |If we take that one off the table,

t hen what el se?

A I ncreased recharge from Sandy Ponds, for
exanpl e.

Q Ckay. What water right would you foresee
bei ng used to extend the tunnel or drill a horizontal
wel | at Rangen's?

A Well, in the SPF report, it was
hypot hesi zed that the Departnent would view these --
could view these as well deepening efforts.

Q Ckay.

A | don't know if that's the case or if a new
application would be required.

Q | believe Rangen's water right has been
viewed as a surface water right. So that would, in ny
estimati on, nmean that they wouldn't be able to go for
what woul d now be determ ned to be a groundwater right.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  (Ckay. M. Lenmon, you
need to ask questions. You're testifying now

MR, LEMVON. Ckay. Excuse ne.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Yeah.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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Q (BY VR LEMMON): Would it be your
understandi ng that a horizontal well would be viewed as
a groundwater -- or a -- yeah, a groundwater right?

A | really can't say whether a new
application for a new water right would be required for
that or not. That's sort of a |egal question.

MR. LEMMON:  Ckay

M5. LEMVON: |s there a contingency in your
mtigation plan should --

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Let's have the questions
funnel ed through one person. |'msorry, Linda.

M5. LEMMON: That's okay.

Q (BY MR LEMMON): Ckay. Gven the fact
that you' ve said that there's a possibility of
drilling -- if you drill a horizontal well or extend
the tunnel at Rangen's, there's a possibility that it
woul d affect other springs in the area, what woul d be
the contingency plan to conpensate those ot her
di ver si ons?

A It would be sone conbination, | presune, of
the sorts of things that are in this plan. Sone
sim | ar conbination.

Q Ckay. You've tal ked about -- let's goto
the over-the-rim proposal.

As an engi neer what are your estimations of
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the risk of failure of that systenf

A Do you nmean |like a nechanical failure of
t he systenf

Q A nechanical failure. A failure to deliver
the required water to Rangen's.

A I think those can be nmade quite small. The
pl an that was devel oped for Snake Ri ver Farm had
enmergency power, had generators that had automatic
switches on them It had nore punps plunbed into the
systemthat were needed to supply the required fl ow
rates, and switching systens that would turn those
punps on if for sone reason or another one went off.

So | think the risks of nechanical failure were pretty
smal | there.

Q So --

A | can't tell you a nunber .002 percent or
sonet hing like that.

Q Ckay. What woul d be the proposal as far as
responding to failures of the systen? |n other words,
who woul d respond and who woul d be the staff on call
or how woul d those failures be detected by the
groundwat er districts?

A Well, | presune there would have to be
sufficient nonitoring and telenetry on the system if

anyt hing. The goal would be to nake the response
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automatic, run by electronics and sw tching.

Q So that adds nore conponents that could
possibly fail?

A Vell, | guess there's the argunent that the
nore conponents you have, the nore likely it is there's
going to be a failure soneplace. But on the other
hand, these conponents are all designed to operate
backup systens.

So | mean at what point do you have backups
for the backups for the backups? | nean | don't know.
It's kind of a -- just -- | can't -- maybe |'m not
answeri ng your question.

MR, LEMVON:  Yeah. GCkay. That's all of ny
questions, | guess.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Thank you, M. Lenmmon.

And | want to clarify at this point, you're
representing yourself pro se. And, M. Lemon, you did
a good job of asking questions.

I just want to nake sure, Linda, that you
know - -

M5. LEMMON: | understand

THE HEARING OFFICER:  -- if you want to take the
| ead in questioning and exam ning the w tnesses, you're
wel conme to do that. | just need to know -- what |

don't want is a switching back and forth.
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And sonme of that is for the sake of the
court reporter. Some of it is for the sake of the
W tness, because | think the witness -- |I've been in
situations where two or three attorneys are asking ne
guestions all at the sane tine, and it's a
di sconcerting situation to be in. So it's as nmuch for
order as anything. So thanks for your patience.

Ckay. M. Budge, redirect?

MR. TJ BUDGE: Yeah. Thank you, Director.

don't think this will take too |ong.

REDI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR TJ BUDGE:
Q Dr. Brendecke, | just want to ask a few
foll owup questions to clarify a few things.

First, I want to tal k about the
availability of groundwater in the aquifer to support a
hori zontal well or an over-the-rimsystem M. My
made a statenent that water was not avail able to Rangen
at the Curren Tunnel. And | wanted to clarify sone
testinony that you provi ded yesterday.

My recollection is that it was your opinion
that there is an abundant groundwater supply
avail able --

MR. MAY: (bjection. Leading.
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Q (BY MR TJ BUDGE): -- just east of Rangen
is that correct?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. W have an
obj ecti on.

MR. MAY: Yes. bjection. It's |eading.

THE HEARING OFFICER:  This is redirect. He's
trying to characterize Brendecke's testinony.
Brendecke can state whether it's correct or not.

So overrul ed.
M. Brendecke.

Q (BY VR TJ BUDCGE): Dr. Brendecke, did you
testify yesterday that there is a robust groundwater
supply in the vicinity of Rangen?

A Yes.

Q And you testified yesterday that should the
Director authorize devel opnent of a horizontal well or
an over-the-rimsystemyou believe there was adequate
water in the aquifer to operate such a systen?

A Yes, | believe there is.

Q And you recall testifying yesterday about a
tabl e that you had put together of groundwater rights
in the vicinity of Rangen that could be used for an
over-the-rimsystenf?

A Yes.

Q Are you aware that Rangen itself owns sone
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| and above the rimjust east of its aquaculture
facility?

A Only because of | ooking at maps prepared by
others. It looks like there's sone |and that Rangen
owns above the rim

Q Wul d you mnd turning to Exhibit 1059.

A | have it.

Q This is the table of water rights wthin
2 mles of the Rangen hatchery; is that right?

A Yes.

Q There was sone di scussion earlier about --
or at least an inference nade by M. May that to use
these water rights for an over-the-rimsystem you woul d
have to actually interconnect every well that's
presently used to deliver these water rights.

Do you recall that suggestion?

A Yes.

Q | assunme you're famliar wth what we cal
in ldaho a water-right transfer, which could be used to
change points of diversion or places of use of water
rights?

A Yes.

Q Whul dn't you agree that whatever nunber of
these water rights were necessary to neet a mtigation

obligation over the rima water-right transfer
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application could be filed to consolidate the points of
di version to a handful of points of diversion simlar
to what was proposed in the Snake River Farnms plan?

MR, MAY: bjection. He's just testifying.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER Overrul ed.

Go ahead.

MR TJ BUDGE: Typically, on redirect you're
allowed to | ead the w tness.

Q To rephrase the question, would you agree
that a water-right transfer application can be filed,
subject to Departnent approval, to consolidate a nunber
of these water rights in a series of wells simlar as
was proposed in the Snake River Farnms plan?

A Yes, | believe that's the case.

Q There was al so questions to you about
whet her the groundwater users would convert all of this
and to surface water.

And | understood your testinony to be that
they may or they may in part; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q They could al so purchase sone of this |and
if that nade econom c sense?

Yes.

Q I want to point to one of the water rights

on this table in 1059. It's water right 36-8048 in the
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nanme of Rangen, Inc.

A Yes.

Q You'll see that it authorized a diversion
vol ume of 80 acre-feet --

A Yes.

Q -- annual ly.

You testified that if a horizontal well
were installed it may have an effect on groundwater
levels in this area; is that correct?

A It mght, yeah.

Q And woul d you agree that the use of water
fromany of these wells would have effect on
groundwater levels in the area?

A It woul d.

Q And if Rangen is using its water right, it
woul d al so have an effect to | ower the groundwater
| evel in this area?

A It woul d.

Q And so in that sense Rangen has -- it's

been using its water right, been contributing to its
own wat er decline?

MR. MAY: (bjection. bjection. Leading, and
it's msleading him Objection.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: | guess my question is,

M. Budge, what's the purpose for this inquiry?
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© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N NN P P P PP R R R
o A W N P O © ® N O O M W N P O

Page 575

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. 11 3/19/2014

MR. TJ BUDGE: To point out that Rangen has al so
had the opportunity to deliver water over the rim

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: But it has a water right.
Sust ai ned.

Q (BY MR TJ BUDGE): Dr. Brendecke, there
was sone questioning about the backups utilized in an
over-the-rimdelivery system

Do you recall those questions by
M. Lemmon?

A Yes.

Q You explained that in the Snake River Farns
pl an they had backup power and punps and the |ike.

A Yes.

Q Is it your opinion that backup facilities
of that nature reasonably --

MR. MAY: (Objection. It's redirect, and al
he's doing is testifying for the witness. It's
I nappropriate. |It's |eading.

THE HEARING OFFICER  No. | think for the nost

part, M. My, M. Budge is asking M. Brendecke about
his testinony, and his previous testinony, and
reiterating it. And so M. Brendecke can qualify his
st at enent s.

Overrul ed.

Q (BY MR TJ BUDGE): Was your testinony
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that, in your opinion, backup devices of that nature

adequately or reasonably protect against system

failure?
A | believe they did, yes.
Q Coul d simlar backup neasures be included

on a punp-back systenf

A O course.

Q In fact, isn't it true that any water
delivery systemhas a risk of failure? For exanple, a
pi ping system a ditch system a canal system any of
those can fail by accident?

MR. MAY: (Objection. Continuing.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Overrul ed.

THE WTNESS: Al water delivery systens -- or
all constructed water delivery systens have risks of
failure.

Q (BY MR TJ BUDGE): And so the risk of
failure also exists with Rangen's current system of

pi ping comng fromthe Curren Tunnel to the snal

raceways?
A Yes.
Q And t he pipes between their raceways?

A Yes, they woul d.
Q So you would agree that it's not realistic

to construct any water delivery systemthat is
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100 percent immune froma risk of failure?

A | believe that's true.

Q The best we can do is create a systemt hat
mnimzes that risk to a tolerable |evel?

A Yes.

Q And - -

A That's what backups are for.

Q And in your opinion, there are backups and
redundanci es available to mnimze that risk for a
punp- back or an over-the-rimsystemto a reasonabl e
| evel ?

A | believe so.

Q Let me back up just briefly to the
di scussi on about the challenge of delivering the ful
9.1 cfs to Rangen in an over-the-rimsystem

| presunme you woul d agree that that woul d
be an expensive option for the groundwater users?

A It would be.

Q Wul d you characterize that as their

mtigation alternative of last resort, nost |ikely?
MR. MAY: (Objection. He's just testifying.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Sustai ned. The questi on,

| think, can be posed in a different way, M. Budge.
MR. TJ BUDGE: Yeah.

Q Wul d the groundwat er users -- in your
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view, would it make sense for themto limt the
capacity of an over-the-rimsystemto the m ni mum
anount of water needed to neet their mtigation
obligation? For exanple, if they received credit for
conversions, CREP, or other activities, wouldn't you
expect those would be taken into account, and then the
over-the-rimsystem woul d be designed sinply to nmake up
the shortfall to neet the full 9.1 obligation?

A | think that would be the nost
cost-effective thing to do.

Q Ckay. Just -- and then one | ast question
about the feasibility of a punp-back system M
under standi ng of the question asked by M. My and your
testinony is that if Rangen's water use was limted
strictly to water discharging fromthe tunnel it may be
difficult to provide the full 9.1 cfs by recircul ating
that Curren Tunnel discharge.

A Yes, it would be driven, to sonme degree, by
water quality and constraints and the |ike. M ght
requi re sone oxygenation equi prment.

Q If Rangen was allowed to use Billingsley
Creek water, either by an assignnent of the G oundwater
District's permt or by themobtaining their own water
right permt, that would provide a significant

addi ti onal water supply for use in the facility; is
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that correct?

A Yes.

Q And a punp-back system then woul d be nuch
nore feasible with that Billingsley Creek water
avai |l abl e?

A Yes.

MR. TJ BUDGE: | have no further questions.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Thank you,

M. Budge.
Recross, M. Muy?

MR, MAY: No, thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Recross, M. Lemmbn?

MR, LEMVON:  No.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Thank you,

Dr. Brendecke.

THE WTNESS: Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Does | GM have additiona
Wi tnesses it wants to call?

MR. TJ BUDGE: Yeah.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yes, we do. W call Wayne
Courtney as an adverse W tness.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  (Ckay. M. Courtney, if
you' Il conme forward, please. Raise your right hand.
111
111
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WAYNE COURTNEY,
havi ng been called as a witness by | GM and duly sworn
to tell the truth relating to said cause, testified as

foll ows:

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Ckay. Thank you. And
pl ease be seat ed.
And you are being called as an adverse
W tness, so the nature of questioning may be a little
di fferent than what you've heard at |east on direct
exam nation. And as an adverse witness, it wll

resenble nore the nature of cross-exam nation. So |

N N NN NN R R R R R R R
O A W N P O © W N O 0 b~ W

just wanted to prepare you.
THE WTNESS: Ckay.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Very good.
M . Budge, Randy, are you exam ni ng?
MR. RANDY BUDGE: Thank you.
One matter, we would ask that the Director
take judicial notice of the January 31st, 2014
cease- and- desi st order issued, as well as the
March 7th, '14 consent order and agreenent w th Rangen.
MR. HAEMVERLE: | woul d object to that,
Director. That is a whole separate proceeding. |
think that's been stated repeatedly. | don't think

that cease-and-desist order is in any way relevant to
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this proceeding. | object.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: If | could respond briefly.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Sure.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: We've already admitted into
evi dence a nunber of orders. Exhibit 1004 is the
mtigation plan in a prior proceeding. 1005 is a
mtigation plan order granting credits for CREP
conversion recharge. 1020 is an order approving our
Snake River Farms over-the-rimmtigation plan.

And the reason this is particularly
relevant is we have mtigation proposals here that
directly relate to mtigating all material injury to
Rangen. Wether Rangen is injured wll depend |argely,
in fact as far as the short term on whether or not the
cease-and-desi st order renmains in effect. It may or
may not according to the terns of the order.

The order makes it clear that Rangen is
illegally using water. And by reason of that illegal
use, it could be curtailed. W're entitled to inquire
into what inpact that m ght have on their operation,
because that will determ ne precisely the |evel of
material injury which we have an obligation to
mtigate.

And our pending Application for Permt is

i ntended exactly to do that. W could replace any
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wat er that Rangen nmay | ose by reason of the
cease-and-desi st order relating to a water right that
it does not have.

So for that reason, the proceedings are
i nt erconnected, one | eg of the body.

THE HEARING OFFICER.  So let ne just ask a
guestion, M. Budge. Are you arguing that because
Rangen is now diverting water that, at |east the
Director has determned it does not have a water right
for, that because of that diversion of water it is not
materially injured? |Is that your argunent?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: What we're arguing is that we
have an ability to mtigate that injury and any other
relating to our mtigation plan water right permt.
And t hey' ve opposed our effort to assign that permt to
Rangen. And so it's directly relevant to our plan and
our mtigation, and whether we can prevent materi al
injury to Rangen that they conplain of.

And we're sinply asking judicial notice of
t hose proceedi ngs. They've been the subject of a | ot
of discussion in the case.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER. Wl l, M. Haemmerle, go
ahead. |1'Il hear you.

MR, HAEMVERLE: Thank you, Director.

This proceeding is not about materi al
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injury. That was decided in the prior call. |[If you
recall, the proceedings on the cease and desist, we
showed up wlling to cease on February 24th, and you

graciously allowed us to continue diversion, but
recogni zing an order -- the diversion, according to
your order, is illegal and not authorized. But you
have stayed that for a period of tine.

Whet her or not -- or how that relates to
the prior applications is conpletely unclear, and
there's no connection at all. Those are separate
pr oceedi ngs.

That's exactly what M. Budge wants to do,
is claimthat because of that cease-and-desist order
we're not injured. That's exactly what he's going to
argue in this case. And that is not the issue here.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. In response,
M. Budge, | will take notice of this docunent and the
consent order that was signed, but -- because it is a
Depart ment docunent and everyone knows about it, but |
guestion the rel evancy of having this docunent in the
record.

And if you intend to exam ne M. Courtney
at length about what's happening or any conponents of
this, | probably would cut off the exam nation in short

order. Ckay?
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MR. RANDY BUDGE: That isn't ny intent to ask
hi m how t hat canme about.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: The questions would only
relate to our efforts to mtigate injury and how t hat
cease- and-desi st order m ght affect their operation.

MR. HAEMVERLE: 1It's Counsel's intent to argue
exactly that because of that order that he's not --
that Rangen is not injured. That's exactly what he's
going to do. And when he does it, |I'mgoing to object.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:  That's fine. And just as
a forwarning, | fail to see the relevancy of this
docunent to the present proceedings. | don't
under stand t he rel evance.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: So the record's clear, the
Hearing Oficer's ruling is that judicial notice wll
be taken of both the cease-and-desist order of
January 31st, 2014, as well as the -- | think you had
in your hand the consent order and agreenent that was
si gned by Rangen?

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  That's correct. And | was
only referring to the consent order. So thank you,

M . Budge.
Okay. You may exam ne.

MR, RANDY BUDGE: Thank you.
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DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MR, RANDY BUDCE:

Q Morni ng, M. Court ney.

A Good norni ng.

Q | believe you're the vice president for
Rangen.

Is that correct?

A Yes, | am

Q Do you al so serve on the board of
directors?

A Yes, | do.

Q And how | ong have you been in that
capacity?

A Si nce 1996.

Q On the board since 19967

A Yes.

Q And how | ong have you been the vice
presi dent ?

A Si nce 1996.

Q And do you serve under the direction and
control of Christopher Rangen, who's the president?

A Yes, | do.

Q And have you participated in all aspects

the delivery call proceeding previously, as well as

been present during the testinony the |ast three days

of
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in this case?

A ["mnot sure of all of the activities of
the prior --

Q Let me rephrase that. | apol ogi ze.

You' ve been present in the courtroomthe
| ast three days in this mtigation hearing; correct?

A Yes.

Q And were you not present and participate in
the original case dealing with the Rangen curtail nent
request in May of |ast year?

A Yes.

Q You testified in that proceedi ng?

A Yes.

Q And | believe you were present during al

of the depositions that were taken in this proceedi ng?
A Yes.
Q Coul d you please turn to Exhibit 1079.

And if you could pull that up, please,
Justin, |I'd appreciate it.

Do you recogni ze Exhibit 1079 as a pl eadi ng
filed in this case entitled "Rangen, Inc.'s Response to
IGMA's First Set of Discovery Requests to Rangen"?

A Yes.
Q And if you'd turn to the |ast page, please.

| believe that's a verification page. And it states

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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that you' ve read the Rangen responses, know the content
thereof and the facts stated you believe to be true;
correct?

A Correct.

Q Have you had an opportunity to review those
di scovery responses of Rangen prior to your testinony
t oday?

Yes.

Q Is there any -- | realize we're kind of on
a short time frane in this case, and even though the
di scovery requests were to be deened ongoi ng and coul d
be anmended, it didn't provide a lot of time for that.
So et me just ask you this.

Are there any changes that you're aware of
fromthe answers you gave in those interrogatories that
Rangen woul d assert differently if answered today?

A Can | read themreal quick?
Q Yes.
A (Revi ews.)

There's a fewitens that came up during the
depositions of the different individuals that we
weren't aware of at the tine that we responded to this.
But other than that, it would stay the sane.

Q Turn to page 3.

And if you'd pull that up, please, Justin.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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M. Courtney, Rangen's answers on page 3
pertain to a discovery request that basically asked
Rangen to describe precisely and in detail its
opposition to each mtigation proposal. And then
Rangen's answers start on page 3. And | have sone
guestions | wanted to ask you regarding those, if you
woul d, pl ease.

A Ckay.

Q So at the top of page 3, the first bullet,
if you could enlarge the |ast two sentences of that.
Just the last two sentences.

The first bullet deals with itens 1A, B,
and C of IGM' s mtigation plan, which was a requested
credit for CREP, conversion, and recharge.

Do you recall that?

A Yes.

Q And the first sentence of the response, it
says, "Rangen doesn't have sufficient information to
say whether it opposes the proposal set forth in 1Ato
1C." And then if you turn to the | ast two sentences
where Rangen gives further explanation, you'll see the
second-to-the-|last sentence, starting three lines up
states, "Rangen also objects to mtigation credit for
IGM related to activity -- related to efforts

undert aken or financed by others."
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There's been evidence presented in this
case that | GM pays for CREP program costs, but the
anmount | GM pays is a relatively small percentage of
t hose costs, not all.

Do you renenber that testinony in this
case?

Yes.

Q So is it Rangen's position since | GM does
not pay all of the costs of CREP that it should receive
no credit?

A | believe that | GM should not receive
credit for water that is not their water. They were
payi ng for sone transportation costs, but it was not
under their water.

Q Well, you may not have understood ny
question. So let ne re-ask it. |I'mtalking
specifically about the CREP program

Do you understand the CREP programis one
that pays farnmers not to punp their wells, and they
essentially dry up their acres?

A Yes.

Q So there's no water delivered to those

farmers. Their acres are dried up.
Do you understand that part of the CREP

pr ogranf
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A Yes.

Q And | GM paid several mllion dollars of
that CREP program according to evidence in this case,
but that was only 1.3 percent of the total program
costs. So the statenent says that | GM shouldn't get a
credit for costs financed by others.

So is it the position of Rangen that | GM
shoul d get no credit for CREP in this case because they
only paid 1.3 percent of the costs?

A No, it is not our position on that.

Q What is your position?

A The CREP acres that were | GM nenbers that
were set aside should -- as long as it's within the
area of curtailnment, not out to the east of the Geat
Rift or not within the -- it has to be within the trim
line, they should get credit for that.

Q Ckay. So you' ve changed your position
here, then, that I GM had to finance all of the CREP
noney to get credit.

You're basically now testifying, if |
understand it, that as long as we're wthin the trim
line we should get credit for the CREP progranf

A That isn't changing that position, because
that doesn't specifically -- that does not answer just

to CREP.
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Q Well, this says you object to the credit
for efforts related -- financed by others. And the
CREP program all but 1.3 percent of the $258 mllion
expended, is paid by the federal governnment, not by
| GWA.

So I'"'mjust trying to clarify, is Rangen
contendi ng | GM should only get 1.3 percent of the
credit resulting from CREP?

A No.

Q O -- are you willing to agree that | GM
gets full credit for CREP, as the Director has ordered
in other cases?

A Full credit, as long as the CREP acres are
within the curtail ment area.

Q Now, let's turn to the |ast sentence. It
says, "Rangen also objects to the mtigation credit for
| GMA for temporary or nonpermanent changes.”

You' ve been present in the courtroom during
testinony provided by a nunber of w tnesses that the
conversion acres are not permanent in nature, that they
may change year to year

Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q And are you al so aware that those that are

i nvol ved in the conversion program have soft
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conversions that they can choose to turn their punps
back on? Did you hear that testinony?

A Yes.

Q So is it Rangen's position when it states
you object to any tenporary or nonpermnent changes,
that Rangen is unwilling to agree to any credit for
conversi on acres because they are not permanent in
nature as Rangen requests here?

A If they're to get credit for those
conversion acres, we would |ike to have an order that
those conversion acres cannot be placed in -- under
punpi ng during the time of the credit.

Q So unless they're permanent, you're going
to object to any credit for CREP, which you state here?
Are you changi ng your mnd on that?

A For CREP or soft conversions? |'msorry.

Q For conversions. You state here that
you're not going to agree to any credit for conversions
unl ess there are pernmanent changes, and you woul dn't
agree to any credit for recharge unless it's permanent.

So does that remmin Rangen's position? Yes
or no?

A My position is that to receive the credit
for that nonpunping credit, that the | and should stay

dry during the period of the credit.
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Q Not permanent!y?
A Not pernmanently, but during the tinme of the
credit.
Q I just wanted to clarify. That's different
than your testinony here. Let's turnto item 2.

Item 2 says that "Rangen opposes mtigation
credit for water delivered to Butch Murris"; is that
correct?

A Yes.

Q The third bullet point says, "Rangen
opposes mitigation credit for the assignnent of water
ri ght application 36-16976."

Rangen opposes that effort; correct?

A Thi s one should not be a surprise to
anybody at this tine.

Q | didn't ask if it was a surprise. |
wanted to clarify.

It remains Rangen's position that you
oppose any credit by reason of the pending Application
for Permit that | GM has?

A Yes.
Q Let's turn to the next page, if you woul d,
item 4.

Am | correct to assune because your counse

noved -- excuse nme, because Rangen noved to dism ss the
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fish replacenent part of the plan that Rangen obviously
opposed that? Correct?
MR. HAEMVERLE: 1'mgoing to object, D rector.
This violates your pretrial order. There's a notion in
[imne in place on nunbers 4 and 5. |If the Director
recalls, those are not |legal forms of mtigation.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Sust ai ned.
M. Budge, | don't see a reason --
Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): |Is it correct that

Rangen still opposes any effort by IGM to inprove the
di version structure in the Curren Tunnel ?

A If there's to be cleaning in the tunnel,
Rangen will do it.

Q So your answer woul d be yes, you oppose any
effort by IGM to deepen the tunnel, to |ower the
tunnel, or to widen the tunnel, any kind of an
i mprovenent woul d be proposed by Rangen; correct?

A That | would have to | ook at the details,
and | would have to check with attorneys, our
att or neys.

Q Ckay. But so far you basically have
opposed -- according to item 6, you oppose any effort
not done by Rangen to clean the tunnel, to inprove the
tunnel, or anything of that nature; correct?

A Well, No. 6 has to do with cleaning and
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mai ntaining the tunnel. It doesn't say anything about
deepeni ng the tunnel.

Q Well, 1'm asking you that question. Does
| GM opposed -- excuse ne. Does Rangen oppose any
effort by IGM to i nprove Rangen's point of diversion
at the Curren Tunnel which m ght involve deepening it,
| engt heni ng the tunnel, or w dening the tunnel ?

A For those -- for deepening, |engthening, or
wi deni ng the tunnel --

Q Yes.

A -- | would have to check with our attorneys
before I would be able to answer that.

Q So does Rangen allow its attorneys to nmake
its decisions for you?

A | consult with them

Q All right. So you're not able to say
whet her or not -- you're the spokesman for Rangen, are
you not ?

A Yes, | am

Q And you' ve been taking positions in

opposition to every mtigation effort | GM' s proposed
in this proceeding; correct?

A No.

Q Let me ask you specifically: WII Rangen

all ow access to IGM in order to go in and investigate
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the feasibility of deepening, w dening, or |engthening
the Curren Tunnel ?

For the last 24 nonths | have had --

Q Let's forget about the last four nonths.

A 24 nont hs.

Q We haven't done anything in the |ast 24
nont hs.

A I know.

Q ' masking you as of today --

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: M. Courtney, you need to
answer M. Budge's question.

THE WTNESS: |'msorry. Ckay.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: |'d like he asked to be
responsi ve.

Q ' masking, as of today, if this Director
i ssues an order allowng IGM to proceed wth the
conceptual design of efforts that would result in the
i nprovenent of Rangen's diversion facility at the
Curren Tunnel by way of w dening the tunnel, deepening
the tunnel, or lengthening the tunnel, will Rangen
grant | GM perm ssion to have its consultants and
engi neers do that work?

A And as | stated before, | would consult
with ny attorneys before I would give you that answer.

Q So you're not willing to say "yes"?

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,

I NC. 800-234-9611





© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N NN P P P PP R R R
o A W N P O © ® N O O M W N P O

Page 597

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. 11 3/19/2014

A I"'mnot willing to answer it right now.

Q And if the Director conceptually approves
| GM' s proposal to inprove the tunnel, woul d Rangen
grant | GM the necessary easenents to performthe work
if the conceptual design were approved?

A Once again, that's hypothetically. But
woul d consult with our attorneys before | would give
you that answer.

Q So today you can't give ne a yes answer;
correct?

A That's correct.

Q On that issue of access, let's go down to
the next point on page 6.

It says, "Rangen opposes the drilling of a
hori zontal well"; correct?

A Yes.

Q Wul d Rangen grant access or perm ssion to

| GM's consultants to investigate the feasibility of a
hori zontal well if the Director approved it conditiona
upon a final design being conpleted?

A On that issue, | would also consult with
our attorneys before | would be able to answer that.

Q So it's accurate to say your answer today
is you would not say yes today that | GM coul d have

access to do any feasibility studies or design on a
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hori zontal well?

A That's correct.

Q And woul d your answer be the sane with
respect to an over-the-rimdelivery plan, that Rangen
woul d not grant | GM access to do any of the
feasibility study or engineering on its property to do
an over-the-rimdelivery?

A I would check with ny attorneys and woul d
provi de an answer afterwards.

Q But as of today, |IGM (sic) would not give
| GMA access for an over-the-rimdelivery plan
feasibility study; correct?

A I don't have enough information to give
that right now today, no.

Q So your answer today is no, you would not
grant -- | GM would not grant perm ssion today?

MR TJ BUDGE: Rangen.

THE WTNESS: | GM would not grant it?

Q (BY MR. RANDY BUDGE): That Rangen woul d
not grant | GM perm ssion today to access its property
to investigate the feasibility of an over-the-rim
delivery plan, even if the Director were to
conditionally approve it?

A I would talk to our attorneys first.

Q Ckay. And would the sane answer apply with
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respect to item9, Rangen opposes any type of a
punp- back system correct?

A Yes.

Q And is it true that as of today Rangen
woul d not give | GM access tenporarily to do
engineering or feasibility studies on your property,
even if it were conditionally approved by the Director?

A I would consult with my attorney before |
woul d gi ve that answer.

Q You're not willing to give a yes answer on
t hat ?

A Correct.

Q If you'd turn to the next page, 10,
Rangen's answer to interrogatory No. 10. And it also
deals with the access question.

If you could pull that answer up, Justin.

MR. MAY: \Which one is it?

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): Interrogatory No. 10
asks Rangen if it would agree "...to provide |GM with
access to its property to investigate, engineer,
construct, and install inprovenents to deliver
mtigation water to the Rangen Aquaculture facility,
such as a horizontal or vertical well, inprovenents to
Curren Tunnel, and over-the-rimdelivery, recirculation

system"”
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And | think you' ve already answered that as
of today your answer would be no, but you m ght
reconsi der after you talk to your |awers?

A That's correct.

Q Ckay. So on your answer to No. 10 -- and
the reason | ask you this is your answer didn't really
respond very directly to the question, so | need to
bring it up here. The third sentence down on -- or
excuse ne, the fourth -- the third sentence, which
begins down on line 4, it says, "Rangen will not
consider." It says, "Rangen w |l not consider
providing |GM with access to its property for any
ot her purpose.”

And if you | ook at the previous sentence,
you basically said we've had sone perm ssion for
I nvestigation purposes to provide access to the
research hatchery.

And | think your answer there is referring
to in the prior proceeding, access was provided to the
research hatchery; correct?

A Correct.

Q But then your answer goes on and says,
"Rangen will not consider providing | GM wth access to
its property for any other purpose.”

Can you expl ain what you nean by that.
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A I don't know what other purpose you have to
be on the property. And wi thout knowi ng that, |'m not
granti ng access carte blanche. W woul d consi der
provi di ng access, but I'mnot obligated to do so.
woul d consult with our attorneys before I would give
t hat answer.

Q So that isn't any different than the
answers you al ready gave ne. As of today, no access
for any purpose, but you mght consider it |ater after
you talk to your |awers?

A Correct.

Q M. Courtney, | believe you provided
testinony in the previous mtigation hearing,
curtailment hearing, in May of 2013 about Rangen's use
of the water at its facility at the head of Billingsley
Creek; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And | just wanted to ask you generally, has
there been any significant change from your testinony
back in May until today regarding the manner in which
Rangen uses water at the facility?

A We continue to raise fish. W continue to
do research. W -- we continue to maintain the
facilities.

Q No significant change today from how you
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used it then?

A No significant change.

Q If Rangen were not allowed to divert water
fromany source other than the Curren Tunnel, which
woul d happen if the stay was |ifted on the
cease- and-desi st order, would that have the effect of
depriving Rangen of use of any and all water fromthe
tal us sl ope?

A We have an application for that water right
now. We believe that we're entitled -- excuse ne, we
believe that we wll get --

Q "Il ask you about your application |ater

I think you're aware that | GM al so has an
application that is prior intinme inits filing date
t han Rangen's; correct?
A Yes.
Q So I'll come to that |ater
My question was, if the stay of the
cease- and-desi st order was |ifted, Rangen has no right,
ot her than the Curren Tunnel; correct?

A As of right now, yes.

Q That' s what Rangen signed when it signed
the consent order. The consent order said Rangen had
no right, other than the tunnel. | can appreciate you

nmay appeal that, and you don't like it, but --
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A Yes. We may appeal it, yes.

Q At this point the only right would be in
the Curren Tunnel; correct?

A As | said, we nmay appeal it. |'mnot going
to argue as far as the legal issue as far as the right.

Q No, |'mnot asking that. |'mnot asking
you if you're going to appeal.

A Ckay.

Q "' mjust acknow edging you don't like it.

A Ckay.

Q We don't |ike being curtailed either, under
our rights.

A We don't either.

Q Let's go back to the question. |If the --
Rangen were |limted to the Curren Tunnel, about what
portion of the water rights that you utilize at the
Rangen facility comes fromthe tunnel itself?

A Ri ght now the tunnel is flow ng sonewhere
between 1 and 2 cfs of water.

Q And what's the total supply at Rangen
approxi mately, fromall water that it's currently using
t oday?

A 12.

Q So if 1 or 2 are comng fromthe tunnel and

your total supply is 10 --
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MR TJ BUDGE: 12.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): -- then somewhere --
or total supply is 12, then you have roughly either 11
or 12 -- or 10 or 11 cfs that are com ng from sources
ot her than the tunnel for which you currently have no
water right; correct?

A It's comng fromother water, yes.

Q Correct. So what would be the change on
Rangen's current operations if it was only able to use
the 1 or 2 cfs com ng out of the tunnel?

A Well, we're currently repiping fromthe
hat ch house right now to bring water fromit directly
into the small raceways. W' ve already started our
trenchi ng.

Q You're referring to the tunnel water, the 1

to 2 cfs fromthe tunnel ?

A Yes.

Q It's piped directly to the hatch house;
correct?

A It's going to the hatch house. And we are

currently changing the delivery systemfromthe hatch
house to bring it over to the small raceways.

Q Ckay. And doesn't that water fromthe
tunnel itself, once it's piped through the hatch house,

go to the small raceways anyway?
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A The difference is the water that we're
using in -- the water that we're using in the hatch

house and the greenhouse, that water, once it gets used
there, we're piping it over to the small raceways to
utilize that water.

Q Al right. So back to nmy question

You would have 1 to 2 cfs of water that you
can use total in your facility?

A Yes.

Q And you woul d be deprived of the other 10
or 11 cfs avail abl e.

So ny question is, what changes woul d t hat
have upon your operation with respect to operation of
your research and/or operation of your fish production
activities if you're deprived of that 10 to 11
second-feet that you have today?

MR. HAEMVERLE: 1'mgoing to object to this line
of questioning, Director. Evidently M. Budge wants to
get into sone sort of beneficial-use analysis --

MR RANDY BUDGE: That's not correct.

MR. HAEMVERLE: -- during this hearing. And you
know, we had that whole analysis at the delivery call.

| don't think we should be obligated to
prove our beneficial use at every single hearing after

the delivery call where those things are decided.
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MR. RANDY BUDGE: Certainly not trying to
relitigate that. I'mtrying to get at the issue of the
material injury to Rangen that we have a mtigation
plan trying to elimnate. So we need to understand how
that's affected its operation, and how our assi gnment
of the permt, for exanple, could entirely elimnate
any adverse effects.

So once | know of what the adverse effect
is, then it is relevant to our mtigation plan trying
to satisfy those.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  But, M. Budge, | think --
well, 1 don't think. The previous order addressed the
i ssue of material injury. This hearing today is not a
material injury hearing.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: | agree. |'mnot asking about
material injury.

MR. HAEMVERLE: He just said he is.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  You just said you are.

MR, RANDY BUDGE: | said I"mnot. I'mtrying to
ask about what changes in its operation nay have
occurred. So it relates to the mtigation plan effort
that we're trying to take care of. |[If Rangen -- Rangen
contends that they would get no benefit and oppose our
assignnment of our permt to themto i mediately provide

them a wat er supply.
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MR. HAEMVERLE: Director, this hearing, as
you've stated, is about the delivery of 9.1 cfs of
wat er at steady state or the delivery of anount of
wat er spread out over five years by direct flow
That's what you ordered themto provide in mtigation.

And this hearing is about how they're going
to do that. |It's not about material injury. It's not
about how our beneficial use has changed. |[t's about
them provi di ng water.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: That's not right. The Rule 43
specifically says our mtigation plan nust mtigate to
the injury. So I'msinply inquiring about the injury.
I'"'mnot disputing the beneficial use of water. |I'm
trying to understand, and it is relevant to this
proceedi ng, how their operations have changed by reason
of the fact that they may no | onger be able to use
wat er for which they've been diverting illegally and
have no right for

MR. HAEMVERLE: We had a two-and-a-half week
hearing on injury. W argued all about it.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER:  All right. Based on what
| heard, M. Budge, when | took notice of the
docunents, | said that | didn't understand the
rel evance. | still don't understand the rel evance of

this line of questioning.
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["ll sustain the objection. And | want you
to nove on. Thank you.
Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): WII there be
changes to your operation if you're limted to
di verting water fromthe Curren Tunnel ?
A Yes.
Q Can you descri be those changes.

MR. HAEMVERLE: (bjection. Sane objection. |
allowed himto ask one question, he answered it. W're
ri ght back where we started. And |I'mgoing to keep
obj ecting every tine M. Budge does it.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Sust ai ned.

MR, RANDY BUDGE: Well, M. Hearing Oficer, |I'd
like to nake an offer of proof to establish a record on
this. And the reason | do so is the prior order
establishing material injury was all based upon the use
of water at the tinme. And the use of water at the tine
included all of the Curren Tunnel and all of the talus
sl ope.

A significant change has happened since
that tine. The Director entered a ruling that they
have no | awful water right to anything with the tunnel,
and all diversions otherwise are illegal. And Rangen,
through its president, signed a consent order

acknow edgi ng that.
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The consent order he signed says they have
no water right. So that is a relatively significant
change as it relates to our mtigation plan. They've
been deprived of roughly 90 percent of their water
suppl y.

So we're being ordered to mtigate to
injury to a water right that does not exist. W have
awful water rights from punpers that are being shut
off. They have rights that are being shut off. Rangen
has no right that it's being allowed to use, and we're
trying to mtigate to a nonexistent right.

And when we provide a mtigation plan with
nine different alternatives to supply, Rangen finds
none of them acceptable, and has objected to every one.
So when we're in a mtigation plan hearing, it is
certainly relevant, in ny view, in our view, that we
have an opportunity to inquire what has changed at
Rangen if they're not able to divert water unlawfully.

So I'I'l accept and recogni ze and appreciate
the ruling, but 1'd like to make a record of it by way
of an offer of proof through this witness to sinply
have hi m descri be what changes have occurred, woul d
occur, if Rangen only can divert 1 or 2 second-feet
fromthe Curren Tunnel.

That's one nobre -- one or two nore
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questions as an offer of proof, recognizing that it's
not going to be all owed.

THE HEARING OFFICER: | will hear once fromyou,
M. Haemmerl e.

And then no response, M. Budge. And then

| want to take a break. | think this is an issue --
MR. HAEMVERLE: |1'I| be very brief.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

MR. HAEMVERLE: It's not about how nmuch water we
can use out of the tunnel currently, which is currently
flowng 1 cfs. The Director found in the prior order
that through the nodeling of ESPAM 2.1 we woul d receive
9.1 cfs. And I think the Director considered all the
t hi ngs about beneficial use.

So it's not about how we operate at 1.
It's about how we should get 9.1 cfs of water, and we
could certainly use it. Al the beneficial use has
been decided. And he wants to now limt us to 1.1 cfs
because they haven't provided -- they' ve used our
wat er, they've caused us injury, and now we're at
1 cfs. It's about how they're going to provide us
9 cfs. That's what this is about.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER°  Ckay. Let's take our
m dnorni ng break. W' Il be back in 15.

(Recess.)

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611






© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N NN P P P PP R R R
o A W N P O © ® N O O M W N P O

Page 611

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. 11 3/19/2014
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Back on the record.
Ckay. Wthout further argunent, |'ve heard
enough. | have an objection | need to address. | also

have a request for an establishnment of proof.

What's the termof art, M. Budge? Ofer
of proof. It escaped ne for a mnute. And after
considering both, M. Budge, ny determnation is that
what you're asking for is an exploration of an issue
that was determ ned previously in the hearing.

And the material injury with respect to the
water rights that describe the Curren Tunnel as a
source of water, that material injury was determ ned in
the previous proceeding. And the obligation was
established by the order issued by the Director
previously at the end of January.

And the line of questioning which you're
attenpting to pursue, in ny opinion, is a reopening of
that material injury question and is not an appropriate
line of questioning for an offer of proof.

To nme, an offer of proof deals with a
specific piece of evidence that you want to bring into
the record, and that piece of evidence you' ve been
denied the opportunity. This is a reopening of an
entire, in ny opinion, legal theory that was

appropriately addressed in the prior order.
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So I'lIl sustain the objection, and I'|
deny the request for an offer of proof and ask you to
nove on, Randy.

MR, RANDY BUDGE: Ckay. Thank you.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Thank you.

Q  (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): M. Courtney, woul d
you agree that activities within the trimline which
reduce the anmount of water punped fromthe aquifer
woul d be a benefit to Rangen by increasing the
di scharges fromthe springs operated by Rangen at the
head of Billingsley Creek?

A Wuld you -- | mssed the very first part
of that. |'msorry.

Q Yeah. Wuld you agree that reducing
punpi ng fromthe aquifer within the trimline provides
a benefit to Rangen's facility at Billingsley Creek?

A Yes.

Q Wul d you al so agree that activities which
recharge the aquifer within the trimline provide a
benefit to Rangen's facility?

A Yes.

Q And with respect to the conversion program

woul d you admt that shutting down groundwater punping
for those that participate in the conversion program

within the trimline provide a benefit to Rangen?
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A Yes.

Q Wul d you al so admt that when those users
who convert, shut down their punpers and start
converting to surface water, that that delivery of
surface water al so provides a benefit in the way of
recharge to the aquifer?

A I ncidental, yes.

Q Wul d you al so agree that the nodel which
Rangen advocated be used to curtail groundwater punpers
shoul d al so be used to deternine the benefit to Rangen
from conversions and CREP and recharge?

A Yes.

Q Is it accurate to say that Rangen has not
contributed any of the costs associated with the
recharge or conversion or CREP efforts within the trim
line?

A No.

Q It's not accurate or, no, you didn't
contri bute?

A No, it's not accurate.

Q Okay. Did Rangen fund any of the costs
associ ated with the CREP progranf

A Not directly. But Rangen has allowed ne to
be on the board of the Lower Snake River Aquifer

Recharge District, and has paid ny salary during those
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neetings for that board.

Q Ckay.

A And |'ve also been allowed to participate
in the Technical Advisory Commttee for the
est abl i shnent of CREP

Q Ckay. Let ne rephrase ny question. |
wasn't asking about what Rangen pays you to do or what
you may participate in.

My question was, does Rangen contri bute
financially to any of the costs associated with the
CREP progranf

A No.

Q Is it true that Rangen has not paid any
costs associated with the conversion of
groundwater-irrigated land to surface-water irrigated
water or the delivery of water to those | ands within
the trimline?

A Tr ue.

Q Is it also true that Rangen has not nade

any contributions to the nanaged recharge prograns
i npl emrented by the State of |daho?

A O her than for our staff's contributions
when wor ki ng on those projects.

Q Ckay. My question wasn't | abor

Was any financial contributions?
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A No.
Q Now, turning your attention, if you woul d,
to the Sandy Pi peli ne.
I think you're famliar with the
construction of the pipeline?
A Somewhat .
Q Ckay. Could we have you, please,
M. Courtney, turn to Exhibit 1050.
And maybe you could bring that up.
| believe it's correct, isn't it,
M. Courtney, that Rangen made an application to obtain
some financial assistance to participate in the
delivery of sonme water through the Sandy Pipeline to
the Candy pasture? That application being
Exhi bit 1050.
A Yes.
Q Do you recogni ze that as the application?
A Yes.
Q And | believe that's signed by you, is that

correct, on page 17
A Correct.
MR, RANDY BUDGE: We'd offer Exhibit 1050.
MR. HAEMVERLE: No obj ecti on.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Ckay. M. Lemmon?

MR. LEMMON: No objecti on.
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THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  The docunent marked as
Exhi bit 1050 is received into evidence.

MR. BAXTER  Just as a side note, Director,
notice it was already stipulated to by the parties.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Must have al ready
been in.

MR, MAY: Not surprised.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): If you'd turn to
page 1 of Exhibit 1050, the application, M. Courtney,
down in the mddle there's a section called "Brief
proj ect description.”

Do you find that?

A Yes.

Q And it states there the brief project
description is, quote, "To enable all irrigation water
fromrights 36-134A and 36-135B to be drawn fromthe
Sandy Pipeline instead of the occasional diversions
fromthe Curren Tunnel."

A Yes.

Q So at the time would it be accurate to say
that this was an effort by Rangen that woul d enabl e
water fromthe Curren Tunnel that m ght otherw se be
diverted to these rights to be avail able to Rangen?

A Yes.

Q And is that use of the Sandy Pipeline to --
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an effort by Rangen to augnent its fl ows ahead of
Billingsley Creek?

A Yes.

Q And was that pipe that was proposed to be
constructed pursuant to this grant application, did
that ever get instituted?

A No, it did not.

Was the application not granted?

A No, the application was granted.

Q It was granted?

A Yes.

Q But never got constructed?

A Correct.

Q D d Rangen ever seek to obtain a water
right to use wastewater fromthe North Side Canal
Conmpany system to your know edge?

A Not to ny know edge, no.

Q Could we turn, please, to Exhibit 1014.

Do you recognize this as the 2004 Eastern
Snake Plain Aquifer Mtigation, Recovery and
Rest orati on Agreenent?
A Yes.
Q And | believe fromthe signature page, in

addition to the governor and the senate and the house

and other spring users, it was signed by Rangen through
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its attorney, M. My?

A Yes.

Q If you'd turn to page 5 of that agreenent,
you will note it contains a listing of various
groundwat er commtnents. And if you'd turn down to
par agr aph 4(e)(2) and (3).

Do you have that avail abl e?

A Yes.

Q 4(e)(2) and (3) indicate that anong the
groundwat er user commtnents would be to use best
efforts to convey North Side Canal Conpany operationa
spills to the Sandy project into the Sandy Pipeline.

Though it would be accurate to say that
Rangen had actual know edge since 2004 that the North
Si de Canal Conpany wastewater was going to be used by

the groundwater users to supply water via the Sandy

Pi pel i ne?
A It says, "use the best efforts to convey
the operational spills.”™ Oher than that, | don't know

past this if it was done or not because this was for a
one-year term
Q Ckay. Let ne rephrase the guestion
So by reason of this agreenent signed by
Rangen and this | anguage | pointed you out to, wouldn't

it be accurate to say that Rangen knew in 2004 that the
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groundwat er users were going to start conveyi ng
wast ewat er fromthe Sandy Pipe -- through the Sandy
Pi peline, wastewater from North Side Canal Conpany?

A It doesn't say wastewater for the
groundwater. It says for North Side Canal Conpany to
convey. So | don't know what the difference is as far
as who owns the water.

Q Let me rephrase the question

D d Rangen know, since it signed the

agreenment in 2004, that wastewater was going to be
conveyed down the Sandy Pipeline by the groundwater
users?

A Yes.

Q And is it true that fromthe tine 2004 on
Rangen was aware that the groundwater users were
putting wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline to supply
irrigation water to the Mirris, the Candy, and the
Musser rights operated by M. Mirris, according to his
testi nony?

A No. | didn't know t he groundwat er users
wer e doi ng that.

Q Ckay. You're not aware that there's been
water delivered to M. Mrris from 2004 on?

A | was aware of that.

Q Ckay.
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A | didn't know who owns the water.

Q Okay. You're aware that the wastewater
fromthe canal system North Side Canal, has been
com ng down the Sandy Pipeline to supply irrigation
rights ever since 2004; right?

A Yes.

Q And is it true that fromthat period 2004
until 2014 in this proceedi ng Rangen never objected to
that delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on
the basis that it did not have a water right?

MR. HAEMVERLE: |'mgoing to object to the
rel evance of the question. | don't know what rel evance
it has, whether soneone has know edge of whet her
there's a water right associated or not. | think Idaho
water law is clear, you need a water right to use
wat er .

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Overrul ed.

M. Courtney, please answer the question,
if you renmenber it.

THE WTNESS: Can you read it back for nme?

Q (BY VMR- RANDY BUDGE): Do you want ne to
rephrase it?

A O just repeat it back.

Q Ckay. | think nmy question was sinply,
during the period 2004 until Rangen objected in this
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case, at no tine in that period did Rangen object to
the delivery of wastewater down the Sandy Pipeline on
the basis that there wasn't a water right to use the
wast ewat er ?

A | wasn't aware that there wasn't one. So
no, | did not object.

Q So this proceeding in 2014 is the first
ti me Rangen has objected to the lack of a water right
to use wastewater?

A It's the first that |I've known about it,
yes.

Q I"mturning your attention to the
groundwat er users' proposal to assign water right
permt 36-16976 to Rangen.

And | believe you re aware that that
proposed assi gnnent woul d enabl e Rangen to divert and
use water fromthe talus slope for which it has no
right?

A Propose, yes.

Q And woul d you agree that if Rangen had no
right to use the water fromthe talus slope, the
assignnment by the Goundwater Districts of their right
could be a neans of allow ng Rangen to resune that use?

A If that was the only option avail able, yes.

Q If the Director ordered that, you'd
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recogni ze that would be the effect of it?

A If that was the only offer avail able, yes.

Q And is it true that the only party that has
objected to the Application for Permt of the
groundwat er users is Rangen itself?

A Not to ny know edge, no.

Q Who el se has obj ected?

A | believe that the watermaster did not
support it.

Q The watermaster didn't file an objection

But do you know of any party that did file

an objection, other than Rangen?

A Yeah, |I'mnot aware. |'msorry.

Q Ckay. |IGM' s mtigation plan 6 proposed
i mprovenents to the Curren Tunnel. And | believe
you' ve been present during sone of the testinony on
t hat issue.

Has Rangen ever investigated the
feasibility of inproving its diversion in the Curren
Tunnel by either deepening the structures there, the
pi pes, or |engthening themor w dening the tunnel?

A Yes.

Q And was that the SPF investigation?

A Yes.

Q And SPF were the engineers that were hired
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for that purpose?

A Yes.

Q And | believe that -- without going into
the details of that exhibit, | believe the SPF report
indicated that it would be a feasible neans of
i nproving the water supply worth further investigating.

Do you recall that?

A | believe it said it was a possible.

Q And Rangen chose not to pursue any of those
i mprovenments; correct?

A Well, there were too many risks invol ved
from our standpoint.

Q Ckay. | didn't ask you why.

I think nmy question was, isn't it true that
Rangen chose not to pursue any further investigation or
the construction of any of these inprovenents to its
di ver si on nechani sn?

A Yes.

Q | GMA al so had proposed in its plan a new
hori zontal well, a vertical well, and an over-the-rim
system

Do you recall those proposal s?

A Yes.

Q And those were all things that Rangen

obj ected to.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611






© 00 N oo o b~ w NP

N N N N NN P P P PP R R R
o A W N P O © ® N O O M W N P O

Page 624

Rangen Mtigation Hearing - Vol. 11 3/19/2014

Wul d you admt, M. Courtney, that the
Eastern Snake Plain Aquifer is the source of water
flowng in the Curren Tunnel and the talus slope used
by Rangen?

A Yes.

Q And do you have -- is it true that Rangen
has no reason to dispute that the Eastern Snake Pl ain
Aqui fer would al so be the same source of water that
woul d be used by the over-the-rimplan proposed by
| GWA?

A No reason to dispute it, no.

Q You'd have no reason to dispute it would be
the same source of water for any vertical or horizontal
well to supply an alternate supply of water to Rangen?

A Correct.

Q Is it true that Rangen has no reason to
believe that the water tenperature varies fromany of
these potential neans of accessing the aquifer, whether
it be by the over-the-rimplan, the vertical well, or
hori zontal well?

A | don't know.

Q Is it true that Rangen has no evidence to
believe that the water quality would be different from
any of these other proposed alternatives made by | GMA

than fromthe water quality you presently utilize
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comng fromthe tunnel and the talus sl ope?

A | don't know.

Q You don't have any evidence to suggest
there's a water quality or tenperature problemw th any
of these proposal s?

A | don't have, no.

Q | asked you sone questions about the SPF
menor andum Exhi bit 1060. Wuld you turn to that,
please. |If you'd turn to page 7, please, if you woul d,
of Exhibit 1060. And that contains a paragraph
concerning the recommendations for a grant application.

And it states there -- this is Rangen's
engi neer states, quote, "Based on our initial review of
these alternatives, it's our opinion that a horizontal
wel | near the Curren Tunnel has the greatest potenti al
for providing substantially enhanced flows to the
Rangen facility."

Is it true, M. Courtney, that Rangen
apparently wanted to proceed forward with that
recommendation at the tinme?

A Let me see which one this one pertains to.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: | apologize if | got ahead of
you on that, Justin.

MR. MAY: VWhich one are you on?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Maybe you could pull up page 7
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and highlight the second sentence under the --

MR. MAY: |Is this 1060, page 7?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Under the m ddle section
"Recommendati ons for grant applications,” highlight
those first four or five lines of --

MR. MAY: Right here?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Yeah, right there.

MR, MAY: Just |ike that?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: That's good. Thanks.

THE WTNESS: This is on the horizontal well?

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): | think it's -- it's
on page 7 that's highlighted here, the second sentence.
It mght be easier to get to. It says, "Based on our
initial review' -- this is Rangen's engi neer, SPF
"Based on our initial review of these alternatives, it
is our opinion that a horizontal well near the Curren
Tunnel has the greatest potential for providing
substantially enhanced flows to the Rangen facility."

A That's what it says, correct.

Q So ny question was, based on this
reconmendation, at the tine Rangen accepted the
recommendation and started to nove forward to
investigate the feasibility of a horizontal well;
correct?

A W were looking at a | ot of options at that

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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tinme.

Q And that's one of themthat you
specifically requested a grant for; correct?

A Correct.

Q And Exhibit 1061 woul d be the application
that was submtted to investigate the facility of a
hori zontal well; correct?

A Yes.

MR. RANDY BUDCE: We'd offer Exhibit 1061, the

appl i cation.

MR. HAEMMVERLE: No obj ecti on.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  kay. M. Lenmon?

MR. LEMMON: No objecti on.

MR, HAEMVERLE: | think it's in already anyway.

THE HEARI NG OFFICER: It is?

MR. BAXTER M records show that it was

adm tted yesterday afternoon.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay. Docunent marked as

Exhi bit 1061 has al ready been received into evidence.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): Wbhuld you agree,

M. Courtney, that if |GM agreed to pay the cost of

the feasibility study on a horizontal well

t hat Rangen

woul d not be out anything, whether it proved to be

feasi ble or not?

A For just the feasibility of it,

yes, |
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woul d agree to that.

Q Wul d you al so agree that to the extent a
hori zontal well proved to be feasible and was actually
constructed by 1GM at its expense and inproved the
wat er supply at Rangen, that that would be an effective
mtigation alternative for which | GM shoul d receive
credit?

A I woul d have a few concerns as to the

potential risk as far as liability if it causes damage.

Q I wasn't asking about risk or liability.
["mjust saying if the D rector

conditionally approved it, subject to fina

engi neering, if the engineering occurred, if it was

constructed, if it resulted in nore water com ng out of

the Curren Tunnel, would you agree that provides a

benefit to Rangen for which the groundwater users

shoul d receive a credit against their mtigation

obl i gati on?

A Dependi ng upon it neeting other criteria.

Q That was part of nmy question. Assunming it
net all of the conditions of the Director and was
approved by the Director, engineered and constructed in
accordance with those conditions and inproved the water
supply, would you agree that that would be a benefit to

Rangen to have nore water com ng out of the Curren

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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Tunnel ?

A As long as we were not at risk for any
damages to ot her users, yes.

Q And if ITGM were to indemify and hol d
harm ess Rangen from any risks or damage by way of an
I nsurance policy or otherw se, would you agree that
would mtigate these risks you're worried about?

A Possi bl y, yes.

Q | believe you were present during sone
testinmony by Dr. Brendecke that a punp-back from
Billingsley Creek could rather easily be constructed to
provi de additional water supply to Rangen.

Has Rangen ever investigated the use of a
punp- back at this hatchery or any other facilities?

A Yes.

Q And explain that to ne. Were? At this
facility?

At this facility.

Q And was that work done by Dr. Brendecke?

A No.

Q O excuse nme. By Dr. Brockway?

A No.

Q Who was that work done by?

A | don't recall.

Q Let me sumthis up and see if -- on that

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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report that you -- or excuse ne, on that investigation
that you had sonebody el se do on a punp-back, do you
know who did that?

A | don't renmenber, because | believe that
happened in the early 1990s. And at that tinme | was
controller for the conpany, not the vice president.

Q Let me try to sumup what | understand | GM
wants -- or excuse ne, what | understand Rangen opposes
in this proceeding.

If nmy understanding is correct, obviously
| GM -- or excuse nme, Rangen obtained dism ssals of the
proposal s for reinbursenment of |ost profits or
repl acement fish, and doesn't want that.

Rangen does not want any credits for CREP
or conversions or recharge unless they are fully funded
by the groundwater users and permanent; correct?

A No, that's not correct.

Q Ckay. You're noww lling to accept credits
fromthose activities, even if they're not pernmnent or
fully funded?

A You said -- you included the CREP in there.
I know that CREP is not fully funded.

Q So CREP' s okay?

A Yes.

Q But what about conversions? You agree that

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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there should be credit for conversions within the trim
line?

A Yes.

Q And you now agree that there should be
credit for recharge within the trimline?

A If the water is fromI| GM, yes.

Q Is it true nmy understanding's correct that
you opposed any assignnment of IGM s water right permt
36-16976? Correct?

A Correct.

Q And Rangen opposes any credit for the Sandy
Pi peline deliveries of irrigation water in exchange for
the prior irrigation rights being diverted fromthe
Curren Tunnel ?

A No, we don't oppose any rights that are
within the criteria being in priority that are actually
beneficial water to Rangen.

Q Isn't it true, according to your objection
you stated that you oppose any credit for water
delivered to Butch Mdrris. Are you changi ng your
testinony on that?

A As long as it -- excuse ne. \Were is ny --
what exhibit are you |ooking at? |'msorry.

Q Ckay. Well, | asked you earlier about your

answers to interrogatories. And item 2 | asked you

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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about the delivery of water through the Sandy Pipeline
to Butch Morris or others for irrigation purposes. And
it says there, "Rangen opposes mtigation credit for
wat er delivered to Butch Modrris or others as

repl acenent for water at the Martin-Curren Tunnel."

So is ny understanding correct Rangen is
opposing any mitigation credit to I GM for deliveries
to the Sandy Pipeline of irrigation water to Murris and
ot her s?

A If those water rights are in priority, and
that would include the other water rights for donestic
use and it's not in excess of the amount of the tunnel
and -- | nean there's a lot of criteria for those water
rights to be allowed for credits.

Q Well, without getting into a water right
i ssue, are you qualifying your answer? Up until now
we' ve under stood you opposed any credit from Sandy
Pipeline. Are you now testifying, M. Courtney, that
under certain circunstances if those water rights are
in the Curren Tunnel that are prior to Rangen in
priority and we replace themw th water through the
Sandy Pipeline, that's agreeable to have a credit?

A If they neet the criteria, yes.

Q Rangen's criteria. Rangen's criteria, or

the Departnment's criteria?

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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A The Department's criteria.

Q You were here during testinony fromthe
wat ermaster Frank Erwin, were you not?

A Yes.

Q And did you hear his testinony that senior
water rights on Billingsley Creek and the Curren Ditch
to date have never been used to call out any of the
irrigation rights in the Curren Tunnel ?

A Yes.

Q And so up to date, that exchange through
t he Sandy Pi peline has al ways provi ded water that
benefited Rangen; correct?

A Not in total, no.

Q So you disagree with the testinony of the
wat ermaster that the rights have never been curtail ed,
irrigation rights in the Curren Tunnel have never been

curtail ed?

A No. |'mdisagreeing -- in your
application -- or in your proposal was for 6.05
credits, 6.05 cfs of credits. | disagree with the
6. 05.

Q Rangen -- is ny understandi ng correct that

Rangen opposes any type of a punp-back facility as
proposed by | GMA?

A ' m agai nst a conceptual one where |

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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haven't been given enough information to make a
determ nation on it.

Q And is ny understanding correct that | GM
al so opposes -- or Rangen al so opposes any efforts by
| GM to i nprove Rangen's diversion facilities in the
Curren Tunnel by w dening the tunnel, deepening the
tunnel, or |engthening the tunnel?

A Based upon the proposal that is inconplete,
| don't have enough information to make that
det er mi nati on.

Q Is it true that Rangen al so opposes any
hori zontal well?

A Based upon the level of information that's
provided in the mtigation plan, there's not enough
information for me to make a determ nation.

Q I's ny understanding correct that | GM
opposes -- excuse ne, that Rangen opposes any
over-the-rimdelivery plan or any vertical well?

A For the sanme reason, because of the |ack of
information in the submtted plan, there's not enough
information for nme to nmake a determination at this
tinme.

Q And you're not sure whether you would give
| GM access for any engi neering purposes unless you

first get the okay fromyour |awers; correct?

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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A I think what | stated was accurate on our
answer, is that reasonabl e access for investigation
woul d be consi der ed.

Q Wuld it be accurate to say that the only
thing that Rangen will agree to without condition or
equi vocation woul d be curtail nent of the groundwater
punpers that are junior in the 150, 000-acre curtail nent
area?

A No, that is not accurate.

Q Ckay.

A Under 1A through 1C, we had agreed to the
calculation by the Departnent for the 1.7 cfs at steady
state for those itens that fall wthin the criteria
and --

Q So is it true, M. Rangen, or M. --
Rangen's primary position is that they desire to have
groundwat er punpers curtailed within the trimline?

A No. We desire to have the groundwaters
conply with the order and provide us 9.1 cfs of water
through steady state or 9.1 cfs of direct delivery.

Q But with the exception of the CREP
conversion, recharge, Rangen opposes any effort to have
wat er delivered other than curtail nent; correct?

A | didn't say | opposed every effort. |

want results. | don't want proposals that don't

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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provide results. | want results.
Q Can you understand fromthe perspective of

our clients, the groundwater punpers, that they feel
it"'s alittle bit disingenuous on behalf of Rangen to
on one hand say "W are short of water. You need to
provide us water," and yet cone into this proceeding
and oppose, in some fashion or another, alnost every
effort 1 GM has proposed to get water to Rangen?

MR. HAEMVERLE: (bject to that as being asked
and answered. | think he's gone over every single
proposal and stated why specifically he opposes those
t hi ngs.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Overrul ed.

THE WTNESS: Rangen is currently materially
i njured by junior groundwater punping today. W are
curtailed today.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): Excuse ne. Excuse
me. | apologize for interrupting, but you can answer
questions fromyour attorney if you want.

But the question | had is whether you can
under stand why our groundwater punpers, who do have
rights that are subject to being curtailed, feel that
it is disingenuous for Rangen on one hand to say "W're
short of water. Curtail groundwater punpers,” but when

the punpers cone forward and nake nultiple alternatives

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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to Rangen to supply it water, that none are acceptable
to Rangen, except for on certain conditions --

A No, the mtigation --

Q -- excepting the CREP diversion? | think
that's a "yes" or "no" answer. Can you understand why
our punpers feel it's disingenuous?

A No.

Q You don't understand that?

A No. The plan is not specific enough to

allow me to nmake a determ nation

Q Well, one final area that | need to ask you
about, M. Courtney.

Up until your testinony today, everything
we had from Rangen reflected its opposition to
everything | GM' s proposed. Rangen has filed two
different objections that are in the record, Rangen
files discovery responses objecting to virtually
everyt hing, and now you' ve cone forward and seemto be
saying that if things were engi neered and desi gned
okay, it may be okay.

A It may be. The plan that's presented does
not provi de enough information to nake a determ nation
to whether or not it wll deliver 9.1 cfs of water to
the Rangen facility.

Q And do you think it would be practical or

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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reasonable fromthe date the order was issued by the
Director on January 19th of 2014 curtailing groundwater
punpers for the first tinme, recognizing that the cal
from Rangen has been futile from 2004 until 2014, do
you think it would be reasonable for the groundwater
users to go out and spend the types of noney to do

engi neering studies and feasibility studies on Rangen's
property that you won't give us access to in
anticipation that sone order would be issued

January 19th of 2014? |Is that reasonable to spend
noney in anticipation to an obligation?

MR. HAEMVERLE: 1'mgoing to object to the
guestion on rel evance grounds. There's an order out
that IGM is to provide us water. And that's their
obligation. So there's no reasonable factor involved.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Sust ai ned.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): Wuld it be
reasonable, M. Courtney, to expect |IGM could get the
engi neering studi es done, the conplete, final
engi neering on feasibility and design to construct any
of these proposals requiring infrastructure fromthe
period the order was issued, January 19th, until ten
days ago when we were required to disclose all of our
exhi bits?

MR. HAEMVERLE: (bjection. The conpound nature

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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of the question. | object on ny prior ground of
rel evance. But | don't want to inpede the proceeding,
Director, so...

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER.  Overruled. M. Courtney
can venture an answer.

THE WTNESS: Wuld you restate it, please.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): | nean you' ve been
i nvolved in construction works for Rangen, have you
not ?

A Yes.

Q You' ve dealt with engineers, | suppose?

A Yes.

Q And you hired SPF to do sone feasibility
wor k for you?

A Yes.

Q How long did it take SPF fromthe tine you
hired themto get the study out to Rangen?

A A coupl e nont hs.

Q Ckay. And so that was sinply a feasibility
study; correct?

A Correct.

Q So do you think it is at all feasible and
reasonabl e, as Rangen contends, that | GM should be in
a period of approximately 30 days fromthe tine the

curtail ment order was issued to be able to go out and
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do the feasibility studies, the design, and have fina
engi neering ready by this hearing date to satisfy
Rangen's objections that's not sufficiently detail ed?

MR. HAEMVERLE: (bjection. Asked and answer ed.
That's been asked and answered now three tines. And he
answer ed the question.

Now, we have an hour and 20 minutes to get
our one and only witness on the stand. And | think
that M. Budge is just quibbling on nonsense at this
point in time to prevent us from putting our |ast
W tness on. So that's been asked and answered three
separate tines.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: | don't think I've ever got an
answer to that question.

MR HAEMMVERLE: He answered it.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Overrul ed.

Q (BY MR RANDY BUDGE): Go ahead and answer,
pl ease.

A The Director's order asked for a mtigation
plan. And the nmitigation plan needs to provide the
information with enough detail that the Director can
nmake an answer. So it's up for the Director to make
that determ nation, not ne.

Q I"d just Iike an answer to the question

Based on your experience, is it reasonable

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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to expect a conplete and detail ed engineering report be
prepared by this hearing when the first tinme you knew
you had to have a mtigation plan was January 19th?
That's a yes-or-no answer.

A You could have started this process back in
Decenber of 2011

Q So is your answer yes or no? M question
was, is it reasonable if you started on January 19th to
expect to have final engineering plans, which Rangen is
requesting by this hearing?

MR. HAEMVERLE: Director, | objected previously
five questions ago on the term"reasonable,” and you
sustai ned ny objection. And he just keeps doing it.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: You keep objecting to the
guestions that are --

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: M. Courtney can answer
the question instead of being evasive, and | think it
IS a yes or no answer, and we can nove on.

M. Courtney, will you please attenpt to
answer the question.

THE WTNESS: | don't know if it's reasonable or
not .

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Thank you.

No further questions.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: Ckay. Exam nati on,

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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M. Haemmerl e?
MR. HAEMVERLE: Justin, if you could pull up
Exhibit 2042. And that's the |ast page.

CRCSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR HAEMMERLE:

Q M. Courtney, you' ve exani ned and had an
opportunity to review the Director's final order on
curtail ment proceedings or Rangen's water call;
correct?

A Yes.

Q And you understand that IGM is to provide

Rangen 9.1 cfs at steady state or 9.1 of direct flow

correct?
A Correct.
Q | GM's obligation is to provide Rangen

wat er; correct?

A Correct.

Q A specific anount?

A Correct.

Q Al'l right. Now, after the curtail nent
order was issued, IGM filed a mtigation plan;
correct?

A Correct.

Q If we can pull up Exhibit 2020.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE,
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M. Courtney, we have placed up on the
screen Exhibit 2020.

Do you recogni ze that docunent?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. This is in fact the mtigation plan
filed by | GMW?

A Yes.

Q CGeneral ly speaking, are there any specifics
in the mtigation plan, for exanple, telling you how
much wat er woul d be provided to Rangen under, say,

No. 67?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Counsel, excuse ne for
interrupting, but just as a point of clarity,

Exhi bit 2020 is not in evidence, but it is the same as
Exhi bit 1000.
MR. HAEMVERLE: | appreciate that.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just for the record.

MR. HAEMVERLE: Yeah. |[|'IlIl offer Exhibit 2020.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: M. Budge?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: No objecti on.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER: M. Lemmon?

MR. LEMMON: No objecti on.

MR. RANDY BUDGE: Just with the notation for the
record it's the sanme as Exhibit 1000.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER:  Ckay.

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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Q (BY VR HAEMVERLE): Now, M. Courtney,
subsequent - -

THE HEARING OFFICER  It's received into
evi dence.

(Exhi bit 2020 received.)

Q (BY MVRR HAEMVERLE): -- to the mtigation
call, you have attended various depositions on this
mtigation plan; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q You' ve had a chance to review the discovery
response from Il GM; correct?

A Yes.

Q We' Il just wal k through these individually.

To date, do you have any concrete i dea how
|GM is going to nake inprovenents to the Martin-Curren
Tunnel to provide Rangen water?

A No.

Q Has anyone told you, have you discerned

fromany of the testinony or discovery or proceedi ngs
how rmuch water woul d be provided to Rangen under No. 6,
"I nmprovenents to the Martin-Curren Tunnel"?

A No.

Q Let's go on to No. 7. M. Courtney, No. 7
is a horizontal well.

Do you see that?

208-345-9611 M & M COURT REPORTI NG SERVI CE, | NC. 800-234-9611
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A Yes.

Q After all of the proceedi ngs that you
descri bed that you've attended to, reviewed, do you
have any idea how nmuch water would be provided to
Rangen for a horizontal well?

A No.

Q Let's go on to No. 8.

Now, M. Courtney, No. 8 is a proposal for
vertical wells or sonething called over-the-rim
Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q After attending all the proceedi ngs,
reviewng all the discovery, do you have any idea of
how nmuch water | GM would intend to provide Rangen
under No. 8?

A No.

Q And you haven't seen any concrete plans of

any kind for No. 6, 7, and 8; correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, | want to be clear, M. Courtney,
if -- Rangen is not against providing | GM reasonabl e
access to its property; correct?

A Correct.

Q As any | andowner providing strangers access

to the property, you want to understand what they're
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doi ng?

A Absol ut el y.

Q That's not unreasonabl e; correct?

A No.

Q So if you understood what the plans were,
you had sonme concept, you would definitely give | GM
reasonabl e access to your property to explore No. 6, 7,
and 87?

A As long as it wasn't intrusive to the
property, yes.

Q Okay. Reasonabl e access?

A Reasonabl e access.

Q And the sane thing is true of No. 9, which
is the direct punp-back; correct?

A Correct.

Q Now, l|et's kind of wade through the
concrete or objective aspects of this mtigation plan.
Let's go to No. 1.

M. Courtney, No. 1 you understand that
| GM is seeking credits for conversions and dry-ups and
recharge; is that true?

A Yes.

Q Now, you've had a chance to review sone

obj ective facts on how nuch water that would provide

Rangen; true?
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Yes.
Q If we can pull up Exhibit 1025.

M. Courtney, you've had a chance to review
Exhi bit 10257

A Yes.

Q You understand that those are cal cul ati ons
of credits that | GM would be entitled to for
conversions, dry-ups; correct?

A Yes.

Q And t he Departnent cal cul ated a nunber of
1-point cfs at steady state?

A. 1.7, yes.

Q Today -- you heard ny opening statenents;
correct?

A Yes.

Q You heard ne say at the very opening of
this proceedi ng that Rangen woul d agree to give | GM

credit for 1.7 cfs at steady state?

A Yes.

Q And that's your position, as you sit here
t oday?

A Yes.

Q Now, understanding that the underlying
vari abl es that provide those nunbers change over

time -- do you understand that?
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A Yes.

Q -- you would like the Director to issue an
order saying that there should be no punping fromthose
properties?

A Correct.

Q Al right. Now, M. Budge asked you about
the CREP programthat -- you would agree | GM receives
credit for CREP;, correct?

A Correct.

Q And you understand that those are actua
| GM nenbers who dry up their property?

A ["mnot positive that it's actual | GM
menbers. But if they are, yes.

Q And if they are actual | GM nenbers who dry
up their properties, to be sure they should be given
credit for that?

A Yes.

Q So to end the discussion really on al

aspects of No. 1, IGM should deserve 1.7 cfs at steady
state.
You agree to that today?
MR. RANDY BUDCE: Asked and answered.
THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Overrul ed.
THE W TNESS: Yes.

Q (BY MR HAEMMERLE): Let's go on
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M. Courtney, to No. 2, which is the Sandy Pi pe.

You' ve had a | ong opportunity to consider
all aspects of the Sandy Pipe, M. Courtney?

A Yes.

Q And there's a nenorandum agreenent attached
to the mtigation plan as Exhibit B which purports to
be the agreenent between the North Snake G oundwat er
Users and M. Morris.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you understand how t hat agreenent works?

A Yes.

Q The agreenent works that in exchange for
M. Mrris not taking his rights out of the
Martin-Curren Tunnel, he would receive credit for water
that is taken out of the Sandy Ponds?

A Correct.

Q Do you believe M. Mrris should be all owed
to gain credits for the illegal use of water?

A No.

You heard the testinmony fromM. Mrris
that he had one single water right out of the Sandy
Ponds; correct?

A Yes.

Q And that was for 2.4 cfs?
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A Yes.

Q So to the extent M. Mrris in fact has a
wat er right under other circunstances, he should be
given the credit for up to 2.4 cfs?

A As a maxi numcredit, yes.

Q Okay. And that's true because he has no
ot her legal water rights out of the Sandy Ponds?

A Correct.

Q Now, M. Budge went over a 2004 agreenent
that Rangen entered into. It was a one-year agreenent.

Do you recall that?

Yes.

Do you recall why that agreenent was
entered into?

A Yes.

Q Way was that agreement entered into?

A At that tinme Rangen had a delivery cal
with a final order fromthe Director that there was
going to be curtailment on the ESPA. And Rangen agreed
to a one-year stay of that requirenent for the
curtail ment in exchange for that agreenent.

Q Ckay. As | understand what happened on
Rangen's first delivery call, there was an order issued
by the Director, what we'd call the first order;

correct --
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A Yeah.

Q -- curtailing water?

A Yes.

Q And in response to the first order
curtailing water, there was this one-year agreenent
stay, correct, that Rangen agreed to?

A Yes.

Q | understand that the Director subsequently
i ssued two ot her orders.

Correct?

A Yes.

Q And the |l ast order was that Rangen's cal
was futile?

A Correct.

Q And thereafter, I1GM thought it was futile
and made no further effort to --

MR. RANDY BUDGE: (Objection. It's leading as to
whether -- this witness is not conpetent as to what
IGM did or didn't do. IGM didn't exist at the tine.

THE HEARING OFFICER  |'ve allowed flexibility
in the nature of the questions, but --

MR. HAEMVERLE: 1'Il try not to do that,
Director.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER Thank you.

Sust ai ned.
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Q (BY VR HAEMVERLE): Do you know what | GM
or its groundwater district nmenbers did in response to
the futile call?

MR. RANDY BUDGE: (bjection. Foundation.

THE HEARI NG OFFI CER  Overrul ed. He can state
whet her he knows or not.

THE WTNESS: | don't know what they did.

Q (BY MR HAEMVERLE): But to be sure, that
agreenent was a one-year agreenent; correct?

A Yes.

Q Was there anything about that agreenent
that you assunmed M. Morris could illegally use waters
to conply with that agreenent?

A No.

Q Now, M. Morris' agreenent also states that
in response to himnot taking water out of the Curren
Tunnel he would be entitled to 6 cfs of credit.

Do you understand that?

A That's the request.

Q Ckay. But again, that's limted by what --
his legal right to use; correct?

A Yes.

Q Al right. Wichis 2.4 cfs?

A From t he Sandy Ponds, yes.

Q And the idea is to provide you actual use
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of water out of the Martin-Curren Tunnel.

A Yes.

Q Do you understand that?

A Yes.

Q So if the tunnel is only flow ng, say,

1 cfs -- 1"'mgoing to ask you to assune that -- do you
believe that M. Morris should be given credit beyond
1 cfs under those circunstances?

A There is actually sonme other reductions
that would have to conme first, because there is
donmestic use froma couple of the users with the sane
priority dates. And so that water should go to
donmestic use first. But less than the 1 cfs, yes.

Q Ckay. So it's limted by how nuch is
fl owi ng out of the tunnel ?

A Yes.

Q It's limted by M. Mrris' legal rights to

use Sandy Pond water?

A Yes.

Q And it's |imted, of course, by the Curren
Ditch weir and the senior users of 15 cfs?

A And season of use.

Q Ckay. Have you heard any testinony at all
how | GM is to provide you water during the

nonirrigation season?
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A No.

Q Not one single one of the proposals you
understand woul d do that; correct?

A Correct.

Q So the conditions you' ve just descri bed,
you woul d accept the Sandy Pipe mtigation proposal;
correct?

A Yes.

Q And | believe the conditions you just
testified to are the very sane conditions that
M . Brendecke suggest ed.

A Correct.

Q Moving on to No. 3 of the mtigation plan
M. Courtney.

You're aware of the assignnent of water
ri ght 36-16976?

A I'"'maware of the proposal for the
assignnment of the water right, yes.

Q M. Courtney, have you had a chance to --
we understand -- we have protested this permt in a
whol e separate proceeding; correct?

A Yes.

Q Have you had a chance to review this?

A Yes.

Q And Rangen has filed a conpeting claimfor
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the sane water; is that true?

A For the sanme water and for additional cfs
yes.

Q Ckay. Let's kind of go down, scroll down
through here. Let's stop right there.

Now, M. Courtney, do you understand the
nature of use that 1GM is seeking to perfect on
Rangen's property?

A It's what's stated there, yes.

Q Ckay. They want a permt for fish
propagati on on Rangen's property.

Do you see that?

A Yes.

Q Do you intend to voluntarily give | GM
perm ssion to access your property, to use your
property to raise fish?

A Absol utely not.

Q Do you see the mtigation for irrigation
conponent ?

A Yes.

Q Are you aware that there's a whole | ot of
wat er available for appropriation in the Curren Ditch
for the source of water of Billingsley Creek?

A I'"'maware there's water, yes.

Q Avai l able for irrigation purposes?
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